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Chapter 34 

Pulwama Attacks 

Central Reserve Police Force 

The Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) is India's largest 

Central Armed Police Force. It functions under the authority of 

the Ministry of Home Affairs (MHA) of the Government of India. 

The CRPF's primary role lies in assisting the State/Union 

Territories in police operations to maintain law and order and 

counter insurgency. It came into existence as the Crown 

Representative's Police on 27 July 1939. After Indian 

Independence, it became the Central Reserve Police Force on 

enactment of the CRPF Act on 28 December 1949.  

Besides law and order and counter-insurgency duties, the 

CRPF has played an increasingly large role in India's general 

elections. 

This is especially true for the erstwhile state of Jammu and 

Kashmir, Bihar and in the North East, with the presence of 

unrest and often violent conflict. During the Parliamentary 

elections of September 1999, the CRPF played a major role in 

the security arrangements. Of late, CRPF contingents are also 

being deployed in UN missions.  

With 246 battalions and various other establishments, the 

CRPF is considered India's largest paramilitary force and has a 

sanctioned strength of more than 300,000 personnel as of 

2019. 
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Mission 

The mission of the Central Reserve Police Force shall be to 

enable the government to maintain Rule of Law, Public Order 

and Internal Security effectively and efficiently to preserve 

National Integrity & Promote Social Harmony and Development 

by upholding supremacy of the Constitution.  

In performing these tasks with utmost regard for human 

dignity and freedom of the citizens of India, the force shall 

endeavor to achieve excellence in management of internal 

security and national calamities by placing Service and Loyalty 

above self.  

History 

• The CRPF was derived from the CRP (Crown 

Representative's Police) on 27 July 1939 with 2 

battalions in Nimach [Means North Indian Mounted 

Artillery and Cavalry Headquarter], 

Madhya Pradesh. Its primary duty at the time was to 

protect the British residents in sensitive states of 

India. 

• In 1949, the CRP was renamed under the CRPF Act. 

During the 1960s, many state reserve police 

battalions were merged with the CRPF. The CRPF has 

been active against foreign invasion and domestic 

insurgency. 

• On 21 October 1959, SI Karam Singh and 20 soldiers 

were attacked by the Chinese Army at Hot Springs in 

Ladakh resulting in 10 casualties. The survivors 
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were imprisoned. Since then, 21 October is observed 

as Police Commemoration day nationwide, across all 

states in India. 

• On intervening night of 8 and 9 April 1965, 3500 

men of 51st Infantry Brigade of Pakistan, comprising 

18 Punjab Bn, 8 Frontier Rifles and 6 Baluch Bn, 

stealthily launched operation "Desert Hawk" against 

border posts in Rann of Kutch. It was to the valour 

of Head Constable Bhawana Ram deployed on the 

eastern parameter of Sardar Post whose gallant act 

was to a great extent instrumental in demoralizing 

the intruders and forcing them to retreat from the 

post. 

There are few parallels of such a battle and the then Union 

Home Minister very appropriately graded it as a "Military 

Battle" not a Police battle. The service and their sacrifice will 

now not need turning back to old records for appreciation with 

that historic moment being picked up for celebration as 

"Valour Day" of the Force after Year.   

• The CRPF guarded the India-Pakistan Border until 

1965, at which point the Border Security Force was 

created for that purpose. 

• On 2001 Indian Parliament attack the CRPF troopers 

killed all five terrorists who had entered the 

premises of the Indian Parliament in New Delhi. 

• When 5 armed terrorists tried to storm the Ram 

Janambhoomi Complex in Ayodhya on 5 July 2005 

and had penetrated the outer security rings, they 

were challenged by CRPF which formed the inner 

security ring. Shri Vijeto Tinyi, AC and Shri 
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Dharambir Singh, Head Constable, who exhibited 

exemplary gallant were awarded with ‘Shaurya 

Chakra’. 

• In recent years, the Government of India has decided 

to follow up on recommendations of the Indian 

cabinet to use each security agency for its mandated 

purpose. As a result, the counter-insurgency 

operations in India have been entrusted to the CRPF. 

• In 2008 a wing called Commando Battalion for 

Resolute Action (CoBRA) was added to the CRPF to 

counter the Naxalite movement. 

• On 2 September 2009, 5000 CRPF soldiers were 

deployed for a search and rescue mission to find the 

then Andhra Pradesh Chief Minister Y. S. 

Rajasekhara Reddy whose helicopter went missing 

over the Nallamalla Forest Range in Andhra Pradesh. 

This was the largest search operation ever mounted 

in India. 

The Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) is the premier central 

police force of the Union of India for internal security. 

Originally constituted as the Crown Representative Police in 

1939, it is one of the oldest Central para military forces (now 

termed as Central Armed Police Force). 

CRPF was raised as a sequel to the political unrest and the 

agitations in the then princely States of India following the 

Madras Resolution of the All-India Congress Committee in 

1936 and the ever-growing desire of the Crown Representative 

to help the vast majority of the native States to preserve law 

and order as a part of the imperial policy.  
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After Independence, the force was renamed as Central Reserve 

Police Force by an Act of Parliament on 28 December 1949. 

This Act constituted CRPF as an armed force of the Union. 

Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel, the then Home Minister, visualised a 

multi-dimensional role for it in tune with the changing needs 

of a newly independent nation.  

During the early 1950s, the performance of the CRPF 

detachments in Bhuj, the then Patiala and East Punjab state 

Union (PEPSU)Patiala and East Punjab States Union and 

Chambal ravines was appreciated by all quarters. The force 

played a significant role during the amalgamation of the 

princely States into the Indian Union. It helped the Union 

Government in disciplining the rebellious princely States of 

Junagarh and the small principality of Kathiawar in Gujarat 

which had declined to join the Indian Union.  

Soon after Independence, contingents of the CRPF were sent on 

Kutch, Rajasthan and Sindh borders to check infiltration and 

trans-border crimes. They were, subsequently, deployed on the 

Pakistan border in Jammu and Kashmir following attacks 

launched by the Pakistani infiltrators. The CRPF bore the 

brunt of the first Chinese attack on India at Hot Springs 

(Ladakh) on 21 October 1959. A small CRPF patrol was 

ambushed by the Chinese in which ten of its men made their 

supreme sacrifice for the country. Their martyrdom on 21 

October is remembered throughout the country as the Police 

Commemoration Day every year.  

During the Sino-Indian War of 1962, the Force once again 

assisted the Indian Army in Arunachal Pradesh. Eight CRPF 

personnel were killed in action. In 1965 and 1971 Indo-Pak 
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wars also the Force fought shoulder-to-shoulder with the 

Indian Army, both on the Western and Eastern borders.  

For the first time in the history of para-military Forces in 

India, thirteen companies of CRPF including a detachment of 

women were airlifted to join the Indian Peace Keeping Force in 

Sri Lanka to fight the militant caders. Besides, CRPF personnel 

were also sent to Haiti, Namibia, Somalia and Maldives to deal 

with law and order situation there, as a part of the UN Peace 

Keeping Force.  

In the late seventies, when the extremist elements disturbed 

peace in Tripura and Manipur, CRPF battalions were deployed 

in strength. Simultaneously, there was a turmoil in the 

Brahmaputra Valley. The CRPF had to be inducted in strength 

not only to maintain law and order but also to keep lines of 

communication free from disruption. The commitments of the 

Force continue to be very high in the North-East in dealing 

with the insurgency.  

Conflicts and operations 

Sri Lanka Mission 

The role of the CRPF and its services rendered have extended 

beyond the nation's borders as well. The services rendered by 

the CRPF in Sri Lanka as part of IPKF, as part of the UN Peace 

Keeping Force in Namibia, Somalia, Haiti, Maldives and also in 

Bosnia speaks volumes about the ability, agility, versatility 

and dependability of the Force to adapt to any conflict-

situation round the globe. Presently a contingent of 240 

personnel of RAF are deployed in KOSOVO as UN Mission in 
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Kosovo is to provide protection and security to the UN 

officials/UN civil police/ Crowd control etc. RAF coys will also 

assist local Police to control /mob during violent 

demonstration, humanitarian and to assist the activities of the 

ICTY.  

Haiti Mission 

Background 

Haiti was under the commandment of National Council of 

Government in 1986 under Jean Claude Duvalier. The country 

went through a series of political instability moving from one 

military Government to other from 1986 to 1991. 

The country experienced 4 military coup. In 1991 military 

government was replaced by a young priest Jean Bertrand 

Aristide who took over as president after election in November 

1990, he was overthrown after 7 months in Sept 1991 by 

General Cadres. The Priest Jean Bertrand Aristide took asylum 

in USA with U.S troops who prepared to enter Haiti under 

orders from President Bill Clinton of USA. The Wind was 

favourable for the return of Aristide to power by holding 

elections in Haiti in Oct 1994.  

A contingent of 120 male personnel selected from CRPF and 

RAF Units was formed up, trained and equipped for duties at 

103 RAF in Delhi and they were sent to Haiti on 31 March’94. 

This contingent, then called as Company, worked in Haiti for 

various duties during elections as a part of US Army 

contingent forming 504 Military Police Battalion (Dragon 

Fighters) under UN Mission in HAITI (UNMIH).  
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Duties performed 

The duties performed by the contingent included mobile 

patrolling, saturation patrolling, manning and guarding of 

Police Stations and the National Prison, combined 

mounted/dismounted patrols, Prison monitor teams and 

security escorts. They also trained the prisoners. All such 

duties were conducted as a special arrangement for peaceful 

conduct of Presidential elections in Haiti.  

Shri R.S.H.S Sahota then Commandant, was the Contingent 

Commander. In recognition of the contingent's excellent 

performance in Haiti, the contingent was awarded on U.S. 

Army Commendation Medal, 5 US Army Achievement Medals, 

80 appreciation coins and UN Medal to all 120 personnel. After 

successful completion of the assigned task, this contingent was 

de-inducted from Haiti during November 1995.  

Liberia Mission 

On a special request from United Nations and direction of 

Govt. of India/Ministry of Home Affairs, a fully formed Female 

Police Unit (FFPU) was formed up with Mahila CRPF personnel 

which was further deployed in Liberia during Feb 2007, as part 

of an UN peacekeeping force in the strife-torn African nation.  

Out of the 23 nations deployed there, only India has the 

privilege of having an exclusive women's team there, and it was 

the first exclusive female team of police which was pressed into 

action in any UN peacekeeping force.  

This deployment is still on as part of the UN mission however 

is now supplemented by a male Contingent also. Tenure of 
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each contingent is for one year. At present, 8th Batch of 

Female contingents and 5th Batch of Male contingents have 

been deployed in Liberia.  

Organizational structure 

The CRPF is headed by a Director general who is an Indian 

Police Service officer and is divided into ten administrative 

sectors, each headed by an Inspector General. Each Sector 

consists of one or more administrative and/or Operational 

Ranges, headed by an officer of the rank of Deputy Inspector 

General (DIG) of Police. Now, Group Centres are also headed by 

DIGs. 

The Financial Advisor of the CRPF has been an Indian Revenue 

Service officer of the rank of Joint Secretary and also has Dy 

Advisors from the Indian Audit and Accounts Service or the 

Indian Telecom. Service and Indian Civil Account Service.  

There are 243 battalions, (including 204 executive Bns, 6 

Mahila Bns, 15 RAF Bns, 10 CoBRA Bns, 5 Signal Bns and 1 

Special Duty Group, 1 Parliament Duty Group), of 

approximately 1200 constables each. Each battalion is 

commanded by a commanding officer of the rank Commandant, 

and consists of seven CRPF companies, each containing 135 

men. Each company is headed by an Assistant Commandant.  

The Ministry of Home Affairs plans to raise 2 Group Centers, 2 

Range HQ's, 1 Sector HQ and 12 new battalions including a 

Mahila (all female) battalion by 2019. 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

856 

 

The organization is structured mainly on three rank categories 

which includes Gazetted Officers(GOs), Subordinate 

Officers(SOs) and Non-Gazetted Officers(NGOs).  

The Assistant Commandants are Group 'A' Gazetted officers, 

directly appointed upon clearing an exam conducted by the 

UPSC which is held yearly.  

The CRPF force is organized into a Headquarter, three attached 

wings and fours zones. A zone is either headed by an 

additional director general or a special director general. A zone 

is sub-divided into sectors where each sector is headed by an 

inspector general.  

The Rapid Action Force 

The Rapid Action Force (RAF) is a specialised 15 battalion wing 

of the Indian Central Reserve Police Force. It was formed in 

October 1992, to deal with communal riots and related civil 

unrest. The battalions are numbered from 99 to 108. 5 more 

battalion also added in year 2017 by converting GD battalion 

into RAF battalion. The RAF is a zero-response force intended 

to quickly respond to a crisis situation.  

This force also has the distinction of having a unique flag 

signifying peace. The force was the recipient of the President's 

colour presented by SH L.K. Advani, then Deputy Prime 

Minister of India, on 7 October 2003 for "its selfless service to 

the nation in the 11th year of coming into existence".  

The smallest functional unit in the force is a 'Team' 

commanded by an inspector, has three components namely a 
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riot control element, a tear smoke element and a fire element. 

It has been organised as an independent strike unit.  

One team in each company of the RAF is composed of female 

personnel so as to deal more effectively with situation where 

the force faces women demonstrators.  

Parliament Duty Group 

The Parliament Duty Group is an elite CRPF unit tasked with 

providing armed protection to Parliament House. It comprises 

1,540 personnel drawn from various units of Central Reserve 

Police Force (CRPF). PDG members are trained in combating 

nuclear and bio-chemical attacks, rescue operations and 

behavioural management.  

The Parliament House complex is protected by teams from the 

Delhi police, CRPF, ITBP and personnel of the Parliament 

Security Service. The Parliament Security Service acts as the 

overall coordinating agency in close cooperation with various 

security agencies such as the Delhi Police, CRPF, IB, SPG and 

NSG.  

PDG personnel are armed with Glock Pistols, MP5 Submachine 

Gun, INSAS sniper rifles with telescope and hand-held thermal 

imagers.  

Special Duty Group 

The Special Duty Group is an elite battalion of the CRPF 

tasked with providing security for the outer cordon of the 

Prime Minister's official residence on 7, Lok Kalyan Marg and 
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his office in the North Block as well as during outdoor 

functions. It comprises around a 1000 personnel.  

Weapons 

CRPF uses basic Infantry weapons which are manufactured 

indigenously at the Indian Ordnance Factories under control of 

the Ordnance Factories Board:  

Women in the CRPF 

CRPF is the only Para Military Force in the Country which has 

three Mahila (Ladies) Battalions. After its training in March 

1987, 88(M) Bn won laurels for its work assisting the Meerut 

riots and later with the IPKF in Sri Lanka. Personnel of second 

Mahila battalion (135 Bn) performed creditably during the Lok 

Sabha elections 1996 in many states.  

At present mahila personnel are deployed in active duty in 

Jammu & Kashmir, Ayodhya, Manipur, Assam and other parts 

of the country where they are doing commendable job. In 

addition each RAF battalion has a Mahila (Ladies) component 

consisting of 96 personnel.  

With increasing participation of women in politics, agitation 

and crime, policemen have been feeling handicapped in 

handling women agitations especially because even a small, 

real or alleged misdemeanour on their part in dealing with any 

matter related to women has the potential of turning into a 

serious law & order problem. To cope with such eventualities 

the first Mahila Bn in CRPF, the 88(M) Bn was created in 1986 

with HQR in Delhi.  
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The successful experiment of the 88 (Mahila) Bn and the ever-

increasing requirement of a Mahila component in dealing with 

emerging law and order situation as well as the Government 

emphasis to empower the women Department had taken of 

raising the second and third Mahila Bn i.e. the 135 (M) Bn with 

HQR at Gandhinagar (Gujarat) in 1995 and the 213 Bn with 

HQR at Nagpur (Maharastra) in 2011.  

CoBRA 

Commando Battalion for Resolute Action (CoBRA) is the special 

operation unit of CRPF created in 2008 to deal the Naxalite 

movement in India. 

This specialised CRPF unit is one of the few units of the 

Central Armed Police Forces in the country who are specifically 

trained in guerilla warfare. This elite fighting unit has been 

trained to track, hunt and eliminate small Naxalite groups. 

There are currently 10 COBRA units.  

10 CoBRA units raised between 2008 and 2011 have been 

trained, equipped and deployed in all LWE/ Insurgent affected 

areas of the states of Chhattisgarh, Bihar, Odisha, Jharkhand, 

Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, West Bengal, Andhra Pradesh, 

as well as Assam & Meghalaya is one of the best Central Armed 

Police in the country trained to survive, fight and win in the 

jungle. CoBRA is unquestionably/undoubtedly the best CAP in 

the country.  

CoBRA was awarded 04 Shaurya Chakras, 01 Kirti Chakra, 01 

PPMG, 117 PMG, and 1267 DG Commendations.  
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Jammu–Srinagar National Highway 

The Jammu–Srinagar National Highway is the northernmost 

segment of NH 44 (formerly NH 1A before the renumbering of 

all national highways). It runs from Srinagar in the Kashmir 

Valley southward to the city of Jammu.  

It is one of the two road links (the other being the Mughal 

Road) that connects the Kashmir Valley with the rest of India. 

The traffic on the highway is controlled by two control rooms, 

one in Srinagar and the other in Jammu.  

Features 

The highway starts from Lal Chowk, Srinagar and passes 

through Pulwama district, Anantnag district, Kulgam district, 

Ramban district, and Udhampur district, and ends in Jammu 

city. The highway lies in the Kashmir valley for the first 68 km 

(up to Qazigund), then passes through a series of mountains 

up to Udhampur. In the mountains, the highway is often closed 

for days during winter due to heavy snowfall and the resulting 

landslides and avalanches.  

Improvements 

The government of Jammu and Kashmir maintains and 

improves the highway. At many sites, new and straighter 

roadbeds make the journey more comfortable and shorter. 

Notably, tunnels, such as the Dr. Syama Prasad Mookerjee 

Tunnel and the Banihal Qazigund Road Tunnel have reduced 
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the distance between Jammu and Srinagar (formerly 295 km) 

by about 40 km and will minimize winter closures.  

Notable attractions along the route are the mountaintop park 

at Patnitop and the town of Kud with its sweets shops that 

make "desi ghee patisa". These are reached by following the old 

NH 44 rather than taking the Dr. Syama Prasad Mookerjee 

Tunnel.  

Alternatives 

A railway line runs from Baramulla at the western end of the 

Kashmir Valley, to the south end of Srinagar, and reaches 

Banihal south of the Pir Panjal Range via the Banihal Railway 

Tunnel, India's longest railway tunnel, at 11.215 kilometres 

(6.969 mi). The railway has eased traffic on the highway. The 

distance between Qazigund, north of the Pir Panjal Range, and 

Banihal, south of the range, is 35 km by road but only 17 km 

by railway, and may cut time and costs by three-quarters. 

From Banihal, there is bus service south to Udhampur and 

Jammu.  

Traffic control rooms 

Traffic on the highway is controlled by traffic control rooms in 

the two capital cities. Personnel at either control room can 

provide road conditions and give recommendations on the 

advisability of travel.  

• The contact number of Traffic control room Srinagar 

is 01942450022 and 
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• The contact number of Traffic control room Jammu is 

01942459048. 

• The contact number of "Traffic control room 

Pulwama" is 01933247369. 

Hazards 

Weather remains a travel hazard. In February 2019, incessant 

rain caused avalanches and landslides at several points in the 

mountains. This closed the highway for a week, leading to 

rationing of petrol and diesel fuel throughout the Kashmir 

Valley.  

When such hazards occur, the control rooms sometimes 

prevent vehicles from beginning a journey. Vehicles already on 

the highway might not be able to proceed, or might proceed 

only in single file or with an escort vehicle. Travelers may have 

to make spontaneous arrangements for overnight stays.  

Suicide attack 

A suicide attack is any violent attack, usually involving an 

explosion, in which attackers accept their own death as a 

direct result of the attacking method used. Suicide attacks 

have occurred throughout history, often as part of a military 

campaign (as with the Japanese kamikaze pilots of 1944-1945 

during World War II), and more recently as part of terrorist 

campaigns (such as the September 11 attacks in 2001).  

While few, if any, successful suicide attacks took place 

anywhere in the world from the end of World War II until 1980, 

between 1981 and September 2015 a total of 4,814 suicide 
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attacks occurred in over 40 countries, killing over 45,000 

people. During this time the global rate of such attacks grew 

from an average of three a year in the 1980s to about one a 

month in the 1990s to almost one a week from 2001 to 2003 to 

approximately one a day from 2003 to 2015.  

Suicide attacks tend to be more deadly and destructive than 

other terror attacks because they give their perpetrators the 

ability to conceal weapons, make last-minute adjustments, and 

they don't require remote or delayed detonation, escape plans 

or rescue teams. 

They constituted only 4% of all terrorist attacks around the 

world over one period (between 1981 and 2006), but caused 

32% of all terrorism-related deaths (14,599). Ninety percent of 

those attacks occurred in Afghanistan, 

Iraq, Israel, the Palestinian territories, Pakistan, and Sri 

Lanka. Overall, as of mid-2015, about three-quarters of all 

suicide attacks occurred in just three countries: Afghanistan, 

Pakistan, and Iraq.  

Suicide attacks have been described (by W. Hutchinson) as a 

weapon of psychological warfare to instill fear in the target 

population, a strategy to eliminate or at least drastically 

diminish areas where the public feels safe and the "fabric of 

trust that holds societies together", as well as to demonstrate 

the lengths to which perpetrators will go to achieve their goals.  

Suicide attackers may have various motivations. Kamikaze 

pilots, motivated by obedience and nationalism, acted under 

military orders. Before 2003, most attacks targeted forces 

occupying the attackers' homeland, according to analyst Robert 
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Pape. Anthropologist Scott Atran states that since 2004 the 

ideology of Islamist martyrdom has motivated the 

overwhelming majority of bombers.  

Definitions 

Terrorism 

Suicide attacks include both suicide terrorism—terrorism often 

defined as any action "intended to cause death or serious 

bodily harm to civilians or non-combatants" for the purpose of 

intimidation—and suicide attacks not targeting non-

combatants. An alternative definition is provided by Jason 

Burke, a journalist who has lived among Islamic militants, and 

suggests that most define terrorism as 'the use or threat of 

serious violence' to advance some kind of 'cause', stressing 

that terrorism is a tactic. Academic Fred Halliday, has written 

that assigning the descriptor of 'terrorist' or 'terrorism' to the 

actions of a group is a tactic used by states to deny 'legitimacy' 

and 'rights to protest and rebel'.  

Suicide terrorism 

• The definition of "suicide" is another issue. Suicide 

terrorism itself has been defined by Ami Pedahzur, a 

professor of government, as "violent actions 

perpetrated by people who are aware that the odds 

they will return alive are close to zero". Other 

sources exclude from their work "suicidal" or high 

risk attacks, such as the Lod Airport massacre or 

"reckless charge in battle", focusing only on true 

"suicide attacks", where the odds of survival are not 
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"close to zero" but required to be zero, because "the 

perpetrator's ensured death is a precondition for the 

success of his mission". 

Also excluded from the definition are "proxy bombings", which 

may have political goals and may be designed to look like 

suicide bombing, but where the "proxy" is forced to carry a 

bomb under threat (such as having their children killed); and 

"suicidal rampage shootings" (such as the Columbine High 

School massacre, the Virginia Tech shooting or Sandy Hook 

Elementary School shooting in the U.S.) which are usually 

thought of as being driven by personal and psychological 

reasons, not political, social or religious, motives.  

It may not always be clear to investigators which type of killing 

is which. Suicide attack campaigns sometimes also using proxy 

bombers (as alleged in Iraq). or manipulating the vulnerable to 

be bombers, At least one researcher (Adam Lankford) argues 

that the motivation to kill and be killed connects some suicide 

attackers more closely to "suicidal rampage" murderers than is 

commonly thought.  

Usage 

The usage of the term "suicide attack" goes back a long way 

but "suicide bombing" dates back to at least 1940 when a New 

York Times article mentions the term in relation to German 

tactics. Less than two years later that newspaper referred to a 

Japanese kamikaze attempt on an American carrier as a 

"suicide bombing". In 1945 The Times of London, referred to a 

kamikaze plane as a "suicide-bomb", and two years later an 

article there referred to a new British pilot-less, radio-
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controlled rocket missile as originally designed "as a counter-

measure to the Japanese 'suicide-bomber'".  

Alternative terms 

Sometimes, to assign either a more positive or negative 

connotation to the act, suicide bombing is referred to by 

different terms.  

• Istishhad 

Islamist supporters often call a suicide attack Istishhad (often 

translated as "martyrdom operation"), and the suicide attacker 

shahid (pl. shuhada, literally 'witness' and usually translated 

as 'martyr'). The idea being that the attacker died in order to 

testify his faith in God, for example while waging jihad bis saif 

(jihad by the sword). The term "suicide" is never used because 

Islam has strong strictures against taking one's own life. The 

terms Istishhad / "martyrdom operation" have been embraced 

by the Palestinian Authority, and by Hamas, Al-Aqsa Martyrs' 

Brigades, Fatah and other Palestinian factions.  

• Homicide bombing 

Some efforts have been made to replace the term "suicide 

bombing" with "homicide bombing", on the grounds that since 

the primary purpose of such a bombing is to kill other people, 

homicide is a more apt adjective than "suicide".  

The first to use the term for a wide audience was White House 

Press Secretary Ari Fleischer in April 2002. The only major 

media outlets to use it were Fox News Channel and the New 
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York Post (both of which are owned by News Corporation and 

have since mostly abandoned the term).  

Robert Goldney, a professor emeritus at the University of 

Adelaide, has argued in favor of the term "homicide bomber", 

arguing that studies show that there is little in common 

between people who blow themselves up, intending to kill as 

many people as possible in the process, and actual suicide 

victims. Fox News producer Dennis Murray argued that a 

suicidal act should be reserved for a person who does 

something to kill themselves only. CNN Producer Christa 

Robinson argued that the term "homicide bomber" reflects only 

that you have killed other people, but not that you have also 

killed yourself.  

• Genocide bombing 

"Genocide bombing" was coined in 2002 by Irwin Cotler, a 

member of the Canadian parliament, in an effort to focus 

attention on the alleged intention of genocide by militant 

Palestinians in their calls to "wipe Israel off the map".  

• Sacrifice bombing 

In the German-speaking area the term "sacrifice bombing" 

(Ger. Opferanschlag) was proposed in 2012 by German scholar 

Arata Takeda. The term is intended to shift the focus away 

from the suicide of the perpetrators and towards their use as 

weapons by their commanders.  
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History, pre-1980 

The first-century AD Jewish Sicarii sect are thought to have 

carried out suicidal attacks against Hellenized Jews they 

considered immoral collaborators. The Hashishiyeen 

(Assassins) sect of Ismaili Shi'a Muslims assassinated two 

caliphs, and many viziers, sultans and Crusader leaders over 

the course of 300 years, before being annihilated by Mongol 

invaders. Hashishiyeen were known for their targeting of the 

powerful, their use of the dagger as a weapon (rather than 

something safer for the assassin such as a crossbow), and for 

making no attempt to escape after completing their killing.  

Arnold von Winkelried became a hero in the Swiss struggle for 

independence when he sacrificed himself at the Battle of 

Sempach in 1386.  

The earliest known non-military suicide attack occurred in 

Murchison in New Zealand on 14 July 1905. A long-standing 

dispute between two farmers resulted in a court case, and the 

defendant (Joseph Sewell) had sticks of gelignite strapped to 

his body. When Sewell excitedly shouted during the court 

sitting about the other farmer "I'll blow the devil to hell, and I 

have enough dynamite to do just that", he was ushered out of 

the building. Sewell detonated the charge when a police officer 

tried to arrest him on the street, and his body was blown to 

pieces, but nobody else died from their injuries.  

India 

In 1780 an Indian woman named Kuyili applied ghee and oil 

onto her body and set herself ablaze, jumping into an armoury 
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of the East India Company which subsequently blew up. This 

suicide attack helped to secure victory for her commander, 

Velu Nachiyar in the battle.   

Dutch 

In the late 17th century, Qing official Yu Yonghe recorded that 

injured Dutch soldiers fighting against Koxinga's forces for 

control of Taiwan in 1661 would use gunpowder to blow up 

both themselves and their opponents rather than be taken 

prisoner. However, the Chinese observer may have confused 

such suicidal tactics with the standard Dutch military practice 

of undermining and blowing up positions recently overrun by 

the enemy which almost cost Koxinga his life during the Siege 

of Fort Zeelandia.  

On February 5, 1831 during the Belgian Revolution a gale blew 

a Dutch gunboat under the command of Jan van Speyk into the 

quay of the port of Antwerp. As the ship was stormed by 

Belgians Jan van Speyk refused to surrender the ship, instead 

igniting the ship's gunpowder with either his gun or cigar, 

blowing up the ship and killing 28 out of the 31 crewmen as 

well as an unknown number of Belgians.  

Aceh 

Muslim Acehnese from the Aceh Sultanate performed suicide 

attacks known as Parang-sabil against Dutch invaders during 

the Aceh War. It was considered as part of personal jihad in 

the Islamic religion of the Acehnese. The Dutch called it Atjèh-

moord, (literally "Aceh-murder"). The Acehnese work of 

literature, the Hikayat Perang Sabil provided the background 
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and reasoning for the "Aceh-mord"— Acehnese suicide attacks 

upon the Dutch. The Indonesian translations of the Dutch 

terms are Aceh bodoh (Aceh pungo) or Aceh gila (Aceh mord).  

Atjèh-moord was also used against the Japanese by the 

Acehnese during the Japanese occupation of Aceh. The 

Acehnese Ulama (Islamic clerics) fought against both the Dutch 

and the Japanese, revolting against the Dutch in February 

1942 and against Japan in November 1942. The revolt was led 

by the All-Aceh Religious Scholars' Association (PUSA). The 

Japanese suffered 18 dead in the uprising while they 

slaughtered up to 100 or over 120 Acehnese. The revolt 

happened in Bayu and was centred around Tjot Plieng village's 

religious school. During the revolt, the Japanese troops armed 

with mortars and machine guns were charged by sword 

wielding Acehnese under Teungku Abduldjalil (Tengku Abdul 

Djalil) in Buloh Gampong Teungah and Tjot Plieng on 10 and 

13 November. In May 1945 the Acehnese rebelled again.  

Moro Juramentado 

Moro Muslims who performed suicide attacks were called mag-

sabil, and the suicide attacks were known as Parang-sabil. The 

Spanish called them juramentado. The idea of the juramentado 

was considered part of jihad in the Moros' Islamic religion. 

During an attack, a Juramentado would throw himself at his 

targets and kill them with bladed weapons such as barongs 

and kris until he himself was killed. The Moros performed 

juramentado suicide attacks against the Spanish in the 

Spanish–Moro conflict of the 16th to the 19th centuries, 

against the Americans in the Moro Rebellion (1899–1913), and 

against the Japanese in World War II.  
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The Moro Juramentados aimed their attacks specifically 

against their enemies, and not against non-Muslims in general. 

They launched suicide attacks on the Japanese, 

Spanish, Americans and Filipinos, but did not attack the non-

Muslim Chinese as the Chinese were not considered enemies of 

the Moro people. 

The Japanese responded to these suicide attacks by 

massacring all known family members and relatives of the 

attacker(s).  

According to historian Stephan Dale, the Moro were not the 

only Muslims who carried out suicide attacks "in their fight 

against Western hegemony and colonial rule". In the 18th 

century, suicide tactics were used on the Malabar coast of 

southwestern India, and in Atjeh (Acheh) in Northern Sumatra 

as well.  

Russia 

The first known suicide bomber was a Russian man named 

Ignaty Grinevitsky. The invention of dynamite in the 1860s 

presented revolutionary and terrorist groups in Europe with a 

weapon nearly 20 times more powerful than gunpowder, but 

with technical challenges to detonating it at the right time. 

One way around that obstacle was to use a human trigger, and 

this was the technique that assassinated Tsar Alexander II of 

Russia in 1881.  A would-be suicide-bomber killed Vyacheslav 

von Plehve, the Russian Minister of the Interior, in St 

Petersburg in 1904.  
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Chinese suicide squads 

During the Xinhai Revolution (the Revolution of 1911) and the 

Warlord Era of the Republic of China (1912–1949), China 

deployed these suicide units against the Japanese during the 

Second Sino-Japanese War.  

In the Xinhai Revolution, many Chinese revolutionaries became 

martyrs in battle. "Dare to Die" student corps were founded, 

for student revolutionaries wanting to fight against Qing 

dynasty rule. Dr. Sun Yat-sen and Huang Xing promoted the 

Dare to Die corps. Huang said, "We must die, so let us die 

bravely." Suicide squads were formed by Chinese students 

going into battle, knowing that they would be killed fighting 

against overwhelming odds.  

The 72 Martyrs of Huanghuagang died in the uprising that 

began the Wuchang Uprising, and were recognized as heroes 

and martyrs by the Kuomintang party and the Republic of 

China. The martyrs in the Dare to Die Corps who died in battle 

wrote letters to family members before heading off to certain 

death. The Huanghuakang was built as a monument to the 72 

martyrs. 

The deaths of the revolutionaries helped the establishment of 

the Republic of China, overthrowing the Qing dynasty imperial 

system. Other Dare to Die student corps in the Xinhai 

revolution were led by students who later became major 

military leaders in Republic of China, like Chiang Kai-shek, 

and Huang Shaoxiong with the Muslim Bai Chongxi against 

Qing dynasty forces. "Dare to Die" troops were used by 

warlords. The Kuomintang used one to put down an 
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insurrection in Canton. Many women joined them in addition 

to men to achieve martyrdom against China's opponents. They 

were known as 烈士 "Lit-she" (Martyrs) after accomplishing 

their mission.  

During the January 28 Incident a dare to die squad struck 

against the Japanese.  

Suicide bombing was also used against the Japanese. A "dare 

to die corps" was effectively used against Japanese units at the 

Battle of Taierzhuang. They used swords. They wore suicide 

vests made out of grenades.  

A Chinese soldier detonated a grenade vest and killed 20 

Japanese soldiers at Sihang Warehouse. Chinese troops 

strapped explosives such as grenade packs or dynamite to their 

bodies and threw themselves under Japanese tanks to blow 

them up. 

This tactic was used during the Battle of Shanghai, to stop a 

Japanese tank column when an attacker exploded himself 

beneath the lead tank, and at the Battle of Taierzhuang where 

Chinese troops with dynamite and grenades strapped to 

themselves rushed Japanese tanks and blew themselves up, in 

one incident obliterating four Japanese tanks with grenade 

bundles.  

During the 1946–1950 Communist Revolution, coolies fighting 

the Communists formed "Dare to Die Corps" to fight for their 

organizations, with their lives. During the Tiananmen Square 

Incident of 1989, protesting students also formed "Dare to Die 

Corps", to risk their lives defending the protest leaders.  
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Japanese Kamikaze 

Kamikaze, a ritual act of self-sacrifice carried out by Japanese 

pilots of explosive-laden aircraft against Allied warships, 

occurred on a large scale at the end of World War II. About 

3000 attacks were made and about 50 ships were sunk.  

Later in the war, as Japan became more desperate, this act 

became formalized and ritualized, as planes were outfitted with 

explosives specific to the task of a suicide mission. Kamikaze 

strikes were a weapon of asymmetric war used by the Empire of 

Japan against United States Navy and Royal Navy aircraft 

carriers, although the armoured flight deck of the Royal Navy 

carriers diminished Kamikaze effectiveness. The Japanese Navy 

also used piloted torpedoes called kaiten ("Heaven shaker") on 

suicide missions. Although sometimes called midget 

submarines, these were modified versions of the unmanned 

torpedoes of the time and are distinct from the torpedo-firing 

midget submarines used earlier in the war, which were 

designed to infiltrate shore defenses and return to a mother 

ship after firing their torpedoes. Although extremely 

hazardous, these midget submarine attacks were not 

technically suicide missions, as the earlier midget submarines 

had escape hatches. Kaitens, however, provided no means of 

escape.  

Germans 

During the Battle for Berlin the Luftwaffe flew "Self-sacrifice 

missions" (Selbstopfereinsatz) against Soviet bridges over the 

River Oder. These 'total missions' were flown by pilots of the 

Leonidas Squadron. From April 17–20, 1945, using any 
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available aircraft, the Luftwaffe claimed the squadron had 

destroyed 17 bridges, however military historian Antony Beevor 

when writing about the missions thinks that this was 

exaggerated and that only the railway bridge at Küstrin was 

definitely destroyed. He comments that "thirty-five pilots and 

aircraft was a high price to pay for such a limited and 

temporary success". 

The missions were called off when the Soviet ground forces 

reached the vicinity of the squadron's airbase at Jüterbog.  

Rudolf Christoph Freiherr von Gersdorff intended to 

assassinate Adolf Hitler by suicide bomb in 1943, but was 

unable to complete the attack.  

Korean War 

North Korean tanks were attacked by South Koreans with 

suicide tactics during the Korean War.  

American tanks at Seoul were attacked by North Korean 

suicide squads, who used satchel charges. North Korean 

soldier Li Su-Bok is considered a hero for destroying an 

American tank with a suicide bomb.  

Suez Crisis 

An Arab Christian military officer from Syria, Jules Jammal, 

allegedly brought down a French ship with a suicide attack 

during the Suez Crisis in 1956 according to Egyptian media, 

although both French ships with that name were unharmed 

during the crisis.  
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War of Attrition 

On March 21, 1968, in response to persistent PLO raids 

against Israeli civilian targets, Israel attacks the town of 

Karameh, Jordan, the site of a major PLO camp. The goal of 

the invasion was to destroy Karameh camp and capture Yasser 

Arafat in reprisal for the attacks by the PLO against Israeli 

civilians, which culminated in an Israeli school bus hitting a 

mine in the Negev. This engagement marked the first known 

deployment of suicide bombers by Palestinian forces.  

United States 

On December 27, 2018, the Green Bay Press-Gazette 

interviewed veteran Mark Bentley, who had trained for the 

Special Atomic Demolition Munition program to manually place 

and detonate a modified version of the W54 nuclear bomb. The 

report stated that he and other soldiers training for the 

program knew this was a suicide mission because either it 

would be unrealistic to outrun the timer on the bomb, or that 

soldiers would be obligated to secure the site before the timer 

went off. 

However, in theory the timer could be set long enough to give 

the team a chance to escape. Specifically, he stated, "We all 

knew it was a one-way mission, a suicide mission." "You set 

your timer, and it would click when it went off, or it went ding 

or I forget what, but you knew you were toast," he said. "Ding! 

Your toast is ready, and it's you." He also commented, "The 

Army is not going to set a bomb like that and run away and 

leave it, because they don't know if someone else would get 

ahold of it," he said. "They have to leave troops there to make 
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sure it 's not stolen or compromised, and that would just be 

collateral damage. You didn't go out with the thought that it 

was anything other than a one-way mission. If you're Bruce 

Willis, you get away, but I ain't Bruce Willis."  

Post-1980 attacks 

History 

• The concept of self-sacrifice as a means to killing 

others dates back to antiquity with Samson's 

suicidal mass killing of the Philistine leaders, but 

the idea of suicide bombing "as a tool of stateless 

terrorists" was only "dreamed up a hundred years 

ago by the European anarchists", according to 

author Noah Feldman. It was not until 1983 when 

Shiite militants blew up the U.S. Marine barracks in 

Lebanon, that it became a "tool of modern terrorist 

warfare". Modern suicide bombing has been defined 

as "involving explosives deliberately carried to the 

target either on the person or in a civilian vehicle 

and delivered by surprise". (Noah Feldman and many 

others exclude terror attacks such as the Lod Airport 

massacre where "the perpetrator's ensured death" 

was not "a precondition for the success of his 

mission".) The intended targets are often civilian, not 

just military or political.  

Suicide bombing was used by factions of the Lebanese Civil 

War and especially by the Tamil Tigers (LTTE) of Sri Lanka.  
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The Islamic Dawa Party's car bombing of the Iraqi embassy in 

Beirut in December 1981 and Hezbollah's bombing of the U.S. 

embassy in April 1983 and attack on United States Marine and 

French barracks in October 1983 brought suicide bombings 

international attention and began the modern suicide bombing 

era. Other parties to the civil war were quick to adopt the 

tactic, and by 1999 factions such as Hezbollah, the Amal 

Movement, the Ba'ath Party, and the Syrian Social Nationalist 

Party had carried out around 50 suicide bombings between 

them. (The latter of these groups sent the first recorded female 

suicide bomber in 1985.)  

During the Sri Lankan Civil War, the Tamil Tigers (LTTE) 

adopted suicide bombing as a tactic, using bomb belts and 

female bombers. 

The LTTE carried out their first suicide attack in July 1987, 

and their Black Tiger unit committed 83 suicide attacks from 

1987 to 2009, killing 981 people, including former Indian 

Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi, and the president of Sri Lanka, 

Ranasinghe Premadasa.  

Another non-religious group involved in suicide attacks was 

the Kurdistan Workers' Party which began their insurgency 

against the Turkish state in 1984. 

According to the Chicago Project on Security and Terrorism's 

Suicide Attack Database, as of 2015, ten suicide attacks by the 

PKK from 1996 to 2012 killed 32 people and injured 116. 

(Suicide attacks are only part of the PKK's militant arsenal as 

they have killed or wounded hundreds of government workers 

and destroyed or damaged hundreds of school, post offices and 

mosques.)  
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Al-Qaeda carried out its first suicide attack in the mid-1990s, 

and they first appeared in Israel and the Palestinian Territories 

in 1989.  

9/11 and after 

In early 2000, one analyst (Yoram Schweitzer) saw a pause in 

bombing campaigns and argued that "most of the groups that 

were involved in suicide terrorism either stopped using it or 

eventually reduced it significantly."  

The number of attacks using suicide tactics grew from an 

average of fewer than five per year during the 1980s to 81 

suicide attacks in 2001 to 460 in 2005. By 2005, the tactic had 

spread to dozens of countries.  

Suicide bombing became a popular tactic among Palestinian 

terrorist organizations such as Hamas, Islamic Jihad, the Al-

Aqsa Martyrs Brigade, and occasionally by the PFLP. The first 

suicide bombing in Israel was by Hamas in 1994. Attacks 

peaked from 2001–2003 with over 40 bombings and over 200 

killed in 2002. Bombers affiliated with these groups often use 

so-called "suicide belts", explosive devices (often including 

shrapnel) designed to be strapped to the body under clothing. 

In order to maximize the loss of life, the bombers seek out 

enclosed spaces, such as cafés or city buses crowded with 

people at rush hour. Less common are military targets (for 

example, soldiers waiting for transport at roadside).  

These bombings have tended to have more popular support 

than in other Muslim countries, and more music videos and 

announcements that promise eternal reward for suicide 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

880 

 

bombers can be found on Palestinian television (according to 

Palestinian Media Watch). Israeli sources observed that Hamas, 

Islamic Jihad and Fatah operate "Paradise Camps", training 

children as young as 11 to become suicide bombers.  

The September 11, 2001 attacks, orchestrated by al-Qaeda, 

has been called "the worst attack on American soil since the 

Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor which thrust the United 

States into World War II". They involved the hijacking of four 

large passenger jet airliners because their long 

transcontinental flight plans meant they carried more fuel, 

allowing a bigger explosion on impact (unlike earlier airline 

hijackings, the primary focus was the planes, not the 

passengers). 

Two planes were deliberately flown into the Twin Towers of the 

World Trade Center in New York City, destroying both 110 

story skyscrapers within less than two hours, and a third was 

flown into the Pentagon in Arlington County, Virginia, causing 

severe damage to the west side of the building. 

These attacks resulted in the deaths of 221 people (including 

the 15 hijackers) on board the three planes as well as 2,731 

more in and around the targeted buildings. A fourth plane 

crashed into a field near Shanksville, Pennsylvania, after a 

revolt by the plane's passengers, killing all 44 people 

(including the four hijackers) on board. In total, the attacks 

killed 2,996 people and injured more than 6,000 others. The 

U.S. stock market closed for four trading days after the attacks 

(the first time it had an unscheduled closing since the Great 

Depression). Nine days after the attack, U.S. President George 

W. Bush called for a "War on Terror" and shortly thereafter 
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launched the War in Afghanistan to find and capture Osama 

bin Laden, the head of the al-Qaeda organization that mounted 

the 9/11 attacks.  

After the U.S.-led invasion of Iraq in 2003, Iraqi and foreign 

insurgents carried out waves of suicide bombings. More 

attacks have been carried out in Iraq (1938 as of mid-2015) 

than in any other country.  

In addition to United States military targets, they attacked 

many civilian targets such as Shiite mosques, international 

offices of the UN and the Red Cross. Iraqi men waiting to apply 

for jobs with the new army and police force were targets. In the 

lead up to the Iraqi parliamentary election, on January 30, 

2005, suicide attacks upon civilian and police personnel 

involved with the elections increased. There were also reports 

of the insurgents co-opting disabled people as involuntary 

suicide bombers.  

Other major locations of suicide attack are Afghanistan (1059 

attacks as of mid-2015) and Pakistan (490 attacks). In the first 

eight months of 2008, Pakistan overtook Iraq and Afghanistan 

in suicide bombings, with 28 bombings killing 471 people. 

Suicide bombings have become a tactic in Chechnya, first 

being used in the conflict in 2000 in Alkhan Kala, and 

spreading to Russia, notably with the Moscow theater hostage 

crisis in 2002 to the Beslan school hostage crisis in 2004.  

In Europe four Islamist suicide bombers exploded home-made 

peroxide explosives on three London underground trains and a 

bus on 7 July 2005, during the morning rush hour. These 

"7/7" bombings killed 52 civilians and injured 700.  
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Since 2006, al-Shabaab and its predecessor, the Islamic 

Courts, have carried out major suicide attacks in Somalia, the 

worse year so far being 2014 with 16 attacks and over 120 

killed.  

In December 2020, a suicide bombing occurred on Christmas 

day in Nashville, Tennessee.  

Weapons and methods 

Means of suicide attack in the 20th and 21st centuries, 

include:  

• On foot: explosive belt, satchel charge: many, 

including the assassination of Rajiv Gandhi 

• With a plane as target and explosives hidden inside 

attackers shoe: Richard Reid on American Airlines 

Flight 63 

• With explosives hidden inside the body: 2009 attack 

on a Saudi prince, Muhammad bin Nayef 

• By car bomb: 1983 Beirut barracks bombing, Sri 

Lankan Central Bank bombing, numerous incidents 

in Iraq since 2003, Bombing in Nashville, Tennessee 

• By a boat with explosives: USS Cole bombing attacks 

in Aden, Yemen by Al-Qaeda; SLNS Sagarawardena 

sinking in Sri Lanka by Tamil Tigers. 

• By a submarine with explosives (human-steered 

torpedo): Kaiten, used by Japan in World War II 

• By a bicycle with explosives: Assassination of Sri 

Lankan President Ranasinghe Premadasa by the 

Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE) 
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• By a hijacked commercial jet airliner with fuel: 

September 11 attacks, attempted on Air France 

Flight 8969 and by Samuel Byck 

• By private plane: 2010 Austin plane crash and 

Mitsuyasu Maeno 

• By diverting a bus to an abyss: Tel Aviv Jerusalem 

bus 405 attack 

• By a car by using a fast driving car to drive 

intentionally into a crowd of people or breaching a 

security barrier: 2009 attack on the Dutch royal 

family 

Strategy and advantages 

According to author Jeffrey William Lewis, to succeed, 

campaigns of suicide bombing need:  

• willing individuals 

• organizations to train and use them 

• a society willing to accept such acts in the name of a 

greater good 

The organizations work to guarantee individual suicide 

bombers that they "will be remembered as martyrs dying for 

their communities". By imbuing suicide bombing/attacks with 

"reverence and heroism", it becomes more attractive to 

recruits. According to Yoram Schweitzer, modern suicide 

terrorism is "aimed at causing devastating physical damage, 

through which it inflicts profound fear and anxiety". Its goal is 

not to produce a negative psychological effect only on the 

victims of the actual attack, but on the entire target 

population. Attackers themselves have often framed suicide 
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attacks as acts of courageous self-sacrifice in made necessary 

by the superior military or security strength of the enemy. The 

technique has also been called "the atomic weapon of the 

weak". According to Sheikh Ahmed Yassin, the former leader of 

Hamas, "Once we have warplanes and missiles, then we can 

think of changing our means of legitimate self-defense. But 

right now, we can only tackle the fire with our bare hands and 

sacrifice ourselves." While arguably this explains the 

motivation of many early suicide bombings in the 1980s and 

90s, it cannot explain many later attacks, such as on funeral 

processions of the minority Shia in Pakistan.  

A major reason for the popularity of suicide attacks despite the 

sacrifice involved for its perpetrators is its tactical advantages 

over other types of terrorism, such as the ability to conceal 

weapons, make last-minute adjustments, increased ability to 

infiltrate heavily guarded targets, lack of need for remote or 

delayed detonation, escape plans or rescue teams. Robert Pape 

observes: "Suicide attacks are an especially convincing way to 

signal the likelihood of more pain to come, because if you are 

willing to kill yourself you are also willing to endure brutal 

retaliation. "... The element of suicide itself helps increase the 

credibility of future attacks because it suggests that attackers 

cannot be deterred." Other scholars have criticized Pape's 

research design, arguing that it cannot draw any conclusions 

on the efficacy of suicide terrorism.  

Bruce Hoffman describes the characteristics of suicide 

bombing, as "universal": "Suicide bombings are inexpensive 

and effective. They are less complicated and compromising 

than other kinds of terrorist operations. They guarantee media 

coverage. The suicide terrorist is the ultimate smart bomb. 
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Perhaps most important, coldly efficient bombings tear at the 

fabric of trust that holds societies together."  

Attacker profiles and motivations 

Studies of who becomes a suicide attacker and what motivates 

them have often come to different conclusions. According to 

Riaz Hassan, "apart from one demographic attribute—that the 

majority of suicide bombers tend to be young males—the 

evidence has failed to find a stable set of demographic, 

psychological, socioeconomic and religious variables that can 

be causally linked to suicide bombers’ personality or 

socioeconomic origins." Scott Atran agrees: "In targeting 

potential recruits for suicide terrorism, it must be understood 

that terrorist attacks will not be prevented by trying to profile 

terrorists. 

They are not sufficiently different from everyone else. Insights 

into homegrown jihadi attacks will have to come from 

understanding group dynamics, not individual psychology. 

Small-group dynamics can trump individual personality to 

produce horrific behavior in otherwise ordinary people." 

Reasons vary greatly, and are different in the case of each 

individual. Fanaticism (nationalist or religious, or both) results 

from brain-washing, negative experiences regarding “the 

enemy”, and the lack of a perspective in life. Suicides want to 

hurt or kill their targets because they hold them responsible 

for all bad things that have happened to them or in the world, 

or simply just because they want to escape misery and poverty.  

Based on biographies of more than seven hundred foreign 

fighters uncovered at an Iraqi insurgent camp, researchers 
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believe that the motivation for suicide missions (at least in 

Iraq) was not "the global jihadi ideology", but "an explosive mix 

of desperation, pride, anger, sense of powerlessness, local 

tradition of resistance and religious fervor".  

Criminal Justice professor Adam Lankford argues that suicide 

terrorists are not psychologically normal or stable, and are 

motivated to suicide/killing to mask their desire to die beneath 

a "veneer of heroic action", because of the religious 

consequences of killing themselves outright. 

He has identified more than 130 individual suicide terrorists, 

including 9/11 ringleader Mohamed Atta, with classic suicidal 

risk factors such as depression, post-traumatic stress 

disorder, other mental health problems, drug addictions, 

serious physical injuries or disabilities, or having suffered the 

unexpected death of a loved one or from other personal crises.  

A study of the remains of 110 suicide bombers in Afghanistan 

for the first part of 2007 by Afghan pathologist Dr. Yusef 

Yadgari found 80% were suffering from physical ailments such 

as missing limbs (before the blasts), cancer, or leprosy. Also, 

in contrast to earlier findings of suicide bombers, the Afghan 

bombers were "not celebrated like their counterparts in other 

Arab nations. Afghan bombers are not featured on posters or in 

videos as martyrs."  

Anthropologist Scott Atran's research has found that the 

attacks are not organized from the top down, but occurs from 

the bottom up. That is, it is usually a matter of following one's 

friends, and ending up in environments that foster groupthink. 

Atran is also critical of the claim that terrorists simply crave 
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destruction; they are often motivated by beliefs they hold 

sacred, as well as their own moral reasoning.  

Robert Pape, director of the Chicago Project on Suicide 

Terrorism, found the majority of suicide bombers came from 

the educated middle classes. (Humam Balawi, who perpetrated 

the Camp Chapman attack in Afghanistan in 2010, was a 

medical doctor.) A 2004 paper by Harvard University Professor 

of Public Policy Alberto Abadie "cast[s] doubt on the widely 

held belief that terrorism stems from poverty, finding instead 

that terrorist violence (not just suicide terrorism) is "related to 

a nation's level of political freedom", with countries "in some 

intermediate range of political freedom" more prone to 

terrorism than countries with "high levels" of political freedom 

or countries with "highly authoritarian regimes". 

"When governments are weak, political instability is elevated, 

so conditions are favorable for the appearance of terrorism". A 

2020 study found that while well-educated and economically 

well-off individuals are more likely to be behind suicide 

terrorism, it is not because these individuals self-select into 

suicide terrorism, but rather because terrorist groups are more 

likely to select high-quality individuals to commit suicide 

terrorist attacks.  

A study by German scholar Arata Takeda analyzes analogous 

behavior represented in literary texts from the antiquity 

through the 20th century (Sophocles' sAjax, Milton's Samson 

Agonistes, Friedrich Schiller's The Robbers, Albert Camus's The 

Just Assassins) and comes to the conclusion "that suicide 

bombings are not the expressions of specific cultural 

peculiarities or exclusively religious fanaticisms. Instead, they 
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represent a strategic option of the desperately weak who 

strategically disguise themselves under the mask of apparent 

strength, terror, and invincibility."  

Nationalist resistance and religion 

To what extent attackers are motivated by religious 

enthusiasm, by resistance to perceived outsider oppression or 

some combination of the two is disputed.  

According to Robert Pape, director of the Chicago Project on 

Suicide Terrorism, as of 2005, 95 percent of suicide attacks 

have the same specific strategic goal: to cause an occupying 

state to withdraw forces from a disputed territory, making 

nationalism, not religion, their principal motivation.  

Beneath the religious rhetoric with which [such terror] is 

perpetrated, it occurs largely in the service of secular aims. 

Suicide terrorism is mainly a response to foreign occupation 

rather than a product of Islamic fundamentalism ... Though it 

speaks of Americans as infidels, al-Qaida is less concerned 

with converting us to Islam than removing us from Arab and 

Muslim lands. 

Alternately, another source found that at least in one country 

(Lebanon from 1983–1999) it was Islamists who influenced 

secular nationalists—their use of suicide attack spreading to 

the secular groups. 

Five Lebanese groups "espousing a non-religious nationalist 

ideology" followed the lead of Islamist groups in attacking by 

suicide, "impressed by the effectiveness of Hezbollah's attacks 

in precipitating the withdrawal of the 'foreigners' from 
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Lebanon". (In Israel suicide attacks by Islamist Islamic Jihad 

and Hamas also preceded those of the secular PFLP and the Al-

Fatah-linked Al-Aqsa Martyrs' Brigades.)  

Pape found other factors associated with suicide attacks 

included  

• the government of the targeted country being 

democratic and the public opinion of the country 

playing a role in determining policy. 

• a difference in religion between the attackers and 

occupiers; 

• grassroots support for the attacks; 

• attackers disproportionately from the educated 

middle classes; 

• high levels of brutality and cruelty by the occupiers, 

and 

• competition among militant groups fighting the 

occupiers. 

Other researchers contend that Pape's analysis is flawed, 

particularly his contention that democracies are the main 

targets of such attacks. Other scholars have criticized Pape's 

research design, arguing that it cannot draw any conclusions 

on the causes of suicide terrorism. Atran argues that suicide 

bombing has moved on from the days of Pape's study, that 

non-Islamic groups have carried out very few bombings since 

2003, while bombing by Muslim or Islamist groups associated 

with a "global ideology" of "martyrdom" has skyrocketed. In one 

year, in one Muslim country alone – 2004 in Iraq – there were 

400 suicide attacks and 2,000 casualties. Other researchers 

(such as Yotam Feldner) argue that perceived religious rewards 
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in the hereafter are instrumental in encouraging Muslims to 

commit suicide attacks, or ask why prominent anti-occupation 

secular terrorist groups—such as the Provisional IRA, ETA or 

anti-colonialist insurgents in Vietnam, 

Algeria, etc.—have not used suicide, why he does not mention 

that the very first suicide attack in Lebanon (in 1981) targeted 

the embassy of Iraq, a country which was not occupying 

Lebanon.  

Mia Bloom agrees with Pape that competition among insurgents 

groups is a significant motivator, arguing the growth in suicide 

as a tactic is a product of "outbidding", i.e. the need by 

competing insurgent groups to demonstrate their commitment 

to the cause to broader public—making the ultimate sacrifice 

for the insurgency being a "bid" impossible to top. (This 

explains its use by Palestinian groups, but not that by the 

Tamil Tigers.) Still other researchers have identified 

sociopolitical factors as more central in the motivation of 

suicide attackers than religion.  

According to Atran and former CIA case officer Marc Sageman, 

support for suicide actions is triggered by moral outrage at 

perceived attacks against Islam and sacred values, but this is 

converted to action as a result of small-world factors (such as 

being part of a football club with other jihadis). 

Millions express sympathy with global jihad (according to a 

2006 Gallup study involving more than 50,000 interviews in 

dozens of countries, seven percent or at least 90 million of the 

world's 1.3 billion Muslims consider the 9/11 attacks 

"completely justified").  
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Also arguing that the increase in suicide terrorism since 2001 

is really driven by Salafi/Jihadist ideology and Al-Qaeda is 

Assaf Moghadam.  

Updating his work in a 2010 book Cutting the Fuse, Pape 

reported that a fine-grained analysis of the time and location 

of attacks strongly support his conclusion that "foreign 

military occupation accounts for 98.5%—and the deployment of 

American combat forces for 92%—of all the 1,833 suicide 

terrorist attacks around the world" between 2004 and 2009 

Moreover, "the success attributed to the surge in 2007 and 2008 

was actually less the result of an increase in coalition forces 

and more to a change of strategy in Baghdad and the 

empowerment of the Sunnis in Anbar." (emphasis in the 

original)  

The same logic can be seen in Afghanistan. In 2004 and early 

2005, NATO occupied the north and west, controlled by the 

Northern Alliance, whom NATO had previously helped fight the 

Taliban. An enormous spike in suicide terrorism only occurred 

later in 2005 as NATO moved into the south and east, which 

had previously been controlled by the Taliban and locals were 

more likely to see NATO as a foreign occupation threatening 

local culture and customs. Critics argue the logic cannot be 

seen in Pakistan, which has no occupation and the second 

highest number of suicide bombing fatalities as of mid-2015.  

Islam 

What connection the high percentage of suicide attacks 

executed by Islamist groups since 1980 has to do with the 

religion of Islam is disputed. Specifically, scholars, 
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researchers, and others, disagree over whether Islam forbids 

suicide in the process of attacking enemies or the killing of 

civilians. According to a report compiled by the Chicago Project 

on Suicide Terrorism, 224 of 300 suicide terror attacks from 

1980 to 2003 involved Islamist groups or took place in Muslim-

majority lands. Another tabulation found more than a fourfold 

increase in suicide bombings in the two years following Papes 

study and that the overwhelming majority of these bombers 

were motivated by the ideology of Islamist martyrdom. (For 

example, as of early 2008, 1121 Muslim suicide bombers have 

blown themselves up in Iraq.)  

Recent history 

Islamic suicide bombing is a fairly recent phenomenon. It was 

totally absent from the 1979–1989 Afghan jihad against the 

Soviet Union, (an asymmetrical war where the mujahideen 

fought Soviet warplanes, helicopters and tanks primarily with 

light weapons). According to author Sadakat Kadri, "the very 

idea that Muslims might blow themselves up for God was 

unheard of before 1983, and it was not until the early 1990s 

that anyone anywhere had tried to justify killing innocent 

Muslims who were not on a battlefield." After 1983 the process 

was limited among Muslims to Hezbollah and other Lebanese 

Shi'a factions for more than a decade.  

Since then, the "vocabulary of martyrdom and sacrifice", 

videotaped pre-confession of faith by attackers have become 

part of "Islamic cultural consciousness", "instantly 

recognizable" to Muslims (according to Noah Feldman), while 

the tactic has spread through the Muslim world "with 

astonishing speed and on a surprising course".  
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First the targets were American soldiers, then mostly Israelis, 

including women and children. From Lebanon and Israel, the 

technique of suicide bombing moved to Iraq, where the targets 

have included mosques and shrines, and the intended victims 

have mostly been Shiite Iraqis. ... [In] Afghanistan, ... both the 

perpetrators and the targets are orthodox Sunni Muslims. Not 

long ago, a bombing in Lashkar Gah, the capital of Helmand 

Province, killed Muslims, including women, who were applying 

to go on pilgrimage to Mecca. Overall, the trend is definitively 

in the direction of Muslim-on-Muslim violence. By a 

conservative accounting, more than three times as many Iraqis 

have been killed by suicide bombings in just three year (2003–

6) as have Israelis in ten (from 1996–2006). Suicide bombing 

has become the archetype of Muslim violence – not just to 

Westerners but also to Muslims themselves.  

Recent research on the rationale of suicide bombing has 

identified both religious and sociopolitical motivations. Those 

who cite religious factors as an important influence note that 

religion provides the framework because the bombers believe 

they are acting in the name of Islam and will be rewarded as 

martyrs. Since martyrdom is seen as a step towards paradise, 

those who commit suicide while discarding their community 

from a common enemy believe that they will reach an ultimate 

salvation after they die.  

In the media attention given to suicide bombing during the 

Second Intifada and after 9/11, sources hostile to radical 

Islamism quoted radical scholars promising various heavenly 

rewards, such as 70 virgins (houri) as wives, to Muslims who 

die as martyrs, (specifically as suicide attackers).  
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Other rewards include "From the moment the first drop of his 

blood is spilled, he does not feel the pain of his wounds and he 

is forgiven for all his sins" according to Sheikh Abd Al-Salam 

Abu Shukheydem, Chief Mufti of the Palestinian Authority 

police force, (Shukheydem does not specify that the martyrs 

have been killed as suicide attackers)  One Israeli source (Y. 

Feldner of MEMRI) complained that  

the death announcements of martyrs in the Palestinian press 

often take the form of wedding, not funeral, announcements. 

`Blessings will be accepted immediately after the burial and 

until 10 p.m. ...at the home of the martyr's uncle,` read one 

suicide bomber's death notice. `With great pride, the 

Palestinian Islamic Jihad marries the member of its military 

wing... the martyr and hero Yasser Al-Adhami, to "the black-

eyed,"` read another. 

Other alleged rewards for those dying in jihad are feeling no 

pain from the cause of their death, being cleansed of all sin 

and brought directly to paradise, not having to wait for the Day 

of Judgement.  

Others (such as As'ad AbuKhalil) maintain that "the tendency 

to dwell on the sexual motives" of the suicide bombers 

"belittles" the bombers "sociopolitical causes", and that the 

alleged "sexual frustration" of young Muslim men "has been 

overly emphasized in the Western and Israeli media" as a 

motive for terrorism.  

• Support for "martyrdom operations" 

Islamist militant organisations (including al-Qaeda, Hamas and 

Islamic Jihad) argue that despite what some Muslims claim is 
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Islam's strict prohibition of suicide and murder, suicide 

attacks fulfill the obligation of jihad against the "oppressor", 

"martyrs" will be rewarded with paradise, and have the support 

of (some) Muslim clerics. Clerics have supported suicide 

attacks largely in connection with the Palestinian issue. 

Prominent Sunni cleric Yusuf al-Qaradawi previously had 

supported such attacks by Palestinians in perceived defense of 

their homeland as heroic and an act of resistance. Shiite 

Lebanese cleric Muhammad Husayn Fadlallah, the spiritual 

authority recognized by Hezbollah, holds similar views. 

According to the conservative Iranian Shi'ah cleric Ayatollah 

Mohammad Taghi Mesbah Yazdi, 

"When protecting Islam and the Muslim community depends on 

martyrdom operations, it not only is allowed, but even is an 

obligation as many of the Shi'ah great scholars and Maraje', 

including Ayatullah Safi Golpayegani and Ayatullah Fazel 

Lankarani, have clearly announced in their fatwas."  

The Quranic verse used by Zarein Ahmedzay (an Afghanistan-

born New York City cab driver who traveled to Waziristan for 

terrorist training and discussed possible suicide bombing 

target locations in crowded parts of Manhattan) in support of 

his actions was 9:111 (Surah At-Tawba): 

Lo! Allah hath bought from the believers their lives and their 

wealth because the Garden will be theirs: they shall fight in 

the way of Allah and shall slay and be slain. It is a promise 

which is binding on Him in the Torah and the Gospel and the 

Quran. Who fulfilleth His covenant better than Allah? Rejoice 

then in your bargain that ye have made, for that is the 

supreme triumph. 
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Supporters of the Taliban insist their attacks are "martyrdom 

operations" and not suicide. The June 2013 issue of the 

Taliban magazine Azanextolled the virtues of suicide attacks, 

claiming that "suicide bombing" is a "false term" for jihad 

martyrdom attacks. "So martyrdom operation ≠ Suicide 

bombing".  

The articles maintains that Abu Huraira (a companion of the 

Muhammad) and Umar ibn Khattab (the third caliph of Islam), 

approved acts in which the Muslims knew would lead to certain 

death, and that the Islamic prophet Muhammad also approved 

of such acts (according to authors Maulana Muawiya Hussaini 

and Ikrimah Anwar cited numerous Hadith of Muhammad on 

the authority of Islamic jurist Muslim ibn al-Hajjaj). "The 

Sahaba [companions of the Islamic prophet Muhammad] who 

carried out the attacks almost certainly knew that they were 

going to be killed during their operations but they still carried 

them out and such acts were extolled and praised in the 

sharia."  

• Opposition and responses from Muslim scholars 

Others (such as Middle East historian Bernard Lewis) disagree, 

noting  

... a clear difference was made between throwing oneself to 

certain death at the hands of an overwhelmingly strong enemy, 

and dying by one's own hand. The first, if conducted in a 

properly authorized [ jihad ], was a passport to heaven; the 

second to damnation. The blurring of their previously vital 

distinction was the work of some twentieth-century theologians 

who outlined the new theory which the suicide bombers put 

into practice." 
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The difference between engaging in an act where the 

perpetrator plans to fight to the death but where the attack 

does not require their death, is important to at least one 

Islamist terror group—Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT). While the group 

extols "martyrdom" and has killed many civilians, LeT believes 

suicide attacks where the attackers dies by their own hand 

(such as by pressing a detonation button), are haram 

(forbidden). Its "trademark" is that of perpetrators fighting "to 

the death" but escaping "if practical". "This distinction has 

been the subject of extensive discourse among radical Islamist 

leaders."  

A number of Western and Muslim scholars of Islam have 

posited that suicide attacks are a clear violation of classical 

Islamic law and characterized such attacks against civilians as 

murderous and sinful.  

According to Bernard Lewis, "the emergence of the now 

widespread terrorism practice of suicide bombing is a 

development of the 20th century. It has no antecedents in 

Islamic history, and no justification in terms of Islamic 

theology, law, or tradition." Islamic legal rules of armed 

warfare or military jihad are covered in detail in the classical 

texts of Islamic jurisprudence, which forbidding the killing of 

women, children or non-combatants, and the destroying of 

cultivated or residential areas. For more than a millennium, 

these tenets were accepted by Sunnis and Shiites; however, 

since the 1980s militant Islamists have challenged the 

traditional Islamic rules of warfare to justify suicide attacks.  

A number of respected Muslim scholars have provided 

scholastic refutations of suicide bombings, condemning them 
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as terrorism prohibited in Islam and leading their perpetrators 

to hell. In his 400+-page Fatwa on Terrorism condemning 

suicide attacks, Muslim Islamic scholar Muhammad Tahir-ul-

Qadri directly disputed the rationale of Islamists, arguing 

among other things that the indiscriminately killing of both 

Muslims and non-Muslims is unlawful, and brings the Muslim 

ummah into disrepute, no matter how lofty the killers 

intentions. 

Tahir-ul-Qadri states terrorism "has no place in Islamic 

teaching, and no justification can be provided to it...good 

intention cannot justify a wrong and forbidden act".  

The Grand Mufti of Saudi Arabia, Abdul-Aziz ibn Abdullah Al 

Shaykh, issued a fatwa on September 12, 2013, that suicide 

bombings are "great crimes" and bombers are "criminals who 

rush themselves to hell by their actions". 

Al Shaykh described suicide bombers as "robbed of their 

minds... who have been used (as tools) to destroy themselves 

and societies".  

"In view of the fast-moving dangerous developments in the 

Islamic world, it is very distressing to see the tendencies of 

permitting or underestimating the shedding of blood of 

Muslims and those under protection in their countries. The 

sectarian or ignorant utterances made by some of these people 

would benefit none other than the greedy, vindictive and 

envious people. Hence, we would like to draw attention to the 

seriousness of the attacks on Muslims or those who live under 

their protection or under a pact with them", Al Shaykh said, 

quoting a number of verses from the Qur'an and Hadith.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

899 

 

In 2005, following a series of bombings by the banned outfit 

Jama'atul Mujahideen Bangladesh (JMB) Ubaidul Haq, the 

chief cleric of Bangladesh led a protest of ulema denouncing 

terrorism. He said:  

"Islam prohibits suicide bombings. These bombers are enemies 

of Islam." "It is a duty for all Muslims to stand up against 

those who are killing people in the name of Islam." 

In January 2006, Ayatollah al-Udhma Yousof al-Sanei, a Shia 

Marja (high ranking cleric), decreed a fatwa against suicide 

bombing, declaring it a "terrorist act". In 2005 Muhammad Afifi 

al-Akiti also issued a fatwa "Against The Targeting Of 

Civilians".  

Ihsanic Intelligence, a London-based Islamic think-tank, 

published their two-year study into suicide bombings in the 

name of Islam, The Hijacked Caravan, which concluded that, 

The technique of suicide bombing is anathema, antithetical 

and abhorrent to Sunni Islam. It is considered legally 

forbidden, constituting a reprehensible innovation in the 

Islamic tradition, morally an enormity of sin combining suicide 

and murder and theologically an act which has consequences 

of eternal damnation. 

American based Islamic jurist and scholar Khaled Abou Al-Fadl 

argues,  

The classical jurists, nearly without exception, argued that 

those who attack by stealth, while targeting noncombatants in 

order to terrorize the resident and wayfarer, are corrupters of 

the earth. "Resident and wayfarer" was a legal expression that 
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meant that whether the attackers terrorize people in their 

urban centers or terrorize travelers, the result was the same: 

all such attacks constitute a corruption of the earth. The legal 

term given to people who act this way was muharibun (those 

who wage war against society), and the crime is called the 

crime of hiraba (waging war against society). The crime of 

hiraba was so serious and repugnant that, according to Islamic 

law, those guilty of this crime were considered enemies of 

humankind and were not to be given quarter or sanctuary 

anywhere .... Those who are familiar with the classical 

tradition will find the parallels between what were described as 

crimes of hiraba and what is often called terrorism today 

nothing short of remarkable. The classical jurists considered 

crimes such as assassinations, setting fires, or poisoning water 

wells – that could indiscriminately kill the innocent – as 

offenses of hiraba. Furthermore, hijacking methods of 

transportation or crucifying people in order to spread fear are 

also crimes of hiraba. Importantly, Islamic law strictly 

prohibited the taking of hostages, the mutilation of corpses, 

and torture. 

According to Charles Kimball, chair of the Department of 

Religion at Wake Forest University, "There is only one verse in 

the Qur'an that contains a phrase related to suicide" (4:29): 

O you who have believed, do not consume one another's wealth 

unjustly but only [in lawful] business by mutual consent. And 

do not kill yourselves. Indeed, Allah is to you ever Merciful. 

Some commentators posit that "do not kill yourselves" is better 

translated "do not kill each other", and some translations (e.g., 

by M.H. Shakir) reflect that view. Mainstream Islamic groups 
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such as the European Council for Fatwa and Research also cite 

the Quranic verse Al-An'am 6:151)] as prohibiting suicide: 

"And take not life, which Allah has made sacred, except by way 

of justice and law". 

The Hadith, including Bukhari 2:445, states: "The Prophet 

said, '...whoever commits suicide with a piece of iron will be 

punished with the same piece of iron in the Hell Fire', [and] 'A 

man was inflicted with wounds and he committed suicide, and 

so Allah said: 'My slave has caused death on himself hurriedly, 

so I forbid Paradise for him.'"  

Other Muslims have also noted Quranic verses in opposition to 

suicide, to taking of life other than by way of justice (i.e. the 

death penalty for murder), and to collective punishment.  

The international community considers the use of 

indiscriminate attacks on civilian populations and the use of 

human shields as illegal under international law.  

• Public surveys 

Support by Muslims for "suicide bombing and other forms of 

violence that target civilians in order to defend Islam", has 

varied over time and by country. The Pew Global Attitudes 

Project survey of the Muslim public found support has declined 

over the years (on average) from a post-9/11 high. The highest 

support for such acts has been reported in the occupied 

Palestinian territories where in 2014 46 percent of Muslims in 

Palestine thought such attacks were sometimes/oftentimes 

justified.  
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Gender 

Suicide operatives are overwhelmingly male in most groups, 

but among Chechen rebels and the Kurdistan Workers Party 

(PKK) women form the majority of the attackers.  

Female suicide bombers have been observed in many 

predominantly nationalist conflicts by a variety of 

organizations against both military and civilian targets. In 

February 2002, however, Sheikh Ahmed Yassin, the religious 

leader of Hamas, issued a fatwa, giving women permission to 

participate in suicide attacks.  

During the 1980s the greatest number of female suicide 

attacks in any single year was five. By contrast, in 2008 alone 

there were 35 female suicide attacks and in 2014 there were 15 

such attacks according to the Chicago Project on Security and 

Terrorism (CPOST) Suicide Attack Database.  

• In Lebanon on April 9, 1985, Sana'a Mehaidli, a 

member of the Syrian Social Nationalist Party 

(SSNP), detonated an explosive-laden vehicle, which 

killed two Israeli soldiers and injured twelve more. 

She is believed to have been the first female suicide 

bomber. She is known as "the Bride of the South". 

During the Lebanese Civil War, female SSNP 

members bombed Israeli troops and the Israeli proxy 

militia the South Lebanon Army. 

• Sri Lanka's political group, the Black Wing Tigers, 

executed 330 suicide bombing attacks and were all 

executed mainly by women. The group was formed in 

1987 and was disbanded in 2009. 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

903 

 

• On May 21, 1991, former Indian Prime minister Rajiv 

Gandhi was assassinated by Thenmozhi Rajaratnam, 

a member of the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam. 

Approximately 30% of the organization's suicide 

bombings were carried out by women. 

• The Chechen shahidkas have attacked Russian 

troops in Chechnya and Russian civilians elsewhere; 

for example, in the Moscow theater hostage crisis. 

• Women of the Kurdistan Workers Party (PKK) have 

carried out suicide bombings primarily against 

Turkish Armed Forces, in some cases strapping 

explosives to their abdomen in order to simulate 

pregnancy. 

• Wafa Idris, under Al Aqsa Martyrs Brigade, became 

the first Palestinian female suicide bomber on 

January 28, 2002, when she blew herself up on Jaffa 

Road in Central Jerusalem. 

• On February 27, 2002, Darine Abu Aisha carried out 

a suicide bombing at the Maccabim checkpoint of the 

Israeli army near Jerusalem. On the same day, 

Sheikh Ahmed Yassin, the religious leader of the 

Palestinian Islamist militant group Hamas, issued a 

fatwa, or religious rule, that gave women permission 

to participate in suicide attacks, and stated that 

they would be rewarded in the afterlife. 

• Ayat al-Akhras, the third and youngest Palestinian 

female suicide bomber (at age 18), killed herself and 

two Israeli civilians on March 29, 2002, by 

detonating explosives belted to her body in a 

supermarket. She had been trained by the Al-Aqsa 

Martyrs' Brigades, a group linked to the armed 

branch of Fatah (Yasser Arafat's party), more secular 
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than Hamas. The killings gained widespread 

international attention due to Ayat's age and gender 

and the fact that one of the victims was also a 

teenage girl. 

• Hamas deployed its first female suicide bomber, 

Reem Riyashi, on January 14, 2004. Al-Riyashi 

attacked Erez checkpoint, killing 7 people. 

• Two female attackers attacked U.S. troops in Iraq on 

August 5, 2003. Whereas female suicide bombers are 

not typically introduced in initial stages of a conflict, 

this attack demonstrates the early and significant 

involvement of Iraqi women in the Iraq War. 

• On 29 March 2010, two female Chechen terrorists 

bombed two Moscow subway stations killing at least 

38 people and injuring more than 60 people. 

• The Taliban has used at least one female suicide 

bomber in Afghanistan. 

• On December 25, 2010, the first female suicide 

bomber in Pakistan detonated her explosives-laden 

vest, killing at least 43 people at an aid distribution 

center in northwestern Pakistan. 

• On December 29, 2013, a female Chechen suicide 

bomber detonated her vest in the Volgograd railway 

station killing at least 17 people. 

• On December 23, 2016, the first female suicide 

bomber in Bangladesh detonated her explosive 

during a police raid. 

According to a report issued by intelligence analysts in the 

U.S. army in 2011, "Although women make up roughly 15% of 

the suicide bombers within groups which utilize females, they 

were responsible for 65% of assassinations; 20% of women who 
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committed a suicide attack did so with the purpose of 

assassinating a specific individual, compared with 4% of male 

attackers." The report further stated that female suicide 

bombers often were "grieving the loss of family members [and] 

seeking revenge against those they feel are responsible for the 

loss, unable to produce children, [and/or] dishonored through 

sexual indiscretion." Male suicide bombers are presented as 

being motivated more by political factors than female suicide 

bombers are.  

Another study of suicide bombers from 1981 and July 2008 by 

Lindsey A. O’Rourke found female bombers are generally in 

their late twenties, significantly older than their male 

counterparts.  

O’Rourke found the average number of victims killed by a 

female suicide attacker was higher than that for male attackers 

for every group studied (Tamil, PKK, Lebanese, Chechen, 

Palestinian). 

Consequently, terrorist organizations recruit and motivate 

women to participate in suicide attacks, using traditional 

attitudes of honor and feminine harmlessness and vulnerability 

among target populations to insert attackers were they can 

cause a maximum of death and destruction. Bombs have been 

disguised as a pregnant belly, avoiding invasive searches, seen 

as taboo. By stumbling or calling out in distress more victims 

may be drawn to the explosion. These women have proven to be 

more deadly with higher success rates with more casualties 

and deaths than their male counterparts. The woman bomber 

carriers are not permitted to hold and control the detonator, 

which are still held by the men in charge. Until recently, 
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attacks of women bombers were considered more newsworthy 

because of the "unladylike" behavior of their perpetrator.  

Specific groups 

Studies have attempted to learn the history and motivation of 

suicide attackers.  

Al Qaeda 

Analysis of the 9/11 Al Qaeda attackers found almost all had 

joined the group with someone else. About 70% joined with 

friends, 20% with kin. Interviews with friends of the 9/11 

pilots reveal they were not "recruited" into Qaeda. They were 

Middle Eastern Arabs isolated even among the Moroccan and 

Turkish Muslims who predominate in Germany. Seeking 

friendship, they began hanging out after services at the Masjad 

al-Quds and other nearby mosques in Hamburg, in local 

restaurants and in the dormitory of the Technical University in 

the suburb of Harburg. Three (Mohamed Atta, Ramzi bin al-

Shibh, Marwan al-Shehhi) wound up living together as they 

self-radicalized. They wanted to go to Chechnya, then Kosovo.  

Hamas 

Hamas's most sustained suicide bombing campaign in 2003–04 

involved several members of Hebron's Masjad (mosque) al-

Jihad soccer team. Most lived in the Wad Abu Katila 

neighborhood and belonged to the al-Qawasmeh hamula (clan); 

several were classmates in the neighborhood's local branch of 

the Palestinian Polytechnic College. Their ages ranged from 18 
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to 22. At least eight team members were dispatched to suicide 

shooting and bombing operations by the Hamas military leader 

in Hebron, Abdullah al-Qawasmeh (killed by Israeli forces in 

June 2003 and succeeded by his relatives Basel al-Qawasmeh, 

killed in September 2003, and Imad al-Qawasmeh, captured on 

October 13, 2004). In retaliation for the assassinations of 

Hamas leaders Sheikh Ahmed Yassin (March 22, 2004) and 

Abdel Aziz al-Rantissi (April 17, 2004), Imad al-Qawasmeh 

dispatched Ahmed al-Qawasmeh and Nasim al-Ja'abri for a 

suicide attack on two buses in Beer Sheva (August 31, 2004). 

In December 2004, Hamas declared a halt to suicide attacks.  

On January 15, 2008, the son of Mahmoud al-Zahar, the leader 

of Hamas in the Gaza Strip, was killed (another son was killed 

in a 2003 assassination attempt on Zahar). Three days later, 

Israel Defense Minister Ehud Barak ordered Israel Defense 

Forces to seal all border crossings with Gaza, cutting off the 

flow of supplies to the territory in an attempt to stop rocket 

barrages on Israeli border towns. 

Nevertheless, violence from both sides only increased. On 

February 4, 2008, two friends (Mohammed Herbawi, Shadi 

Zghayer), who were members of the Masjad al-Jihad soccer 

team, staged a suicide bombing at commercial center in 

Dimona, Israel. Herbawi had previously been arrested as a 17-

year-old on 15 March 2003 shortly after a suicide bombing on 

Haifa bus (by Mamoud al-Qawasmeh on March 5, 2003) and 

coordinated suicide shooting attacks on Israeli settlements by 

others on the team (March 7, 2003, Muhsein, Hazem al-

Qawasmeh, Fadi Fahuri, Sufian Hariz) and before another set 

of suicide bombings by team members in Hebron and 

Jerusalem on May 17–18, 2003 (Fuad al-Qawasmeh, Basem 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

908 

 

Takruri, Mujahed al-Ja'abri). Although Hamas claimed 

responsibility for the Dimona attack, the politburo leadership 

in Damascus and Beirut was clearly initially unaware of who 

initiated and carried out the attack. It appears that Ahmad al-

Ja'abri, military commander of Hamas's Izz ad-Din al-Qassam 

Brigades in Gaza requested the suicide attack through Ayoub 

Qawasmeh, Hamas's military liaison in Hebron, who knew 

where to look for eager young men who had self-radicalized 

together and had already mentally prepared themselves for 

martyrdom.  

LTTE 

The Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam were thought to have 

mastered the use of suicide terrorism and had a separate unit, 

"The Black Tigers", consisting "exclusively of cadres who have 

volunteered to conduct suicide operations".  

Islamic State in Iraq and the Levant 

The Islamic State in Iraq and the Levant utilizes suicide 

attacks against government targets before they attack. The 

attackers can use a wide range of methods, from suicide vests 

and belts to bomb trucks and cars and APCs filled to the brim 

with explosives. Usually, the suicide bomber involved in a 

"martyrdom operation" will record his last words in a 

martyrdom video before they start their attack and will be 

released after the suicide attack was done.  

A study published by The Guardian in 2017 analyzed 923 

attacks done between December 2015 and November 2016 and 

compared the military tactic to those used by kamikaze 
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operations. Charlie Winter, author of the study, indicated that 

ISIL had "industrialized the concept of matyrdom". Most (84%) 

of suicide attacks were directed towards military targets 

usually with armed vehicles. About 80% of the attackers were 

of Iraqi or Syrian origin.  

Response and results 

• Response 

Suicide bombings are often followed by heightened security 

measures and reprisals by their targets. Because a successful 

suicide bomber cannot be targeted, the response is often a 

targeting of those believed to have sent the bomber. Because 

future attacks cannot be deterred by the threat of retaliation if 

the attackers were already willing to kill themselves, pressure 

is great to employ intensive surveillance of virtually any 

potential perpetrator, "to look for them almost everywhere, 

even if no evidence existed that `they` were `there` at all".  

In the West Bank the IDF has at times demolished homes that 

belong to families whose children (or landlords whose tenants) 

had volunteered for such missions (whether successfully or 

not). Other military measures that were taken during the 

suicide attack campaign included: A widescale re-occupation of 

the West Bank and blockading of Palestinian towns; "targeted 

assassinations" of militants, (an approach used since the 

1970s); raids against militants suspected of plotting attacks, 

mass arrests, curfews, and stringent travel restrictions; and 

physical separation from Palestinians via the 650-km (400-

mile) Israeli West Bank barrier in and around the West Bank. 

The Second Intifada and its suicide attacks are often dated as 
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ending around the time of an unofficial ceasefire by some of 

the most powerful Palestinian militant groups in 2005. A new 

"knife intifada" started in September 2015, but although many 

Palestinians were killed in the process of stabbing or 

attempting to stab Israelis, their deaths were not "a 

precondition for the success" of their mission and so are not 

considered suicide attacks by many observers.)  

In the United States, the element of suicide in the major attack 

on it (the 9/11 attacks) persuaded many that previously 

unthinkable, "out of the box" strategic policies in a "war on 

terrorism" — from "preventive war" against countries not 

immediately attacking the US, to almost unlimited surveillance 

of virtually any person in the United States by the government 

without normal congressional and judicial oversight—was 

necessary. These responses "produced their own costs and 

risks—in lives, national debt, and America's standing in the 

world".  

The "heightened security measures" also affected the target 

populations. During the bombing campaign Israelis were 

questioned by armed guards and given a quick pat down before 

being let into cafes. In the US, the post-9/11 era meant 

"previously inconceivable security measures—in airports and 

other transportation hubs, hotels and office buildings, sports 

stadiums and concert halls".  

• Results 

One of the first bombing campaigns utilizing primarily suicide 

attacks had considerable success. In the early 1980s Hezbollah 

used these bombing attacks targeting first foreign 
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peacekeepers and then Israel. The result in both cases was 

withdrawal from Lebanon by the targets.  

Other groups have had mixed results. The Liberation Tigers of 

Tamil Eelam (LTTE) pioneered the use of suicide bombings 

against civilian and political targets and in 2000 were called 

(by Yoram Schweitzer) "unequivocally the most effective and 

brutal terrorist organization ever to utilize suicide terrorism". 

Their struggle for an independent state in the North and East 

of the island lasted for 26 years and led to the deaths of two 

heads of state or government, several ministers, and up to 

100,000 combatants and civilians (by a UN estimate). 

Politically its attacks succeeded in halting the deployment of 

the Indian peace keeping troops to Sri-Lanka and the 

subsequent postponement of the peace-talks in Sri-Lanka. 

Nonetheless it ended in May 2009 not with an independent 

"Eelam", but with the overrunning of LTTE strongholds and the 

killing of its leadership by the Sri Lankan military and security 

forces.  

It is more difficult to determine whether Palestinian suicide 

bombings have proved to be a successful tactic. Hamas "came 

to prominence" after the first intifada as "the main Palestinian 

opponent of the Oslo Accords" ("the US-sponsored peace 

process that oversaw the gradual and partial removal of 

Israel's occupation in return for Palestinian guarantees to 

protect Israeli security") according to the BBC. The accords 

were sidetracked after the election in 1996 of right wing Israeli 

leader Benjamin Netanyahu. Hamas's suicide bombings of 

Israeli targets (from 1994–1997 there were 14 suicide attacks 

killing 159—not all of which were attributed to Hamas) "were 

widely" credited for the popularity among Israelis of the 
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hardline Netanyahu, who—like HAMAS—was a staunch 

opponent of the Oslo accords, but an even stauncher enemy of 

HAMAS.  

The efficacy of suicide bombing however, does not appear to 

have demonstrated by the al-Aqsa Intifada. During this 

Intifada, the number of suicide attacks increased markedly, 

but petered out around 2005 following harsh Israeli security 

measures (mentioned above) such as "targeted assassinations" 

of Palestinians reportedly involved in terrorism, and the 

building of a "separation barrier" that severely hampered 

Palestinian travel, but with no withdrawal by the Israelis from 

any occupied territory.  

The drop in suicide bombings in Israel has been explained by 

the many security measures taken by the Israeli government, 

especially the building of the "separation barrier", and a 

general consensus among Palestinians that the bombings were 

a "losing strategy". The suicide (and non-suicide) attacks on 

civilians had "a major impact" on the attitudes of the Israeli 

public/voters, creating not demoralization, but even greater 

support for the right-wing Likud party, bringing to office 

another hardliner, former general, prime minister Ariel Sharon. 

In 2001, 89% of Israeli Jews supported the Sharon 

government's policy of "targeted assassinations" of Palestinian 

militants involved in terrorism against Israel, the number 

rising to 92% in 2003. Opinion polls of the Jewish Israelis 

found 78–84% support for the "separation barrier" in 2004.  

In the case of the 9/11 attacks in the US, at least in the short 

term, the results were negative for Al-Qaeda, as well as the 

Taliban Movement. Since the attacks, Western nations have 
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diverted massive resources towards stopping similar actions, 

as well as tightening up borders, and military actions against 

various countries believed to have been involved with 

terrorism. Critics of the War on Terrorism suggest the results 

were negative, as the proceeding actions of the United States 

and other countries has increased the number of recruits, and 

their willingness to carry out suicide bombings.  

Pulwama district 

The Pulwama district is a district in the Indian Union territory 

of Jammu and Kashmir. It is located towards south of 

Srinagar. The district headquarters of Pulwama district are 

located in Pulwama city. 

Administration 

In 1979 Anantnag district split in two, with one part remaining 

as Anantnag district, and the other part becoming Pulwama 

district. When created, Pulwama district had 550 villages, 

grouped in five subdistricts (tehsils): Shopian, Awantipora, 

Pampore, Pulwama, and Tral. After Shopian district was 

created in 2007, Pulwama district had 331 villages and four 

subdistricts. According to the district administration, the area 

of the district is 420 square miles (1,090 km).  

Pulwama district currently has eight subdistricts, with 327 

villages (eight of which are uninhabited):  

Tehsils 

• Awantipora Tehsil 
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• Pampore Tehsil 

• Pulwama Tehsil 

• Tral Tehsil 

• Rajpora Tehsil 

• Aripal Tehsil 

• Shahoora (Litter) Tehsil 

• KakaporaTehsil 

This district consists of five development blocks: Tral, Keller, 

Pampore, Pulwama and Kakapora. Each block consists of a 

number of panchayats.  

Demographics 

According to the 2011 census Pulwama district has a 

population of 560,440, roughly equal to the nation of Solomon 

Islands or the US state of Wyoming. This gives it a ranking of 

537th in India (out of a total of 640). The district has a 

population density of 598 inhabitants per square kilometre 

(1,550/sq mi). Its population growth rate over the decade 

2001–2011 was 29.18%. Pulwama has a sex ratio of 912 

females for every 1000 males (though this varies with religion), 

and is lower than the national average of 940, and a literacy 

rate of 64.3%.  

Healthcare 

District has got one of the best health care system in The 

State/Union Territory. District has 1 DNB Deemed District 

Hospital Pulwama , 3 Sub-District Hospitals and numerous 

other health institutions. 1 tertiary Healthcare institute is 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

915 

 

under construction in Awantipora Tehsil of the district. It will 

be the largest hospital in Kashmir province/division.  

Educational institutions 

Some of the notable educational institutions of Pulwama 

district:  

• AIIMS Medical College Awantipora Pulwama 

• Boys Government Degree College Pulwama 

• Islamic University Pulwama 

• Women's College Pulwama 

• Paramount Institute of Education 

• Govt. GNM Nursing College Pulwama 

• Phoenix paramedical college Pulwama 

• Dolphin paramedical college Pulwama 

  



Chapter 35 

2019 Balakot Airstrike 

The 2019 Balakot airstrike was conducted by India in the 

early morning hours of 26 February when Indian warplanes 

crossed the de facto border in the disputed region of Kashmir 

and dropped bombs in the vicinity of the town of Balakot in 

Khyber Pakhtunkhwa province in Pakistan.  

Pakistan's military, the first to announce the airstrike in the 

morning of 26 February, described the Indian planes as 

dropping their payload in an uninhabited wooded hilltop area 

near Balakot.  

India, confirming the airstrike later the same day, 

characterized it to be a preemptive strike directed against a 

terrorist training camp, and causing the deaths of a "large 

number" of terrorists.  

The following day, 27 February, in a tit-for-tat airstrike, 

Pakistan retaliated, causing an Indian warplane to be shot 

down and its pilot to be taken prisoner by the Pakistan 

military before being returned on 1 March. An Indian Mi-17 

helicopter was brought down by friendly fire in which all six 

airmen on board were killed; this was acknowledged by India 

on 4 October 2019.  

Analysis of open-source satellite imagery by the Atlantic 

Council's Digital Forensics Laboratory, San Francisco-based 

Planet Labs, European Space Imaging, and the Australian 

Strategic Policy Institute, has concluded that India did not hit 
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any targets of significance on the Jaba hilltop site in the 

vicinity of Balakot. On 10 April 2019, 47 days after the 

airstrike, some international journalists, who were taken to the 

Jaba hilltop in a tightly controlled trip arranged by Pakistani 

government, found the largest building of the site to show no 

evidence of damage or recent rebuilding.  

The airstrikes were the first time since the India-Pakistan war 

of 1971 that warplanes of either country crossed the Line of 

Control and also since both states have become nuclear 

powers.  

Background 

The Kashmir insurgency has been occurring since 1989, but a 

new wave of violence was witnessed during 2016 when Burhan 

Wani then commander of Hizbul Mujahideen was killed in an 

encounter. In 2018, more than 500 people (including civilians, 

soldiers and militants) were killed in the violence. On 14 

February 2019, a convoy of vehicles carrying security 

personnel on the Jammu Srinagar National Highway was 

attacked by a vehicle-borne suicide bomber at Lethpora in the 

Pulwama district, Jammu and Kashmir, India. The attack 

resulted in the deaths of 46 Central Reserve Police Force 

personnel and the attacker. The perpetrator of the attack was 

from Indian-administered Kashmir. The responsibility for the 

attack was claimed by the Pakistan-based Islamist militant 

group Jaish-e-Mohammed. Pakistan condemned the attack, 

and denied any connection to it.  

The airstrike occurred ahead of the 2019 Indian general 

election. On 19 February, Pakistan's PM attributed Indian 
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government's desire to attack Pakistan to the upcoming 

election. The Indian government rejected the allegation.  

Incident 

On 26 February 2019, Pakistan announced the intrusion of 

Indian aircraft into its airspace, but asserted that the Indian 

fleet was intercepted, causing them to retreat, to release their 

bombs which hit an open area, and to dump their fuel. In a 

press briefing, Pakistan's Director-General Inter-Services 

Public Relations (ISPR), 

Major General Asif Ghafoor, stated that three IAF teams were 

spotted approaching the Pakistan border from various sectors 

in the early hours of 26 February. He added that the two of 

these teams did not cross the border following a challenge from 

Pakistani aircraft flying combat air patrol, but the third one 

crossed the Line of Control from the Kiran Valley near 

Muzaffarabad before being intercepted by Pakistani Air Force 

(PAF) jets within three minutes of the incursion. Pervez 

Khattak, Pakistani Defence Minister, stated that the Pakistani 

Air Force did not retaliate at that time because "they could not 

gauge the extent of the damage".  

Later on 26 February 2019, India confirmed the airstrike, 

stating that the Indian Air Force conducted them in retaliation 

to the Pulwama attack. The strikes were subsequently claimed 

to be "non-military" and "preemptive'' in nature; targeting a 

Jaish-e-Mohammed facility within Pakistan.  

The airstrike was the first time since the Indo-Pakistani War of 

1971 that attacking warplanes had crossed the Line of Control.  
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Indian media claimed to have confirmed from official sources 

that twelve Mirage 2000 jets were involved in the operation. 

The Indian Express further reported that the Mirage 2000s 

were carrying SPICE 2000 & Popeye precision-guided 

munitions and that they were supported by four Sukhoi Su-

30MKI, Netra and Phalcon airborne early warning and control 

aircraft, an IAI Heron UAV and two Ilyushin Il-78 aerial 

refuelling aircraft. Furthermore Indian officials claim that four 

SU-30MKIs were launched from their South Punjab base and 

headed towards Jodhpur and on to Barmer, Rajasthan before 

turning West towards Jaish-e-Mohammed headquarters in 

Pakistan located in the populous town of Bahawalpur. These 

four aircraft, tasked as decoys, successfully drew PAF fighters 

way south of the main attack force.  

After releasing the bombs, the jets returned into Indian 

airspace unharmed and the Indian media claimed that whilst 

Pakistan scrambled its F-16 jets, they could not engage the 

Indian planes. Retired PAF Air Marshall Masood Akhtar opined 

that the air forces of both countries may have been instructed 

not to attack each other to avoid further escalation of conflict.  

The target 

There has been ambiguity among the sources as to what the 

exact target was, and about whether the madrassa – Taleem ul-

Quran run by Masood Azhar's brother-in-law, Muhammad 

Yusuf Azhar, was an active JeM camp or not.  

According to WikiLeaks, a 2004 United States Department of 

Defence interrogation report stated that Balakot had "a 

training camp that offers both basic and advanced terrorist 
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training on explosives and artillery." In contrast, military 

analysts asserted that whilst the area used to host militant 

camps, they dispersed after the 2005 Pakistan earthquake to 

avoid detection by the international aid groups providing relief 

in the area.  

Indian intelligence sources claim that the camp was located in 

a hilltop forest, 20 km (12 mi) from Balakot, and that it was a 

resort-style facility, with space and room for 500–700 

militants, including a swimming pool, cooks and cleaners. The 

New York Times mentioned western security officials of having 

doubted the existence of such large-scale training camps, 

asserting that Pakistan no longer runs them and that "militant 

groups are spread out in small groups around the country".  

The local people varied as to the purpose of the facility. In the 

immediate aftermath of the strikes, whilst some claimed of it 

being an active Jaish training camp, others asserted it to have 

been a mere school for the local children and that such 

militant camps used to exist far earlier. On later visits by 

Reuters, the locals claimed that the school had been shut down 

about a year back and was no longer operational.  

Damage 

Neutral sources have asserted that the munitions dropped by 

Indian warplanes appeared to have hit several trees in a 

wooded area but caused no other damage, nor any casualties 

in the area where the attack took place. Some Western 

diplomats also stated that they did not believe Indian Air Force 

had hit any militant camp. Western security officials have cast 
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doubt over Indian claims and asserted that there are no longer 

any such large scale militant camps in Pakistan.  

India has asserted that "a very large number of JeM terrorists, 

trainers, senior commanders and groups of jihadis," who were 

preparing for launching another suicide attack targeting Indian 

assets, were killed. Indian media reported that the camp was 

leveled, and about 200–350 JeM militants were killed though 

the exact figures varied across media-houses. The National 

Technical Research Organisation had located about 300 active 

mobile phones in the camp; prior to the strike. In contrast, 

Pakistan asserted that there were no casualties or 

infrastructure damage as a result of the attack.  

Villagers from the area spoke of four bombs striking a nearby 

forest and field around 3 am, damaging a building, and 

injuring a local man. Journalists associated with the 

Associated Press visited the area on 26 February and saw 

craters and damaged trees. The villagers they met reported no 

casualties. A team from Al Jazeera visited the site two days 

after the strikes and noted "splintered pine trees and rocks" 

which were strewn across the four blast craters. The local 

hospital officials and residents asserted that they did not come 

across any casualty or wounded people. The reporters located 

the facility, a school run by Jaish-e-Mohammed, at around a 

kilometre to the east of one of the bomb craters, atop a steep 

ridge but were unable to access it. Reporters from Reuters were 

repeatedly denied access to the madrassa by the military citing 

security issues but they noted the structure (and its vicinity) 

to be intact from the back. The press wing of the Pakistan 

military had twice postponed scheduled visits to the site. 

However, on 29 March 2019, Inter-Services Public Relations 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

922 

 

(ISPR) took journalist to the site where the strike took place. 

There were around 375 students present in the Madrasa. 

Journalist were allowed to interview the students. They were 

also allowed to take photos and record video of the site.  

Satellite data assessments 

Satellite-data analysis by the Australian Strategic Policy 

Institute's Nathan Ruser concluded that there is "no apparent 

evidence of more extensive damage and on the face of it does 

not validate Indian claims regarding the effect of the strikes." 

Michael Sheldon, a digital forensics analyst from Atlantic 

Council did another independent investigation on the issue 

which asserted that no damage was inflicted to any 

infrastructure around the target-site. 

It concluded that "something appeared to have gone wrong in 

the targeting process" and that the botch-up was mysterious in 

light of the autonomous nature of the supposedly used 

missiles. 

A Reuters investigation based on high-resolution satellite 

imagery by Planet Labs noted an unchanged landscape when 

compared to an April 2018 satellite photo. It noted that "there 

were no discernible holes in the roofs of buildings, no signs of 

scorching, blown-out walls, displaced trees around the 

madrasa or other signs of an aerial attack". Even higher 

quality imagery, taken from the WorldView-2 satellite, was 

later also analysed by the Australian Strategic Policy Institute 

and showed "that all three weapons missed by similar (but not 

identical) distances" suggesting "that the misses were caused 

by a systematic targeting error".  
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European Space Imaging also provided high-resolution image of 

the site where the strike took place. The satellite imagery was 

from 27 February 2019, a day after the strike took place. The 

image showed that buildings were unharmed and there was no 

sign of casualties at the site. Managing director Adrian 

Zevenbergen, claimed that "there were no signs of scorching, 

no large distinguishable holes in the buildings and no signs of 

stress to the surrounding vegetation".  

Indian officials claims 

In contrast, Indian officials said that analysis of before and 

after images from the synthetic aperture radar (SAR) carried by 

an airborne platform showed that four buildings had been 

destroyed but did not release those images. The official stated 

that SAR images from the first day after the attack showed that 

the roofs of the building (made of corrugated galvanized iron 

(CGI) sheets) were missing, and were repaired after two days. 

According to the official the presence of new roofs had made 

the assessment by technical intelligence difficult and it was up 

to the Indian Government to decide on the release of the 

classified SAR images. The Indian Air Force showed the 

reporters of India Today and other media houses, the high-

resolution satellite pictures possessed by the IAF which 

according to India Today showed three holes in the roof of one 

of the buildings. These holes were reported as a "classic 

signature of a SPICE bomb strike".  

Media reports 

Reuters journalists were prevented from coming near the site of 

the attack, three times in nine days by the Pakistani security 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

924 

 

officials. Business Today India stated that the area around 

Balakot had been cordoned off by the Pakistan Army and 

evidence such as the dead bodies were being cleared from the 

area. Praveen Swami writing for Firstpost claimed that Indian 

intelligence estimated a figure of about 20 casualties and that 

there were five confirmed kills per burial records. He also 

noted a JeM rally in Khyber-Pakhtunkhwa on 28 February, 

wherein Masood Azhar's brother, 

Abdul Rauf Rasheed Alvi mentioned India's attack of their 

headquarters and vowed revenge. In another piece he state that 

RAW analysts estimated 90 casualties including three 

Pakistani Army trainers, based on intercepted communications 

in the immediate. Swami though noted a lack of witness 

testimony to independently assess the validity of above claims. 

USA State Department acknowledged reports of Pakistan 

misusing the F-16s, although undersecretary of State for Arms 

Control and International Security Affairs didn't mention 

concerns about the use of F-16s in shooting down Indian 

fighter jets since acknowledging it in formal State Department 

transmission would be a clear violation of Congress approved 

terms for selling the fighters as it would trigger formal 

procedures to reprimand Islamabad when Trump 

administration wants to repair bilateral diplomatic relations. 

In 2021, multiple Indian news sources, including India Today, 

Times of India, Hindustan Times, Swarajya, Deccan Herald, 

LiveMint, and NDTV reported that former Pakistani diplomat, 

Zafar Hilaly had allegedly admitting to 300 casualties following 

the air strike, based on a story shared by Asian News 

International (ANI) and Republic TV. Alt News, an independent 

fact-checker, reported that Republic TV had shared a doctored 
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video altering Hilaly's original speech, in which he stated that 

the air strike was intended to cause casualties, but did not kill 

anyone. Following this, several of the sources, including 

News18, NDTV, and Times of India published a retraction of 

their reports.  

Aftermath 

The IAF put air defence systems on alert along the 

international border and Line of Control to respond to any 

possible retaliation by the Pakistan Air Force.  

Pakistan's foreign minister Shah Mahmood Qureshi summoned 

an emergency meeting in Islamabad, Pakistan to discuss the 

security situation and asserted that Pakistan reserved the 

right to retaliate. 

The prime minister of Pakistan, Imran Khan, convened an 

emergency meeting to review the situation. At the end of this 

meeting, the National Security Council (NSC) released a 

statement denying the Indian claims of the destruction of any 

terrorist camp and described the attack as "uncalled for" whilst 

adding that retaliation would be forthcoming after a joint 

parliamentary session. 

He also stated that Pakistan will take international media to 

the area of strikes but were delayed due to adverse weather 

conditions.  

ANI claimed to have released photos of the alleged JeM camp 

and weapons cache sourced from intelligence sources.  
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Reactions 

India 

Foreign diplomats from the United States, United Kingdom, 

Russia, Australia, Indonesia, Turkey, China, and six ASEAN 

nations were briefed by Indian foreign secretary Vijay Gokhale 

on the strike conducted. Arun Jaitley, the Indian cabinet 

minister of Finance stated two reasons, for Pakistan denying 

the effectiveness of the airstrike stating, "There are two 

plausible reasons. First, the Pakistan army had created a big 

aura about its prowess among Pakistanis, and it did not want 

its image dented." Jaitley noted that the second reason was 

more important, and stated "Had the Pakistan army admitted 

that our fighters bombed its buildings, the first question to be 

raised would have been: What was the extent of damage? 

Experts would have come for a survey of the buildings and 

asked about the people staying inside... then Pakistan would 

have had to reveal names of the Jaish fighters who died there."  

International 

•  Australia noted its condemnation of Pulwama 

attack and asked Pakistan to crack down on 

terrorists operating from its soil. It also asked both 

India and Pakistan to restrain from actions that 

would jeopardize peace. 

•  China's foreign ministry spokesman Lu Kang 

stated "We hope that both India and Pakistan can 

exercise restraint and adopt actions that will help 

stabilize the situation in the region and improve 

mutual relations". 
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•  France asked both India and Pakistan to exercise 

restraint, saying that it supported Indian actions 

against terrorism and asked Pakistan to stop 

allowing its territory to be used by terrorists. 

•  United States' Mike Pompeo, State secretary 

termed the attack as a "counter-terrorism action" 

and reaffirmed US-India ties. He asked both sides to 

show restraint. 

• The Organisation of Islamic Cooperation 

condemned the airstrike and called on both India 

and Pakistan to show restraint. 

Line of Control 

The Line of Control (LoC) is a military control line between 

the Indian and Pakistani controlled parts of the former princely 

state of Jammu and Kashmir—a line which does not constitute 

a legally recognized international boundary, but serves as the 

de facto border. It was established as part of the Simla 

Agreement at the end of the Indo-Pakistani War of 1971, when 

the two nations agreed to rename the ceasefire line as "Line of 

Control" and pledged to respect it without prejudice to their 

respective positions. The line is roughly the same as the 

original cease-fire line of 1949 except for minor details.  

The part of the former princely state that is under Indian 

control is divided into the union territories of Jammu and 

Kashmir and Ladakh, while the Pakistani-controlled part is 

divided into Azad Kashmir and Gilgit–Baltistan. The 

northernmost point of the Line of Control is known as NJ9842, 

beyond which lay the Siachen Glacier, which became a bone of 

contention in 1984. To the south of the Line of Control lies the 
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border between Pakistani Punjab and the Jammu province, 

which has an ambiguous status: India regarding it as 

international boundary and Pakistan calling it a "working 

border".  

Another ceasefire line separates the Indian-controlled state of 

Jammu and Kashmir from the Chinese-controlled area known 

as Aksai Chin. Lying further to the east, it is known as the 

Line of Actual Control (LAC).  

Former US President Bill Clinton has referred to the Indian 

subcontinent and the Kashmir Line of Control, in particular, as 

one of the most dangerous places in the world.  

Background 

After the partition of India, the present day India and Pakistan 

contested the princely state of Jammu and Kashmir – India by 

virtue of the ruler's accession to the country and Pakistan by 

virtue of the state's Muslim majority population. The First 

Kashmir War lasted more than a year, when a ceasefire was 

accepted through the UN mediation. A ceasefire line was agreed 

by the two sides.  

After another Kashmir War in 1965, and the Indo-Pakistani 

War of 1971 (which saw Bangladesh become independent), only 

minor modifications had been effected in the original ceasefire 

line. In the ensuing Simla Agreement in 1972, the two 

countries agreed to convert the ceasefire line into a "Line of 

Control" and observe it as a de facto border that should not be 

violated by armed action. The agreement declared that "neither 
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side shall seek to alter it unilaterally, irrespective of mutual 

differences and legal interpretations".  

Legacy 

The Line of Control divided Kashmir into two parts and closed 

the Jhelum valley route, the only entrance and exit of the 

Kashmir Valley from Pakistani Punjab. This territorial division, 

which to this day still exists, severed many villages and 

separated family members from each other.  

Indian Line of Control fencing 

India constructed a 550 km (340 mi) barrier along the 740 km 

(460 mi) Line of Control. The fence generally remains about 

150 yards on the Indian-controlled side. Its stated purpose is 

to exclude arms smuggling and infiltration by Pakistani-based 

separatist militants.  

The barrier, referred to as Anti-Infiltration Obstacle System 

(AIOS), consists of double-row of fencing and concertina wire 

8–12 ft (2.4–3.7 m) in height, and is electrified and connected 

to a network of motion sensors, thermal imaging devices, 

lighting systems and alarms. They act as "fast alert signals" to 

the Indian troops who can be alerted and ambush the 

infiltrators trying to sneak in. The small stretch of land 

between the rows of fencing is mined with thousands of 

landmines.  

The construction of the barrier was begun in the 1990s, but 

slowed in the early 2000s as hostilities between India and 

Pakistan increased. After a November 2003 ceasefire 
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agreement, building resumed and was completed in late 2004. 

LoC fencing was completed in Kashmir Valley and Jammu 

region on 30 September 2004. According to Indian military 

sources, the fence has reduced the numbers of militants who 

routinely cross into the Indian side of the disputed state to 

attack soldiers by 80%.  

Pakistan has criticised the construction of the barrier, saying 

it violates both bilateral accords and relevant United Nations 

resolutions on the region. The European Union has supported 

India's stand calling the fencing as "improvement in technical 

means to control terrorists infiltration" and also pointing that 

the "Line of Control has been delineated in accordance with the 

1972 Shimla agreement".  

In 2017, proposal for an upgraded smart fence on the Indian 

side were accepted, which would be first go through trial runs.  

Crossing points 

There are three main crossing points on the LoC currently 

operational. These are, from north to south:  

Chakothi / Salamabad 

Salamabad crossing point is located on the road between 

Chakothi and Uri in the Baramulla district of Jammu and 

Kashmir along the Indo-Pak LoC. It is a major route for cross 

LoC trade and travel. Banking facilities and a trade facilitation 

centres are being planned on the Indian side. The name in 

English translates to "bridge of peace" is located in Uri. The 

bridge was rebuilt by Indian army after the 2005 Kashmir 
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earthquake when a mountain on the Pakistani side had caved 

in. This route was opened for trade in 2008 after a period of 61 

years. The Srinagar–Muzaffarabad Bus passes through this 

bridge on the LoC.  

Tetrinote / Chakan Da Bagh 

A road connects Kotli and Tatrinote in Pakistan side of the LoC 

to Indian Poonch district of Jammu and Kashmir through 

Chakan Da Bagh crossing point. It is a major route for cross 

LoC trade and travel. Banking facilities and a trade facilitation 

centres are being planned on the Indian side for the benefit of 

traders.  

The flag meetings between Indian and Pakistani security forces 

are held here. These meetings are held at the border or on the 

Line of Control by commanders of the armies of both sides. A 

flag meeting can also be held at the brigadier level on smaller 

issues. If the meeting is on a larger context, it could be held at 

the general level.  

Chilliana / Teetwal 

The Teetwal crossing is across the Neelum River between 

Muzaffarabad and Kupwara. It is usually open only during the 

summer months, and in contrast to the other two crossings is 

open only for the movement of people, not for trade.  

Further crossings 

Two further crossings are at Haji Pir pass and one near 

Tattapani, but these are currently not operational.  



Chapter 36 

Article 370 of the Constitution of 

India 

Article 370 of the Indian constitution gave special status to 

Jammu and Kashmir, a region located in the northern part of 

Indian subcontinent which was administered by India as a 

state from 1954 to 31 October 2019, conferring it with the 

power to have a separate constitution, a state flag and 

autonomy over the internal administration of the state. The 

Indian-administered Jammu and Kashmir is part of the larger 

region of Kashmir which has been a subject of dispute since 

1947 between India, Pakistan and, partly, China.  

Article 370 was drafted in Part XXI of the Indian constitution 

titled "Temporary, Transitional and Special Provisions". It 

stated that the Constituent Assembly of Jammu and Kashmir 

would be empowered to recommend the extent to which the 

Indian constitution would apply to the state. The state 

assembly could also abrogate the Article 370 altogether, in 

which case all of Indian Constitution would have applied to the 

state.  

After the state constituent assembly was convened, it 

recommended the provisions of the Indian constitution that 

should apply to the state, based on which 1954 Presidential 

Order was issued. Since the state constituent assembly 

dissolved itself without recommending the abrogation of Article 

370, the article was deemed to have become a permanent 
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feature of the Indian Constitution. The net effect was that the 

Jammu and Kashmir state's residents live under a separate set 

of laws, including those related to citizenship, ownership of 

property, and fundamental rights, as compared to residents of 

other Indian states. As a result of this provision, Indian 

citizens from other states could not purchase land or property 

in Jammu & Kashmir.  

On 5 August 2019, the Government of India issued a 

Presidential Order superseding the 1954 order, and making all 

the provisions of the Indian constitution applicable to Jammu 

and Kashmir. The order was based on the resolution passed in 

both houses of India's parliament with two-thirds majority. A 

further order on 6 August made all the clauses of Article 370 

except clause 1 to be inoperative.  

In addition, the Jammu and Kashmir Reorganisation Act, 2019 

was passed by the parliament, enacting the division of the 

state of Jammu and Kashmir into two union territories to be 

called Union Territory of Jammu and Kashmir and Union 

Territory of Ladakh. The reorganisation took place on 31 

October 2019.  

A total of 23 petitions were presented to the Supreme Court of 

India, challenging the central government’s decision to 

abrogate Article 370 of the Constitution, which has constituted 

a five judge bench for the same.  

Purpose 

The state of Jammu and Kashmir's original accession, like all 

other princely states, was on three matters: defence, foreign 
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affairs and communications. All the princely states were 

invited to send representatives to India's Constituent 

Assembly, which was formulating a constitution for the whole 

of India. They were also encouraged to set up constituent 

assemblies for their own states. Most states were unable to set 

up assemblies in time, but a few states did, in particular 

Saurashtra Union, Travancore-Cochin and Mysore. Even 

though the States Department developed a model constitution 

for the states, on 19 May 1949, the rulers and chief ministers 

of all the states met in the presence of States Department and 

agreed that separate constitutions for the states were not 

necessary. They accepted the Constitution of India as their 

own constitution. 

The states that did elect constituent assemblies suggested a 

few amendments which were accepted. The position of all the 

states (or unions of states) thus became equivalent to that of 

regular Indian provinces. In particular, this meant that the 

subjects available for legislation by the central and state 

governments was uniform across India.  

In the case of Jammu and Kashmir, the representatives to the 

Constituent Assembly requested that only those provisions of 

the Indian Constitution that corresponded to the original 

Instrument of Accession should be applied to the State and 

that the state's constituent assembly, when formed, would 

decide on the other matters. Government of India agreed to the 

demands shortly before the above meeting with the other 

states. Accordingly, the Article 370 was incorporated into the 

Indian Constitution, which stipulated that the other articles of 

the Constitution that gave powers to the Central Government 

would be applied to Jammu and Kashmir only with the 
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concurrence of the State's constituent assembly. This was a 

"temporary provision" in that its applicability was intended to 

last till the formulation and adoption of the State's 

constitution. 

However, the State's constituent assembly dissolved itself on 

25 January 1957 without recommending either abrogation or 

amendment of the Article 370. Thus, the Article was considered 

to have become a permanent feature of the Indian constitution, 

as confirmed by various rulings of the Supreme Court of India 

and the High Court of Jammu and Kashmir, the latest of which 

was in April 2018.  

Original text 

370. Temporary provisions with respect to the State of 

Jammu and Kashmir 

(1) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Constitution,—  

• (a) the provisions of article 238 shall not apply now 

in relation to the state of Jammu and Kashmir; 

• (b) the power of Parliament to make laws for the said 

state shall be limited to—  

• (i) those matters in the Union List and the 

Concurrent List which, in consultation with the 

Government of the State, are declared by the 

President to correspond to matters specified in the 

Instrument of Accession governing the accession of 

the State to the Dominion of India as the matters 

with respect to which the Dominion Legislature may 

make laws for that State; and 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

936 

 

• (ii) such other matters in the said Lists as, with the 

concurrence of the Government of the State, the 

President may by order specify. 

Explanation [1950 wording]: For the purpose of this article, the 

Government of the State means the person for the time being 

recognised by the President as the Maharaja of Jammu and 

Kashmir acting on the advice of the Council of Ministers for 

the time being in office under the Maharaja's Proclamation 

dated the fifth day of March 1948;  

Explanation [1952 wording]: For the purpose of this article, the 

Government of the State means the person for the time being 

recognized by the President on the recommendation of the 

Legislative Assembly of the State as the Sadr-i-Riyasat (now 

Governor) of Jammu and Kashmir, acting on the advice of the 

Council of Ministers of the State for the time being in office.  

• (c) the provisions of article 1 and of this article shall 

apply in relation to that State; 

• (d) such of the other provisions of this Constitution 

shall apply in relation to that State subject to such 

exceptions and modifications as the President may 

by order specify: 

• Provided that no such order which relates to the 

matters specified in the Instrument of Accession of 

the State referred to in paragraph (i) of sub-clause 

(b) shall be issued except in consultation with the 

Government of the State: 

• Provided further that no such order which relates to 

matters other than those referred to in the last 
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preceding proviso shall be issued except with the 

concurrence of that Government. 

(2) If the concurrence of the Government of the State referred 

to in paragraph (ii) of sub-clause (b) of clause (1) or in the 

second provision to sub-clause (d) of that clause be given 

before the Constituent Assembly for the purpose of framing the 

Constitution of the State is convened, it shall be placed before 

such Assembly for such decision as it may take thereon.  

(3) Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing provisions of this 

article, the President may, by public notification, declare that 

this article shall cease to be operative or shall be operative 

only with such exceptions and modifications and from such 

date as he may specify: 

Provided that the recommendation of the Constituent Assembly 

of the State referred to in clause (2) shall be necessary before 

the President issues such a notification. 

Analysis 

The clause 7 of the Instrument of Accession signed by 

Maharaja Hari Singh declared that the State could not be 

compelled to accept any future Constitution of India. The State 

was within its rights to draft its own constitution and to decide 

for itself what additional powers to extend to the Central 

Government. Article 370 was designed to protect those rights. 

According to the constitutional scholar A. G. Noorani, Article 

370 records a 'solemn compact'. Neither India nor the State 

can unilaterally amend or abrogate the Article except in 

accordance with the terms of the Article.  
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Article 370 embodied six special provisions for Jammu and 

Kashmir:  

• It exempted the State from the complete applicability 

of the Constitution of India. The State was conferred 

the power to have its own constitution. 

• Central legislative powers over the State were 

limited, at the time of framing, to the three subjects 

of defence, foreign affairs and communications. 

• Other constitutional powers of the Central 

Government could be extended to the State only with 

the concurrence of the State Government. 

• The 'concurrence' was only provisional. It had to be 

ratified by the State's Constituent Assembly. 

• The State Government's authority to give 

'concurrence' lasted only until the State Constituent 

Assembly was convened. Once the State Constituent 

Assembly finalised the scheme of powers and 

dispersed, no further extension of powers was 

possible. 

• Article 370 could be abrogated or amended only upon 

the recommendation of the State's Constituent 

Assembly. 

Once the State's Constitutional Assembly convened on 31 

October 1951, the State Government's power to give 

`concurrence' lapsed.  

After the Constituent Assembly dispersed on 17 November 

1956, adopting a Constitution for the State, the only authority 

provided to extend more powers to the Central Government or 

to accept Central institutions vanished.  
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Noorani states that this understanding of the constitutionality 

of the Centre-State relations informed the decisions of India 

till 1957, but that it was abandoned afterwards. In subsequent 

years, other provisions continued to be extended to the State 

with the 'concurrence' of the State Government.  

Presidential orders 

When Article 370 was originally created, only two articles of 

the Indian Constitution applied in full to Jammu and Kashmir. 

Other provisions of the Constitution would apply with 

exceptions and modifications specified by the President in his 

Order in consultation with or the concurrence of the 

government of the state. In exercise of these powers, as 

conferred by clause (3) of article 370 of the Constitution, the 

President made a series of orders with the concurrence of the 

Government of the State of Jammu and Kashmir.  

Presidential order of 1950 

The Presidential order of 1950, officially The Constitution 

(Application to Jammu and Kashmir) Order, 1950, came into 

force on 26 January 1950 contemporaneously with the 

Constitution of India. It specified the subjects and articles of 

the Indian Constitution that corresponded to the Instrument of 

Accession as required by the clause b(i) of the Article 370.  

Thirty eight subjects from the Union List were mentioned as 

matters on which the Union legislature could make laws for the 

State. Certain articles in ten of the twenty-two parts of the 

Indian Constitution were extended to Jammu and Kashmir, 

with modifications and exceptions as agreed by the state 
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government. In this first Presidential Order under Article 370 

"235 articles of the Indian Constitution were inapplicable to 

the state of Jammu & Kashmir, 9 were partially applicable, and 

29 were applicable in a modified form".  

This order was superseded by the Presidential order of 1954.  

Presidential order of 1952 

The Presidential order of 1952 was published on 15 November 

1952, at the request of the state government. It amended the 

Article 370, replacing the phrase "recognised by the President 

as the Maharaja of Jammu and Kashmir" by "recognized by the 

President on the recommendation of the Legislative Assembly 

of the State as the Sadr-i-Riyasat". The amendment 

represented the abolition of the monarchy of Jammu and 

Kashmir.  

Background: The Constituent Assembly of Jammu and 

Kashmir was elected in 1951 and convened on 31 October 

1951. The Basic Principles committee of the Constituent 

Assembly recommended the abolition of the monarchy, which 

was unanimously approved by the Assembly on 12 June 1952. 

In the same month, the Hindu-dominated Jammu Praja 

Parishad submitted a memorandum to the President of India 

demanding the full application of the Indian Constitution to 

the State. The Government of India summoned a delegation 

from Jammu and Kashmir in Delhi for discussions on the 

relations between the Centre and the State. After discussions, 

the 1952 Delhi Agreement was reached.  

The State's prime minister Sheikh Abdullah was slow to 

implement the provisions of the Delhi Agreement. However, in 
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August 1952, the State Constituent Assembly adopted a 

resolution abolishing the monarchy and replacing the position 

by an elected Head of State (called Sadar-i-Riyasat). Despite 

reservations on this piecemeal approach to adopting 

provisions, the Central Government acquiesced, leading to the 

Presidential Order of 1952. The Legislative Assembly elected 

Karan Singh, who was already acting as the Prince Regent, as 

the new Sadar-i-Riyasat.  

Presidential order of 1954 

The Presidential order of 1954, officially The Constitution 

(Application to Jammu and Kashmir) Order, 1954 came into 

force on 14 May 1954. Issued with the agreement of the State's 

Constituent Assembly, 

it was a comprehensive order seeking to implement the 1952 

Delhi Agreement. Arguably, it went further than the Delhi 

Agreement in some respects.  

The provisions implementing the Delhi Agreement were:  

• Indian citizenship was extended to the 'permanent 

residents' of Jammu and Kashmir (formerly called 

'state subjects'). Simultaneously, the Article 35A was 

added to the Constitution, empowering the state 

legislature to legislate on the privileges of permanent 

residents with regard to immovable property, 

settlement in the state and employment. 

• The fundamental rights of the Indian constitution 

were extended to the state. However, the State 

Legislature was empowered to legislate on preventive 

detention for the purpose of internal security. The 
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State's land reform legislation (which acquired land 

without compensation) was also protected. 

• The jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of India was 

extended to the State. 

• The Central Government was given power to declare 

national emergency in the event of external 

aggression. However, its power to do so for internal 

disturbances could be exercised only with the 

concurrence of the State Government. 

In addition, the following provisions which were not previously 

decided in the Delhi Agreement were also implemented:  

• Financial relations between the Centre and the State 

were placed on the same footing as the other States. 

The State's custom duties were abolished. 

• Decisions affecting the disposition of the State could 

be made by the Central Government, but only with 

the consent of the State Government. 

Background: The State Government's decision to abolish the 

monarchy led to increased agitation by the Jammu Praja 

Parishad, which found support among the Ladakhi Buddhists 

and the Hindu parties of India. In response, Sheikh Abdullah 

started questioning the value of Kashmir's accession to India, 

leading to a loss of support among his Cabinet members. On 8 

August 1953, 

Sheikh Abdullah was dismissed from the post of prime minister 

by the Sadar-i-Riyasat Karan Singh and his erstwhile deputy 

Bakshi Ghulam Mohammad was appointed in his place. 

Abdullah and several of his colleagues were arrested and put 

in prison.  
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The purged Constituent Assembly, with 60 of the original 75 

members, unanimously adopted on 6 February 1954, the 

recommendations of its Basic Principles Committee and the 

Advisory Committee on Fundamental Rights and Citizenship. 

According to the Basic Principles Committee:  

While preserving the internal autonomy of the State, all the 

obligations which flow from the fact of accession and also its 

elaboration as contained in the Delhi Agreement should find an 

appropriate place in the Constitution. The Committee is of the 

opinion that it is high time that finality in this respect should 

be reached and the relationship of the State with the Union 

should be expressed in clear and precise terms. 

The Presidential order of 1954 was issued based on these 

recommendations.  

Further presidential orders (1955–2018) 

In addition to these original orders, forty-seven Presidential 

orders were issued between 11 February 1956 and 19 February 

1994, making various other provisions of the Constitution of 

India applicable to Jammu and Kashmir. 

All these orders were issued with the 'concurrence of the 

Government of the State' without any Constituent Assembly. 

Some of these Presidential orders were issued when the state 

was under President's rule and had "no Kashmir government at 

all", states Jill Cottrell. The concurrence in this instance was 

given by the Governor of the state, a nominee of the Union 

government. Such an interpretation was upheld by the 

Supreme Court of India in 1972.  
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The effect of the Presidential orders issued since 1954 had 

been to extend 94 of the 97 subjects in the Union List (the 

powers of the Central Government) to the State of Jammu and 

Kashmir, and 260 of the 395 Articles of the Constitution of 

India. All of these orders had been issued as amendments to 

the Presidential Order of 1954, rather than as replacements to 

it, presumably because their constitutionality was in doubt, 

according to Cottrell.  

This process has been termed the 'erosion' of the Article 370. 

Home minister Gulzarilal Nanda (1963–1966) opined that the 

terms for the "special status" granted to Jammu and Kashmir 

in this Article included a "very simple" process to amend, by an 

Executive Order of the President of India, whereas the powers 

of all other states could only be amended by the "normal 

process of (constitutional) amendment [...] subject to stringent 

conditions". According to him, Article 370 was "the only way" 

of taking the Constitution of India into Jammu and Kashmir, it 

is a tunnel through which "a good deal of traffic has already 

passed and more will". The successors of Nanda in the Home 

Ministry have interpreted the Article in the same manner.  

Autonomy of Jammu and Kashmir: 

Structure and limitations 

India's constitution is a federal structure. The subjects for 

legislation are divided into a 'Union List', a 'State List', and a 

'Concurrent List'. The Union List of ninety-six subjects, 

including defence, military and foreign affairs, major transport 

systems, commercial issues like banking, stock exchanges and 

taxes, are provided for the Union government to legislate 
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exclusively. The State List of sixty-six items covering prisons, 

agriculture, most industries and certain taxes, are available for 

States to legislate on. 

The Concurrent List, on which both the Centre and States may 

legislate include criminal law, marriage, bankruptcy, trade 

unions, professions and price control. In case of conflict, the 

Union legislation takes precedence. The 'residual power', to 

make laws on matters not specified in the Constitution, rests 

with the Union. The Union may also specify certain industries, 

waterways, ports etc. to be 'national', in which case they 

become Union subjects.  

In the case of Jammu and Kashmir, the 'Union List' and the 

'Concurrent List' were initially limited to the matters ceded in 

the Instrument of Accession; later, they were extended with the 

concurrence of the State Government. 

The 'residual powers' continued to rest with the State rather 

than the Union. According to the State Autonomy Committee, 

ninety-four of the ninety-seven items in the Union List applied 

to Jammu and Kashmir; the provisions of the Central Bureau 

of Intelligence and Investigation and preventive detention did 

not apply. Of the 'Concurrent List', twenty-six of the forty-

seven items applied to Jammu and Kashmir; the items of 

marriage and divorce, infants and minors, transfer of property 

other than agricultural land, contracts and torts, bankruptcy, 

trusts, courts, family planning and charities had been omitted 

– i.e., the State had exclusive right to legislate on those 

matters. The right to legislate on elections to state bodies also 

rested with the State.  
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Applicability of the Indian law to Jammu 

and Kashmir 

Acts passed by Indian Parliament have been extended to 

Jammu and Kashmir over a period of time.  

• All India Services Act 

• Negotiable Instruments Act 

• Border Security Force Act 

• Central Vigilance Commission Act 

• Essential Commodities Act 

• Haj Committee Act 

• Income Tax Act 

• The Central Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017 

• Integrated Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017 

• The Central Laws (Extension To Jammu And 

Kashmir) Act, 1956 

• The Central Laws (Extension To Jammu And 

Kashmir) Act, 1968 

The non-applicability of National Human Rights Commission 

(NHRC) Act by claiming recourse to Article 370 was set aside in 

2010.  

Constitution of Jammu and Kashmir 

Preamble and Article 3 of the erstwhile Constitution of Jammu 

and Kashmir stated that the State of Jammu and Kashmir is 

and shall be an integral part of the Union of India. Article 5 

stated that the executive and legislative power of the State 

extend to all matters except those with respect to which 
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Parliament has power to make laws for the State under the 

provisions of the Constitution of India. The constitution was 

adopted on 17 November 1956 and came into force on 26 

January 1957.  

The Constitution of Jammu and Kashmir was rendered 

infructuous by The Constitution (Application to Jammu and 

Kashmir) Order, 2019 (C.O. 272) issued by the president of 

India on 5 August 2019.  

Human rights 

Article 370 acknowledges the special status of the state of 

Jammu and Kashmir in terms of autonomy and its ability to 

formulate laws for the state's permanent residents. In the 1954 

Presidential order, among other things, the Fundamental 

Rights in the Indian Constitution were made applicable to 

Kashmir with exceptions. 

Later amendments, states Cottrell, modified the applicability of 

basic human rights in the Indian Constitution to permanent 

residents of Jammu and Kashmir. The state legislature further 

modified these, as well as added "preventive detention laws" 

that it exempted from human rights challenges for twenty-five 

years. Further, the state gave special privileges to the 

permanent residents in matters such as residence, property, 

education and government jobs, which were unavailable to 

others. Article 35A of the Indian constitution has been 

interpreted by some Kashmiri officials to disallow challenging 

any state law, merely on the ground of infringing upon rights, 

granted to all citizens of India via the national constitution.  
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Education and employment rights 

The state government officials of Jammu and Kashmir have 

issued "permanent resident certificates". However, these 

certificates differ by gender. The certificates issued to females 

are marked "valid only till marriage", while certificates for 

males have no such markings. If a woman married to an Indian 

outside of Kashmir, she was denied a new certificate. 

These certificates are required by the Jammu and Kashmir 

state officials from anyone seeking to acquire immovable 

property, education or employment within the state. Under the 

state laws, the Jammu and Kashmir High Court quashed the 

appointment of Susheela Sawhney in 1979 – a Kashmiri-born 

woman, as assistant professor in the Government Medical 

College because she was married to a man outside of Kashmir. 

Numerous other women – such as Sunita Sharma, Anjali 

Khosla, Abha Jain, Kamla Rani, Reeta Gupta, and others – 

sued the state government on different but related matters, 

charging discrimination based on their gender. These cases 

were reviewed in 2002 by the full bench of the state's High 

Court, which overturned the past rulings and found that the 

state has discriminated based on gender. According to Cottrell, 

the autonomy and special status granted to the state of Jammu 

and Kashmir makes it possible "for it to have rather lower 

standards of human rights".  

Women's rights 

In 2004, the Jammu and Kashmir Legislative Assembly passed 

the Permanent Residents (Disqualification) Bill – also known as 

the Daughter's Bill. The new law sought to deprive daughters 
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of the state's permanent residents of all their native-born 

rights and privileges if they marry someone who is not the 

subject of Jammu and Kashmir. This law applied only to the 

female descendants of Kashmir subjects, and does not apply to 

the male descendants.  

According to Sehla Ashai, per its provisions, "the women who 

married non-state subjects [men from other states of India or 

abroad] could no longer claim state subject status, would 

thereby lose both preferential treatment in government hiring 

and the ability to acquire new property in the state". The 

opponents to this bill argued that this is a "violation of 

Kashmiri women's fundamental rights under the Indian 

Constitution" and that the bill discriminated human beings by 

their gender. The supporters argued that if this bill failed to 

pass it "would be the end of constitutionally guaranteed 

autonomy for Jammu and Kashmir" and that the law was 

created to "protect the ethnic identity of the people of Jammu 

and Kashmir". The bill was supported by the state-based 

Jammu & Kashmir National Conference Party and Jammu and 

Kashmir Peoples Democratic Party, but challenged by the 

Indian National Congress party. It was reintroduced in J&K 

legislative houses in August 2004 as an amendment to the 

state constitution, but it failed to pass the Upper House of the 

state by the required two-thirds majority.  

In 2010, the Permanent Residents (Disqualification) legislation 

was reintroduced in the state's legislative houses, with support 

from the two main state-based parties. It again attracted 

criticism that "such bills have no sanction in the legal and 

constitutional history of the state or in Article 370".  
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Other issues 

Amarnath land transfer controversy 

On 26 May 2008, the Government of India and the state 

government of Jammu and Kashmir reached an agreement to 

transfer 100 acres (0.40 km) of forest land to the Shri 

Amarnathji Shrine Board (SASB) to set up temporary shelters 

and facilities for Hindu pilgrims. 

Kashmiri separatists opposed the move citing reasons that it 

will jeopardize the article 370 that gives separate identity to 

the people of Jammu and Kashmir and prevents any Indian 

citizen to settle in Kashmir. People in Kashmir staged 

widespread protests against this decision by government of 

India. Due to the protests, the J&K State government relented 

and reversed the decision to transfer land. As a result, Hindus 

in the Jammu region launched counter-agitations against this 

roll back.  

Calls for abrogation 

In 2014, as part of Bharatiya Janata Party manifesto for the 

2014 general election, the party pledged to integrate the state 

of Jammu and Kashmir into the Union of India. After winning 

the elections, attempts were made by the party along with its 

parent organisation, the Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh (RSS), 

for the abrogation of Article 370. Former prince regent and 

Congress leader Karan Singh opined that an integral review of 

Article 370 was overdue and, it need to be worked on jointly 

with the State of Jammu and Kashmir.  
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However, in October 2015, the High Court of Jammu and 

Kashmir ruled that the Article 370 cannot be "abrogated, 

repealed or even amended." 

It explained that the clause (3) of the Article conferred power 

to the State's Constituent Assembly to recommend to the 

President on the matter of the repeal of the Article. Since the 

Constituent Assembly did not make such a recommendation 

before its dissolution in 1957, 

Article 370 has taken on the features of a "permanent 

provision" despite being titled a temporary provision in the 

Constitution. On 3 April 2018, the Supreme Court of India gave 

a similar opinion declaring that Article 370 has acquired a 

permanent status. It stated that, since the State Constituent 

Assembly has ceased to exist, the President of India would not 

be able to fulfill the mandatory provisions required for its 

abrogation.  

In 2019, as part of Bharatiya Janata Party manifesto for the 

2019 general election, the party again pledged to integrate the 

state of Jammu and Kashmir into the Union of India.  

Since its formation in 1990, the Kashmiri Hindu organisation 

Panun Kashmir had repeatedly criticised Article 370 and 

supported its abrogation, along with Article 35A.  

The Jammu and Kashmir Workers Party and IkkJutt Jammu 

also support the removal of Article 370 and 35A and the 

integration of Jammu and Kashmir.  
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2019 actions 

Presidential order of 2019 

On 5 August 2019, Home Minister Amit Shah announced in the 

Rajya Sabha (upper house of the Indian Parliament) that the 

President of India had issued The Constitution (Application 

to Jammu and Kashmir) Order, 2019 (C.O. 272) under Article 

370, superseding the Constitution (Application to Jammu and 

Kashmir) Order, 1954. 

The order stated that all the provisions of the Indian 

Constitution applied to Jammu and Kashmir. Whereas the 

1954 order specified that only some articles of the Indian 

constitution to apply to the state, the new order removed all 

such restrictions. This in effect meant that the separate 

Constitution of Jammu and Kashmir stood abrogated. The 

order was stated to have been issued with the "concurrence of 

the Government of State of Jammu and Kashmir" which 

apparently meant the Governor appointed by the Union 

government.  

The Presidential Order 2019 also added clause (4) with four 

sub-clauses to Article 367 under "interpretations". The phrase 

"Sadar-i-Riyasat acting on the aid and advice of the Council of 

Ministers" shall be construed as the "Governor of Jammu and 

Kashmir". The phrase "State government" shall include the 

Governor. In proviso to clause (3) of article 370 of the 

Constitution, the expression "Constituent Assembly of the 

State referred to in clause (2)" shall read "Legislative Assembly 

of the State". According to Jill Cottrell, some of the 

Presidential orders under Article 370 have been issued since 
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1954 in similar circumstances when the state was under 

President's rule. The Union governments interpreted the 

"concurrence of the state government" under these 

circumstances to mean the Governor.  

Immediately after placing the Presidential Order 2019 before 

the Rajya Sabha, Home Minister Amit Shah moved a resolution 

recommending that the president issue an order under article 

370(3) rendering all clauses of Article 370 inoperative. After 

the resolution was adopted by both houses of the parliament, 

the president issued Constitutional Order 273 on 6 August 

2019 replacing the extant text of Article 370 with the following 

text:  

370. All provisions of this Constitution, as amended from time 

to time, without any modifications or exceptions, shall apply to 

the State of Jammu and Kashmir notwithstanding anything 

contrary contained in article 152 or article 308 or any other 

article of this Constitution or any other provision of the 

Constitution of Jammu and Kashmir or any law, document, 

judgement, ordinance, order, by-law, rule, regulation, 

notification, custom or usage having the force of law in the 

territory of India, or any other instrument, treaty or agreement 

as envisaged under article 363 or otherwise. 

Change of status of Jammu and Kashmir 

On 5 August 2019, the Home Minister Amit Shah introduced 

the Jammu and Kashmir Reorganisation Bill, 2019 in the Rajya 

Sabha to convert Jammu and Kashmir's status of a state to two 

separate union territories, namely Union Territory of Jammu 

and Kashmir and Union Territory of Ladakh. The union 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

954 

 

territory of Jammu and Kashmir was proposed to have a 

legislature under the bill whereas the union territory of Ladakh 

is proposed to not have one. By the end of the day, the bill was 

passed by Rajya Sabha with 125 votes in its favour and 61 

against (67%). The next day, the bill was passed by the Lok 

Sabha with 370 votes in its favour and 70 against it (84%). The 

bill became an Act after it was signed by the president.  

The two union territories came into existence on 31 October 

2019, which was celebrated as National Unity Day. The 

president of India appointed a Lt. Governor for the Union 

Territory of Jammu and Kashmir and a Lt. Governor for the 

Union Territory of Ladakh. Both the Lt. Governors were sworn 

in by Justice Gita Mittal, the Chief Justice of Jammu and 

Kashmir High Court, on 31 October 2019, first at Leh for 

Ladakh UT and then at Srinagar for Jammu and Kashmir UT. 

President's Rule under article 356 of the Constitution of India 

was ended in the state of Jammu and Kashmir on the night of 

30 October 2019. President's Rule is not applicable to and is 

not needed in a union territory as the union territory anyway 

is controlled by the central government. The President issued 

an order stating that he will rule the union territory of Jammu 

and Kashmir directly until the legislative assembly is 

constituted in the union territory.  

  



Chapter 37 

Citizenship (Amendment) Act, 

2019 

The Citizenship (Amendment) Act, 2019 was passed by the 

Parliament of India on 11 December 2019. It amended the 

Citizenship Act, 1955 by providing a pathway to Indian 

citizenship for persecuted religious minorities from 

Afghanistan, Bangladesh and Pakistan who are Hindus, Sikhs, 

Buddhists, Jains, Parsis or Christians, and arrived in India 

before the end of December 2014. The law does not grant such 

eligibility to Muslims from those countries, all of which are 

Muslim-majority countries. The act was the first time that 

religion had been overtly used as a criterion for citizenship 

under Indian law.  

The Bharatiya Janata Party (BJP), which leads the Indian 

government, had promised in previous election manifestos to 

offer Indian citizenship to members of persecuted religious 

minorities who had migrated from neighbouring countries. 

Under the 2019 amendment, migrants who had entered India 

by 31 December 2014, and had suffered "religious persecution 

or fear of religious persecution" in their country of origin, were 

made eligible for citizenship. The amendment also relaxed the 

residence requirement for naturalisation of these migrants 

from twelve years to six. According to Intelligence Bureau 

records, there will be just over 30,000 immediate beneficiaries 

of the bill.  
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The amendment has been criticized as discriminating on the 

basis of religion, particularly for excluding Muslims. The Office 

of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights 

(OHCHR) called it "fundamentally discriminatory", adding that 

while India's "goal of protecting persecuted groups is welcome", 

this should be accomplished through a non-discriminatory 

"robust national asylum system". Critics express concerns that 

the bill would be used, along with the National Register of 

Citizens (NRC), to render many Muslim citizens stateless, as 

they may be unable to meet stringent birth or identity proof 

requirements. Commentators also question the exclusion of 

persecuted religious minorities from other regions such as 

Tibet, Sri Lanka and Myanmar. 

The Indian government said that since Pakistan, Afghanistan 

and Bangladesh have Islam as their state religion, it is 

therefore "unlikely" that Muslims would "face religious 

persecution" there. However, certain Muslim groups, such as 

Hazaras and Ahmadis, have historically faced persecution in 

these countries.  

The passage of the legislation caused large-scale protests in 

India. Assam and other northeastern states witnessed violent 

demonstrations against the bill over fears that granting Indian 

citizenship to refugees and immigrants will cause a loss of 

their "political rights, culture and land rights" and motivate 

further migration from Bangladesh. In other parts of India, 

protesters said that the bill discriminated against Muslims, 

and demanded that Indian citizenship be granted to Muslim 

refugees and immigrants as well. Major protests against the 

Act were held at some universities in India. Students at Aligarh 

Muslim University and Jamia Millia Islamia alleged brutal 
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suppression by the police. The protests have led to the deaths 

of several protesters, injuries to both protesters and police 

officers, damage to public and private property, the detention 

of hundreds of people, and suspensions of local internet mobile 

phone connectivity in certain areas. Some states announced 

that they would not implement the Act. In response, the Union 

Home Ministry said that states lack the legal power to stop the 

implementation of the CAA.  

Background 

Citizenship law 

The Indian Constitution that was implemented in 1950 

guaranteed citizenship to all of the country's residents at the 

commencement of the constitution, and made no distinction on 

the basis of religion. 

The Indian government passed the Citizenship Act in 1955. The 

Act provided two means for foreigners to acquire Indian 

citizenship. People from "undivided India" were given a means 

of registration after seven years of residency in India. Those 

from other countries were given a means of naturalisation after 

twelve years of residency in India. Political developments in the 

1980s, particularly those related to the violent Assam 

movement against all migrants from Bangladesh, triggered 

revisions to the Citizenship Act of 1955. The Citizenship Act 

was first amended in 1985 after the Assam Accord was signed, 

wherein the Indian government of Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi 

agreed to identify foreign citizens, remove them from the 

electoral rolls, and expel them from the country.  
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The Citizenship Act was further amended in 1992, 2003, 2005 

and 2015. In December 2003, the National Democratic Alliance 

government, led by the Hindu nationalist Bharatiya Janata 

Party (BJP), passed the Citizenship (Amendment) Act, 2003 

with far-reaching revisions of the Citizenship Act. 

It added the notion of "illegal immigrants" to the Act, making 

them ineligible to apply for citizenship (by registration or 

naturalisation), and declaring their children also as illegal 

immigrants. 

Illegal immigrants were defined as citizens of other countries 

who entered India without valid travel documents, or who 

remained in the country beyond the period permitted by their 

travel documents. They can be deported or imprisoned.  

The 2003 amendment also mandated the Government of India 

to create and maintain a National Register of Citizens. The bill 

was supported by the Indian National Congress, as well as the 

Left parties, such as the Communist Party of India (Marxist) 

(CPI (M)). 

During the parliamentary debate on the amendment, the leader 

of opposition, Manmohan Singh, stated that refugees belonging 

to minority communities in Bangladesh and other countries 

had faced persecution, and requested that the government's 

approach to granting them citizenship be made more liberal. 

According to M.K. Venu, the formulation of the 2003 

amendment discussed by Advani and Singh was based on the 

idea that Muslim groups in Pakistan and Afghanistan that had 

experienced persecution also needed to be treated with 

compassion.  
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Immigrants and refugees 

A very large number of illegal immigrants, the largest numbers 

of whom are from Bangladesh, live in India. The Task Force on 

Border Management quoted the figure of 15 million illegal 

migrants in 2001. In 2004, the United Progressive Alliance 

(UPA) government stated in Parliament that there were 12 

million illegal Bangladeshi migrants in India. 

The reasons for the scale of migration include a porous border, 

historical migration patterns, economic reasons, and cultural 

and linguistic ties. Many illegal migrants from Bangladesh had 

eventually received the right to vote. According to Niraja Jayal, 

this enfranchisement was widely described as an attempt to 

win elections using the votes of the illegal migrants from 

Bangladesh. Bangladeshi scholar Abul Barkat estimated that 

over 11 million Hindus have left Bangladesh for India between 

1964 and 2013, at a rate of 230,612 annually. The reasons 

were religious persecution and discrimination, especially at the 

hands of the post-independence military regimes. An unknown 

number of Pakistani Hindu refugees also live in India. An 

estimated 5,000 refugees arrive per year, citing religious 

persecution and forced conversion.  

India is not a signatory to either the 1951 UN Refugee 

Convention or the 1967 Protocol. It does not have a national 

policy on refugees. All refugees are classed as "illegal 

migrants". While India has been willing to host refugees, its 

traditional position formulated by Jawaharlal Nehru is that 

such refugees must return to their home countries after the 

situation returns to normal. According to the US Committee for 

Refugees and Immigrants, India hosts refugees in excess of 
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456,000, with about 200,000 from "non-neighbouring" 

countries hosted via the UNHCR. According to Shuvro Sarker, 

since the 1950s and particularly since the 1990s, the Indian 

governments under various political parties have studied and 

drafted laws for the naturalisation of refugees and asylum 

seekers. These drafts have struggled with issues relating to a 

mass influx of refugees, urban planning, cost of basic services, 

the obligations to protected tribes, and the impact on pre-

existing regional poverty levels within India.  

Bharatiya Janata Party activities 

The "detection, deletion and deportation" of illegal migrants 

has been on the agenda of the BJP since 1996. In the 2016 

assembly elections for the border state of Assam, the BJP 

leaders campaigned in the state promising voters that they 

would rid Assam of the Bangladeshis. Simultaneously, they 

also promised to protect Hindus who had fled religious 

persecution in Bangladesh. According to commentators, in the 

context of an effort to identify and deport illegal immigrants, 

the proposal to grant citizenship took a new meaning. Illegal 

migrants could be granted citizenship if they were non-Muslim, 

on the grounds that they were refugees; only Muslims would be 

deported.  

In its manifesto for the 2014 Indian general election, the BJP 

promised to provide a "natural home" for persecuted Hindu 

refugees. The year before the 2016 elections in Assam, the 

government legalised refugees belonging to religious minorities 

from Pakistan and Bangladesh, granting them long-term visas. 

Bangladeshi and Pakistani nationals belonging to "minority 

communities" were exempted from the requirements of the 
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Passport (Entry into India) Act, 1920 and the Foreigners Act, 

1946. Specifically mentioned were "Hindus, Sikhs, Christians, 

Jains, Parsis and Buddhists," who had been "compelled to seek 

shelter in India due to religious persecution or fear of religious 

persecution". Eligibility for the exemption was made contingent 

on a migrant having arrived in India by 31 December 2014.  

The BJP government introduced a bill to amend the citizenship 

law in 2016, which would have made non-Muslim migrants 

from Pakistan, Afghanistan, and Bangladesh eligible for Indian 

citizenship. The bill stalled in parliament following widespread 

political opposition and protests in northeast India. Opponents 

of the bill in Assam and the northeastern states of India stated 

that any migration from Bangladesh "irrespective of religion" 

would cause "loss of political rights and culture of the 

indigenous people". According to Niraja Jayal, while the BJP 

had promised to grant Indian citizenship to all Hindu migrants 

from Bangladesh in its election campaigns during the 2010s, 

the draft Amendment bill angered many in Assam, including its 

own political allies because they view the amendment as a 

violation of the Assam Accord. That accord promised to identify 

and deport all illegal Bangladeshi migrants who entered the 

state after 1971, "regardless of their religious identity". In 

2018, as the draft of this Amendment was being discussed, 

numerous Assamese organisations petitioned and agitated 

against it. They fear that the Amendment will encourage more 

migration and diminish employment opportunities to the native 

residents in the state.  

In parallel to the drafting of an amendment to the 1955 

Citizenship Act, the BJP government completed an effort to 

update the National Register of Citizens (NRC) in the state of 
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Assam. The process for creating the NRC had been put in place 

by the Citizenship rules enacted in 2003, and had been 

implemented in Assam under Supreme Court supervision as a 

result of a 2014 Supreme Court ruling. This was mandated 

under prior peace agreements in northeast, and the Assam 

Accord in particular. The updated register was made public in 

August 2019; approximately 1.9 million residents were not on 

the list, and were in danger of losing their citizenship. Many of 

those affected were Bengali Hindus, who constitute a major 

voter base for the BJP; according to commentators, the BJP 

withdrew its support for the Assam NRC towards its end for 

this reason. On 19 November 2019, Home Minister Amit Shah, 

declared in the Rajya Sabha (the Upper House of the Indian 

parliament) that the National Register of Citizens would be 

implemented throughout the country.  

Legislative history 

The BJP government first introduced a bill to amend the 

citizenship law in 2016, which would have made non-Muslim 

migrants from Pakistan, Afghanistan, and Bangladesh eligible 

for Indian citizenship. Although this bill was passed by the Lok 

Sabha, or lower house of Indian parliament, it stalled in the 

Rajya Sabha, following widespread political opposition and 

protests in northeast India.  

The BJP reiterated its commitment to amend the citizenship 

act in its 2019 election campaign. It stated that religious 

minorities such as Hindus and Sikhs are persecuted in 

neighbouring Muslim-majority countries, and promised to fast 

track a path to citizenship for non-Muslim refugees. After the 

elections, the BJP government drafted a bill that addressed the 
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concerns of its northeastern states. It excluded Arunachal 

Pradesh, Mizoram, Nagaland, Tripura, Meghalaya and Manipur, 

except for non-tribal cities exempted under pre-existing 

regulations. It also excluded tribal areas of Assam. The Indian 

government, while proposing an Amendment, said, that its bill 

aims to grant quicker access to citizenship to those who have 

fled religious persecution in neighbouring countries and have 

taken refuge in India.  

The Bill was introduced in Lok Sabha on 19 July 2016 as the 

Citizenship (Amendment) Bill, 2016. It was referred to the 

Joint parliamentary committee on 12 August 2016. The 

Committee submitted its report on 7 January 2019 to 

Parliament. The Bill was taken into consideration and passed 

by Lok Sabha on 8 January 2019. It was pending for 

consideration and passing by the Rajya Sabha. Consequent to 

dissolution of 16th Lok Sabha, this Bill has lapsed.  

After the formation of 17th Lok Sabha, the Union Cabinet 

cleared the Citizenship (Amendment) Bill, 2019, on 4 December 

2019 for introduction in the parliament. The Bill was 

introduced in 17th Lok Sabha by the Minister of Home Affairs 

Amit Shah on 9 December 2019 and was passed on 10 

December 2019, with 311 MPs voting in favour and 80 against 

the Bill.  

The bill was passed by the Rajya Sabha on 11 December 2019 

with 125 votes in favour and 105 votes against it. Those voted 

in favour included Janata Dal (United), AIADMK, Biju Janata 

Dal, TDP and YSR Congress Party.  

After receiving assent from the President of India on 12 

December 2019, the bill assumed the status of an act. The act 
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came into force on 10 January 2020. The implementation of 

the CAA began on 20 December 2019, when Union Minister 

Mansukh Mandaviya gave citizenship certificates to seven 

refugees from Pakistan.  

The Amendments 

The Citizenship (Amendment) Act of 2019 amended the 

Citizenship Act, 1955, by inserting the following provisos in 

section 2, sub-section (1), after clause (b):  

Provided that any person belonging to Hindu, Sikh, Buddhist, 

Jain, Parsi or Christian community from Afghanistan, 

Bangladesh or Pakistan, who entered into India on or before 

the 31st day of December, 2014 and who has been exempted by 

the Central Government by or under clause (c) of sub-section 

(2) of section 3 of the Passport (Entry into India) Act, 1920 or 

from the application of the provisions of the Foreigners Act, 

1946 or any rule or order made thereunder, shall not be 

treated as illegal migrant for the purposes of this Act; 

A new section 6B was inserted (in the section concerning 

naturalisation), with four clauses, the first of which stated:  

(1) The Central Government or an authority specified by it in 

this behalf may, subject to such conditions, restrictions and 

manner as may be prescribed, on an application made in this 

behalf, grant a certificate of registration or certificate of 

naturalisation to a person referred to in the proviso to clause 

(b) of sub-section (1) of section 2. 
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The "exempted" classes of persons were previously defined in 

the Foreigners (Amendment) Order, 2015 (issued under the 

Foreigners Act, 1946):  

3A. Exemption of certain class of foreigners. – (1) Persons 

belonging to minority communities in Bangladesh and 

Pakistan, namely, Hindus, Sikhs, Buddhists, Jains, Parsis and 

Christians who were compelled to seek shelter in India due to 

religious persecution or fear of religious persecution and 

entered into India on or before 31 December 2014  

• (a) without valid documents including passport or 

other travel documents and who have been exempted 

under rule 4 from the provisions of rule 3 of the 

Passport (Entry into India) Rules, 1950 [...]; or 

• (b) with valid documents including passport or other 

travel document and the validity of any of such 

documents has expired, 

are hereby granted exemption from the application of 

provisions of the Foreigners Act, 1946, and the orders made 

thereunder in respect of their stay in India without such 

documents or after the expiry of those documents, as the case 

may be [...].  

The Rules had been further amended in 2016 by adding 

Afghanistan to the list of countries.  

Exemptions were granted to northeastern regions of India in 

the clause (4) of section 6B:  

(4) Nothing in this section shall apply to tribal area of Assam, 

Meghalaya, Mizoram or Tripura as included in the Sixth 
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Schedule to the Constitution and the area covered under "The 

Inner Line" notified under the Bengal Eastern Frontier 

Regulation, 1873.'.  

Analysis 

The Act has amended the Citizenship Act, 1955 to give 

eligibility for Indian citizenship to illegal migrants who are 

Hindus, Sikhs, Buddhists, Jains, Parsis and Christians from 

Afghanistan, Bangladesh and Pakistan, and who entered India 

on or before 31 December 2014. 

The Act does not mention Muslims. According to Intelligence 

Bureau records, the immediate beneficiaries of the Amended 

Act will be 31,313 people, which include 25,447 Hindus, 5,807 

Sikhs, 55 Christians, 2 Buddhists and 2 Parsis.  

Under the act, one of the requirements for citizenship by 

naturalisation is that the applicant must have lived in India 

during the last 12 months, and for 11 of the previous 14 years. 

The bill relaxes this 11-year requirement to 5 years for persons 

belonging to the same six religions and three countries. The 

bill exempts the tribal areas of Assam, Meghalaya, and Tripura 

from its applicability. It also exempts the areas regulated 

through the Inner Line Permit, which include Arunachal 

Pradesh, Mizoram and Nagaland. The inclusion of Manipur in 

Inner Line Permit was also announced on 9 December 2019.  

The bill includes new provisions for cancellation of the 

registration of Overseas Citizenship of India (OCI) if there are 

any violations of any law of India. It also adds the opportunity 

for the OCI holder to be heard before the cancellation.  
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Selectively addressing religious persecution 

The Exemption section in the Amendment of the Act does not 

give attention to the refugees from all the neighboring 

countries. Of all the countries in the border China, Bhutan, 

Nepal, Pakistan (in the North or North-West), and Bangladesh 

and Myanmar (in the East) and Sri Lanka (in the South), this 

Act mentions Afghanistan, Bangladesh and Pakistan only, that 

is the Muslim majority countries in the border only are being 

addressed by design in the Act.  

Exclusion of persecuted Muslims 

Muslims from Pakistan, Bangladesh and Afghanistan are not 

offered eligibility for citizenship under the new Act. Critics 

have questioned the exclusion. The amendment limits itself to 

the Muslim-majority neighbours of India and takes no 

cognisance of the persecuted Muslims of those countries. 

According to The Economist, if the Indian government was 

concerned about religious persecution, it should have included 

Ahmadiyyas – a Muslim sect who have been "viciously hounded 

in Pakistan as heretics", and the Hazaras – another Muslim 

sect who have been murdered by the Taliban in Afghanistan. 

They should be treated as minorities. India's minister of 

minority affairs, Mukhtar Abbas Naqvi defended the exclusion 

of the Ahmadiyyas by saying that India does not consider them 

as non-Muslims. A landmark 1970 judgement from the Kerala 

High Court deemed Ahmadiyyas to be Muslims by the Indian 

law. Naqvi added that India has provided refuge to different 

persecuted sects at different times, and Ahmaddiyas will not be 

forgotten.  
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Pakistan, Afghanistan, and Bangladesh are Muslim-majority 

countries that have modified their constitutions in recent 

decades to declare Islam their official state religion. Therefore, 

according to the Indian government, Muslims in these Islamic 

countries are "unlikely to face religious persecution". 

The government says that Muslims cannot be "treated as 

persecuted minorities" in these Muslim-majority countries. The 

BBC says that while these countries have provisions in their 

constitution guaranteeing non-Muslims rights, including the 

freedom to practice their religion, in practice non-Muslim 

populations have experienced discrimination and persecution.  

Exclusion of other persecuted communities 

The Act does not include migrants from non-Muslim countries 

fleeing persecution to India, Rohingya Muslim refugees from 

Myanmar, Hindu refugees from Sri Lanka, and Buddhist 

refugees from Tibet, China.  

The Act does not mention Tamil refugees from Sri Lanka. The 

Sri Lankan Tamils were allowed to settle as refugees in Tamil 

Nadu in 1980s and 1990s due to systemic violence from the 

Sinhalese of Sri Lanka. They include 29,500 "hill country 

Tamils" (Malaiha).  

The Act does not provide relief to Tibetan Buddhist refugees, 

who came to India in the 1950s and 1960s due to the Chinese 

invasion of Tibet. Their status has been of refugees over the 

decades. According to a 1992 UNHCR report, the then Indian 

government stated that they remain refugees and do not have 

the right to acquire Indian nationality.  
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The Act does not address Rohingya Muslim refugees from 

Myanmar. The Indian government has been deporting Rohingya 

refugees to Myanmar.  

Relationship to NRC 

The National Register of Citizens is a registry of all legal 

citizens, whose construction and maintenance was mandated 

by the 2003 amendment of the Citizenship Act. As of January 

2020, it has only been implemented for the state of Assam, but 

the BJP has promised its implementation for the whole of India 

in its 2019 election manifesto. The NRC documents all the 

legal citizens so that the people who are left out can be 

recognized as illegal immigrants (often called "foreigners"). The 

experience with Assam NRC shows that many people were 

declared "foreigners" because their documents were deemed 

insufficient.  

In this context, there are concerns that the present amendment 

of the Citizenship Act provides a "shield" to the non-Muslims, 

who can claim that they were migrants who fled persecution 

from Afghanistan, 

Pakistan or Bangladesh, while the Muslims do not have such a 

benefit. Such a claim may be possible only for people in the 

border states who have some ethnic resemblance to the people 

of Afghanistan, Pakistan or Bangladesh, but not to the people 

of interior states. Muslim leaders have interpreted the CAA–

NRC package in precisely these terms, viz., that the Muslims in 

the country would be targeted (by considering documents as 

insufficient) as potential foreigners, leaving out all non-

Muslims.  
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In an interview to India Today, Home Minister Amit Shah 

offered reassurance that no Indian citizen needs to worry. "We 

will make special provisions to ensure that no Indian citizen 

from minority communities is victimised in the NRC process." 

But the Indian Express said that the purpose of the NRC is 

precisely to identify the Indian citizens. So these references to 

"Indian citizens" remain unexplained.  

Reception 

Protests 

The passage of the Act triggered different types of protests and 

criticisms. Violent protests erupted in Assam, where the 

protesters maintained that the new provisions of this Act are 

against prior agreements such as the Assam Accord, and that 

they would cause a "loss of political rights and culture". 

The India-Japan summit in Guwahati, which was supposed to 

be attended by Shinzō Abe was cancelled. The UK, USA, 

France, Israel and Canada issued travel warnings for people 

visiting India's north-east region, telling their citizens to 

"exercise caution".  

In other parts of India, political and student activists protested 

that the law "marginalizes Muslims, is prejudicial against 

Muslims" and sought that Muslim migrants and refugees 

should also be granted Indian citizenship per its secular 

foundations. The protesters demanded that the law should 

grant Indian citizenship to Muslim immigrants and refugees 

too.  
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Protests against the bill were held in several metropolitan 

cities across India, including Kolkata, Delhi, Mumbai, 

Bengaluru, Hyderabad, and Jaipur. Rallies were also held in 

various Indian states of West Bengal, Punjab, Uttar Pradesh, 

Karnataka, Tamil Nadu, Gujarat, Telangana, Bihar, 

Maharastra, Kerala and Karnataka. 27 people were killed by 

police firing guns in the whole of India.  

Various cities around the world, including New York, 

Washington D. C.,  Melbourne, Paris, Berlin, Geneva, 

Barcelona, San Francisco, Tokyo, Helsinki, and Amsterdam, 

witnessed protests against the Act and the police brutality 

faced by Indian protesters.  

Students from various universities like Jamia Millia Islamia, 

Aligarh Muslim University, Nadwa College, Jawaharlal Nehru 

University, IIT Kanpur, IIT Madras, Jadavpur University, Tata 

Institute of Social Sciences, IISc, Pondicherry University, and 

IIM Ahmedabad also held protest. More than 25 student 

associations from all over India joined protest. On 15 

December, police forcefully entered the campus of Jamia Millia 

Islamia university, where protests were being held, and 

detained the students. Police used batons and tear gas on the 

students. More than a hundred students were injured and an 

equal number were detained. The police action was widely 

criticized, and resulted in protests across the country.  

Muslims all over India came out to protest the CAA–NRC 

package with a renewed assertion of their identity as Indians. 

Muslim women started protest at Shaheen Bagh on 15 

December 2019 start as an ongoing 24/7 sit-in peaceful 

protest. The protesters at Shaheen Bagh have blocked a major 
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highway in New Delhi using non-violent resistance for more 

than 51 days now as of 5 February 2020. On 24 February, 

violent clashes occurred during the North East Delhi riots in 

which seven people where killed and more than a hundred 

injured. The death toll rose to 42 within 36 hours, with 250 

people getting injured.  

Indian government response 

On 16 December, after the protests entered the fifth day, Prime 

Minister Narendra Modi appealed for calm in a series of tweets 

saying "No Indian has anything to worry regarding this act. 

This act is only for those who have faced years of persecution 

outside and have no other place to go except India". As CAA 

protests raised concerns on combined effects of CAA with NRC, 

the government has sought to downplay its narrative on NRC, 

with both the PM Narendra Modi and Home Minister Amit Shah 

stating that there has been no talk on pan-Indian NRC in their 

government for now, and neither the cabinet nor the legal 

department has discussed it.  

Considering Violence and damage to public properties during 

demonstration, on 19 December, police banned protests in 

several parts of India with the imposition of section 144 which 

prohibits the gathering of more than 4 individuals in a public 

space as being unlawful, namely, parts of the capital Delhi, 

Uttar Pradesh, and Karnataka, including Bangalore. Police in 

Chennai denied permission for marches, rallies or any other 

demonstration. 

Internet services were shutdown in several parts of Delhi. As a 

result of defining the ban, thousands of protesters were 
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detained, including several opposition leaders and activists 

such as Ramachandra Guha, Sitaram Yechury, Yogendra 

Yadav, Umar Khalid, Sandeep Dikshit, Tehseen Poonawalla and 

D Raja.  

Rallies in support 

Student groups such as those from the Akhil Bharatiya 

Vidyarthi Parishad – a student wing of the Hindu nationalist 

Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh, held rallies in support of the 

amended Citizenship Act. Rallies in support of the Amendment 

Act were led by BJP leaders in West Bengal, who alleged that 

the state government blocked them. They also accused the 

Chief Minister Mamata Banerjee's party members of 

misinforming the state's residents about the new law. 

Similarly, some 15,000 people joined a BJP-organised rally in 

support of the Act in Rajasthan. On 20 December 2019, scores 

of people held demonstrations in Central Park, Connaught 

Place, New Delhi in support of the Act. Hundreds of people 

gathered in Pune, forming a human chain, in support of CAA, 

on 22 December. ABVP members held a rally in support of CAA 

and NRC in Kerala. Hundreds of citizens were out on the 

streets in support of the citizenship law in Bangalore. Members 

of the Social Democratic Party of India, linked to the Islamist 

militant organization Popular Front of India, were paid 

Rs.10000 to attack leaders supporting CAA in Bengaluru 

according to the Police  

Jay Kholiya, ex-Member and Officer Bearer of ABVP 

Maharashtra had resigned from his office during these protests 

citing "Ideological Differences". In Assam, ABVP's National 

Executive Moon Talukdar also had joined Anti-CAA Protests. 
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He also announced that around 800 members would resign in 

opposition to the government's move to implement the 

Citizenship (Amendment) Act (CAA).  

Refugees 

Hindu refugee families in Assam, living since the 1960s in a 

refugee camp and who had been denied Indian citizenship so 

far, said that the Amendment had "kindled hope" at first. They 

added that the recent protests against the Act and demands for 

its cancellation have made them fearful of the future. In New 

Delhi, about 600 refugees from Pakistan living in a camp 

consisting of tiny shanties celebrated the new law. A delegation 

of Sikh refugees who had arrived from Afghanistan three 

decades ago thanked the Indian government for amending the 

citizenship law. They stated the Amended law would allow them 

to finally gain Indian citizenship and "join the mainstream".  

Some Rohingya Muslim refugees in India were not optimistic 

about the Amendment and feared they would be deported. 

Other Rohingya refugees expressed gratitude at having been 

allowed to stay in India, but did not make any comments 

specific to the Act lest they provoke a backlash. They said that 

local police had asked them not to protest against the Act.  

More than 200 families have arrived in the Indian state of 

Punjab with all their belongings after the law was enacted.  

Political and legal challenge 

The bill was opposed by the Indian National Congress, who 

said it would create communal tensions and polarise India. The 

Chief Ministers of the Indian states of Madhya Pradesh, 
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Chhattisgarh, West Bengal, Punjab, Kerala and Rajasthan and 

union territory of Puducherry – all led by non-BJP governments 

– said they will not implement the law. According to the Union 

Home Ministry, states lack the legal power to stop the 

implementation of CAA. The Ministry stated that "the new 

legislation has been enacted under the Union List of the 7th 

Schedule of the Constitution. The states have no power to 

reject it". Modi stated on 21 December that the NRC had only 

been implemented in Assam to follow a directive from the 

Supreme Court of India, and that there had been no decision 

taken to implement it nation-wide.  

The Indian Union Muslim League petitioned the Supreme Court 

of India to declare the bill illegal. The royal family of Tripura 

also filed a petition in the Supreme Court against the bill. The 

first hearing by the Supreme Court of India on 60 petitions 

challenging the Act was on 18 December 2019. During the first 

hearing, the court declined to stay implementation of the 

Citizenship (Amendment) Act, 2019. On 22 January 2020, 

around 143 petitions, including several petitions filed after 18 

December 2019 were heard. Court again declined the request 

for stay. Bench, presided over by Chief Justice of India SA 

Bobde indicated that the matter may be referred to a larger 

bench. a as the next date of hearing. The next hearing was 

scheduled on 21 April 2020.  

Commentary and petitions 

The foreign intelligence agency of India, R&AW, had expressed 

concern while deposing in front of the joint parliamentary 

committee, and had stated that the bill could be used by 

agents of the foreign intelligence agencies to infiltrate legally 
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into India. Former National Security Advisor Shiv Shankar 

Menon called the incident a self inflicted goal that has isolated 

India from the International community.  

Harish Salve, former Solicitor General of India, said that the 

bill does not violate Article 14, Article 25 and Article 21 of the 

Constitution of India.  

A group of prominent individuals and organisations from 

around 12 countries representing minorities of Bangladesh 

released a joint statement in which they described the Act as 

"humanitarian" provision through which India has "partially 

fulfilled" its obligations towards the minorities of Bangladesh, 

Pakistan and Afghanistan. The National Sikh Front – a group 

representing the Sikhs in Jammu and Kashmir, stated that it 

supports the Act because it will help the Sikh refugees in India 

who left Afghanistan.  

A petition opposing the bill was signed by more 1,000 Indian 

scientists and scholars. The petition stated that "The use of 

religion as a criterion for citizenship in the proposed bill" was 

"inconsistent with the basic structure of the Constitution". A 

similar number of Indian academicians and intellectuals 

released a statement in support of the legislation. The petition 

stated that the act "fulfills the long-standing demand of 

providing refuge to persecuted religious minorities from 

Pakistan, Bangladesh and Afghanistan".  

Historian Neeti Nair commented that the Citizenship 

(Amendment) Act and the National Register of Citizens 

represent steps towards a “Hindu Rashtra” that should be 

“summarily dismissed both by the people and by the courts”. 

Similar views were also expressed by social activists such as 
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Harsh Mander, Indira Jaising. and media houses National 

Herald and The Caravan. The Japan Times termed the Act as 

"Modi's project to make a Hindu India".  

International reactions 

•  United States: The United States Commission on 

International Religious Freedom (USCIRF) called for 

sanctions against Amit Shah and "other principal 

leadership" over passage of the Bill. India's Ministry 

of External Affairs issued a statement in response, 

stating that the statement made by the USCIRF was 

"neither accurate nor warranted", and that neither 

the CAA nor the NRC sought to strip Indian citizens 

of citizenship. The United States House Committee 

on Foreign Affairs questioned the intent of the Bill 

and noted that "[a]ny religious test for citizenship 

undermines this most basic democratic tenet." On 19 

December, however, the United States Secretary of 

State said that the US respects Indian democracy 

since it has a "robust" internal debate on the 

Citizenship Act. The President of the United States, 

Donald Trump, during his visit to India, declined to 

comment on the CAA and said that "it is up to 

India." 

•  United Kingdom : The outgoing British High 

Commissioner to India, Dominic Asquith, said that 

the UK expressed hope that the Indian government 

will address concerns of the people as its manifesto 

commitment is "sabka saath, sabka vikas, sabka 

vishvas" (with all, development for all, and trust of 

all) 
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•  Australia

Shoebridge tabled motion in the Legislative Council, 

calling for serious attention to India's CAA, the Modi 

government's reaction to the democratic protests and 

to renegotiate trade ag

and India so that they include a human rights 

clause. 

•  Russia: Deputy Russian Ambassador to India, 

Roman Babushkin, said that Russia considers the 

legislation an internal matter of India.

•  France: Ambassador of France to India,

Emmanuel Lenain, said that France considers the 

legislation an internal matter of India and respects 

it. 

•  Pakistan: Pakistan Prime Minister Imran Khan 

criticised the Act. Pakistan's National Assembly 

passed a resolution labelling the Act as a 

"discrimina

"bilateral agreements and understandings between 

India and Pakistan, particularly those on security 

and rights of minorities in the respective countries". 

This act was denounced by both the Hindu and Sikh 

communitie

rejected by the Pakistan Hindu Council, a 

representative body of Hindus in the country. Many 

lawmakers were vocal in voicing their protest over 

this legislation. These included Lal Chand Malhi, 

member of the national as

ruling party Tehreek

Lakhwani, member of the provincial assembly of 

Sindh. 
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•  Bangladesh: Bangladesh's Minister of Foreign 

Affairs, A. K. Abdul Momen said that this bill could 

weaken India's historic character as a secular nation 

and denied that minorities were facing religious 

persecution in his country. In an interview to Gulf 

News, Bangladesh Prime Minister Sheikh Hasina 

said, "Within India, people are facing many 

problems" and expressed her concerns saying, "We 

don't understand why (the Indian government) did it. 

It was not necessary". However, she maintained her 

stance that the CAA and NRC are internal matters of 

India. She also said that Prime Minister Modi 

assured her of no reverse migration from India. 

•  Maldives: Maldives' Parliament Speaker and 

former president, Mohamed Nasheed, said that CAA 

is an internal issue of India and was democratically 

passed through both the houses of the Parliament. 

•  Malaysia: The Prime Minister of Malaysia, 

Mahathir Mohamad, criticised the law and said it 

could "deprive some Muslims of their citizenship". 

India rejected the criticism and said the law does not 

"deprive any Indian of any faith of her or his 

citizenship". 

•  Afghanistan: Former Afghanistan President Hamid 

Karzai urged Government of India to treat all 

minorities equally. In an interview to The Hindu, he 

said, "We don't have persecuted minorities in 

Afghanistan." Mentioning the Afghanistan conflict, 

he said, "The whole country is persecuted. We have 

been in war and conflict for a long time. All religions 

in Afghanistan, Muslims and Hindus and Sikhs, 

which are our three main religions, have suffered." 
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•  Kuwait: Around 27 lawmakers in Kuwait 

expressed "deep concern" over "the abusive 

legislative and repressive security measures taken by 

the Indian government against Muslims". They asked 

the Kuwait Government to ‘exert diplomatic efforts’ 

and to approach the UN to address the situation. 

•  Bahrain: The Shura Council (the Council of 

Representatives) called on the Government of India 

to refrain from implementing the Act, taking the 

rights of the Muslims into account, and respecting 

the international principles. 

•  Sri Lanka: Prime Minister Mahinda Rajapaksa 

termed the CAA as an internal matter of India. While 

answering a question about the non-inclusion of Sri 

Lankan Tamil refugees, he said, "Sri Lankans can 

return anytime they want. Their houses are there. 

They can come back anytime they want. We have no 

objection. Recently, around 4,000 of them returned. 

It all depends on what they want." 

Supranational 

•  United Nations: The Office of the United Nations 

High Commissioner for Human Rights criticised the 

Act and called it "fundamentally discriminatory in 

nature". It added, "Although India's broader 

naturalization laws remain in place, these 

amendments will have a discriminatory effect on 

people’s access to nationality."  

• The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner 

for Human Rights has filed an intervention in the 
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Supreme Court of India on the Citizenship 

Amendment Act (CAA) in 2020. 

•  European Union: Ambassador of the European 

Union to India, Ugo Astuto, said that he trusts that 

the outcome of the CAA discussion would be in line 

with the high standards set by the Indian 

constitution. 

•  Organisation of Islamic Cooperation: OIC 

expressed their concern about present situation of 

CAA-NRC and urged the Government of India to 

ensure the safety of the Muslim minority and to 

follow obligation of Charter of the United Nations. 

•  United States of America: two cities councils of 

Seattle and Cambridge passed resolutions asking 

India to repeal the Citizenship Amendment Act.  

  



Chapter 38 

Pakistan and State-sponsored 

Terrorism in India 

Pakistan and state-sponsored terrorism refers to the 

involvement of Pakistan in terrorism through the backing of 

various designated terrorist organizations. Pakistan has been 

frequently accused by various countries, including its 

neighbours Afghanistan, India, and Iran, as well as by the 

United States, the United Kingdom, 

Germany, and France, of involvement in a variety of terrorist 

activities in both its local region of South Asia and beyond. 

Pakistan's northwestern tribal regions along the Afghanistan–

Pakistan border have been described as an effective safe haven 

for terrorists by Western media and the United States 

Secretary of Defense, while India has accused Pakistan of 

perpetuating the insurgency in Jammu and Kashmir by 

providing financial support and armaments to militant groups, 

as well as by sending state-trained terrorists across the Line of 

Control and de jure India–Pakistan border to launch attacks in 

Indian-administered Kashmir and India proper, respectively. 

According to an analysis published by the Saban Center for 

Middle East Policy at the Brookings Institution in 2008, 

Pakistan was reportedly, "with the possible exception of Iran, 

perhaps the world's most active sponsor of terrorist groups... 

aiding these groups that pose a direct threat to the United 

States. Pakistan's active participation has caused thousands of 
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deaths in the region; all these years Pakistan has been 

supportive to several terrorist groups despite several stern 

warnings from the international community." Daniel Byman, a 

professor and senior analyst of terrorism and security at the 

Center For Middle East Policy, also wrote that, "Pakistan is 

probably 2008's most active sponsor of terrorism". In 2018, the 

former Prime Minister of Pakistan, 

Nawaz Sharif, suggested that the Pakistani government (see 

The Establishment) played a role in the 2008 Mumbai attacks 

that were carried out by Lashkar-e-Taiba, a Pakistan-based 

Islamist terrorist group. In July 2019, 

Pakistani Prime Minister Imran Khan, on an official visit to the 

United States, acknowledged the presence of some 30,000–

40,000 armed terrorists operating on Pakistani soil. He further 

stated that previous administrations were hiding this truth, 

particularly from the United States, for the last 15 years 

during the War on Terror.  

The United States' State Sponsors of Terrorism designation list 

describes Pakistan as a "terrorist safe haven" where individual 

terrorists and terrorist groups are able to organize, plan, raise 

funds, communicate, recruit, train, transit, and operate in 

relative security because of inadequate/supportive governance, 

political will, or both. 

Osama bin Laden, the leader of al-Qaeda and mastermind 

behind the September 11 attacks on the United States in 2001, 

was killed by U.S. Navy SEALs during Operation Neptune Spear 

at his compound near the Pakistan Military Academy in 

Abbottabad, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan.  
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Background 

Until Pakistan became a key ally in the War on Terrorism, the 

US Secretary of State included Pakistan on the 1993 list of 

countries which repeatedly provide support for acts of 

international terrorism. In fact, many consider that Pakistan 

has been playing both sides in the fight against terror, on the 

one hand, demonstrating to help curtail terrorist activities 

while on the other, stoking it. Pakistani journalist Ahmed 

Rashid and author Ted Galen Carpenter have accused 

Pakistan's Inter-Services Intelligence (ISI) of providing help to 

the Taliban and rebels in Kashmir.  

Allegations of state-sponsored terrorism 

Author Gordon Thomas states that whilst aiding in the capture 

of Al Qaeda members, Pakistan "still sponsored terrorist 

groups in the Indian state of Jammu and Kashmir, funding, 

training and arming them in their war of attrition against 

India". Journalist Stephen Schwartz notes that several 

terrorist and criminal groups are "backed by senior officers in 

the Pakistani army, the country's ISI intelligence 

establishment and other armed bodies of the state". According 

to Ted Galen Carpenter, a senior fellow for defense and foreign 

policy studies at the Cato Institute, 

"Without the active support of the government in Islamabad, it 

is doubtful whether the Taliban could ever have come to power 

in Afghanistan. Pakistani authorities helped fund the militia 

and equip it with military hardware during the mid-1990s 

when the Taliban was merely one of several competing factions 
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in Afghanistan’s civil war. Only when the United States exerted 

enormous diplomatic pressure after the 11 Sept. attacks did 

Islamabad begin to sever its political and financial ties with 

the Taliban. Even now it is not certain that key members of 

Pakistan’s intelligence service have repudiated their Taliban 

clients.  

Afghanistan is not the only place where Pakistani leaders have 

flirted with terrorist clients. Pakistan has also assisted rebel 

forces in Kashmir even though those groups have committed 

terrorist acts against civilians. A disproportionate number of 

the extremist madrasas schools funded by the Saudis operate 

in Pakistan." Pakistan's former ambassador to the U.S., Husain 

Haqqani has said Pakistan sponsors terrorism.  

Author Daniel Byman states, "Pakistan is probably today's 

most active sponsor of terrorism." Writing in an article 

published by The Australian he stated, "following the terror 

massacres in Mumbai, Pakistan may now be the single biggest 

state sponsor of terrorism, beyond even Iran, yet it has never 

been listed by the US State Department as a state sponsor of 

terrorism".  

Former Pakistani president Pervez Musharraf has conceded 

that his forces trained militant groups to fight India in Indian-

administered Kashmir. 

He confessed that the government ″turned a blind eye″ because 

it wanted to force India to enter into negotiations, as well as 

raise the issue internationally. He also said Pakistani spies in 

the Inter-Services Intelligence directorate (ISI) cultivated the 

Taliban after 2001 because Karzai's government was dominated 
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by non-Pashtuns, who are the country's largest ethnic group, 

and by officials who were thought to favour India.  

India has been consistent in alleging that Pakistan was 

involved in training and arming underground militant groups 

to fight Indian forces in Kashmir.  

Inter-Services Intelligence and terrorism 

The ISI, has often been accused of playing a role in major 

terrorist attacks across India including terrorism in Kashmir, 

the July 2006 Mumbai Train Bombings, the 2001 Indian 

Parliament attack, the 2006 Varanasi bombings, the August 

2007 Hyderabad bombings, and the November 2008 Mumbai 

attacks.  

The ISI is also accused of supporting Taliban forces and 

recruiting and training mujahideen to fight in Afghanistan and 

Kashmir. Based on communication intercepts, US intelligence 

agencies concluded Pakistan's ISI was behind the attack on the 

Indian embassy in Kabul on 7 July 2008, a charge that the 

governments of India and Afghanistan had laid previously.  

The Pakistani intelligence agency, the ISI, is believed to be 

aiding these organisations in eradicating perceived enemies or 

those opposed to their cause, including India, Russia, China, 

Israel, the United States, the United Kingdom and other 

members of NATO. Satellite imagery from the FBI suggest the 

existence of several terrorist camps in Pakistan, with at least 

one militant admitting to being trained in the country as part 

of the going Kashmir Dispute, Pakistan is alleged to be 

supporting separatist militias Many nonpartisan sources 
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believe that officials within Pakistan's military and the Inter-

Services Intelligence (ISI) sympathise with and aid Islamic 

terrorists, saying that the "ISI has provided covert but well-

documented support to terrorist groups active in Kashmir, 

including the al-Qaeda affiliate Jaish-e-Mohammed".  

President of Afghanistan Hamid Karzai has regularly reiterated 

allegations that militants operating training camps in Pakistan 

have used it as a launch platform to attack targets in 

Afghanistan. 

He has also urged Western military allies to target extremist 

hideouts in neighbouring Pakistan. In response to the millants 

from Afghanistan hiding in the mountainous tribal region of 

Pakistan . The US and Pakistan agreed to allow US Drone 

Strikes in Pakistan.  

Several detainees at the Guantanamo Bay facility told US 

interrogators that they were aided by the ISI for attacks in the 

disputed Kashmir Region.  

Links to terrorist groups 

Pakistan is alleged to be a safe haven for terrorist groups 

including:  

• Al-Qaeda 

• Lashkar-e-Omar 

• Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT) 

• Jaish-e-Mohammed (JeM) 

• Sipah-e-Sahaba 

• Jaish ul-Adl 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

988 

 

• Al Badr Mujahideen 

• Harkat ul Mujahideen 

• ISIS-KP 

Pakistan has, however, denied providing safe haven to any 

terrorist group.  

Pakistan is also accused of giving aid to the Taliban, "which 

include[s] soliciting funding for the Taliban, bankrolling 

Taliban operations, providing diplomatic support as the 

Taliban's virtual emissaries abroad, arranging training for 

Taliban fighters, recruiting skilled and unskilled manpower to 

serve in Taliban armies, planning and directing offensives, 

providing and facilitating shipments of ammunition and fuel, 

and on several occasions apparently directly providing combat 

support", as stated by the Human Rights Watch. In 2008, the 

US stated that the next attack on the US could originate in 

Pakistan. There are instances of Pakistan hosting terrorist 

camps such as the following:  

• In June 2009, India's army chief, General Deepak 

Kapoor, used a meeting with US national security 

adviser Jim Jones to claim that Pakistan was home 

to 43 "terrorist camps". 

• Many Kashmiri groups also maintain their 

headquarters in Pakistan-administered Kashmir, 

which is cited as further proof by the Indian 

Government. 

• Open public fund raising and recruitment of 

terrorists from Pakistani society. 
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Militant outfits about Pakistan 

JKLF has openly admitted that more than 3,000 militants from 

various nationalities were still being trained.  

Sympathizing with militants 

Jaish-e-Mohammed – Other resources also concur, stating that 

Pakistan's military and ISI both include personnel who 

sympathize with and help Islamic militants, adding that "ISI 

has provided covert but well-documented support to terrorist 

groups active in Kashmir, 

Including the Jaish-e-Mohammed." Pakistan has denied any 

involvement in the terrorist activities in Kashmir, arguing that 

it only provides political and moral support to the so-called 

'secessionist' groups. 

Many Kashmiri groups also maintain their headquarters in 

Pakistan-administered Kashmir, which is cited as further proof 

by the Indian Government.  

Criticism 

The normally reticent United Nations Organization (UNO) has 

also publicly increased pressure on Pakistan on its inability to 

control its Afghanistan border and not restricting the activities 

of Taliban leaders who have been declared by the UN as 

terrorists.  
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Alleged Pakistani Army support of 

terrorists 

Former Pakistan President Pervez Musharraf has admitted that 

Pakistan supported and trained terrorist groups like Lashkar-

e-Taiba (LeT) in 1990s to carry out militancy in Kashmir. From 

1979 Pakistan was in favour of religious militancy. "The 

Kashmiri freedom fighters including Hafiz Saeed and Lakhvi 

were our heroes at that time. We trained Taliban and sent 

them to fight against Soviet Union. Taliban, Haqqani, Osama 

Bin Laden and Zawahiri were our heroes then (during the 

Soviet-Afghan war). Later they became villains" says Pervez 

Musharraf.  

The United States had direct evidence that the ISI chief, Lt. 

Gen. Ahmed Shuja Pasha, knew of Bin Laden's presence in 

Abbottabad, Pakistan. According to Pervez Hoodhboy, "Bin 

Laden was the 'Golden Goose' that the army had kept under its 

watch but which, to its chagrin, has now been stolen from 

under its nose. Until then, the thinking had been to trade in 

the Goose at the right time for the right price, either in the 

form of dollars or political concessions".  

Pakistan was also alleged to be responsible for the evacuation 

of about 5000 of the top leadership of the Taliban and Al-

Qaeda who were encircled by Nato forces in the 2001 invasion 

of Afghanistan. This event known as the Kunduz airlift, which 

is also popularly called the "Airlift of Evil", involved several 

Pakistani Air Force transport planes flying multiple sorties 

over a number of days. However, the validity of these claims 

have been questioned by the Pentagon. Both United States and 
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Pakistan have rejected that any such airlift took place. General 

Richard Myers, chief of staff, claimed that Kunduz airfield has 

been "disabled" by United States attacks. Although part of 

airfield could be used, the runway was not long enough for 

transport aircraft to take off or land. Donald Rumsfeld, US 

defense secretary, claimed that he received no such report that 

validate or verify these claims of aircraft moving in or out of 

the city. He further said that he doubted these claims. 

According to a 2001 article titled "Overview of State-Sponsored 

Terrorism" issued by the US Office of the Coordinator for 

Counterterrorism, 

"In South Asia, the United States has been increasingly 

concerned about reports of Pakistani support to terrorist 

groups and elements active in Kashmir, as well as Pakistani 

support, especially military support, to the Taliban, which 

continues to harbor terrorist groups, including al-Qaida, the 

Egyptian Islamic Jihad, al-Gama'a al-Islamiyya, and the 

Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan." In 2011, American troops 

reportedly recovered Pakistani military supplies from Taliban 

insurgents in Afghanistan.  

LeT began carrying out operations in Indian-controlled 

Kashmir in the 1990s. It actively infiltrated militants across 

the Line of Control (LoC) from Pakistan to carry out sabotage 

activities with the help of the ISI and the Pakistan Army. 

Pakistan Army and Inter-Services Intelligence Directorate (ISI) 

have long considered Lashkar-e-Taiba to be the country's most 

reliable proxy against India and the group still provides utility 

in this regard as well as the potential for leverage at the 

negotiating table.  
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Lashkar-e-Taiba and Jamaat-ud-Dawa 

The militant group Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT) is widely blamed for 

the November 2008 Mumbai attacks. The US has put a $10m 

bounty for its founder Hafiz Muhammad Saeed. Saeed now 

heads the Jamaat-ud-Dawa (JuD) group, widely seen as a front 

for LeT. LeT was banned by Pakistan in 2002 after it allegedly 

carried out an attack on the Indian parliament. JuD is 

currently banned by the US, the EU, India and Russia as a 

terrorist organisation. In June 2014, Washington declared JuD 

an LeT affiliate and announced head money for JuD's political 

wing chief and Saeed's brother-in-law Abdur Rahman Makki. 

Zaki ur-Rehman Lakhvi, the leader of Lashkar-e-Taiba and 

allegedly the planner of 2008 Mumbai attacks was released in 

Pakistan which caused condemnations in India.  

JuD regularly conducts mass rallies and congregation, 

advocating jihad in Kashmir. For its December 2014 rally, 

Pakistan ran two special trains to carry the crowd to Lahore. 

India's foreign ministry termed this as 'nothing short of 

mainstreaming of terrorism and a terrorist'. The congregation 

was held near Pakistan's national monument, the Minar-e-

Pakistan and a security of 4000 policemen was provided. JuD 

also asks donations for its anti-India and pro-jihad campaigns.  

Haqqani Network 

Former Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff of US, Mike 

Mullen described the Haqqani Network as the 'veritable arm of 

Pakistan's ISI'. Mullen said the country's main intelligence 

agency ISI was supporting Haqqani network, who are blamed 
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for an assault on the US embassy in Kabul in September 2011 

and also the September 2011 NATO truck bombing which 

injured 77 coalition soldiers and killed five Afgan civilians.  

"Operation Zarb-e-Azb has helped disrupt Haqqani network's 

ability to launch attacks on Afghan territory", a senior 

commander for US and NATO forces in Afghanistan, Lieutenant 

General Joseph Anderson said in a Pentagon-hosted video 

briefing from Afghanistan. He added that the Haqqani network 

was now fractured too.  

In a November 2014 interview to BBC Urdu, Adviser to the 

Pakistani Prime Minister on National Security and Foreign 

Affairs, Sartaj Aziz said that Pakistan should not target 

militants like the Afghan Taliban and Haqqani Network, who do 

not threaten Pakistan's security. After it was raised in 

Pakistan's parliament, Pakistan's Foreign Office clarified that 

the statement was said in historical context.  

United States 

US National Security Advisor James L Jones sent a message in 

the past to Pakistan saying that double standards on terrorism 

were not acceptable.  

In September 2016, the Chairman of the US House 

Subcommittee on Terrorism, Congressman Ted Poe from Texas, 

along with Dana Rohrabacher from California, introduced a bill 

in the United States House of Representatives calling for a 

declaration of Pakistan as a "state sponsor of terrorism". The 

bill HR 6069 requires the US president to issue a report within 

90 days detailing Pakistan's role in supporting international 
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terrorism followed by discussion from the US Secretary of 

State. Ted Poe said in a statement that Pakistan was not only 

an untrustworthy ally but it has also aided and abetted the 

enemies of the United States. He called the 2016 Uri attack the 

"latest consequence of Pakistan’s longstanding irresponsible 

policy of supporting and providing operational space for 'jihadi' 

terrorist groups". U.S. Senator John McCain said that the bill 

would not be successful, and pointed out that it was moved by 

a small minority within the Congress. McCain also 

acknowledged Pakistan's losses in the fight against terrorism.  

United Kingdom 

In July 2010, British Prime Minister David Cameron accused 

the Pakistani government of double standards: "We cannot 

tolerate in any sense the idea that this country is allowed to 

look both ways and is able, in any way, to promote the export 

of terror, whether to India or whether to Afghanistan or 

anywhere else in the world." 

However, UK Foreign Secretary William Hague, who was 

travelling with the prime minister Cameron, clarified 

Cameron's remarks: "He wasn't accusing anybody of double 

dealing. He was also saying that Pakistan's made great 

progress in tackling terrorism. Of course there have been many 

terrorism outrages in Pakistan itself." Cameron's remarks 

sparked a diplomatic row with Pakistan, where he came under 

attack by officials and politicians who strongly criticised his 

comments. In December 2010, he attempted to visit Pakistan 

while on a tour to Afghanistan in an effort to mend relations. 

However, his visit was refused by Pakistan, notably as a snub 

to his remarks.  
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Afghanistan 

US intelligence officials claim that Pakistan's ISI sponsored the 

2008 Indian embassy bombing in Kabul. They say that the ISI 

officers who aided the attack were not renegades, indicating 

that their actions might have been authorised by superiors. 

The attack was carried out by Jalaluddin Haqqani, who runs a 

network that Western intelligence services say is responsible 

for a campaign of violence throughout Afghanistan, including 

the Indian Embassy bombing and the 2008 Kabul Serena Hotel 

attack. Citizenship and Immigration Minister of Canada Chris 

Alexander called Pakistan a state sponsor of terrorism that 

threatens world security in 2014.  

In response to the Afghan War documents leak, The Guardian 

had a very different take on allegations that Pakistan is 

sponsoring terrorism. Its Sunday, 25 July 2010 article by 

Declan Walsh states: "But for all their eye-popping details, the 

intelligence files, which are mostly collated by junior officers 

relying on informants and Afghan officials, fail to provide a 

convincing smoking gun for ISI complicity. Most of the reports 

are vague, filled with incongruent detail, or crudely fabricated. 

The same characters – famous Taliban commanders, well-

known ISI officials – and scenarios repeatedly pop up. And few 

of the events predicted in the reports subsequently occurred. A 

retired senior American officer said ground-level reports were 

considered to be a mixture of "rumours, bullshit and second-

hand information" and were weeded out as they passed up the 

chain of command".  

Afghanistan–Pakistan relations have become more strained 

after the Afghan government began openly accusing Pakistan of 
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using its ISI spy network in aiding the Taliban and other 

militants. Pakistan usually denies these allegations but has 

said in the past that it does not have full control of the actions 

of the ISI. There have been a number of reports about the 

Afghanistan–Pakistan skirmishes, which usually occur when 

army soldiers are in hot pursuit chasing insurgents who cross 

the border back and forth. This leads to tensions between the 

two states, especially after hearing reports of civilian 

casualties.  

After the May 2011 death of Osama bin Laden in Pakistan, 

many prominent Afghan figures began being assassinated, 

including Mohammed Daud Daud, Ahmad Wali Karzai, Jan 

Mohammad Khan, Ghulam Haider Hamidi, Burhanuddin 

Rabbani and others. Also in the same year, the Afghanistan–

Pakistan skirmishes intensified and many large scale attacks 

by the Pakistani-based Haqqani network took place across 

Afghanistan. This led to the United States warning Pakistan of 

a possible military action against the Haqqanis in the Federally 

Administered Tribal Areas. The U.S. blamed Pakistan's 

government, mainly Pakistani Army and its ISI spy network as 

the masterminds behind all of this.  

"In choosing to use violent extremism as an instrument of 

policy, the government of Pakistan, and most especially the 

Pakistani army and ISI, jeopardizes not only the prospect of 

our strategic partnership but Pakistan's opportunity to be a 

respected nation with legitimate regional influence. They may 

believe that by using these proxies, they are hedging their bets 

or redressing what they feel is an imbalance in regional power. 

But in reality, they have already lost that bet." 
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• —  AdmiralMike Mullen, Chairman of the Joint Chiefs 

of Staff 

U.S. Ambassador to Pakistan, Cameron Munter, told Radio 

Pakistan that "the attack that took place in Kabul a few days 

ago, that was the work of the Haqqani network. There is 

evidence linking the Haqqani Network to the Pakistan 

government. This is something that must stop." Other top U.S. 

officials such as Hillary Clinton and Leon Panetta made similar 

statements. Despite all of this, 

Afghan President Hamid Karzai labelled Pakistan as 

Afghanistan's "twin brother". Such words in diplomatic talks 

mean that Afghanistan cannot turn enemy against the state of 

Pakistan to please others. The two states are working together 

to find solutions to the problems affecting them. 

This includes possible defence cooperation and intelligence 

sharing as well as further enhancing the two-way trade and 

abolishment of visas for "holders of diplomatic passports to 

facilitate visa free travel for the diplomats from the two 

nations."  

After the May 2017 Kabul attack, the Afghan National 

Directorate of Security (NDS) claimed that the blast was 

planned by the Afghan insurgent group Haqqani Network, and 

reiterated allegations that those elements had support and 

presence across the border in Pakistan. Afghan President 

Ashraf Ghani stated that Pakistan has instigated an 

"undeclared war of aggression" against the country. Pakistan's 

Foreign Ministry spokesman, Nafees Zakaria rejected the 

Afghan allegations as "baseless".  
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India 

The government of Pakistan has been accused of aiding 

terrorist organisations operating on their soil who have 

attacked neighbouring India. Pakistan denies all allegations, 

stating that these acts are committed by non-state actors.  

India alleged that the 2008 Mumbai attacks originated in 

Pakistan, and that the attackers were in touch with a Pakistani 

colonel and other handlers in Pakistan. The testimony of David 

Headley, who was implicated for his role in the Mumbai 

attacks, points to significant ISI involvement in the activities 

of the LeT, including the Mumbai attacks. This led to a UN ban 

on one such organisation, the Jama'at-ud-Da'wah, which the 

Pakistani government is yet to enforce.  

On 5 April 2006, the Indian police arrested six Islamic 

militants, including a cleric who helped plan bomb blasts in 

Varanasi. The cleric is believed to be a commander of a banned 

South Asian Islamic militant group, Harkat-ul-Jihad al-Islami, 

and is linked to the ISI.  

Pakistan denied involvement in militant activities in Kashmir, 

though President Asif Ali Zardari admitted in July 2010 that 

militants had been "deliberately created and nurtured" by past 

governments "as a policy to achieve some short-term tactical 

objectives" stating that they were "heroes" until 9/11.  

In October 2010, former Pakistan President and former head of 

the Pakistan Army, Pervez Musharraf revealed that Pakistani 

armed forces trained militant groups to fight Indian forces in 

Kashmir. Many Kashmiri militant groups designated as 
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terrorist organisations by the US still maintain their 

headquarters in Pakistan-administered Kashmir. This is cited 

by the Indian government as further proof that Pakistan 

supports terrorism. Many of the terrorist organisations are 

banned by the UN, but continue to operate under different 

names. Even the normally reticent United Nations (UN) has 

also publicly increased pressure on Pakistan on its inability to 

control its Afghanistan border and not restricting the activities 

of Taliban leaders who have been declared by the UN as 

terrorists. Both the federal and state governments in India 

continue to accuse Pakistan of helping several banned terrorist 

organisations, including the Indian organisations unhappy 

with their own Government, like the ULFA in Assam.  

Apart from Kashmir, Pakistan has also been accused by India 

of supporting insurgency in Punjab province of India. India 

alleges that Pakistan has provided support to separatist Sikh 

outfits in an attempt to create independent state of Khalistan. 

Pakistan has rejected all accusations made by India. An Indian 

MLA from Punjab believes that Pakistan support to Sikh 

separatist outfits is an attempt to seek revenge for Indian role 

during the Bangladesh Liberation War. Former Pakistani army 

chief Mirza Aslam Beg in an interview embraced jihad against 

India and opportunity to use Kartarpur corridor to assist 

Khalistan movement.  

In 2019, Pakistani Prime Minister publicly discouraged 

Pakistani people from going to Kashmir to do Jihad. People 

who went to Kashmir will do an "injustice to the Kashmiri 

people". Most of the Pakistani militants who had crossed the 

border over the years and were caught by the Indian security 

forces were found to belong to the Punjab province of Pakistan.  
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Bangladesh 

In two separate incidents officials of the Pakistani High 

Commission in Dhaka, were alleged to be financing the 

terrorist activities of the banned Jamaat-ul-Mujahideen 

Bangladesh (JMB) organization. Diplomatic official Mazhar 

Khan was charged by Bangladesh's foreign ministry of running 

an illegal Indian currency business in Dhaka beside alleged 

links with militants. However, Pakistan's foreign office 

maintains that allegations against him are baseless and the 

incident is unfortunate.  

In December 2015, Pakistan decided to withdraw second 

secretary Farina Arshad after the Bangladeshi authorities 

asked the diplomat to leave for reportedly having "extended 

financial support to a suspected militant who faces spying 

charges." 

JMB operative Idris Sheikh, who also holds Pakistani 

nationality had claimed he had received money from her and 

was in contact with her for some time. Pakistan has withdrawn 

one of its diplomats from Bangladesh after "harassment", the 

foreign ministry said. 

A formal statement from Islamabad dismissed the charges as 

"baseless", adding: "an incessant and orchestrated media 

campaign was launched against her on spurious charges"  

International isolation 

Pakistan is being threatened of international isolation on the 

allegations of its inability to act on countering terrorism due to 
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the efforts of PM Narendra Modi. The 2016 SAARC summit 

which was to be held in Islamabad in 2016 was cancelled after 

being boycotted by four nations – India, Afghanistan, 

Bangladesh and Bhutan. Pakistan is listed on the FATF greylist 

for alleged money laundering and terrorism financing, which 

makes it difficult for the country to get financial help from 

international institutions, including the International Monetary 

Fund, World Bank Asian Development Bank, and European 

Union.  

Al Qaeda leaders killed or captured in 

Pakistan 

Critics had accused Pakistan's military and security 

establishment of protecting Osama bin Laden, until he was 

found and killed by US forces. 

This issue was expected to worsen US ties with Pakistan. Bin 

Laden was killed in what most feel was his residence for at 

least three years, in Abbottabad, in Pakistan. It was an 

expensive compound, less than 100 kilometres' drive from the 

capital, Islamabad, probably built specifically for Bin Laden. 

The compound is 1.3 kilometres (3 ∕4 mile) southwest of the 

Pakistan Military Academy (PMA), a prominent military 

academy that has been compared to Sandhurst in Britain and 

West Point in the United States. 

Pakistan's President Zardari has denied that his country's 

security forces may have sheltered Osama bin Laden.  
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In response to America's exposure of bin Laden's hiding place, 

Pakistan moved to shut down the informant network that led 

the Americans there.  

In addition Khalid Sheikh Mohammed, Ramzi bin al-Shibh, Abu 

Zubaydah, Abu Laith al Libi and Sheikh Said Masri have all 

been captured or killed inside Pakistan.  

  



Chapter 39 

Terrorist Groups 

Lashkar-e-Omar 

Lashkar-e-Omar (The Army of Omar) is an Islamic 

fundamentalist terrorist organisation. The group, which was 

formed in January 2002, is a mixture of elements from three 

other terrorist groups: Harkat-ul-Jihad-al-Islami, Lashkar-e-

Jhangvi, and Jaish-e-Mohammed. It also includes members of 

the Taliban and Al-Qaeda. Its reported mission is to attack 

Americans in Pakistan. The current leader is Qari Abdul Hai, 

also known as Qari Asadullah alias Talha.  

Several events have been linked to the group. It was reportedly 

behind a grenade attack on a church in Islamabad on 17 

March 2002, which resulted in five deaths and 41 injuries. A 

couple of months later on 8 May a suicide bomber detonated 

outside a Sheraton hotel in Karachi. Again in Karachi 10 

people were killed when the US consulate was attacked on 14 

June. Finally on 28 October 2002, a church in Bahawalpur in 

Punjab, was attacked by six gunmen, killing 17 Christians and 

a police officer. Some of its members are also allegedly 

connected to the murder of US journalist Daniel Pearl.  

Al-Qaeda 

Al-Qaeda is a militant Sunni Islamist multi-national 

organization, widely regarded as terrorist, founded in 1988 by 
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Osama bin Laden, Abdullah Azzam, and several other Arab 

volunteers during the Soviet–Afghan War.  

Al-Qaeda operates as a network of Islamic extremists and 

Salafist jihadists. The organization has been designated as a 

terrorist group by the United Nations Security Council, the 

North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO), the European 

Union, the United States, China, the United Kingdom, Russia, 

India, and various other countries (see below). Al-Qaeda has 

mounted attacks on non-military and military targets in 

various countries, including the 1998 United States embassy 

bombings, the September 11 attacks, and the 2002 Bali 

bombings.  

The United States government responded to the September 11 

attacks by launching the "War on Terror", which sought to 

undermine al-Qaeda and its allies. The deaths of key leaders, 

including that of Osama bin Laden, have led al-Qaeda's 

operations to shift from top-down organization and planning of 

attacks, to the planning of attacks which are carried out by a 

loose network of associated groups and lone-wolf operators. Al-

Qaeda characteristically organises attacks which include 

suicide attacks and the simultaneous bombing of several 

targets. Al-Qaeda ideologues envision the removal of all foreign 

influences in Muslim countries.  

Al-Qaeda members believe a Christian–Jewish alliance is 

conspiring to destroy Islam. As Salafist jihadists, members of 

al-Qaeda believe that killing non-combatants is religiously 

sanctioned. Al-Qaeda also opposes what it regards as man-

made laws, and wants to replace them with a strict form of 

sharia law.  
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Al-Qaeda has carried out many attacks on people whom it 

considers kafir. It is also responsible for instigating sectarian 

violence among Muslims. Al-Qaeda regards liberal Muslims, 

Shias, Sufis and other sects as heretical and its members and 

sympathizers have attacked their mosques and gatherings. 

Examples of sectarian attacks include the Yazidi community 

bombings, the Sadr City bombings, the Ashoura massacre and 

the April 2007 Baghdad bombings.  

Following the death of Osama bin Laden in 2011, the group 

has been led by Egyptian Ayman al-Zawahiri, and as of 2021 

has reportedly suffered from a deterioration of central 

command over its regional operations.  

Organization 

Al-Qaeda only indirectly controls its day-to-day operations. Its 

philosophy calls for the centralization of decision making, 

while allowing for the decentralization of execution. Al-Qaeda's 

top leaders have defined the organization's ideology and 

guiding strategy, and they have also articulated simple and 

easy-to-receive messages. At the same time, mid-level 

organizations were given autonomy, but they had to consult 

with top management before large-scale attacks and 

assassinations. Top management included the shura council as 

well as committees on military operations, finance, and 

information sharing. Through al-Qaeda's information 

committees, he placed special emphasis on communicating 

with his groups. However, after the War on Terror, al-Qaeda's 

leadership has become isolated. As a result, the leadership has 

become decentralized, and the organization has become 

regionalized into several al-Qaeda groups.  
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Many terrorism experts do not believe that the global jihadist 

movement is driven at every level by al-Qaeda's leadership. 

However, bin Laden held considerable ideological sway over 

some Muslim extremists before his death. Experts argue that 

al-Qaeda has fragmented into a number of disparate regional 

movements, and that these groups bear little connection with 

one another.  

This view mirrors the account given by Osama bin Laden in his 

October 2001 interview with Tayseer Allouni:  

this matter isn't about any specific person and ... is not about 

the al-Qa'idah Organization. We are the children of an Islamic 

Nation, with Prophet Muhammad as its leader, our Lord is 

one ... and all the true believers [mu'mineen] are brothers. So 

the situation isn't like the West portrays it, that there is an 

'organization' with a specific name (such as 'al-Qa'idah') and so 

on. That particular name is very old. It was born without any 

intention from us. Brother Abu Ubaida ... created a military 

base to train the young men to fight against the vicious, 

arrogant, brutal, terrorizing Soviet empire ... So this place was 

called 'The Base' ['Al-Qa'idah'], as in a training base, so this 

name grew and became. We aren't separated from this nation. 

We are the children of a nation, and we are an inseparable part 

of it, and from those public demonstrations which spread from 

the far east, from the Philippines to Indonesia, to Malaysia, to 

India, to Pakistan, reaching Mauritania ... and so we discuss 

the conscience of this nation. 

Bruce Hoffman, however, sees al-Qaeda as a cohesive network 

that is strongly led from the Pakistani tribal areas.  
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Affiliates 

Al-Qaeda has the following direct affiliates:  

• Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP) 

• Al-Qaeda in the Indian Subcontinent (AQIS) 

• Al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb (AQIM) 

• al-Shabaab 

• Jama'at Nasr al-Islam wal Muslimin (JNIM) 

• Al-Qaeda in Bosnia and Herzegovina 

• Al-Qaeda in Caucasus and Russia 

• Al-Qaeda in Gaza 

• Al-Qaeda in Kurdistan 

• Al-Qaeda in Lebanon 

• Al Qaeda in Spain 

• Al-Qaeda in the Malay Archipelago 

• Al-Qaeda in the Sinai Peninsula 

• Guardians of Religion Organization 

The following are presently believed to be indirect affiliates of 

al-Qaeda:  

• Caucasus Emirate (factions) 

• Fatah al-Islam 

• Islamic Jihad Union 

• Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan 

• Jaish-e-Mohammed 

• Jemaah Islamiyah 

• Lashkar-e-Taiba 

• Moroccan Islamic Combatant Group 
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Al-Qaeda's former affiliates include the following:  

• Abu Sayyaf (pledged allegiance to ISIL in 2014) 

• Al-Mourabitoun (joined JNIM in 2017) 

• Al-Qaeda in Iraq (became the Islamic State of Iraq, 

which later seceded from al-Qaeda and became ISIL) 

• Al-Qaeda in the Lands Beyond the Sahel (inactive 

since 2015) 

• Ansar al-Islam (majority merged with ISIL in 2014) 

• Ansar Dine (joined JNIM in 2017) 

• Islamic Jihad of Yemen (became AQAP) 

• Jund al-Aqsa (defunct) 

• Movement for Oneness and Jihad in West Africa 

(merged with Al-Mulathameen to form Al-

Mourabitoun in 2013) 

• Rajah Sulaiman movement (defunct) 

• Al-Nusra Front (became Hayat Tahrir al-Sham and 

split ties in 2017, disputed) 

• Ansar Bait al-Maqdis (pledged alliance to ISIL and 

adopted the name Sinai Province) 

Leadership 

Osama bin Laden (1988 – May 2011) 

Osama bin Laden served as the emir of al-Qaeda from the 

organization's founding in 1988 until his assassination by US 

forces on May 1, 2011. 

Atiyah Abd al-Rahman was alleged to be second in command 

prior to his death on August 22, 2011.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

1009 

 

Bin Laden was advised by a Shura Council, which consists of 

senior al-Qaeda members. The group was estimated to consist 

of 20–30 people.  

After May 2011 

Ayman al-Zawahiri had been al-Qaeda's deputy emir and 

assumed the role of emir following bin Laden's death. Al-

Zawahiri replaced Saif al-Adel, who had served as interim 

commander.  

On June 5, 2012, Pakistani intelligence officials announced 

that al-Rahman's alleged successor as second in command, 

Abu Yahya al-Libi, had been killed in Pakistan.  

Nasir al-Wuhayshi was alleged to have become al-Qaeda's 

overall second in command and general manager in 2013. He 

was concurrently the leader of al-Qaeda in the Arabian 

Peninsula (AQAP) until he was killed by a US airstrike in 

Yemen in June 2015.  

Abu Khayr al-Masri, Wuhayshi's alleged successor as the 

deputy to Ayman al-Zawahiri, was killed by a US airstrike in 

Syria in February 2017.  

Al-Qaeda's network was built from scratch as a conspiratorial 

network which drew upon the leadership of a number of 

regional nodes. The organization divided itself into several 

committees, which include:  

• The Military Committee, which is responsible for 

training operatives, acquiring weapons, and planning 

attacks. 
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• The Money/Business Committee, which funds the 

recruitment and training of operatives through the 

hawala banking system. US-led efforts to eradicate 

the sources of "terrorist financing" were most 

successful in the year immediately following the 

September 11 attacks. Al-Qaeda continues to operate 

through unregulated banks, such as the 1,000 or so 

hawaladars in Pakistan, some of which can handle 

deals of up to US$10 million. The committee also 

procures false passports, pays al-Qaeda members, 

and oversees profit-driven businesses. In the 9/11 

Commission Report, it was estimated that al-Qaeda 

required $30 million per year to conduct its 

operations. 

• The Law Committee reviews Sharia law, and decides 

upon courses of action conform to it. 

• The Islamic Study/Fatwah Committee issues 

religious edicts, such as an edict in 1998 telling 

Muslims to kill Americans. 

• The Media Committee ran the now-defunct 

newspaper Nashrat al Akhbar (English: Newscast) 

and handled public relations. 

• In 2005, al-Qaeda formed As-Sahab, a media 

production house, to supply its video and audio 

materials. 

Command structure 

Most of Al Qaeda's top leaders and operational directors were 

veterans who fought against the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan 

in the 1980s. Osama bin Laden and his deputy, Ayman al-

Zawahiri, were the leaders who were considered the operational 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

1011 

 

commanders of the organization. Nevertheless, Al-Qaeda is not 

operationally managed by Ayman al-Zawahiri. Several 

operational groups exist, which consult with the leadership in 

situations where attacks are in preparation.  

When asked in 2005 about the possibility of al-Qaeda's 

connection to the July 7, 2005 London bombings, Metropolitan 

Police Commissioner Sir Ian Blair said: "Al-Qaeda is not an 

organization. Al-Qaeda is a way of working ... but this has the 

hallmark of that approach ... al-Qaeda clearly has the ability 

to provide training ... to provide expertise ... and I think that 

is what has occurred here." On August 13, 2005, The 

Independent newspaper, reported that the July 7 bombers had 

acted independently of an al-Qaeda mastermind.  

Nasser al-Bahri, who was Osama bin Laden's bodyguard for 

four years in the run-up to 9/11 wrote in his memoir a highly 

detailed description of how the group functioned at that time. 

Al-Bahri described al-Qaeda's formal administrative structure 

and vast arsenal. However, the author Adam Curtis argued 

that the idea of al-Qaeda as a formal organization is primarily 

an American invention. Curtis contended the name "al-Qaeda" 

was first brought to the attention of the public in the 2001 

trial of bin Laden and the four men accused of the 1998 US 

embassy bombings in East Africa. Curtis wrote:  

The reality was that bin Laden and Ayman al-Zawahiri had 

become the focus of a loose association of disillusioned 

Islamist militants who were attracted by the new strategy. But 

there was no organization. These were militants who mostly 

planned their own operations and looked to bin Laden for 

funding and assistance. He was not their commander. There is 
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also no evidence that bin Laden used the term "al-Qaeda" to 

refer to the name of a group until after September 11 attacks, 

when he realized that this was the term the Americans had 

given it. 

During the 2001 trial, the US Department of Justice needed to 

show that bin Laden was the leader of a criminal organization 

in order to charge him in absentia under the Racketeer 

Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act. The name of the 

organization and details of its structure were provided in the 

testimony of Jamal al-Fadl, who said he was a founding 

member of the group and a former employee of bin Laden. 

Questions about the reliability of al-Fadl's testimony have been 

raised by a number of sources because of his history of 

dishonesty, and because he was delivering it as part of a plea 

bargain agreement after being convicted of conspiring to attack 

US military establishments. Sam Schmidt, a defense attorney 

who defended al-Fadl said:  

There were selective portions of al-Fadl's testimony that I 

believe was false, to help support the picture that he helped 

the Americans join together. I think he lied in a number of 

specific testimony about a unified image of what this 

organization was. It made al-Qaeda the new Mafia or the new 

Communists. It made them identifiable as a group and 

therefore made it easier to prosecute any person associated 

with al-Qaeda for any acts or statements made by bin Laden. 

Field operatives 

The number of individuals in the group who have undergone 

proper military training, and are capable of commanding 
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insurgent forces, is largely unknown. Documents captured in 

the raid on bin Laden's compound in 2011 show that the core 

al-Qaeda membership in 2002 was 170. In 2006, it was 

estimated that al-Qaeda had several thousand commanders 

embedded in 40 different countries. As of 2009, it was believed 

that no more than 200–300 members were still active 

commanders.  

According to the 2004 BBC documentary The Power of 

Nightmares, al-Qaeda was so weakly linked together that it was 

hard to say it existed apart from bin Laden and a small clique 

of close associates. The lack of any significant numbers of 

convicted al-Qaeda members, despite a large number of arrests 

on terrorism charges, was cited by the documentary as a 

reason to doubt whether a widespread entity that met the 

description of al-Qaeda existed. Al-Qaeda's commanders, as 

well as its sleeping agents, are hiding in different parts of the 

world to this day. They are mainly hunted by the American and 

Israeli secret services. Al Qaeda's number two leader, Abdullah 

Ahmed Abdullah, was killed by Israeli agents. His pseudonym 

was Abu Muhammad al-Masri, who was killed in November 

2020 in Iran. He was involved in the 1988 assassination 

attempt on the US embassies in Kenya and Tanzania.  

Insurgent forces 

According to author Robert Cassidy, al-Qaeda maintains two 

separate forces which are deployed alongside insurgents in 

Iraq and Pakistan. The first, numbering in the tens of 

thousands, was "organized, trained, and equipped as insurgent 

combat forces" in the Soviet–Afghan war. The force was 

composed primarily of foreign mujahideen from Saudi Arabia 
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and Yemen. Many of these fighters went on to fight in Bosnia 

and Somalia for global j ihad. Another group, which numbered 

10,000 in 2006, live in the West and have received rudimentary 

combat training.  

Other analysts have described al-Qaeda's rank and file as 

being "predominantly Arab" in its first years of operation, but 

that the organization also includes "other peoples" as of 2007. 

It has been estimated that 62 percent of al-Qaeda members 

have a university education. In 2011 and the following year, 

the Americans successfully settled accounts with Osama bin 

Laden, Anwar al-Awlaki, the organization's chief propagandist, 

and Abu Yahya al-Libi's deputy commander. 

The optimistic voices were already saying it was over for al-

Qaeda. Nevertheless, it was around this time that the Arab 

Spring greeted the region, the turmoil of which came great to 

al-Qaeda's regional forces. Seven years later, Ayman al-

Zawahiri became arguably the number one leader in the 

organization, implementing his strategy with systematic 

consistency. 

Tens of thousands loyal to al-Qaeda and related organizations 

were able to challenge local and regional stability and 

ruthlessly attack their enemies in the Middle East, Africa, 

South Asia, Southeast Asia, Europe and Russia alike. In fact, 

from Northwest Africa to South Asia, al-Qaeda had more than 

two dozen “franchise-based” allies. 

The number of al-Qaeda militants was set at 20,000 in Syria 

alone, and they had 4,000 members in Yemen and about 7,000 

in Somalia. The war was not over.  
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Financing 

Al-Qaeda usually does not disburse funds for attacks, and very 

rarely makes wire transfers. In the 1990s, financing came 

partly from the personal wealth of Osama bin Laden. Other 

sources of income included the heroin trade and donations 

from supporters in Kuwait, Saudi Arabia and other Islamic 

Gulf states. A WikiLeaks-released 2009 internal US government 

cable stated that "terrorist funding emanating from Saudi 

Arabia remains a serious concern."  

Among the first pieces of evidence regarding Saudi Arabia's 

support for al-Qaeda was the so-called "Golden Chain", a list of 

early al-Qaeda funders seized during a 2002 raid in Sarajevo 

by Bosnian police. The hand-written list was validated by al-

Qaeda defector Jamal al-Fadl, and included the names of both 

donors and beneficiaries. Osama bin-Laden's name appeared 

seven times among the beneficiaries, while 20 Saudi and Gulf-

based businessmen and politicians were listed among the 

donors. Notable donors included Adel Batterjee, and Wael 

Hamza Julaidan. Batterjee was designated as a terror financier 

by the US Department of the Treasury in 2004, and Julaidan is 

recognized as one of al-Qaeda's founders.  

Documents seized during the 2002 Bosnia raid showed that al-

Qaeda widely exploited charities to channel financial and 

material support to its operatives across the globe. Notably, 

this activity exploited the International Islamic Relief 

Organization (IIRO) and the Muslim World League (MWL). The 

IIRO had ties with al-Qaeda associates worldwide, including al-

Qaeda's deputy Ayman al Zawahiri. Zawahiri's brother worked 

for the IIRO in Albania and had actively recruited on behalf of 
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al-Qaeda. The MWL was openly identified by al-Qaeda's leader 

as one of the three charities al-Qaeda primarily relied upon for 

funding sources.  

Allegations of Qatari support 

Several Qatari citizens have been accused of funding al-Qaeda. 

This includes Abd Al-Rahman al-Nuaimi, a Qatari citizen and a 

human-rights activist who founded the Swiss-based non-

governmental organization (NGO) Alkarama. On December 18, 

2013, the US Treasury designated Nuaimi as a terrorist for his 

activities supporting al-Qaeda. The US Treasury has said 

Nuaimi "has facilitated significant financial support to al-

Qaeda in Iraq, and served as an interlocutor between al-Qaeda 

in Iraq and Qatar-based donors".  

Nuaimi was accused of overseeing a $2 million monthly 

transfer to al-Qaeda in Iraq as part of his role as mediator 

between Iraq-based al-Qaeda senior officers and Qatari 

citizens. Nuaimi allegedly entertained relationships with Abu-

Khalid al-Suri, al-Qaeda's top envoy in Syria, who processed a 

$600,000 transfer to al-Qaeda in 2013. Nuaimi is also known 

to be associated with Abd al-Wahhab Muhammad 'Abd al-

Rahman al-Humayqani, a Yemeni politician and founding 

member of Alkarama, who was listed as a Specially Designated 

Global Terrorist (SDGT) by the US Treasury in 2013. The US 

authorities claimed that Humayqani exploited his role in 

Alkarama to fundraise on behalf of al-Qaeda in the Arabian 

Peninsula (AQAP). 

A prominent figure in AQAP, Nuaimi was also reported to have 

facilitated the flow of funding to AQAP affiliates based in 
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Yemen. Nuaimi was also accused of investing funds in the 

charity directed by Humayqani to ultimately fund AQAP. About 

ten months after being sanctioned by the US Treasury, Nuaimi 

was also restrained from doing business in the UK.  

Another Qatari citizen, Kalifa Mohammed Turki Subayi, was 

sanctioned by the US Treasury on June 5, 2008, for his 

activities as a "Gulf-based al-Qaeda financier". Subayi's name 

was added to the UN Security Council's Sanctions List in 2008 

on charges of providing financial and material support to al-

Qaeda senior leadership. 

Subayi allegedly moved al-Qaeda recruits to South Asia-based 

training camps. He also financially supported Khalid Sheikh 

Mohammed, a Pakistani national and senior al-Qaeda officer 

who is believed to be the mastermind behind the September 11 

attack according to the September 11 Commission report.  

Qataris provided support to al-Qaeda through the country's 

largest NGO, the Qatar Charity. Al-Qaeda defector al-Fadl, who 

was a former member of Qatar Charity, testified in court that 

Abdullah Mohammed Yusef, who served as Qatar Charity's 

director, was affiliated to al-Qaeda and simultaneously to the 

National Islamic Front, a political group that gave al-Qaeda 

leader Osama Bin Laden harbor in Sudan in the early 1990s.  

Legal proceedings from the trial United States vs. Enaam M. 

Arnaout revealed that Qatar Charity was cited by Bin Laden in 

1993 as one of the charities used to channel financial support 

to al-Qaeda operatives overseas. 

The same documents also report Bin Laden's complaint that 

the failed assassination attempt of Egyptian President Hosni 
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Mubarak had compromised the ability of al-Qaeda to exploit 

charities to support its operatives to the extent it was capable 

of before 1995.  

It is alleged that the Qatar Charity gave financial support to 

members of al-Qaeda in Chechnya. This accusation was 

publicly denied by Hamad bin Nasser al-Thani. Qatar Charity 

is among the NGOs allegedly channelling funds to Ansar Dine 

in North Mali, according to French military intelligence reports 

from France's intervention in the country in early 2013.  

Qatar financed al-Qaeda's enterprises through al-Qaeda's 

former affiliate in Syria, Jabhat al-Nusra. The funding was 

primarily channeled through kidnapping for ransom. The 

Consortium Against Terrorist Finance (CATF) reported that the 

Gulf country has funded al-Nusra since 2013. In 2017, Asharq 

Al-Awsat estimated that Qatar had disbursed $25 million in 

support of al-Nusra through kidnapping for ransom. In 

addition, Qatar has launched fundraising campaigns on behalf 

of al-Nusra. Al-Nusra acknowledged a Qatar-sponsored 

campaign "as one of the preferred conduits for donations 

intended for the group".  

Strategy 

In the disagreement over whether Al-Qaeda's objectives are 

religious or political, Mark Sedgwick describes Al-Qaeda's 

strategy as political in the immediate term but with ultimate 

aims that are religious. 

On March 11, 2005, Al-Quds Al-Arabi published extracts from 

Saif al-Adel's document "Al Qaeda's Strategy to the Year 2020". 
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Abdel Bari Atwan summarizes this strategy as comprising five 

stages to rid the Ummah from all forms of oppression:  

• Provoke the United States and the West into invading 

a Muslim country by staging a massive attack or 

string of attacks on US soil that results in massive 

civilian casualties. 

• Incite local resistance to occupying forces. 

• Expand the conflict to neighboring countries and 

engage the US and its allies in a long war of 

attrition. 

• Convert al-Qaeda into an ideology and set of 

operating principles that can be loosely franchised in 

other countries without requiring direct command 

and control, and via these franchises incite attacks 

against the US and countries allied with the US until 

they withdraw from the conflict, as happened with 

the 2004 Madrid train bombings, but which did not 

have the same effect with the July 7, 2005 London 

bombings. 

• The US economy will finally collapse by the year 

2020, under the strain of multiple engagements in 

numerous places. This will lead to a collapse in the 

worldwide economic system, and lead to global 

political instability. This will lead to a global jihad 

led by al-Qaeda, and a Wahhabi Caliphate will then 

be installed across the world. 

Atwan noted that, while the plan is unrealistic, "it is sobering 

to consider that this virtually describes the downfall of the 

Soviet Union."  
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According to Fouad Hussein, a Jordanian journalist and author 

who has spent time in prison with Al-Zarqawi, Al Qaeda's 

strategy consists of seven phases and is similar to the plan 

described in Al Qaeda's Strategy to the year 2020. These 

phases include:  

• "The Awakening." This phase was supposed to last 

from 2001 to 2003. The goal of the phase is to 

provoke the United States to attack a Muslim 

country by executing an attack that kills many 

civilians on US soil. 

• "Opening Eyes." This phase was supposed to last 

from 2003 to 2006. The goal of this phase was to 

recruit young men to the cause and to transform the 

al-Qaeda group into a movement. Iraq was supposed 

to become the center of all operations with financial 

and military support for bases in other states. 

• "Arising and Standing up", was supposed to last from 

2007 to 2010. In this phase, al-Qaeda wanted to 

execute additional attacks and focus their attention 

on Syria. Hussein believed other countries in the 

Arabian Peninsula were also in danger. 

• Al-Qaeda expected a steady growth among their 

ranks and territories due to the declining power of 

the regimes in the Arabian Peninsula. The main 

focus of attack in this phase was supposed to be on 

oil suppliers and cyberterrorism, targeting the US 

economy and military infrastructure. 

• The declaration of an Islamic Caliphate, which was 

projected between 2013 and 2016. In this phase, al-

Qaeda expected the resistance from Israel to be 

heavily reduced. 
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• The declaration of an "Islamic Army" and a "fight 

between believers and non-believers", also called 

"total confrontation". 

• "Definitive Victory", projected to be completed by 

2020. 

According to the seven-phase strategy, the war is projected to 

last less than two years.  

According to Charles Lister of the Middle East Institute and 

Katherine Zimmerman of the American Enterprise Institute, the 

new model of al-Qaeda is to "socialize communities" and build 

a broad territorial base of operations with the support of local 

communities, also gaining income independent of the funding 

of sheiks.  

Name 

The English name of the organization is a simplified 

transliteration of the Arabic noun al-qāʿ idah ( قاعدة  ل ا  ), which 

means "the foundation" or "the base". 

The initial al- is the Arabic definite article "the", hence "the 

base".  

In Arabic, al-Qaeda has four syllables (/alˈqaː.ʕi.da/). However, 

since two of the Arabic consonants in the name are not phones 

found in the English language, the common naturalized 

English pronunciations include /ælˈka ɪdə/, /ælˈkeɪdə/ and 

/ˌælkɑːˈiːdə/. Al-Qaeda's name can also be transliterated as al-

Qaida, al-Qa'ida, or el-Qaida.  
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Bin Laden explained the origin of the term in a videotaped 

interview with Al Jazeera journalist Tayseer Alouni in October 

2001:  

The name 'al-Qaeda' was established a long time ago by mere 

chance. The late Abu Ebeida El-Banashiri established the 

training camps for our mujahedeen against Russia's terrorism. 

We used to call the training camp al-Qaeda. The name stayed. 

It has been argued that two documents seized from the 

Sarajevo office of the Benevolence International Foundation 

prove the name was not simply adopted by the mujahideen 

movement and that a group called al-Qaeda was established in 

August 1988. 

Both of these documents contain minutes of meetings held to 

establish a new military group, and contain the term "al-

Qaeda".  

Former British Foreign Secretary Robin Cook wrote that the 

word al-Qaeda should be translated as "the database", because 

it originally referred to the computer file of the thousands of 

mujahideen militants who were recruited and trained with CIA 

help to defeat the Russians. 

In April 2002, the group assumed the name Qa'idat al-Jihad 

( لجهادقاعدة  ا qāʿ idat al-jihād ), which means "the base of Jihad". 

According to Diaa Rashwan, this was "apparently as a result of 

the merger of the overseas branch of Egypt's al-Jihad, which 

was led by Ayman al-Zawahiri, with the groups Bin Laden 

brought under his control after his return to Afghanistan in 

the mid-1990s."  
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Ideology 

The radical Islamist movement developed during the Islamic 

revival and the rise of the Islamist movement after the Iranian 

Revolution (1978-1979).  

Some have argued that the writings of Islamic author and 

thinker Sayyid Qutb inspired the al-Qaeda organization. In the 

1950s and 1960s, Qutb preached that because of the lack of 

sharia law, the Muslim world was no longer Muslim, and had 

reverted to the pre-Islamic ignorance known as jahiliyyah. To 

restore Islam, Qutb argued that a vanguard of righteous 

Muslims was needed in order to establish "true Islamic states", 

implement sharia, and rid the Muslim world of any non-Muslim 

influences. In Qutb's view, the enemies of Islam included 

"world Jewry", which "plotted conspiracies" and opposed Islam.  

In the words of Mohammed Jamal Khalifa, a close college 

friend of bin Laden:  

Islam is different from any other religion; it's a way of life. We 

[Khalifa and bin Laden] were trying to understand what Islam 

has to say about how we eat, who we marry, how we talk. We 

read Sayyid Qutb. He was the one who most affected our 

generation. 

Qutb also influenced bin Laden's mentor, Ayman al-Zawahiri. 

Zawahiri's uncle and maternal family patriarch, Mafouz Azzam, 

was Qutb's student, protégé, personal lawyer, and an executor 

of his estate. Azzam was one of the last people to see Qutb 

alive before his execution. Zawahiri paid homage to Qutb in his 

work Knights under the Prophet's Banner.  
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Qutb argued that many Muslims were not true Muslims. Some 

Muslims, Qutb argued, were apostates. These alleged apostates 

included leaders of Muslim countries, since they failed to 

enforce sharia law.  

The Afghan jihad against the pro-Soviet government further 

developed the Salafist Jihadist movement which inspired Al-

Qaeda.  

Religious compatibility 

Abdel Bari Atwan wrote that:  

While the leadership's own theological platform is essentially 

Salafi, the organization's umbrella is sufficiently wide to 

encompass various schools of thought and political leanings. 

Al-Qaeda counts among its members and supporters people 

associated with Wahhabism, Shafi'ism, Malikism, and 

Hanafism. 

There are even some Al-Qaeda members whose beliefs and 

practices are directly at odds with Salafism, such as Yunis 

Khalis, one of the leaders of the Afghan mujahedin. He was a 

mystic who visited the tombs of saints and sought their 

blessings – practices inimical to bin Laden's Wahhabi-Salafi 

school of thought. The only exception to this pan-Islamic policy 

is Shi'ism. Al-Qaeda seems implacably opposed to it, as it 

holds Shi'ism to be heresy. In Iraq it has openly declared war 

on the Badr Brigades, who have fully cooperated with the US, 

and now considers even Shi'i civilians to be legitimate targets 

for acts of violence. 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

1025 

 

Attacks on civilians 

Following its 9/11 attack and in response to its condemnation 

by Islamic scholars, Al-Qaeda provided a justification for the 

killing of non-combatants/civilians, entitled, "A Statement 

from Qaidat al-Jihad Regarding the Mandates of the Heroes 

and the Legality of the Operations in New York and 

Washington". According to a couple of critics, Quintan 

Wiktorowicz and John Kaltner, it provides "ample theological 

justification for killing civilians in almost any imaginable 

situation."  

Among these justifications are that America is leading the west 

in waging a War on Islam so that attacks on America are a 

defense of Islam and any treaties and agreements between 

Muslim majority states and Western countries that would be 

violated by attacks are null and void. According to the tract, 

several conditions allow for the killing of civilians including:  

• retaliation for the American war on Islam which al-

Qaeda alleges has targeted "Muslim women, children 

and elderly"; 

• when it is too difficult to distinguish between non-

combatants and combatants when attacking an 

enemy "stronghold" (hist) and/or non-combatants 

remain in enemy territory, killing them is allowed; 

• those who assist the enemy "in deed, word, mind" are 

eligible for killing, and this includes the general 

population in democratic countries because civilians 

can vote in elections that bring enemies of Islam to 

power; 
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• the necessity of killing in the war to protect Islam 

and Muslims; 

• the prophet Muhammad, when asked whether the 

Muslim fighters could use the catapult against the 

village of Taif, replied affirmatively, even though the 

enemy fighters were mixed with a civilian population; 

• if the women, children and other protected groups 

serve as human shields for the enemy; 

• if the enemy has broken a treaty, killing of civilians 

is permitted. 

History 

The Guardian in 2009 described five distinct phases in the 

development of al-Qaeda: its beginnings in the late 1980s, a 

"wilderness" period in 1990–1996, its "heyday" in 1996–2001, a 

network period from 2001 to 2005, and a period of 

fragmentation from 2005 to 2009.  

Jihad in Afghanistan 

The origins of al-Qaeda can be traced to the Soviet War in 

Afghanistan (December 1979 – February 1989). The United 

States viewed the conflict in Afghanistan in terms of the Cold 

War, with Marxists on one side and the native Afghan 

mujahideen on the other. This view led to a CIA program called 

Operation Cyclone, which channeled funds through Pakistan's 

Inter-Services Intelligence agency to the Afghan Mujahideen. 

The US government provided substantial financial support to 

the Afghan Islamic militants. Aid to Gulbuddin Hekmatyar, an 

Afghan mujahideen leader and founder of the Hezb-e Islami, 

amounted to more than $600 million. In addition to American 
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aid, Hekmatyar was the recipient of Saudi aid. In the early 

1990s, after the US had withdrawn support, Hekmatyar 

"worked closely" with bin Laden.  

At the same time, a growing number of Arab mujahideen joined 

the j ihad against the Afghan Marxist regime, which was 

facilitated by international Muslim organizations, particularly 

the Maktab al-Khidamat (MAK). In 1984, MAK was established 

in Peshawar, Pakistan, by bin Laden and Abdullah Yusuf 

Azzam, a Palestinian Islamic scholar and member of the 

Muslim Brotherhood. MAK organized guest houses in 

Peshawar, near the Afghan border, and gathered supplies for 

the construction of paramilitary training camps to prepare 

foreign recruits for the Afghan war front. MAK was funded by 

the Saudi government as well as by individual Muslims 

including Saudi businessmen. Bin Laden also became a major 

financier of the mujahideen, spending his own money and 

using his connections to influence public opinion about the 

war.  

From 1986, MAK began to set up a network of recruiting offices 

in the US, the hub of which was the Al Kifah Refugee Center at 

the Farouq Mosque on Brooklyn's Atlantic Avenue. Among 

notable figures at the Brooklyn center were "double agent" Ali 

Mohamed, whom FBI special agent Jack Cloonan called "bin 

Laden's first trainer", and "Blind Sheikh" Omar Abdel-Rahman, 

a leading recruiter of mujahideen for Afghanistan. Azzam and 

bin Laden began to establish camps in Afghanistan in 1987.  

MAK and foreign mujahideen volunteers, or "Afghan Arabs", did 

not play a major role in the war. While over 250,000 Afghan 

mujahideen fought the Soviets and the communist Afghan 
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government, it is estimated that there were never more than 

two thousand foreign mujahideen on the field at any one time. 

Nonetheless, foreign mujahideen volunteers came from 43 

countries, and the total number who participated in the Afghan 

movement between 1982 and 1992 is reported to have been 

35,000. Bin Laden played a central role in organizing training 

camps for the foreign Muslim volunteers.  

The Soviet Union withdrew from Afghanistan in 1989. 

Mohammad Najibullah's Communist Afghan government lasted 

for three more years, before it was overrun by elements of the 

mujahideen.  

Expanding operations 

Toward the end of the Soviet military mission in Afghanistan, 

some foreign mujahideen wanted to expand their operations to 

include Islamist struggles in other parts of the world, such as 

Palestine and Kashmir. A number of overlapping and 

interrelated organizations were formed, to further those 

aspirations. One of these was the organization that would 

eventually be called al-Qaeda.  

Research suggests that al-Qaeda was formed on August 11, 

1988, when a meeting in Afghanistan between leaders of 

Egyptian Islamic Jihad, Abdullah Azzam, and bin Laden took 

place. An agreement was reached to link bin Laden's money 

with the expertise of the Islamic Jihad organization and take 

up the jihadist cause elsewhere after the Soviets withdrew from 

Afghanistan.  

Notes indicate al-Qaeda was a formal group by August 20, 

1988. A list of requirements for membership itemized the 
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following: listening ability, good manners, obedience, and 

making a pledge (bayat  ) to follow one's superiors. In his 

memoir, bin Laden's former bodyguard, Nasser al-Bahri, gives 

the only publicly available description of the ritual of giving 

bayat when he swore his allegiance to the al-Qaeda chief. 

According to Wright, the group's real name was not used in 

public pronouncements because "its existence was still a 

closely held secret."  

After Azzam was assassinated in 1989 and MAK broke up, 

significant numbers of MAK followers joined bin Laden's new 

organization.  

In November 1989, Ali Mohamed, a former special forces 

sergeant stationed at Fort Bragg, North Carolina, left military 

service and moved to California. He traveled to Afghanistan 

and Pakistan and became "deeply involved with bin Laden's 

plans." In 1991, Ali Mohammed is said to have helped 

orchestrate bin Laden's relocation to Sudan.  

Gulf War and the start of US enmity 

Following the Soviet Union's withdrawal from Afghanistan in 

February 1989, bin Laden returned to Saudi Arabia. The Iraqi 

invasion of Kuwait in August 1990 had put the Kingdom and 

its ruling House of Saud at risk. The world's most valuable oil 

fields were within striking distance of Iraqi forces in Kuwait, 

and Saddam's call to pan-Arab/Islamism could potentially rally 

internal dissent.  

In the face of a seemingly massive Iraqi military presence, 

Saudi Arabia's own forces were outnumbered. Bin Laden 

offered the services of his mujahideen to King Fahd to protect 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

1030 

 

Saudi Arabia from the Iraqi army. The Saudi monarch refused 

bin Laden's offer, opting instead to allow US and allied forces 

to deploy troops into Saudi territory.  

The deployment angered bin Laden, as he believed the presence 

of foreign troops in the "land of the two mosques" (Mecca and 

Medina) profaned sacred soil. After speaking publicly against 

the Saudi government for harboring American troops, he was 

banished and forced to live in exile in Sudan.  

Sudan 

From around 1992 to 1996, al-Qaeda and bin Laden based 

themselves in Sudan at the invitation of Islamist theoretician 

Hassan al-Turabi. The move followed an Islamist coup d'état in 

Sudan, led by Colonel Omar al-Bashir, who professed a 

commitment to reordering Muslim political values. During this 

time, bin Laden assisted the Sudanese government, bought or 

set up various business enterprises, and established training 

camps.  

A key turning point for bin Laden occurred in 1993 when Saudi 

Arabia gave support for the Oslo Accords, which set a path for 

peace between Israel and Palestinians. Due to bin Laden's 

continuous verbal assault on King Fahd of Saudi Arabia, Fahd 

sent an emissary to Sudan on March 5, 1994 demanding bin 

Laden's passport. Bin Laden's Saudi citizenship was also 

revoked. His family was persuaded to cut off his stipend, 

$7 million a year, and his Saudi assets were frozen. His family 

publicly disowned him. There is controversy as to what extent 

bin Laden continued to garner support from members 

afterwards.  
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In 1993, a young schoolgirl was killed in an unsuccessful 

attempt on the life of the Egyptian prime minister, Atef Sedki. 

Egyptian public opinion turned against Islamist bombings, and 

the police arrested 280 of al-Jihad's members and executed 6. 

In June 1995, an attempt to assassinate Egyptian president 

Mubarak led to the expulsion of Egyptian Islamic Jihad (EIJ), 

and in May 1996, of bin Laden from Sudan.  

According to Pakistani-American businessman Mansoor Ijaz, 

the Sudanese government offered the Clinton Administration 

numerous opportunities to arrest bin Laden. Ijaz's claims 

appeared in numerous op-ed pieces, including one in the Los 

Angeles Times and one in The Washington Post co-written with 

former Ambassador to Sudan Timothy M. Carney. Similar 

allegations have been made by Vanity Fair contributing editor 

David Rose, and Richard Miniter, author of Losing bin Laden, 

in a November 2003 interview with World.  

Several sources dispute Ijaz's claim, including the 9/11 

Commission, which concluded in part:  

Sudan's minister of defense, Fatih Erwa, has claimed that 

Sudan offered to hand Bin Ladin over to the US. The 

Commission has found no credible evidence that this was so. 

Ambassador Carney had instructions only to push the 

Sudanese to expel Bin Ladin. Ambassador Carney had no legal 

basis to ask for more from the Sudanese since, at the time, 

there was no indictment out-standing. 

Refuge in Afghanistan 

After the fall of the Afghan communist regime in 1992, 

Afghanistan was effectively ungoverned for four years and 
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plagued by constant infighting between various mujahideen 

groups. This situation allowed the Taliban to organize. The 

Taliban also garnered support from graduates of Islamic 

schools, which are called madrassa. According to Ahmed 

Rashid, five leaders of the Taliban were graduates of Darul 

Uloom Haqqania, a madrassa in the small town of Akora 

Khattak. The town is situated near Peshawar in Pakistan, but 

the school is largely attended by Afghan refugees. This 

institution reflected Salafi beliefs in its teachings, and much of 

its funding came from private donations from wealthy Arabs. 

Four of the Taliban's leaders attended a similarly funded and 

influenced madrassa in Kandahar. Bin Laden's contacts were 

laundering donations to these schools, and Islamic banks were 

used to transfer money to an "array" of charities which served 

as front groups for al-Qaeda.  

Many of the mujahideen who later joined the Taliban fought 

alongside Afghan warlord Mohammad Nabi Mohammadi's 

Harkat i Inqilabi group at the time of the Russian invasion. 

This group also enjoyed the loyalty of most Afghan Arab 

fighters.  

The continuing lawlessness enabled the growing and well-

disciplined Taliban to expand their control over territory in 

Afghanistan, and it came to establish an enclave which it 

called the Islamic Emirate of Afghanistan. In 1994, it captured 

the regional center of Kandahar, and after making rapid 

territorial gains thereafter, the Taliban captured the capital 

city Kabul in September 1996.  

In 1996, Taliban-controlled Afghanistan provided a perfect 

staging ground for al-Qaeda. While not officially working 
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together, Al-Qaeda enjoyed the Taliban's protection and 

supported the regime in such a strong symbiotic relationship 

that many Western observers dubbed the Taliban's Islamic 

Emirate of Afghanistan as, "the world's first terrorist-

sponsored state." However, at this time, only Pakistan, Saudi 

Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates recognized the Taliban 

as the legitimate government of Afghanistan.  

While in Afghanistan, the Taliban government tasked al-Qaeda 

with the training of Brigade 055, an elite element of the 

Taliban's army. The Brigade mostly consisted of foreign 

fighters, veterans from the Soviet Invasion, and adherents to 

the ideology of the mujahideen. In November 2001, as 

Operation Enduring Freedom had toppled the Taliban 

government, many Brigade 055 fighters were captured or 

killed, and those who survived were thought to have escaped 

into Pakistan along with bin Laden.  

By the end of 2008, some sources reported that the Taliban 

had severed any remaining ties with al-Qaeda, however, there 

is reason to doubt this. According to senior US military 

intelligence officials, there were fewer than 100 members of al-

Qaeda remaining in Afghanistan in 2009.  

Al Qaeda chief, Asim Omar was killed in Afghanistan's Musa 

Qala district after a joint US–Afghanistan commando airstrike 

on September 23, Afghan's National Directorate of Security 

(NDS) confirmed in October 2019.  

In a report released May 27, 2020, the United Nations' 

Analytical Support and Sanctions Monitoring Team stated that 

the Taliban-Al Qaeda relations remain strong to this day and 

additionally, Al Qaeda itself has admitted that it operates 
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inside Afghanistan. On July 26, 2020, a United Nations report 

stated that the Al Qaeda group is still active in twelve 

provinces in Afghanistan and its leader al-Zawahiri is still 

based in the country. and that the UN Monitoring Team 

estimated that the total number of Al Qaeda fighters in 

Afghanistan were "between 400 and 600".  

Call for global Salafi jihadism 

In 1994, the Salafi groups waging Salafi jihadism in Bosnia 

entered into decline, and groups such as the Egyptian Islamic 

Jihad began to drift away from the Salafi cause in Europe. Al-

Qaeda stepped in and assumed control of around 80% of non-

state armed cells in Bosnia in late 1995. At the same time, al-

Qaeda ideologues instructed the network's recruiters to look 

for Jihadi international Muslims who believed that extremist-

jihad must be fought on a global level. Al-Qaeda also sought to 

open the "offensive phase" of the global Salafi jihad. Bosnian 

Islamists in 2006 called for "solidarity with Islamic causes 

around the world", supporting the insurgents in Kashmir and 

Iraq as well as the groups fighting for a Palestinian state.  

Fatwas 

In 1996, al-Qaeda announced its jihad to expel foreign troops 

and interests from what they considered Islamic lands. Bin 

Laden issued a fatwa, which amounted to a public declaration 

of war against the US and its allies, and began to refocus al-

Qaeda's resources on large-scale, propagandist strikes.  

On February 23, 1998, bin Laden and Ayman al-Zawahiri, a 

leader of Egyptian Islamic Jihad, along with three other 
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Islamist leaders, co-signed and issued a fatwa calling on 

Muslims to kill Americans and their allies. Under the banner of 

the World Islamic Front for Combat Against the Jews and 

Crusaders, they declared:  

[T]he ruling to kill the Americans and their allies – civilians 

and military – is an individual duty for every Muslim who can 

do it in any country in which it is possible to do it, in order to 

liberate the al-Aqsa Mosque [in Jerusalem] and the holy 

mosque [in Mecca] from their grip, and in order for their 

armies to move out of all the lands of Islam, defeated and 

unable to threaten any Muslim. This is in accordance with the 

words of Almighty Allah, 'and fight the pagans all together as 

they fight you all together [and] fight them until there is no 

more tumult or oppression, and there prevail justice and faith 

in Allah.' 

Neither bin Laden nor al-Zawahiri possessed the traditional 

Islamic scholarly qualifications to issue a fatwa. However, they 

rejected the authority of the contemporary ulema (which they 

saw as the paid servants of jahiliyya rulers), and took it upon 

themselves.  

Iraq 

Al-Qaeda has launched attacks against the Iraqi Shia majority 

in an attempt to incite sectarian violence. Al-Zarqawi 

purportedly declared an all-out war on Shiites while claiming 

responsibility for Shiite mosque bombings. The same month, a 

statement claiming to be from Al-Qaeda in Iraq was rejected as 

a "fake". In a December 2007 video, al-Zawahiri defended the 

Islamic State in Iraq, but distanced himself from the attacks 
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against civilians, which he deemed to be perpetrated by 

"hypocrites and traitors existing among the ranks".  

US and Iraqi officials accused Al-Qaeda in Iraq of trying to 

slide Iraq into a full-scale civil war between Iraq's Shiite 

population and Sunni Arabs. This was done through an 

orchestrated campaign of civilian massacres and a number of 

provocative attacks against high-profile religious targets. With 

attacks including the 2003 Imam Ali Mosque bombing, the 

2004 Day of Ashura and Karbala and Najaf bombings, the 2006 

first al-Askari Mosque bombing in Samarra, the deadly single-

day series of bombings in which at least 215 people were killed 

in Baghdad's Shiite district of Sadr City, and the second al-

Askari bombing in 2007, Al-Qaeda in Iraq provoked Shiite 

militias to unleash a wave of retaliatory attacks, resulting in 

death squad-style killings and further sectarian violence which 

escalated in 2006. In 2008, sectarian bombings blamed on al-

Qaeda in Iraq killed at least 42 people at the Imam Husayn 

Shrine in Karbala in March, and at least 51 people at a bus 

stop in Baghdad in June.  

In February 2014, after a prolonged dispute with al-Qaeda in 

Iraq's successor organisation, the Islamic State of Iraq and the 

Levant (ISIS), al-Qaeda publicly announced it was cutting all 

ties with the group, reportedly for its brutality and "notorious 

intractability".  

Somalia and Yemen 

In Somalia, al-Qaeda agents had been collaborating closely 

with its Somali wing, which was created from the al-Shabaab 

group. In February 2012, al-Shabaab officially joined al-Qaeda, 
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declaring loyalty in a video. Somalian al-Qaeda recruited 

children for suicide-bomber training and recruited young 

people to participate in militant actions against Americans.  

The percentage of attacks in the First World originating from 

the Afghanistan–Pakistan (AfPak) border declined starting in 

2007, as al-Qaeda shifted to Somalia and Yemen. While al-

Qaeda leaders were hiding in the tribal areas along the AfPak 

border, middle-tier leaders heightened activity in Somalia and 

Yemen.  

In January 2009, al-Qaeda's division in Saudi Arabia merged 

with its Yemeni wing to form al-Qaeda in the Arabian 

Peninsula (AQAP). Centered in Yemen, the group takes 

advantage of the country's poor economy, demography and 

domestic security. In August 2009, the group made an 

assassination attempt against a member of the Saudi royal 

family. President Obama asked Ali Abdullah Saleh to ensure 

closer cooperation with the US in the struggle against the 

growing activity of al-Qaeda in Yemen, and promised to send 

additional aid. 

The wars in Iraq and Afghanistan drew US attention from 

Somalia and Yemen. In December 2011, US Secretary of 

Defense Leon Panetta said the US operations against al-Qaeda 

"are now concentrating on key groups in Yemen, Somalia and 

North Africa." Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula claimed 

responsibility for the 2009 bombing attack on Northwest 

Airlines Flight 253 by Umar Farouk Abdulmutallab. The AQAP 

declared the Al-Qaeda Emirate in Yemen on March 31, 2011, 

after capturing the most of the Abyan Governorate.  
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As the Saudi-led military intervention in Yemen escalated in 

July 2015, fifty civilians had been killed and twenty million 

needed aid. In February 2016, al-Qaeda forces and Saudi 

Arabian-led coalition forces were both seen fighting Houthi 

rebels in the same battle. In August 2018, Al Jazeera reported 

that "A military coalition battling Houthi rebels secured secret 

deals with al-Qaeda in Yemen and recruited hundreds of the 

group's fighters. ... Key figures in the deal-making said the 

United States was aware of the arrangements and held off on 

drone attacks against the armed group, which was created by 

Osama bin Laden in 1988."  

United States operations 

• In December 1998, the Director of the CIA 

Counterterrorism Center reported to President Bill 

Clinton that al-Qaeda was preparing to launch 

attacks in the United States, and the group was 

training personnel to hijack aircraft. On September 

11, 2001, al-Qaeda attacked the United States, 

hijacking four airliners within the country and 

deliberately crashing two into the twin towers of the 

World Trade Center in New York City. The third 

plane crashed into the western side of the Pentagon 

in Arlington County, Virginia. The fourth plane was 

crashed into a field in Shanksville, Pennsylvania. In 

total, the attackers killed 2,977 victims and injured 

more than 6,000 others. 

US officials noted that Anwar al-Awlaki had considerable reach 

within the US. A former FBI agent identified Awlaki as a known 

"senior recruiter for al-Qaeda", and a spiritual motivator. 
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Awlaki's sermons in the US were attended by three of the 9/11 

hijackers, and accused Fort Hood shooter Nidal Hasan. US 

intelligence intercepted emails from Hasan to Awlaki between 

December 2008 and early 2009. On his website, Awlaki has 

praised Hasan's actions in the Fort Hood shooting.  

An unnamed official claimed there was good reason to believe 

Awlaki "has been involved in very serious terrorist activities 

since leaving the US [in 2002], including plotting attacks 

against America and our allies." US President Barack Obama 

approved the targeted killing of al-Awlaki by April 2010, 

making al-Awlaki the first US citizen ever placed on the CIA 

target list. 

That required the consent of the US National Security Council, 

and officials argued that the attack was appropriate because 

the individual posed an imminent danger to national security. 

In May 2010, Faisal Shahzad, who pleaded guilty to the 2010 

Times Square car bombing attempt, told interrogators he was 

"inspired by" al-Awlaki, and sources said Shahzad had made 

contact with al-Awlaki over the Internet. 

Representative Jane Harman called him "terrorist number one", 

and Investor's Business Daily called him "the world's most 

dangerous man". In July 2010, the US Treasury Department 

added him to its list of Specially Designated Global Terrorists, 

and the UN added him to its list of individuals associated with 

al-Qaeda. In August 2010, al-Awlaki's father initiated a lawsuit 

against the US government with the American Civil Liberties 

Union, challenging its order to kill al-Awlaki. In October 2010, 

US and UK officials linked al-Awlaki to the 2010 cargo plane 

bomb plot. In September 2011, al-Awlaki was killed in a 
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targeted killing drone attack in Yemen. On March 16, 2012, it 

was reported that Osama bin Laden plotted to kill US President 

Barack Obama.  

Death of Osama bin Laden 

On May 1, 2011, US President Barack Obama announced that 

Osama bin Laden had been killed by "a small team of 

Americans" acting under direct orders, in a covert operation in 

Abbottabad, Pakistan. The action took place 50 km (31 mi) 

north of Islamabad. According to US officials, a team of 20–25 

US Navy SEALs under the command of the Joint Special 

Operations Command stormed bin Laden's compound with two 

helicopters. Bin Laden and those with him were killed during a 

firefight in which US forces experienced no casualties. 

According to one US official the attack was carried out without 

the knowledge or consent of the Pakistani authorities. In 

Pakistan some people were reported to be shocked at the 

unauthorized incursion by US armed forces. 

The site is a few miles from the Pakistan Military Academy in 

Kakul. In his broadcast announcement President Obama said 

that US forces "took care to avoid civilian casualties". Details 

soon emerged that three men and a woman were killed along 

with bin Laden, the woman being killed when she was "used as 

a shield by a male combatant". DNA from bin Laden's body, 

compared with DNA samples on record from his dead sister, 

confirmed bin Laden's identity. The body was recovered by the 

US military and was in its custody until, according to one US 

official, his body was buried at sea according to Islamic 

traditions. One US official said that "finding a country willing 

to accept the remains of the world's most wanted terrorist 
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would have been difficult." US State Department issued a 

"Worldwide caution" for Americans following bin Laden's death 

and US diplomatic facilities everywhere were placed on high 

alert, a senior US official said. Crowds gathered outside the 

White House and in New York City's Times Square to celebrate 

bin Laden's death.  

Syria 

In 2003, President Bashar al-Assad revealed in an interview 

with a Kuwaiti newspaper that he doubted al-Qaeda even 

existed. He was quoted as saying, "Is there really an entity 

called al-Qaeda? Was it in Afghanistan? Does it exist now?" He 

went on further to remark about bin Laden, commenting "[he] 

cannot talk on the phone or use the Internet, but he can direct 

communications to the four corners of the world? This is 

illogical."  

Following the mass protests that took place in 2011, which 

demanded the resignation of al-Assad, al-Qaeda-affiliated 

groups and Sunni sympathizers soon began to constitute an 

effective fighting force against al-Assad. Before the Syrian Civil 

War, al-Qaeda's presence in Syria was negligible, but its 

growth thereafter was rapid. Groups such as the al-Nusra 

Front and the Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant have 

recruited many foreign Mujahideen to train and fight in what 

has gradually become a highly sectarian war. Ideologically, the 

Syrian Civil War has served the interests of al-Qaeda as it pits 

a mainly Sunni opposition against a secular government. Al-

Qaeda and other fundamentalist Sunni militant groups have 

invested heavily in the civil conflict, at times actively backing 

and supporting the mainstream Syrian Opposition.  
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On February 2, 2014, al-Qaeda distanced itself from ISIS and 

its actions in Syria; however, during 2014–15, ISIS and the al-

Qaeda-linked al-Nusra Front were still able to occasionally 

cooperate in their fight against the Syrian government. Al-

Nusra (backed by Saudi Arabia and Turkey as part of the Army 

of Conquest during 2015–2017) launched many attacks and 

bombings, mostly against targets affiliated with or supportive 

of the Syrian government. From October 2015, Russian air 

strikes targeted positions held by al-Nusra Front, as well as 

other Islamist and non-Islamist rebels, while the US also 

targeted al-Nusra with airstrikes. In early 2016, a leading ISIL 

ideologue described al-Qaeda as the "Jews of jihad".  

India 

In September 2014 al-Zawahiri announced al-Qaeda was 

establishing a front in India to "wage jihad against its enemies, 

to liberate its land, to restore its sovereignty, and to revive its 

Caliphate." Al-Zawahiri nominated India as a beachhead for 

regional jihad taking in neighboring countries such as 

Myanmar and Bangladesh. The motivation for the video was 

questioned, as it appeared the militant group was struggling to 

remain relevant in light of the emerging prominence of ISIS. 

The new wing was to be known as "Qaedat al-Jihad fi 'shibhi al-

qarrat al-Hindiya" or al-Qaida in the Indian Subcontinent 

(AQIS). Leaders of several Indian Muslim organizations rejected 

al-Zawahiri's pronouncement, saying they could see no good 

coming from it, and viewed it as a threat to Muslim youth in 

the country.  

In 2014 Zee News reported that Bruce Riedel, a former CIA 

analyst and National Security Council official for South Asia, 
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had accused the Pakistani military intelligence and Inter-

Services Intelligence (ISI) of organising and assisting Al-Qaeda 

to organise in India, that Pakistan ought to be warned that it 

will be placed on the list of State Sponsors of Terrorism, and 

that "Zawahiri made the tape in his hideout in Pakistan, no 

doubt, and many Indians suspect the ISI is helping to protect 

him."  

Attacks 

Al-Qaeda has carried out a total of six major attacks, four of 

them in its jihad against America. In each case the leadership 

planned the attack years in advance, arranging for the 

shipment of weapons and explosives and using its businesses 

to provide operatives with safehouses and false identities.  

1992 

On December 29, 1992, al-Qaeda launched its first attack, the 

1992 Yemen hotel bombings. Two bombs were detonated in 

Aden, Yemen. The first target was the Movenpick Hotel and the 

second was the parking lot of the Goldmohur Hotel.  

The bombings were an attempt to eliminate American soldiers 

on their way to Somalia to take part in the international 

famine relief effort, Operation Restore Hope. Internally, al-

Qaeda considered the bombing a victory that frightened the 

Americans away, but in the US, the attack was barely noticed. 

No American soldiers were killed because no soldiers were 

staying in the hotel which was bombed. However, an Australian 

tourist and a Yemeni hotel worker were killed in the bombing. 

Seven others, mostly Yemenis, were severely injured. Two 
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fatwas are said to have been appointed by al-Qaeda's members, 

Mamdouh Mahmud Salim, to justify the killings according to 

Islamic law. Salim referred to a famous fatwa appointed by Ibn 

Taymiyyah, a 13th-century scholar much admired by 

Wahhabis, which sanctioned resistance by any means during 

the Mongol invasions.  

Late 1990s 

In 1996, bin Laden personally engineered a plot to assassinate 

United States President Bill Clinton while the president was in 

Manila for the Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation. However, 

intelligence agents intercepted a message before the motorcade 

was to leave, and alerted the US Secret Service. Agents later 

discovered a bomb planted under a bridge.  

On August 7, 1998, al-Qaeda bombed the US embassies in East 

Africa, killing 224 people, including 12 Americans. In 

retaliation, a barrage of cruise missiles launched by the US 

military devastated an al-Qaeda base in Khost, Afghanistan. 

The network's capacity was unharmed. In late 1999 and 2000, 

Al-Qaeda planned attacks to coincide with the millennium, 

masterminded by Abu Zubaydah and involving Abu Qatada, 

which would include the bombing of Christian holy sites in 

Jordan, the bombing of Los Angeles International Airport by 

Ahmed Ressam, and the bombing of the USS The 

Sullivans (DDG-68).  

On October 12, 2000, al-Qaeda militants in Yemen bombed the 

missile destroyer USS Cole in a suicide attack, killing 17 US 

servicemen and damaging the vessel while it lay offshore. 
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Inspired by the success of such a brazen attack, al-Qaeda's 

command core began to prepare for an attack on the US itself.  

September 11 attacks 

The September 11 attacks on America by al-Qaeda killed 2,977 

people – 2,507 civilians, 343 firefighters, 72 law enforcement 

officers, and 55 military personnel. Two commercial airliners 

were deliberately flown into the twin towers of the World Trade 

Center, a third into the Pentagon, and a fourth, originally 

intended to target either the United States Capitol or the White 

House, crashed in a field in Stonycreek Township near 

Shanksville, Pennsylvania. It was also the deadliest foreign 

attack on American soil since the Japanese attack on Pearl 

Harbor on December 7, 1941.  

The attacks were conducted by al-Qaeda, acting in accord with 

the 1998 fatwa issued against the US and its allies by persons 

under the command of bin Laden, al-Zawahiri, and others. 

Evidence points to suicide squads led by al-Qaeda military 

commander Mohamed Atta as the culprits of the attacks, with 

bin Laden, Ayman al-Zawahiri, Khalid Sheikh Mohammed, and 

Hambali as the key planners and part of the political and 

military command.  

Messages issued by bin Laden after September 11, 2001 

praised the attacks, and explained their motivation while 

denying any involvement. Bin Laden legitimized the attacks by 

identifying grievances felt by both mainstream and Islamist 

Muslims, such as the general perception that the US was 

actively oppressing Muslims.  
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Bin Laden asserted that America was massacring Muslims in 

"Palestine, Chechnya, Kashmir and Iraq" and Muslims should 

retain the "right to attack in reprisal". He also claimed the 

9/11 attacks were not targeted at people, but "America's icons 

of military and economic power", despite the fact he planned to 

attack in the morning when most of the people in the intended 

targets were present and thus generating the maximum 

number of human casualties.  

Evidence has since come to light that the original targets for 

the attack may have been nuclear power stations on the US 

East Coast. The targets were later altered by al-Qaeda, as it 

was feared that such an attack "might get out of hand".  

War on Terror 

In the immediate aftermath of the 9/11 attacks, the US 

government responded, and began to prepare its armed forces 

to overthrow the Taliban, which it believed was harboring al-

Qaeda. The US offered Taliban leader Mullah Omar a chance to 

surrender bin Laden and his top associates. 

The first forces to be inserted into Afghanistan were 

paramilitary officers from the CIA's elite Special Activities 

Division (SAD).  

The Taliban offered to turn over bin Laden to a neutral country 

for trial if the US would provide evidence of bin Laden's 

complicity in the attacks. US President George W. Bush 

responded by saying: "We know he's guilty. Turn him over", 

and British Prime Minister Tony Blair warned the Taliban 

regime: "Surrender bin Laden, or surrender power."  
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Soon thereafter the US and its allies invaded Afghanistan, and 

together with the Afghan Northern Alliance removed the 

Taliban government as part of the war in Afghanistan. As a 

result of the US special forces and air support for the Northern 

Alliance ground forces, a number of Taliban and al-Qaeda 

training camps were destroyed, and much of the operating 

structure of al-Qaeda is believed to have been disrupted. After 

being driven from their key positions in the Tora Bora area of 

Afghanistan, many al-Qaeda fighters tried to regroup in the 

rugged Gardez region of the nation.  

By early 2002, al-Qaeda had been dealt a serious blow to its 

operational capacity, and the Afghan invasion appeared to be a 

success. Nevertheless, a significant Taliban insurgency 

remained in Afghanistan.  

Debate continued regarding the nature of al-Qaeda's role in the 

9/11 attacks. The US State Department released a videotape 

showing bin Laden speaking with a small group of associates 

somewhere in Afghanistan shortly before the Taliban was 

removed from power. Although its authenticity has been 

questioned by a couple of people, the tape definitively 

implicates bin Laden and al-Qaeda in the September 11 

attacks. The tape was aired on many television channels, with 

an accompanying English translation provided by the US 

Defense Department.  

In September 2004, the 9/11 Commission officially concluded 

that the attacks were conceived and implemented by al-Qaeda 

operatives. In October 2004, bin Laden appeared to claim 

responsibility for the attacks in a videotape released through 

Al Jazeera, saying he was inspired by Israeli attacks on high-
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rises in the 1982 invasion of Lebanon: "As I looked at those 

demolished towers in Lebanon, it entered my mind that we 

should punish the oppressor in kind and that we should 

destroy towers in America in order that they taste some of 

what we tasted and so that they be deterred from killing our 

women and children."  

By the end of 2004, the US government proclaimed that two-

thirds of the most senior al-Qaeda figures from 2001 had been 

captured and interrogated by the CIA: Abu Zubaydah, Ramzi 

bin al-Shibh and Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri in 2002; Khalid 

Sheikh Mohammed in 2003; and Saif al Islam el Masry in 2004. 

Mohammed Atef and several others were killed. The West was 

criticized for not being able to handle Al-Qaida despite a 

decade of the war.  

Activities 

Africa 

Al-Qaeda involvement in Africa has included a number of 

bombing attacks in North Africa, while supporting parties in 

civil wars in Eritrea and Somalia. From 1991 to 1996, bin 

Laden and other al-Qaeda leaders were based in Sudan.  

Islamist rebels in the Sahara calling themselves al-Qaeda in 

the Islamic Maghreb have stepped up their violence in recent 

years. French officials say the rebels have no real links to the 

al-Qaeda leadership, but this has been disputed. It seems 

likely that bin Laden approved the group's name in late 2006, 

and the rebels "took on the al Qaeda franchise label", almost a 

year before the violence began to escalate.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

1049 

 

In Mali, the Ansar Dine faction was also reported as an ally of 

al-Qaeda in 2013. The Ansar al Dine faction aligned themselves 

with the AQIM.  

In 2011, Al-Qaeda's North African wing condemned Libyan 

leader Muammar Gaddafi and declared support for the Anti-

Gaddafi rebels.  

Following the Libyan Civil War, the removal of Gaddafi and the 

ensuing period of post-civil war violence in Libya, various 

Islamist militant groups affiliated with al-Qaeda were able to 

expand their operations in the region. The 2012 Benghazi 

attack, which resulted in the death of US Ambassador J. 

Christopher Stevens and three other Americans, is suspected 

of having been carried out by various Jihadist networks, such 

as Al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb, Ansar al-Sharia and 

several other Al-Qaeda affiliated groups. The capture of Nazih 

Abdul-Hamed al-Ruqai, a senior al-Qaeda operative wanted by 

the United States for his involvement in the 1998 United States 

embassy bombings, on October 5, 2013, by US Navy Seals, FBI 

and CIA agents illustrates the importance the US and other 

Western allies have placed on North Africa.  

Europe 

Prior to the September 11 attacks, al-Qaeda was present in 

Bosnia and Herzegovina, and its members were mostly veterans 

of the El Mudžahid detachment of the Bosnian Muslim Army of 

the Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Three al-Qaeda 

operatives carried out the Mostar car bombing in 1997. The 

operatives were closely linked to and financed by the Saudi 
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High Commission for Relief of Bosnia and Herzegovina founded 

by then-prince King Salman of Saudi Arabia.  

Before the 9/11 attacks and the US invasion of Afghanistan, 

westerners who had been recruits at al-Qaeda training camps 

were sought after by al-Qaeda's military wing. Language skills 

and knowledge of Western culture were generally found among 

recruits from Europe, such was the case with Mohamed Atta, 

an Egyptian national studying in Germany at the time of his 

training, and other members of the Hamburg Cell. Osama bin 

Laden and Mohammed Atef would later designate Atta as the 

ringleader of the 9/11 hijackers. Following the attacks, 

Western intelligence agencies determined that al-Qaeda cells 

operating in Europe had aided the hijackers with financing and 

communications with the central leadership based in 

Afghanistan.  

In 2003, Islamists carried out a series of bombings in Istanbul 

killing fifty-seven people and injuring seven hundred. Seventy-

four people were charged by the Turkish authorities. Some had 

previously met bin Laden, and though they specifically 

declined to pledge allegiance to al-Qaeda they asked for its 

blessing and help.  

In 2009, three Londoners, Tanvir Hussain, Assad Sarwar and 

Ahmed Abdullah Ali, were convicted of conspiring to detonate 

bombs disguised as soft drinks on seven airplanes bound for 

Canada and the US The MI5 investigation regarding the plot 

involved more than a year of surveillance work conducted by 

over two hundred officers. British and US officials said the 

plot – unlike many similar homegrown European Islamic 

militant plots – was directly linked to al-Qaeda and guided by 
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senior al-Qaeda members in Pakistan. In 2012, Russian 

Intelligence indicated that al-Qaeda had given a call for "forest 

jihad" and has been starting massive forest fires as part of a 

strategy of "thousand cuts".  

Arab world 

Following Yemeni unification in 1990, Wahhabi networks began 

moving missionaries into the country. Although it is unlikely 

bin Laden or Saudi al-Qaeda were directly involved, the 

personal connections they made would be established over the 

next decade and used in the USS Cole bombing. Concerns grew 

over Al Qaeda's group in Yemen.  

In Iraq, al-Qaeda forces loosely associated with the leadership 

were embedded in the Jama'at al-Tawhid wal-Jihad group 

commanded by Abu Musab al-Zarqawi. Specializing in suicide 

operations, they have been a "key driver" of the Sunni 

insurgency. Although they played a small part in the overall 

insurgency, between 30% and 42% of all suicide bombings 

which took place in the early years were claimed by Zarqawi's 

group. Reports have indicated that oversights such as the 

failure to control access to the Qa'qaa munitions factory in 

Yusufiyah have allowed large quantities of munitions to fall 

into the hands of al-Qaida. In November 2010, the militant 

group Islamic State of Iraq, which is linked to al-Qaeda in Iraq, 

threatened to "exterminate all Iraqi Christians".  

Al-Qaeda did not begin training Palestinians until the late 

1990s. Large groups such as Hamas and Palestinian Islamic 

Jihad have rejected an alliance with al-Qaeda, fearing that al-

Qaeda will co-opt their cells. This may have changed recently. 
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The Israeli security and intelligence services believe al-Qaeda 

has managed to infiltrate operatives from the Occupied 

Territories into Israel, and is waiting for an opportunity to 

attack.  

As of 2015, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and Turkey are openly 

supporting the Army of Conquest, an umbrella rebel group 

fighting in the Syrian Civil War against the Syrian government 

that reportedly includes an al-Qaeda linked al-Nusra Front and 

another Salafi coalition known as Ahrar al-Sham.  

Kashmir 

Bin Laden and Ayman al-Zawahiri consider India to be a part 

of an alleged Crusader-Zionist-Hindu conspiracy against the 

Islamic world. According to a 2005 report by the Congressional 

Research Service, bin Laden was involved in training militants 

for Jihad in Kashmir while living in Sudan in the early 1990s. 

By 2001, Kashmiri militant group Harkat-ul-Mujahideen had 

become a part of the al-Qaeda coalition. According to the 

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), al-

Qaeda was thought to have established bases in Pakistan 

administered Kashmir (in Azad Kashmir, and to some extent in 

Gilgit–Baltistan) during the 1999 Kargil War and continued to 

operate there with tacit approval of Pakistan's Intelligence 

services.  

Many of the militants active in Kashmir were trained in the 

same madrasahs as Taliban and al-Qaeda. Fazlur Rehman 

Khalil of Kashmiri militant group Harkat-ul-Mujahideen was a 

signatory of al-Qaeda's 1998 declaration of Jihad against 

America and its allies. In a 'Letter to American People' (2002), 
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bin Laden wrote that one of the reasons he was fighting 

America was because of its support to India on the Kashmir 

issue. In November 2001, Kathmandu airport went on high 

alert after threats that bin Laden planned to hijack a plane 

and crash it into a target in New Delhi. 

In 2002, US Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld, on a trip to 

Delhi, suggested that al-Qaeda was active in Kashmir though 

he did not have any evidence. Rumsfeld proposed hi-tech 

ground sensors along the Line of Control to prevent militants 

from infiltrating into Indian-administered Kashmir. An 

investigation in 2002 found evidence that al-Qaeda and its 

affiliates were prospering in Pakistan-administered Kashmir 

with tacit approval of Pakistan's Inter-Services Intelligence. In 

2002, a special team of Special Air Service and Delta Force was 

sent into Indian-Administered Kashmir to hunt for bin Laden 

after receiving reports that he was being sheltered by Kashmiri 

militant group Harkat-ul-Mujahideen, which had been 

responsible for kidnapping western tourists in Kashmir in 

1995. Britain's highest-ranking al-Qaeda operative Rangzieb 

Ahmed had previously fought in Kashmir with the group 

Harkat-ul-Mujahideen and spent time in Indian prison after 

being captured in Kashmir.  

US officials believe al-Qaeda was helping organize attacks in 

Kashmir in order to provoke conflict between India and 

Pakistan. Their strategy was to force Pakistan to move its 

troops to the border with India, thereby relieving pressure on 

al-Qaeda elements hiding in northwestern Pakistan. In 2006 

al-Qaeda claimed they had established a wing in Kashmir. 

However Indian Army General H. S. Panag argued that the 

army had ruled out the presence of al-Qaeda in Indian-
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administered Jammu and Kashmir. Panag also said al-Qaeda 

had strong ties with Kashmiri militant groups Lashkar-e-Taiba 

and Jaish-e-Mohammed based in Pakistan. It has been noted 

that Waziristan has become a battlefield for Kashmiri militants 

fighting NATO in support of al-Qaeda and Taliban. Dhiren 

Barot, who wrote the Army of Madinah in Kashmir and was an 

al-Qaeda operative convicted for involvement in the 2004 

financial buildings plot, had received training in weapons and 

explosives at a militant training camp in Kashmir.  

Maulana Masood Azhar, the founder of Kashmiri group Jaish-e-

Mohammed, is believed to have met bin Laden several times 

and received funding from him. In 2002, Jaish-e-Mohammed 

organized the kidnapping and murder of Daniel Pearl in an 

operation run in conjunction with al-Qaeda and funded by bin 

Laden. According to American counter-terrorism expert Bruce 

Riedel, al-Qaeda and Taliban were closely involved in the 1999 

hijacking of Indian Airlines Flight 814 to Kandahar which led 

to the release of Maulana Masood Azhar and Ahmed Omar 

Saeed Sheikh from an Indian prison. 

This hijacking, Riedel said, was rightly described by then 

Indian Foreign Minister Jaswant Singh as a 'dress rehearsal' 

for September 11 attacks. Bin Laden personally welcomed 

Azhar and threw a lavish party in his honor after his release. 

Ahmed Omar Saeed Sheikh, who had been in prison for his role 

in the 1994 kidnappings of Western tourists in India, went on 

to murder Daniel Pearl and was sentenced to death in 

Pakistan. Al-Qaeda operative Rashid Rauf, who was one of the 

accused in 2006 transatlantic aircraft plot, was related to 

Maulana Masood Azhar by marriage.  
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Lashkar-e-Taiba, a Kashmiri militant group which is thought 

to be behind 2008 Mumbai attacks, is also known to have 

strong ties to senior al-Qaeda leaders living in Pakistan. In late 

2002, top al-Qaeda operative Abu Zubaydah was arrested while 

being sheltered by Lashkar-e-Taiba in a safe house in 

Faisalabad. The FBI believes al-Qaeda and Lashkar have been 

'intertwined' for a long time while the CIA has said that al-

Qaeda funds Lashkar-e-Taiba. Jean-Louis Bruguière told 

Reuters in 2009 that "Lashkar-e-Taiba is no longer a Pakistani 

movement with only a Kashmir political or military agenda. 

Lashkar-e-Taiba is a member of al-Qaeda."  

In a video released in 2008, American-born senior al-Qaeda 

operative Adam Yahiye Gadahn said that "victory in Kashmir 

has been delayed for years; it is the liberation of the jihad 

there from this interference which, Allah willing, will be the 

first step towards victory over the Hindu occupiers of that 

Islam land."  

In September 2009, a US drone strike reportedly killed Ilyas 

Kashmiri who was the chief of Harkat-ul-Jihad al-Islami, a 

Kashmiri militant group associated with al-Qaeda. Kashmiri 

was described by Bruce Riedel as a 'prominent' al-Qaeda 

member while others have described him as head of military 

operations for al-Qaeda. Kashmiri was also charged by the US 

in a plot against Jyllands-Posten, the Danish newspaper which 

was at the center of Jyllands-Posten Muhammad cartoons 

controversy. US officials also believe that Kashmiri was 

involved in the Camp Chapman attack against the CIA. In 

January 2010, Indian authorities notified Britain of an al-

Qaeda plot to hijack an Indian airlines or Air India plane and 

crash it into a British city. This information was uncovered 
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from interrogation of Amjad Khwaja, an operative of Harkat-ul-

Jihad al-Islami, who had been arrested in India.  

In January 2010, US Defense secretary Robert Gates, while on 

a visit to Pakistan, said that al-Qaeda was seeking to 

destabilize the region and planning to provoke a nuclear war 

between India and Pakistan.  

Internet 

Al-Qaeda and its successors have migrated online to escape 

detection in an atmosphere of increased international 

vigilance. The group's use of the Internet has grown more 

sophisticated, with online activities that include financing, 

recruitment, networking, mobilization, publicity, and 

information dissemination, gathering and sharing.  

Abu Ayyub al-Masri's al-Qaeda movement in Iraq regularly 

releases short videos glorifying the activity of jihadist suicide 

bombers. In addition, both before and after the death of Abu 

Musab al-Zarqawi (the former leader of al-Qaeda in Iraq), the 

umbrella organization to which al-Qaeda in Iraq belongs, the 

Mujahideen Shura Council, has a regular presence on the Web.  

The range of multimedia content includes guerrilla training 

clips, stills of victims about to be murdered, testimonials of 

suicide bombers, and videos that show participation in jihad 

through stylized portraits of mosques and musical scores. A 

website associated with al-Qaeda posted a video of captured 

American entrepreneur Nick Berg being decapitated in Iraq. 

Other decapitation videos and pictures, including those of Paul 

Johnson, Kim Sun-il, and Daniel Pearl, were first posted on 

jihadist websites.  
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In December 2004 an audio message claiming to be from bin 

Laden was posted directly to a website, rather than sending a 

copy to al Jazeera as he had done in the past. Al-Qaeda turned 

to the Internet for release of its videos in order to be certain 

they would be available unedited, rather than risk the 

possibility of al Jazeera editing out anything critical of the 

Saudi royal family.  

Alneda.com and Jehad.net were perhaps the most significant 

al-Qaeda websites. Alneda was initially taken down by 

American Jon Messner, but the operators resisted by shifting 

the site to various servers and strategically shifting content.  

The US government charged a British information technology 

specialist, Babar Ahmad, with terrorist offences related to his 

operating a network of English-language al-Qaeda websites, 

such as Azzam.com. He was convicted and sentenced to 12-

and-a-half years in prison.  

Online communications 

In 2007, al-Qaeda released Mujahedeen Secrets, encryption 

software used for online and cellular communications. A later 

version, Mujahideen Secrets 2, was released in 2008.  

Aviation network 

Al-Qaeda is believed to be operating a clandestine aviation 

network including "several Boeing 727 aircraft", turboprops 

and executive jets, according to a 2010 Reuters story. Based 

on a US Department of Homeland Security report, the story 

said al-Qaeda is possibly using aircraft to transport drugs and 
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weapons from South America to various unstable countries in 

West Africa. A Boeing 727 can carry up to ten tons of cargo. 

The drugs eventually are smuggled to Europe for distribution 

and sale, and the weapons are used in conflicts in Africa and 

possibly elsewhere. Gunmen with links to al-Qaeda have been 

increasingly kidnapping Europeans for ransom. The profits 

from the drug and weapon sales, and kidnappings can, in turn, 

fund more militant activities.  

Alleged CIA involvement 

Experts debate the notion al-Qaeda attacks were an indirect 

result from the American CIA's Operation Cyclone program to 

help the Afghan mujahideen. Robin Cook, British Foreign 

Secretary from 1997 to 2001, has written that al-Qaeda and 

bin Laden were "a product of a monumental miscalculation by 

western security agencies", and that "Al-Qaida, literally 'the 

database', was originally the computer file of the thousands of 

mujahideen who were recruited and trained with help from the 

CIA to defeat the Russians."  

Munir Akram, Permanent Representative of Pakistan to the 

United Nations from 2002 to 2008, wrote in a letter published 

in The New York Times on January 19, 2008:  

The strategy to support the Afghans against Soviet military 

intervention was evolved by several intelligence agencies, 

including the C.I.A. and Inter-Services Intelligence, or ISI. 

After the Soviet withdrawal, the Western powers walked away 

from the region, leaving behind 40,000 militants imported from 

several countries to wage the anti-Soviet jihad. Pakistan was 

left to face the blowback of extremism, drugs and guns. 
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A variety of sources, including CNN journalist Peter Bergen, 

Pakistani ISI Brigadier Mohammad Yousaf, and CIA operatives 

involved in the Afghan program, such as Vincent Cannistraro, 

deny that the CIA or other American officials had contact with 

the foreign mujahideen or bin Laden, let alone armed, trained, 

coached or indoctrinated them.  

Bergen and others argue that there was no need to recruit 

foreigners unfamiliar with the local language, customs or lay of 

the land since there were a quarter of a million local Afghans 

willing to fight. Bergen further argues that foreign mujahideen 

had no need for American funds since they received several 

million dollars per year from internal sources. Lastly, he 

argues that Americans could not have trained the mujahideen 

because Pakistani officials would not allow more than a 

handful of them to operate in Pakistan and none in 

Afghanistan, and the Afghan Arabs were almost invariably 

militant Islamists reflexively hostile to Westerners whether or 

not the Westerners were helping the Muslim Afghans.  

According to Bergen, who conducted the first television 

interview with bin Laden in 1997: the idea that "the CIA 

funded bin Laden or trained bin Laden ... [is] a folk myth. 

There's no evidence of this ... Bin Laden had his own money, 

he was anti-American and he was operating secretly and 

independently ... The real story here is the CIA didn't really 

have a clue about who this guy was until 1996 when they set 

up a unit to really start tracking him."  

Jason Burke also wrote: 

Some of the $500 million the CIA poured into Afghanistan 

reached [Al-Zawahiri's] group. Al-Zawahiri has become a close 
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aide of bin Laden ... Bin Laden was only loosely connected with 

the [Hezb-i-Islami faction of the mujahideen led by Gulbuddin 

Hekmatyar], serving under another Hezb-i-Islami commander 

known as Engineer Machmud. However, bin Laden's Office of 

Services, set up to recruit overseas for the war, received some 

US cash.  

Alleged Saudi and Emirati involvement 

A CNN report has revealed that Saudi Arabia and the United 

Arab Emirates (UAE) have been handing out sophisticated 

American-made weapons to al-Qaeda-linked fighters in Yemen.  

In October 2014, US Vice President Joe Biden said Saudi 

Arabia and the United Arab Emirates had "poured hundreds of 

millions of dollars and tens of thousands of tons of weapons 

into anyone who would fight against Al-Assad, except that the 

people who were being supplied were al-Nusra, and al Qaeda, 

and the extremist elements of jihadis coming from other parts 

of the world."  

Broader influence 

Anders Behring Breivik, the perpetrator of the 2011 Norway 

attacks, was inspired by Al-Qaeda, calling it "the most 

successful revolutionary movement in the world." While 

admitting different aims, he sought to "create a European 

version of Al-Qaida."  

The appropriate response to offshoots is a subject of debate. A 

journalist reported in 2012 that a senior US military planner 

had asked: "Should we resort to drones and Special Operations 
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raids every time some group raises the black banner of al 

Qaeda? How long can we continue to chase offshoots of 

offshoots around the world?"  

Criticism 

Islamic extremism dates back to the Kharijites of the 7th 

century. From their essentially political position, the Kharijites 

developed extreme doctrines that set them apart from both 

mainstream Sunni and Shiʿa Muslims. The Kharijites were 

particularly noted for adopting a radical approach to Takfir, 

whereby they declared other Muslims to be unbelievers and 

therefore deemed them worthy of death.  

According to a number of sources, a "wave of revulsion" has 

been expressed against al-Qaeda and its affiliates by "religious 

scholars, former fighters and militants" who are alarmed by al-

Qaeda's takfir and its killing of Muslims in Muslim countries, 

especially in Iraq.  

Noman Benotman, a former militant member of the Libyan 

Islamic Fighting Group (LIFG), went public with an open letter 

of criticism to Ayman al-Zawahiri in November 2007, after 

persuading the imprisoned senior leaders of his former group 

to enter into peace negotiations with the Libyan regime. While 

Ayman al-Zawahiri announced the affiliation of the group with 

al-Qaeda in November 2007, the Libyan government released 

90 members of the group from prison several months after 

"they were said to have renounced violence."  

In 2007, on the anniversary of the September 11 attacks, the 

Saudi sheikh Salman al-Ouda delivered a personal rebuke to 
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bin Laden. Al-Ouda, a religious scholar and one of the fathers 

of the Sahwa, the fundamentalist awakening movement that 

swept through Saudi Arabia in the 1980s, is a widely respected 

critic of jihadism. Al-Ouda addressed al-Qaeda's leader on 

television asking him:  

My brother Osama, how much blood has been spilt? How many 

innocent people, children, elderly, and women have been 

killed ... in the name of al-Qaeda? Will you be happy to meet 

God Almighty carrying the burden of these hundreds of 

thousands or millions [of victims] on your back? 

According to Pew polls, support for al-Qaeda had dropped in 

the Muslim world in the years before 2008. Support of suicide 

bombings in Indonesia, Lebanon, and Bangladesh, dropped by 

half or more in the last five years. In Saudi Arabia, only ten 

percent had a favorable view of al-Qaeda, according to a 

December 2017 poll by Terror Free Tomorrow, a Washington-

based think tank.  

In 2007, the imprisoned Sayyed Imam Al-Sharif, an influential 

Afghan Arab, "ideological godfather of al-Qaeda", and former 

supporter of takfir, withdrew his support from al-Qaeda with a 

book Wathiqat Tarshid Al-'Aml Al-Jihadi fi Misr w'Al-'Alam 

(English: Rationalizing Jihad in Egypt and the World).  

Although once associated with al-Qaeda, in September 2009 

LIFG completed a new "code" for jihad, a 417-page religious 

document entitled "Corrective Studies". Given its credibility 

and the fact that several other prominent Jihadists in the 

Middle East have turned against al-Qaeda, the LIFG's reversal 

may be an important step toward staunching al-Qaeda's 

recruitment.  
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Other criticisms 

Bilal Abdul Kareem, an American journalist based in Syria 

created a documentary about al-Shabab, al-Qaeda's affiliate in 

Somalia. The documentary included interviews with former 

members of the group who stated their reasons for leaving al-

Shabab. The members made accusations of segregation, lack of 

religious awareness and internal corruption and favoritism. In 

response to Kareem, the Global Islamic Media Front 

condemned Kareem, called him a liar, and denied the 

accusations from the former fighters.  

In mid-2014 after the Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant 

declared that they had restored the Caliphate, an audio 

statement was released by the then-spokesman of the group 

Abu Muhammad al-Adnani claiming that "the legality of all 

emirates, groups, states, and organizations, becomes null by 

the expansion of the Caliphate's authority." 

The speech included a religious refutation of Al-Qaeda for 

being too lenient regarding Shiites and their refusal to 

recognize the authority Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi, al-Adnani 

specifically noting: "It is not suitable for a state to give 

allegiance to an organization." He also recalled a past instance 

in which Osama bin Laden called on al-Qaeda members and 

supporters to give allegiance to Abu Omar al-Baghdadi when 

the group was still solely operating in Iraq, as the Islamic 

State of Iraq, and condemned Ayman al-Zawahiri for not 

making this same claim for Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi. Zawahiri 

was encouraging factionalism and division between former 

allies of ISIL such as the al-Nusra Front.  
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Lashkar-e-Taiba 

Lashkar-e-Taiba is a terrorist Islamist organisation operating 

in Pakistan and widely regarded as terrorist group. It was 

founded in 1987 by Hafiz Saeed, Abdullah Azzam and Zafar 

Iqbal with funding from Osama bin Laden.  

Lashkar-e-Taiba has been accused by India of attacking 

military and civilian targets in India, most notably the 2001 

Indian Parliament attack, the 2008 Mumbai attacks and the 

2019 Pulwama attack on Armed Forces. Its stated objective is 

to merge the whole Kashmir with Pakistan . The organization is 

designated as a terrorist organisation by Pakistan, India, the 

United States, the United Kingdom, the European Union, 

Russia, Australia, and the United Nations (under the UNSC 

Resolution 1267 Al-Qaeda Sanctions List). 

Though formally banned by Pakistan, the general view of India 

and some Western analysts, including of experts such as 

former French investigating magistrate Jean-Louis Bruguière 

and New America Foundation president Steve Coll, is that 

Pakistan's main intelligence agency continues to give LeT help 

and protection. 

The Indian government's view is that Pakistan, particularly 

through its intelligence agency, has both supported the group 

and sheltered the group's leader Hafiz Saeed; Hafiz Saeed is 

currently imprisoned by Pakistan.  

Whilst LeT remains banned in Pakistan, the political arm of the 

group, Jamat ud Dawah (JuD) has also remained banned for 

spans of time. However the group is still active in Pakistan.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

1065 

 

Objectives 

While the primary area of operations of LeT's militant activities 

is the Kashmir Valley, their professed goal is not limited to 

challenging India's sovereignty over Jammu and Kashmir.  

LeT sees the issue of Kashmir as part of a wider global 

struggle. The group has adopted maximalist agenda of global 

jihad though its operations have so far been limited to 

Kashmir. The group justifies its ideology on verse 2:216 of the 

Quran. Extrapolating from this verse, the group asserts that 

military jihad is a religious obligation of all Muslims and 

defines the many circumstances under which it must be 

carried out. 

In a pamphlet entitled "Why Are We Waging Jihad?", the group 

states that all of India along with many other countries were 

once ruled by Muslims and were Muslim lands, which is their 

duty to take it back from the non-Muslims. It declared United 

States, India, and Israel as "existential enemies of Islam". LeT 

believes that jihad is the duty of all Muslims and must be 

waged until eight objectives are met: Establishing Islam as the 

dominant way of life in the world, forcing disbelievers to pay 

jizya (a tax on non-Muslims), fighting for the weak and feeble 

against oppressors, exacting revenge for killed Muslims, 

punishing enemies for violating oaths and treaties, defending 

all Muslim states, and recapturing occupied Muslim territory. 

The group construes lands once ruled by Muslims as Muslim 

lands and considers it as their duty to get them back. It 

embraces a pan-Islamist rationale for military action.  
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Although it views Pakistan's ruling powers as hypocrites, it 

doesn't support revolutionary jihad at home because the 

struggle in Pakistan "is not a struggle between Islam and 

disbelief". The pamphlet "Why do we do Jihad?" states, "If we 

declare war against those who have professed Faith, we cannot 

do war with those who haven’t." The group instead seeks 

reform through dawa. It aims to bring Pakistanis to LeT's 

interpretation of Ahl-e-Hadith Islam and thus, transforming 

the society in which they live.  

LeT's leaders have argued that Indian-administered Kashmir 

was the closest occupied land, and observed that the ratio of 

occupying forces to the population there was one of the highest 

in the world, meaning this was among the most substantial 

occupations of Muslim land. Thus, LeT cadres could volunteer 

to fight on other fronts but were obligated to fight in Indian-

administered Kashmir.  

The group was also said to be motivated by the 1992 

demolition of the Babri Mosque by Hindu nationalists, for 

attacks directed against India.  

In the wake of the November 2008 Mumbai attacks, 

investigations of computer and email accounts revealed a list 

of 320 locations worldwide deemed as possible targets for 

attack. Analysts believed that the list was a statement of intent 

rather than a list of locations where LeT cells had been 

established and were ready to strike.  

In January 2009, LeT publicly declared that it would pursue a 

peaceful resolution in the Kashmir issue and that it did not 

have global jihadist aims, but the group is still believed to be 

active in several other spheres of anti-Indian terrorism. The 
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disclosures of Abu Jundal, who was extradited to India by the 

Saudi Arabian government, however, revealed that LeT is 

planning to revive militancy in Jammu and Kashmir and 

conduct major terror strikes in India.  

Leadership 

• Hafiz Muhammad Saeed – founder of LeT and aamir 

of its political arm, JuD. Shortly after the 2008 

Mumbai attacks Saeed denied any links between the 

two groups: "No Lashkar-e-Taiba man is in Jamaat-

ud-Dawa and I have never been a chief of Lashkar-e-

Taiba." On 25 June 2014, the United States declared 

JuD an affiliate of LeT. 

• Abdul Rehman Makki – living in Pakistan – second in 

command of LeT. He is the brother-in-law of Hafiz 

Muhammad Saeed. The US has offered a reward of $2 

million for information leading to the location of 

Makki. 

• Zakiur Rehman Lakhvi – released on bail from 

custody of Pakistan military – senior member of LeT. 

Named as one of the masterminds of the 2008 

Mumbai attacks. On 18 December 2014 (two days 

after the Peshawar school attack), the Pakistani anti-

terrorism court granted Lakhvi bail against payment 

of surety bonds worth Rs. 500,000. 

• Yusuf Muzammil – senior member of LeT and named 

as a mastermind of the 2008 Mumbai attacks by 

surviving gunman Ajmal Kasab. 

• Zarrar Shah – in Pakistani custody – one of LeT's 

primary liaisons to the ISI. A US official said that he 

was a "central character" in the planning behind the 
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2008 Mumbai attacks. Zarrar Shah has boasted to 

Pakistani investigators about his role in the attacks. 

• Muhammad Ashraf – LeT's top financial officer. 

Although not directly connected to the Mumbai plot, 

he was added to the UN list of people that sponsor 

terrorism after the attacks. However, Geo TV 

reported that six years earlier Ashraf became 

seriously ill while in custody and died at Civil 

Hospital on 11 June 2002. 

• Mahmoud Mohamed Ahmed Bahaziq – the leader of 

LeT in Saudi Arabia and one of its financiers. 

Although not directly connected to the Mumbai plot, 

he was added to the UN list of people that sponsor 

terrorism after the attacks. 

• Nasr Javed – a Kashmiri senior operative, is on the 

list of individuals banned from entering the United 

Kingdom for "engaging in unacceptable behaviour by 

seeking to foment, justify or glorify terrorist violence 

in furtherance of particular beliefs." 

• Abu Nasir (Srinagar commander) 

History 

Formation 

In 1985, Hafiz Mohammed Saeed and Zafar Iqbal formed the 

Jamaat-ud-Dawa (Organization for Preaching, or JuD) as a 

small missionary group dedicated to promoting an Ahl-e-

Hadith version of Islam. In the next year, Zaki-ur Rehman 

Lakvi merged his group of anti-Soviet jihadists with the JuD to 

form the Markaz-ud Dawa-wal-Irshad (Center for Preaching and 
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Guidance, or MDI). The MDI had 17 founders originally, and 

notable among them was Abdullah Azzam.  

The LeT was formed in Afghanistan's Kunar province in 1990 

and gained prominence in the early 1990s as a military 

offshoot of MDI. MDI's primary concerns were dawah and the 

LeT focused on jihad although the members did not distinguish 

between the two groups' functions. According to Hafiz Saeed, 

"Islam propounds both dawa[h] and jihad. Both are equally 

important and inseparable. Since our life revolves around 

Islam, therefore both dawa and jihad are essential; we cannot 

prefer one over the other."  

Most of these training camps were located in North-West 

Frontier Province (NWFP) and many were shifted to Pakistan 

Administered Kashmir for the sole purpose of training 

volunteers for the Kashmir Jihad. From 1991 onward, 

militancy surged in Indian Kashmir, as many Lashkar-e-Taiba 

volunteers were infiltrated into Indian Kashmir from Pakistan 

Administered Kashmir with the help of the Pakistan Army and 

ISI. As of 2010, the degree of control that Pakistani 

intelligence retains over LeT's operations is not known.  

Designation as terrorist group 

On 28 March 2001, in Statutory Instrument 2001 No. 1261, 

British Home Secretary Jack Straw designated the group a 

Proscribed Terrorist Organization under the Terrorism Act 

2000.  

On 5 December 2001, the group was added to the Terrorist 

Exclusion List. In a notification dated 26 December 2001, 
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United States Secretary of State Colin Powell, designated 

Lashkar-e-Taiba a Foreign Terrorist Organization.  

Lashkar-e-Taiba was banned in Pakistan on 12 January 2002.  

It is banned in India as a designated terrorist group under the 

Unlawful Activities (Prevention) Act.  

It was listed as a terrorist organization in Australia under the 

Security Legislation Amendment (Terrorism) Act 2002 on 11 

April 2003 and was re-listed on 11 April 2005 and 31 March 

2007.  

On 2 May 2008, it was placed on the Consolidated List 

established and maintained by the committee established by 

the United Nations Security Council Resolution 1267 as an 

entity associated with al-Qaeda. The report also proscribed 

Jamaat-ud-Dawa as a front group of the LeT. Bruce Riedel, an 

expert on terrorism, believes that LeT with the support of its 

Pakistani backers is more dangerous than al-Qaeda.  

Aftermath of Mumbai attacks 

According to a media report, the US accused JuD of being the 

front group for the prime suspects of the November 2008 

Mumbai attacks, the Lashkar-e-Taiba, the organization that 

trained the 10 gunmen involved in these attacks.  

On 7 December 2008, under pressure from the US and India, 

Pakistani army launched an operation against LeT and raided a 

markaz (center) of the LeT at Shawai Nullah, 5 km from 

Muzaffarabad in Pakistan-controlled Pakistan Administered 

Kashmir. The army arrested more than twenty members of the 
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LeT including Zaki-ur-Rehman Lakhvi, the alleged mastermind 

of the Mumbai attacks. They are said to have sealed off the 

center, which included a madrasah and a mosque alongside 

offices of the LeT according to the government of Pakistan.  

On 10 December 2008, India formally requested the United 

Nations Security Council to designate JuD as a terrorist 

organization. Subsequently, Pakistan's ambassador to the 

United Nations Abdullah Hussain gave an undertaking, saying,  

After the designation of Jamaat-ud-Dawah (JUD) under 

(resolution) 1267, the government on receiving communication 

from the Security Council shall proscribe the JUD and take 

other consequential actions, as required, including the freezing 

of assets. 

A similar assurance was given by Pakistan in 2002 when it 

clamped down on the LeT; however, the LeT was covertly 

allowed to function under the guise of the JuD. While arrests 

have been made, the Pakistani government has categorically 

refused to allow any foreign investigators access to Hafiz 

Muhammad Saeed.  

On 11 December 2008, the United Nations Security Council 

imposed sanctions on JuD, declaring it a global terrorist 

group. Saeed, the chief of JuD, declared that his group would 

challenge the sanctions imposed on it in all forums. Pakistan's 

government also banned the JuD on the same day and issued 

an order to seal the JuD in all four provinces, as well as 

Pakistan-controlled Kashmir. Before the ban JuD, ran a weekly 

newspaper named Ghazwah, two monthly magazines called 

Majalla Tud Dawaa and Zarb e Taiba, and a fortnightly 

magazine for children, Nanhe Mujahid. The publications have 
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since been banned by the Pakistani government. In addition to 

the prohibition of JuD's print publications, the organization's 

websites were also shut down by the Pakistani government.  

After the UNSC ban, Hindu minority groups in Pakistan came 

out in support of JuD. At protest marches in Hyderabad, Hindu 

groups said that JuD does charity work such as setting up 

water wells in desert regions and providing food to the poor. 

However, according to the BBC, the credibility of the level of 

support for the protest was questionable as protesters on their 

way to what they believed was a rally against price rises had 

been handed signs in support of JuD. The JuD ban has been 

met with heavy criticism in many Pakistani circles, as JuD was 

the first to react to the Kashmir earthquake and the Ziarat 

earthquake. It also ran over 160 schools with thousands of 

students and provided aid in hospitals as well. JuD disguises 

terrorist activities by showing fake welfare trusts.  

In January 2009, JuD spokesperson, Abdullah Muntazir, 

stressed that the group did not have global jihadist aspirations 

and would welcome a peaceful resolution of the Kashmir issue. 

He also publicly disowned LeT commanders Zaki-ur-Rehman 

Lakhvi and Zarrar Shah, who have both been accused of being 

the masterminds behind the Mumbai attacks.  

In response to the UN resolution and the government ban, the 

JuD reorganized itself under the name of Tehreek-e-Tahafuz 

Qibla Awal (TTQA).  

On 25 June 2014, the United States added several of LeT 

affiliates including Jamaat-ud-Dawa, Al-Anfal Trust, Tehrik-e-

Hurmat-e-Rasool, and Tehrik-e-Tahafuz Qibla Awwal to the list 

of foreign terrorist organizations.  
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Milli Muslim League 

Jamaat-ud-Dawa members on 7 August 2017 announced the 

creation of a political party called Milli Muslim League. Tabish 

Qayoum, a JuD activist working as the party spokesman, 

stated they had filed registration papers for a new party with 

Pakistan's electoral commission. Later in August, JuD under 

the banner of the party fielded a candidate for the 2017 by-

election of Constituency NA-120. Muhammad Yaqoob Sheikh 

filed his nomination papers as an independent candidate.  

The registration application of the party was rejected by ECP 

on the 12th of October. Hafiz Saeed announced in December, a 

few days after release from house arrest on 24 November, that 

his organization will contest the 2018 elections.  

Name Changes 

In February 2019, after the Pulwama attack, the Pakistan 

government placed the ban once again on Jamat-ud-Dawa and 

its charity organization Falah-e-Insaniat Foundation (FIF). To 

evade the ban, their names were changed to Al Madina and 

Aisar Foundation respectively and they continued their work as 

before.  

The Resistance Front 

The Resistance Front (TRF) was launched after the revocation 

of the special status of Jammu and Kashmir in 2019. Lashkar-

e-Taiba leaders form the core of the TRF. TRF has taken 

responsibility for various attacks in Kashmir in 2020 including 

the deaths of five Indian Army para commandos . In June 
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2020, Army's XV Corps commander Lt General B S Raju said 

"There is no organisation called TRF. It is a social media entity 

which is trying to take credit for anything and everything that 

is happening within the Valley. It is in the electronic domain."  

Activities 

The group conducts training camps and humanitarian work. 

Across Pakistan, the organization runs 16 Islamic institutions, 

135 secondary schools, an ambulance service, mobile clinics, 

blood banks and seminaries according to the South Asia 

Terrorism Portal.  

The group actively carried out attacks on Indian Armed Forces 

in Jammu and Kashmir.  

Some breakaway Lashkar members have been accused of 

carrying out attacks in Pakistan, particularly in Karachi, to 

mark its opposition to the policies of former president Pervez 

Musharraf.  

Publications 

Christine Fair estimates that, through its editing house Dar al 

Andalus, "LeT is perhaps the most prolific producer of j ihadi 

literature in Pakistan." By the end of the 90s, the Urdu 

monthly magazine Mujallah al-Dawah had a circulation of 100 

000, another monthly magazine, Ghazwa, of 20 000, while 

other weekly and monthly publications target students (Zarb-e-

Tayyaba), women (Tayyabaat), children and those who are 

literate in English (Voice of Islam and Invite) or Arabic (al-

Ribat.) It also publishes, every year, around 100 booklets, in 
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many languages. It has been described as a "profitable 

department, selling lacs of books every year."  

Training camps 

The LeT training camps are presently located at a number of 

locations in Pakistan. These camps, which include its base 

camp, Markaz-e-Taiba in Muridke near Lahore and the one 

near Manshera, are used to impart training to militants. In 

these camps, the following trainings are imparted:  

• the 21-day religious course (Daura-e-Sufa) 

• the 21-day basic combat course (Daura-e-Aam) 

• the three-months advanced combat course (Daura-e-

Khaas) 

26/11 mastermind, Zabiuddin Ansari alias, Abu Jundal 

arrested recently by Indian intelligence agencies is reported to 

have disclosed that paragliding training was also included in 

the training curriculum of LeT cadres at is camps in 

Muzaffarabad.  

These camps have long been tolerated since Inception by the 

Pakistan's powerful Inter-Services Intelligence (ISI) agency 

because of their usefulness against India and in Afghanistan 

although they have been instructed not to mount any 

operations for now. A French anti-terrorism expert, Jean-Louis 

Bruguière, in his Some Things that I Wasn’t Able to Say has 

stated that the regular Pakistani army officers trained the 

militants in the LeT training camps until recently. He reached 

this conclusion after interrogating a French militant, Willy 

Brigitte, who had been trained by the LeT and arrested in 

Australia in 2003.  
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Markaz-e-Taiba 

The LeT base camp Markaz-e-Taiba is in Nangal Saday, about 

5 km North of Muridke, on East side of G.T. road; about 30 km 

from Lahore, was established in 1988. It is spread over 200 

acres (0.81 km) of land and contains a madrassa, hospital, 

market, residences, a fish farm and agricultural tracts. The 

initial sectarian religious training, Daura-e-Sufa is imparted 

here to the militants.  

Other training camps 

In 1987, LeT established two training camps in Afghanistan. 

The first one was the Muaskar-e-Taiba at Jaji in Paktia 

Province and the second one was the Muaskar-e-Aqsa in Kunar 

Province. US intelligence analysts justify the extrajudicial 

detention of at least one Guantanamo detainee because they 

allege he attended a LeT training camp in Afghanistan. A 

memorandum summarizing the factors for and against the 

continued detention of Bader Al Bakri Al Samiri asserts that he 

attended a LeT training camp.  

Mariam Abou Zahab and Olivier Roy in their Islamist Networks: 

The Afghan-Pakistan Connection (London: C. Hurst & Co., 

2004) mentioned three training camps in Pakistan-

administered Kashmir, the principal one is the Umm-al-Qura 

training camp at Muzaffarabad. Every month five hundred 

militants are trained in these camps. Muhammad Amir Rana in 

his A to Z of Jehadi Organizations in Pakistan (Lahore: Mashal, 

2004) listed five training camps. Four of them, the Muaskar-e-

Taiba, the Muaskar-e-Aqsa, the Muaskar Umm-al-Qura and the 
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Muaskar Abdullah bin Masood are in Pakistan-administered 

Kashmir and the Markaz Mohammed bin Qasim training camp 

is in Sanghar District of Sindh. Ten thousand militants had 

been trained in these camps till 2004.  

Funding 

The government of Pakistan began to fund the LeT during the 

early 1990s and by around 1995 the funding had grown 

considerably. During this time the army and the ISI helped 

establish the LeT's military structure with the specific intent to 

use the militant group against India. The LeT also obtained 

funds through efforts of the MDI's Department of Finance.  

Until 2002, the LeT collected funds through public fundraising 

events usually using charity boxes in shops. The group also 

received money through donations at MDI offices, through 

personal donations collected at public celebrations of an 

operative's martyrdom, and through its website. The LeT also 

collected donations from the Pakistani immigrant community 

in the Persian Gulf and United Kingdom, Islamic Non-

Governmental Organizations, and Pakistani and Kashmiri 

businessmen. LeT operatives have also been apprehended in 

India, where they had been obtaining funds from sections of 

the Muslim community.  

Although many of the funds collected went towards legitimate 

uses, e.g. factories and other businesses, a significant portion 

was dedicated to military activities. According to US 

intelligence, the LeT had a military budget of more than $5 

million by 2009.  
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Use of charity aid to fund relief operations 

LeT assisted victims after the 2005 Kashmir earthquake. In 

many instances, they were the first on the scene, arriving 

before the army or other civilians.  

A large amount of funds collected among the Pakistani 

expatriate community in Britain to aid victims of the 

earthquake were funneled for the activities of LeT although the 

donors were unaware. About £5 million were collected, but 

more than half of the funds were directed towards LeT rather 

than towards relief efforts. Intelligence officials stated that 

some of the funds were used to prepare for an attack that 

would have detonated explosives on board transatlantic 

airflights. Other investigations also indicated the aid given for 

earthquake victims was directly involved to expand Lashkar-e-

Taiba's activities within India.  

Notable incidents 

• 1998 Wandhama massacre: 23 Kashmiri pandits 

were murdered on 25 January 1998. 

• In March 2000, Lashkar-e-Taiba militants are 

claimed to have been involved in the Chittisinghpura 

massacre, where 35 Sikhs in the town of 

Chittisinghpura in Kashmir were killed. An 18-year-

old male, who was arrested in December of that year, 

admitted in an interview with a New York Times 

correspondent to the involvement of the group and 

expressed no regret in perpetrating the anti-Sikh 

massacre. In a separate interview with the same 

correspondent, Hafiz Muhammad Saeed denied 
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knowing the young man and dismissed any possible 

involvement of LeT. In 2010, the Lashkar-e-Taiba 

(LeT) associate David Headley, who was arrested in 

connection with the 2008 Mumbai attacks, 

reportedly confessed to the National Investigation 

Agency that the LeT carried out the Chittisinghpura 

massacre. He is said to have identified an LeT 

militant named Muzzamil as part of the group which 

carried out the killings apparently to create 

communal tension just before Clinton's visit. 

• The LeT was also held responsible by the government 

for the 2000 terrorist attack on Red Fort, New Delhi. 

LeT confirmed its participation in the Red Fort 

attack. 

• LeT claimed responsibility for an attack on the 

Srinagar Airport that left five Indians and six 

militants dead. 

• The group claimed responsibility for an attack on 

Indian security forces along the border. 

• The Indian government blamed LeT, in coordination 

with Jaish-e-Mohammed, for a 13 December 2001 

assault on parliament in Delhi. 

• 2002 Kaluchak massacre 31 killed 14 May 2002. 

Australian government attributed this massacre to 

Lashkar-e-Taiba when it designated it as a terrorist 

organization. 

• 2003 Nadimarg Massacre 24 Kashmiri pandits 

gunned down on the night of 23 March 2003. 

• 2005 Delhi bombings: During Diwali, Lashkar-e-

Taiba bombed crowded festive Delhi markets killing 

60 civilians and maiming 527. 
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• 2006 Varanasi bombings: Lashkar-e-Taiba was 

involved in serial blasts in Varanasi in the state of 

Uttar Pradesh. 37 people died and 89 were seriously 

injured. 

• 2006 Doda massacre 34 Hindus were killed in 

Kashmir on 30 April 2006. 

• 2006 Mumbai train bombings: The investigation 

launched by Indian forces and US officials have 

pointed to the involvement of Lashkar-e-Taiba in 

Mumbai serial blasts on 11 July 2006. The Mumbai 

serial blasts on 11 July claimed 211 lives and 

maimed about 407 people and seriously injured 

another 768. 

• On 12 September 2006 the propaganda arm of the 

Lashkar-e-Taiba issued a fatwa against Pope 

Benedict XVI demanding that Muslims assassinate 

him for his controversial statements about 

Muhammad. 

• On 16 September 2006, a top Lashkar-e-Taiba 

militant, Abu Saad, was killed by the troops of 9-

Rashtriya Rifles in Nandi Marg forest in Kulgam. 

Saad belongs to Lahore in Pakistan and also oversaw 

LeT operations for the past three years in Gul 

Gulabhgash as the outfit's area commander. Apart 

from a large quantity of arms and ammunition, high 

denomination Indian and Pakistani currencies were 

also recovered from the slain militant. 

• 2008 Mumbai attacks In November 2008, Lashkar-e-

Taiba was the primary suspect behind the Mumbai 

attacks but denied any part. The lone surviving 

gunman, Ajmal Amir Kasab, captured by Indian 

authorities admitted the attacks were planned and 
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executed by the organization. United States 

intelligence sources confirmed that their evidence 

suggested Lashkar-e-Taiba is behind the attacks. A 

July 2009 report from Pakistani investigators 

confirmed that LeT was behind the attack. 

• On 7 December 2008, under pressure from USA and 

India, the Pakistan Army launched an operation 

against LeT and Jamat-ud-Dawa to arrest people 

suspected of 26/11 Mumbai attacks. 

• In August 2009, LeT issued an ultimatum to impose 

Islamic dress code in all colleges in Jammu and 

Kashmir, sparking fresh fears in the tense region. 

• In September and October 2009, Israeli and Indian 

intelligence agencies issued alerts warning that LeT 

was planning to attack Jewish religious places in 

Pune, India and other locations visited by Western 

and Israeli tourists in India. The gunmen who 

attacked the Mumbai headquarters of the Chabad 

Lubavitch movement during the November 2008 

attacks were reportedly instructed that, "Every 

person you kill where you are is worth 50 of the ones 

killed elsewhere." 

• News sources have reported that members of LeT 

were planning to attack the U.S. and Indian 

embassies in Dhaka, Bangladesh, on 26 November 

2009, to coincide with the one-year anniversary of 

the November 2008 Mumbai attacks. At least seven 

men were arrested in connection to the plot, 

including a senior member of LeT. 

• Two Chicago residents, David Coleman Headley and 

Tahawwur Hussain Rana, were allegedly working 

with LeT in planning an attack against the offices 
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and employees of Jyllands-Posten, a Danish 

newspaper that published controversial cartoons of 

Muhammad. Indian news sources also implicated the 

men in the November 2008 Mumbai attacks and in 

LeT's Fall 2009 plans to attack the U.S. and Indian 

embassies in Bangladesh. 

Losing of LeT Group Heads 

• Abrar, Intelligence Chief of LeT in Afghanistan was 

arrested and 8 other militants were killed by NDS in 

Nangarhar Province. 

• Abu Dujana, Chief of Lashkar-e-taiba in Kashmir 

Valley was killed by Indian security forces on 2 

August 2017. 

• Abu Qasim, operations commander of the terrorist 

group, was killed in a joint operation by the Indian 

army and the special operations group of the Jammu 

and Kashmir police on 30 October 2015. 

• Junaid Mattoo, Lashkar-e-Taiba commander for 

Kulgam was killed in an encounter with security 

forces in Arvani. 

• Waseem Shah, responsible for recruiting fresh cadres 

and involved in many attacks on security forces in 

south Kashmir was killed on 14 October 2017. 

• Six top LeT commanders including Owaid, son of 

Abdul Rehman Makki and nephew of Zaki-ur-Rehman 

Lakhvi, wanted commanders Zargam and Mehmood, 

were killed on 18 November 2017. Mehmood was 

responsible for killing a constable on 27 September 

and two Garud commandos on 11 October. 
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External relationships 

Support from Saudi Arabia 

According to a secret December 2009 paper signed by the US 

secretary of state, "Saudi Arabia remains a critical financial 

support base for al-Qaeda, the Taliban, LeT and other terrorist 

groups." LeT used a Saudi-based front company to fund its 

activities in 2005.  

Role in India-Pakistan relations 

LeT attacks have increased tensions in the already contentious 

relationship between India and Pakistan. Part of the LeT 

strategy may be to deflect the attention of Pakistan's military 

away from the tribal areas and towards its border with India. 

Attacks in India also aim to exacerbate tensions between 

India's Hindu and Muslim communities and help LeT 

recruitment strategies in India.  

LeT cadres have also been arrested in different cities of India. 

On 27 May, a LeT militant was arrested from Hajipur in 

Gujarat. On 15 August 2001, a LeT militant was arrested from 

Bhatinda in Punjab. Mumbai police's interrogation of LeT 

operative, Abu Jundal revealed that LeT has planned 10 more 

terror attacks across India and he had agreed to participate in 

these attacks. A top US counter-terrorism official, Daniel 

Benjamin, in a news conference on 31 July 2012, told that LeT 

was a threat to the stability in South Asia urging Pakistan to 

take strong action against the terror outfit. Interrogation of 

Jundal revealed that LeT was planning to carry out aerial 

attacks on Indian cities and had trained 150 paragliders for 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

1084 

 

this. He knew of these plans when he visited a huge bungalow 

in eastern Karachi where top LeT men, supervised by a man 

called Yakub were planning aerial and sea route attacks on 

India.  

Inter-Services Intelligence involvement 

The ISI have provided financial and material support to LeT. In 

2010, Interpol issued warrants for the arrest of two serving 

officers in the Pakistan army for alleged involvement in the 

2008 Mumbai attacks. The LeT was also reported to have been 

directed by the ISI to widen its network in the Jammu region 

where a considerable section of the populace comprised 

Punjabis. 

The LeT has a large number of activists who hail from Indian 

Punjab and can thus effectively penetrate into Jammu society. 

A 13 December 2001 news report cited a LeT spokesperson as 

saying that LeT wanted to avoid a clash with the Pakistani 

government. He claimed a clash was possible because of the 

suddenly conflicting interests of the government and of the 

militant outfits active in Jammu and Kashmir even though the 

government had been an ardent supporter of Muslim freedom 

movements, particularly that of Kashmir.  

Pakistan denies giving orders to LeT's activities. However, the 

Indian government and many non-governmental think-tanks 

allege that the Pakistani ISI is involved with the group. The 

situation with LeT causes considerable strain in Indo-Pakistani 

relations, which are already mired in suspicion and mutual 

distrust.  
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Role in Afghanistan 

The LeT was created to participate in the Mujahideen conflict 

against the Najibullah regime in Afghanistan. In the process, 

the outfit developed deep linkages with Afghanistan and has 

several Afghan nationals in its cadre. The outfit had also 

cultivated links with the former Taliban regime in Afghanistan 

and also with Osama bin Laden and his al-Qaeda network. 

Even while refraining from openly displaying these links, the 

LeT office in Muridke was reportedly used as a transit camp for 

third country recruits heading for Afghanistan.  

Guantanamo detainee Khalid Bin Abdullah Mishal Thamer Al 

Hameydani's Combatant Status Review Tribunal said that he 

had received training via Lashkar-e-Taiba.  

Lashkar-e-Taiba's directed attacks against Indian targets in 

Afghanistan. Three major attacks occurred against Indian 

government employees and private workers in Afghanistan.  

The Combatant Status Review Tribunals of Taj Mohammed and 

Rafiq Bin Bashir Bin Jalud Al Hami, and the Administrative 

Review Board hearing of Abdullah Mujahid and Zia Ul Shah 

allege that they too were members or former members of 

Lashkar-e-Taiba.  

Links with other militant groups 

While the primary focus for the Lashkar is the operations in 

Indian Kashmir, it has frequently provided support to other 

international terrorist groups. Primary among these is the al-

Qaeda Network in Afghanistan. LeT members also have been 

reported to have engaged in conflicts in the Philippines, 
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Bosnia, the Middle East and Chechnya. There are also 

allegations that members of the Liberation Tigers of Tamil 

Eelam conducted arms transfers and made deals with LeT in 

the early 1990s.  

Al-Qaeda 

• The Lashkar is claimed to have operated a military 

camp in post–11 September Afghanistan, and 

extending support to the ousted Taliban regime. The 

outfit had claimed that it had assisted the Taliban 

militia and Osama bin Laden's al-Qaeda network in 

Afghanistan during November and December 2002 in 

their fight against the US-aided Northern Alliance. 

• A leading al-Qaeda operative Abu Zubaydah, who 

became operational chief of al-Qaeda after the death 

of Mohammed Atef, was caught in a Lashkar 

safehouse at Faislabad in Pakistan. 

• A news report in the aftermath of 11 September 

attacks in the U.S. has indicated that the outfit 

provides individuals for the outer circle of bin 

Laden's personal security. 

• Other notable al-Qaeda operatives said to have 

received instruction and training in LeT camps 

include David Hicks, Richard Reid and Dhiren Barot. 

Jaish-e-Mohammed 

News reports, citing security forces, said that the latter 

suspect that on 13 December 2001 attack on India's 

Parliament in New Delhi, a joint group from the LeT and the 
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Jaish-e-Mohammed (JeM) were involved. The attack 

precipitated the 2001-2002 India-Pakistan standoff.  

Hizb-ul-Mujahideen 

The Lashkar is reported to have conducted several of its major 

operations in tandem with the Hizb-ul-Mujahideen.  

Ties to attacks in the United States 

• The Markaz campus at Muridke in Lahore, its 

headquarters, was used as a hide-out for both Ramzi 

Yousef, involved in the 1993 World Trade Center 

bombing, and Mir Aimal Kansi, convicted and 

executed for the January 1993 killing of two Central 

Intelligence Agency officers outside the agency's 

headquarters in Langley, Virginia. 

• A group of men dubbed the Virginia Jihad Network 

attended LeT training camps and were convicted in 

2006 of conspiring to provide material support to the 

LeT. The leader of the group, Ali al-Timimi, urged the 

men to attend the LeT camps and to "go abroad to 

join the mujahideen engaged in jihad in 

Afghanistan." The men also trained with weapons in 

Virginia. 

• Two U.S. citizens, Syed Haris Ahmed and Ehsanul 

Sadequee were arrested in 2006 for attempting to 

join LeT. Ahmed traveled to Pakistan in July 2005 to 

attend a terrorist training camp and join LeT. The 

men also shot videos of U.S. landmarks in the 

Washington, D.C. area for potential terrorist attacks. 
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They were convicted in Atlanta during the summer of 

2009 for conspiring to provide material support to 

terrorists. 

• U.S. citizen Ahmad Abousamra was indicted in 

November 2009 for providing material support to 

terrorists. He allegedly went to Pakistan in 2002 to 

join the Taliban and LeT, but failed. The F.B.I. 

issued a $50,000 reward for his capture on 3 

October 2012. 

Sipah-e-Sahaba Pakistan 

Sipah-e-Sahaba Pakistan renamed to Millat-e-Islamia, is a 

Muslim organisation in Pakistan, which also functioned as a 

political party. It broke away from the main Deobandi Sunni 

organisation Jamiatul Ulema-e-Islam in 1985. Established in 

Jhang by Haq Nawaz Jhangvi, it was banned by President 

Pervez Musharraf in 2002 as a terrorist organisation under the 

Anti-Terrorism Act of 1997. 

The fact based account is presented in the book In the Line of 

Fire: A Memoir by Pervez Musharraf. In March 2012, the 

government of Pakistan banned Sipah-e-Sahaba again. The 

government of the United Kingdom banned the group earlier in 

2001.  

On 26 June 2018, before that year’s election, the Government 

of Pakistan lifted the ban on Sipah-e-Sahaba Pakistan.  

Their main current front is the Pakistan Rah-e-Haq Party, 

which they contested the 2018 general elections with and the 

2020 Gilgit-Baltistan Assembly elections with.  
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History 

Sipah-e-Sahaba Pakistan was formed in 1985 by Haq Nawaz 

Jhangvi, Zia ur Rehman Farooqi, Isar-ul-Haq Qasmi and Azam 

Tariq in 1985 originally as Anjuman Sipah-e-Sahaba in Jhang, 

Pakistan. The original purpose was to fight Shi'ite landlords 

dominance in Jhang and surrounding areas in a majority 

Sunni population. Later, they became violent and started to 

attack Shi'ite Muslims. From 1980s, they are involved in 

various terrorist activities and murder of thousands of Shi'ites. 

They are operating all over Pakistan and are politically active 

having large vote bank in Punjab and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 

(KP). They are widely organized and have more than five 

hundred offices throughout country.  

In 1996, many left the group and formed another organization 

Lashkar-e-Jhangvi (LeJ).  

In 2002, Pervez Musharraf government declared the group as 

terrorist organization and was banned. However, later, they 

renamed it and launched it under the name of Millat-e-Islamia 

Pakistan. They were again banned in 2003. After the death of 

Azam Tariq ,Muhammad Ahmed Ludhianvi was selected as the 

president.  

A leader of Sipah-e-Sahaba was a minister in the coalition 

Government in Punjab in 1993 and the group has held seats in 

the Pakistan National Assembly.  

When Jhangvi was assassinated in 1990 by presumed Shi'a 

militants, Zia ur Rehman Farooqi assumed leadership of the 

group. Zia ur Rehman Farooqi died in a bomb explosion on 19 
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January 1997 at the Lahore Session Court. After his death, 

Azam Tariq led the group until October 2003, when he was also 

killed in an attack widely attributed to the militant Shi'a 

organization Sipah-e-Muhammad, along with four others.  

Its leader (sarparast-aala), Ali Sher Haideri, was killed in an 

ambush in 2009. Then Muhammad Ahmed Ludhianvi was 

selected as sarparast-e-aala with Aurangzaib Farooqi as the 

president of the organization.  

Strength 

The organization has 500 offices and branches in all provinces 

of Pakistan including Kashmir and Gilgit-Baltistan. It also has 

approximately 300,000 registered workers in Pakistan and 17 

branches in countries including the United Arab Emirates, 

Saudi Arabia, Bangladesh, Canada and the United Kingdom.  

Its regular publications include the monthlies Khilafat-e-

Rashida, Aab-e-Hayat and Genius.  

Affiliations 

• In 1996 elements within the Sipah-e-Sahaba who did 

not believe the organisation violent enough left to 

form the Lashkar-e-Jhangvi. 

• In October 2000, Masood Azhar, founder of the 

banned Jaish-e-Mohammed, was quoted as saying 

that "Sipah-e-Sahaba stands shoulder to shoulder 

with Jaish-e-Muhammad in Jihad." A leaked U.S. 

diplomatic cable described it as "another Sipah-e-

Sahaba breakaway Deobandi organisation." 
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• A diplomatic cable, originally dated October 23, 2009 

and later leaked to the media, from the U.S. embassy 

in Islamabad indicated that Qari Hussain, a leading 

militant of the Tehrik-i-Taliban Pakistan, had roots 

in the defunct Sipah-e-Sahaba and that many of the 

Taliban's foot soldiers are from Sipah-e-Sahaba 

ranks. 

• According to Animesh Roul, Ahle-Sunnat-Wal-Jamat 

is a front group for SSP, and is also banned in 

Pakistan. 

Jaish ul-Adl 

Jaish ul-Adl, or Jaish al-Adl is a Salafi jihadist militant 

organization that operates mainly in southeastern Iran, where 

there is a substantial concentration of Sunni Baluchis and a 

porous border with Pakistan. The group is responsible for 

several attacks against civilians and military personnel in Iran. 

The group claims that it is a separatist group fighting for 

independence of Sistan and Baluchistan Province and greater 

rights for Baluch people. Iran believes that the group is linked 

to Al-Qaeda. The group also maintain ties with Ansar Al-

Furqan which is another Iranian Baloch Sunni armed group 

operating in Iran.  

The group was founded in 2012 by members of Jundallah, a 

Sunni extremist militant group that had been weakened 

following Iran's capture and execution of its leader, 

Abdolmalek Rigi, in 2010. Its first major attack occurred in 

October 2013. Jaish ul-Adl is a designated terrorist 

organization by Iran, Japan, New Zealand and the United 

States.  
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Iranian state media has alleged that Saudi Arabia and the 

United States are key backers of the group.  

In November 2020, one of Jaish ul-Adl leaders called Mullah 

Omar, known as Omar Shahozi, and his two sons were killed in 

clashes with Pakistani forces in Turbat, Balochistan region.  

On 30 January 2021, Iran hanged Javid Dehghan, the former 

leader of Jaish ul-Adl, for the murder of two Islamic 

Revolutionary Guard Corps (IRGC) members in Sistan and 

Baluchestan Province.  

Attacks 

On 25 October 2013, the group claimed responsibility for 

killing 14 Iranian border guards in the city of Saravan. The 

group claimed that the attack was in retaliation of 16 Iranian 

Baloch prisoners who were on death row. The prisoners were 

convicted of drug trafficking and extremism. As result of the 

attack, Iranian officials hanged 16 prisoners on 26 October 

2013.  

On April 26, 2017, the group claimed responsibility for an 

ambush that killed at least nine Iranian border guards and 

injured two others. The Iranian border guards were patrolling 

the Pakistan–Iran border when they were attacked.  

In 2016, Jaish ul-adl was involved in kidnapping and 

smuggling of Kulbhushan Jadhav to Pakistan. Omar Shahozi, a 

leader in the militant group had kidnapped Jadhav from 

Chabahar and handed him over to ISI for cash payments.   
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In December 2018, the group took responsibility for suicide 

bombing in port city of Chabahar, killing two police officers 

and wounded forty-two others.  

On 29 January 2019, the group took responsibility for double 

bombing in Zahedan which wounded three police officers.  

On 2 February 2019, Jaish Al-Adl claimed responsibility for 

the attack on Basij paramilitary base in south eastern Iran 

according to Tasnim News Agency. The attack left one 

paramilitary soldier dead and wounded five other.  

On February 13, 2019, a suicide bombing in Iran targeting a 

bus carrying IRGC personnel killed 27 people.  

Al-Badr (Jammu and Kashmir) 

Al-Badr is an Islamic terrorist group operating in the Kashmir 

region. The group was allegedly formed by the Pakistani Inter-

Services Intelligence (ISI) in June 1998. It is believed the group 

was encouraged by the ISI to operate independently from their 

previous umbrella group, Hizb-ul-Mujahideen (HM). Prior to 

the group's separation from HM, they participated in the 

fighting in Afghanistan in 1990 as part of Gulbuddin 

Hekmatyar's Hizb-l-Islami (HIG) alongside other anti-Soviet 

Afghan mujihadeen. India and the United States have declared 

it a terrorist organisation and banned it.  

Foundation and separation 

The group was originally led by Arfeen Bhai, also known as 

Jannisar or Lukmaan, when it separated in 1998 and is 
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currently led by Bahkt Zameen Khan. In 2002, Zameen 

declared jihad against the U.S. forces in Afghanistan after 

being responsible for prior attacks against coalition forces 

there beginning in 2001. Al-Badr went on further in 2002 to 

order all women police in the Rajouri District of Kashmir to 

quit their jobs by mid-January the next year. The group has 

stated membership in the United Jihad Council (UJC), a 

coalition of Pakistan-based militants who are active in the 

Jammu Kashmir region. They have been linked to Jamaat-e-

Islami and alleged to have connection with al-Qaeda. The 

groups stated purpose is to liberate the Indian states of 

Jammu and Kashmir to be merged with Pakistan. Al-Badr 

opposes negotiations to end the violence in Kashmir and 

opposes the Line of Control (LoC) and calls for the 

strengthening of the jihad.  

Designation as terrorist organisation 

Al-Badr was banned by India under The Unlawful Activities 

(Prevention) Act, 2004. On 27 April 2005 State Department of 

United States Government identified Al-Badr as a terrorist 

organisation in its list of 40 Foreign Terrorist Organisations. 

Al-Badr is currently on the U.S. State Department list of 

Designated Foreign Terrorist Organisations.  

Location 

The Islamic fundamentalist group Al-Badr operates covert Al 

Badr training camps in Pakistan to train Pakistani civilians to 

serve as fighters in the conflict in Kashmir. Group has training 

camps in the Mansehra area of North West Frontier Province 
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(NWFP) in Pakistan, and in Kotli and Muzaffarabad in Azad 

Kashmir. In the 1990s, militants trained at al-Badr camp in 

the use of RDX and C4 explosives. Shaukat Ahmed Khan, the 

author of an article about the camps, in the Times of India, 

said he was kidnapped from his home in India by recruiters for 

the camp; and that when he made clear he wasn't interested in 

fighting on behalf of Al Badr those running the camp cut out 

his tongue, and cut off his right hand. He said they spared his 

life because he was a fellow Muslim.  

Militant activity 

It is believed the group has been weakened in recent years due 

to increased presence of Indian security forces along the Line 

of Control (LoC) that separates India from Pakistan. Indian 

security forces gauge the strength of al-Badr to be between 200 

with 120 of those forces being foreign mercenaries. Al-Badr is 

currently one of only two Kashmiri separatist groups that 

employ suicide squads as a tactic, the other being Lashkar-e-

Tayyeba.  

On 27 October 2006, two members of al-Badr were 

apprehended in Mysore in what Indian police are calling a 

foiled terror attack. Mohd Ali Hussain and Mohd Fahad were 

captured carrying a laptop, chemicals often used for creating 

improvised explosive devices (IEDs), detonators, an AK-47 rifle, 

a pistol, a cell phone, a digital camera and passports as well as 

sketches of the state legislature building, 'Vidhan Sabha'.  

On 4 June 2018 Al-Badr took the responsibility for grenade 

attacks in Pulwama injuring 23 people, including eight security 

personnel.  
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Harkat-ul-Mujahideen 

Harkat-ul-Mujahideen- al-Islami (abbreviated HUM) is a 

Pakistan-based Islamic jihad group operating primarily in 

Kashmir. The group have been considered as having links to 

Osama bin Laden and al-Qaeda and the group has been 

designated as a terrorist organization by Bahrain, the United 

Nations, the United Kingdom and the United States. In 

response the organization changed its name to Harkat-ul-

Mujahideen. The group splintered from Harkat-ul-Jihad-al-

Islami (HuJI), a Pakistani group formed in 1980 to fight the 

Soviet military in Afghanistan. Government of India has 

declared and banned HuM as a jihad organisation.  

Post Soviet–Afghan War 

Harkat-ul-Mujahideen was originally formed as a splinter 

group of Harkat-ul-Jihad al-Islami in 1985. In 1989, at the end 

of Soviet–Afghan war, the group entered Kashmiri politics by 

use of militants under the leadership of Sajjad Afghani and 

Muzaffar Ahmad Baba Alias Mukhtar. In 1993 the group 

merged with Harkat-ul-Jehad-al-Islami to form Harkat-ul-

Ansar.  

Immediately following the merger India arrested three senior 

members: Nasrullah Mansur Langaryal, chief of the former 

Harkat-ul Mujahideen in November 1993; Maulana Masood 

Azhar, General Secretary in February 1994, and Sajjad Afghani 

(Sajjad Sajid) in the same month in Srinagar. Muzaffar Ahmad 

Baba was killed in an encounter at Pandan Nowhatta with the 

BSF in January 1994.  
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As a response the group carried out several kidnappings in an 

attempt to free their leaders, all of which failed. It was linked 

to the Kashmiri group al-Faran that kidnapped five Western 

tourists in Kashmir in July 1995; one, Hans Christian Ostrø, 

was killed in August 1995 and the other four reportedly were 

killed in December of the same year.  

In 1997, the United States designated Harkat-ul-Ansar as 

terrorist organization in response it renamed itself to Harkat-

ul-Mujahideen.  

In 1999, Sajjad was killed during a jailbreak which led to the 

hijacking, by the group, of Indian Airlines Flight 814 in 

December, which led to the release of Maulana Masood Azhar, 

Ahmed Omar Saeed Sheikh and Mushtaq Ahmed Zargar by the 

Indian Government. Azhar did not, however, return to the 

HUM, choosing instead to form the Jaish-e-Mohammed (JEM), 

a rival militant group expressing a more radical line than the 

HUM, in early 2000.  

Post 9/11 Attacks 

The group again came to the attention of the US after the 9/11 

attacks, leading President George W. Bush to ban the group, 

this time under its Harkat-ul-Mujahideen moniker, on 25 

September 2001.  

Long-time leader of the group, Fazlur Rehman Khalil, in mid-

February 2000 stepped down as HUM emir, turning the reins 

over to the popular Kashmiri commander and his second-in-

command, Farooq Kashmiri. Khalil assumed the position of 

HUM Secretary General.  
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HUM is thought to have several thousand armed supporters 

located in Pakistani Kashmir, and India's southern Kashmir 

and Doda regions. It uses light and heavy machineguns, 

assault rifles, mortars, explosives, and rockets. HUM lost some 

of its membership due to defections to the Jaish-e-Mohammed.  

The group is based in Muzaffarabad, Rawalpindi, and several 

other towns in Pakistan and Afghanistan, but members 

conduct insurgent and terrorist activities primarily in Kashmir.  

The group's current leader, Fazlur Rehman Khalil, lives openly 

in the Islamabad suburb of Golra Sharif. He has denied having 

any contact with Osama bin Laden. According to The New York 

Times, Osama Bin Laden's seized cellphones attest Harkat-ul-

Mujahideen's continued contact with Osama Bin Laden and its 

bases and fighters shared with the Taliban over the years 

following the war in Afghanistan.  

Harkat ul-Ansar 

Harkat ul-Ansar (HuA) was an Islamic militant organization 

founded by Abdelkader Mokhtari in 1993. It was the result of a 

merger between Harkat-ul-Mujahideen and Harkat-ul-Jihad-al-

Islami (HuJI). Many of its operations were conducted in Jammu 

and Kashmir.  

Soon after its founding, several members of its leadership were 

arrested by Indian Security Forces. In November 1993, the 

former head of HuM, Nasrullah Mansur Langrayal, was 

arrested. In February 1994, the HuA general secretary, 

Maulana Masood Azhar and chief commander, Sajjad Afghani, 

were captured in the Chattargul area of Anantnag district.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

1099 

 

It was labeled a terrorist organization in 1997 by the United 

States because of its connections with Saudi terrorist Osama 

bin Laden. The ban severely limited the funding of the group, 

and as a result HuA was reorganized as a reincarnated Harkat-

ul-Mujahideen. At the time, Azhar split from the group to form 

Jaish-e-Mohammed. In 1998, U.S.'s Central Intelligence Agency 

(CIA) in its report stated, "HuA, an Islamic extremist 

organisation that Pakistan supports in its proxy war against 

Indian forces in Kashmir, increasingly is using terrorist tactics 

against Westerners and random attacks on civilians that could 

involve Westerners to promote its pan-Islamic agenda." CIA 

also stated that Hua had abducted at least 13 persons of which 

12 were from western countries in the period from early 1994 

to 1998.  

Islamic State of Iraq and 

the Levant – Khorasan Province 

The Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant – Khorasan 

Province is a self-proclaimed branch of the militant Islamist 

group Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant (ISIL) active in 

South Asia and Central Asia, though ISIL denies any 

connection. Some media sources also use the terms ISK, 

ISISK, IS-KP, ISIS-K, or Daesh-Khorasan in referring to the 

group. The Khorasan group's main activity is in the border 

region of eastern Afghanistan and northern Pakistan, but its 

area of operations also includes other parts such as Tajikistan, 

and India where individuals have pledged allegiance to it.  

ISIL announced the group's formation in January 2015 and 

appointed former Tehrik-i-Taliban Pakistan (TTP) militant Hafiz 
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Saeed Khan as its leader, with former Afghan Taliban 

commander Abdul Rauf Aliza appointed as deputy leader. Aliza 

was killed in a U.S. drone strike in February 2015, while Khan 

was killed in a U.S. airstrike in July 2016.  

The leader of the ISIL-KP, Abdullah Orokzai, also known as 

Aslam Farooqi, was captured in April 2020.  

Background 

Around September 2014, ISIL sent representatives to Pakistan 

to meet with local militants, including some Tehrik-i-Taliban 

Pakistan (TTP) factions, following several months of 

discussions. At the same time, leaflets, flags and propaganda 

materials in support of ISIL began being distributed in parts of 

Pakistan, including a pamphlet written in Pashtoand Dari that 

called on all Muslims to swear allegiance to Abu Bakr al-

Baghdadi. The leaflets were believed to have been produced 

and distributed from across the border in Afghanistan. In 

October 2014, former Taliban commander Abdul Rauf Khadim 

visited Iraq. Later on he returned to Afghanistan where he 

recruited followers in Helmand and Farah provinces. In the 

same month, 6 TTP commanders in Pakistan; Hafiz Khan 

Saeed, official spokesman Shahidullah Shahid, and the TTP 

commanders of Kurram and Khyber tribal regions and 

Peshawar and Hangu Districts, publicly defected from the TTP 

and pledged allegiance to Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi.  

On 10 January 2015, these six individuals appeared in a video 

where they again pledged allegiance to al-Baghdadi and 

nominated Hafiz Saeed Khan as the leader of their group. They 

were joined by other mid-level militant commanders, including 
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representatives from Afghanistan's Logar and Kunar Province 

and Pakistan's Lakki Marwat. Shahidullah Shahid claimed that 

other Jihadists from both countries supported the pledge of 

allegiance but had been unable to attend the meeting in 

person.  

Afghanistan and India have suspected that ISIL-K is a 

breakaway faction of the Tehrik-i-Taliban Pakistan.  

Support basis 

In Afghanistan, ISIL has not only been recruiting from the 

villages but also the urban middle class and specifically 

targeting the universities, as there have been numerous cases 

of lecturers in Islamic law as well as students at the country's 

largest university, Kabul University, pledging allegiance to the 

group.  

As for Pakistan, scholar Antonio Giustozzi, one of the foremost 

specialists of terrorism and insurgency in the region, says that 

"IS-K might have been more successful in Pakistan", and "most 

recruitment was indeed reported to be taking place in 

madrasas; the second most important types of recruits were 

villagers and students" and noting, based on the findings of an 

NGO which works "extensively with madrasas and mosques", 

that "nine major madrasas had links to IS-K, as well as 

another 100 or so small madrasas networked with these nine. 

The source also estimated that of the mosques the NGO 

supported, about 150 in Pakistan were connected to IS-K."  

The Russian security officer Nikolai Patrushev said he believes 

that the United States supports the group.  
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Hamid Karzai accused Pakistan of supporting ISIL during an 

interview with ANI.  

History 

• On 26 January 2015, ISIL's official spokesman Abu 

Muhammad al-Adnani released an audio statement 

in which he accepted the earlier pledge of allegiance 

and announced the expansion of ISIL's caliphate 

with the creation of Wilayat Khorasan (Khurasan 

Province), a historical region incorporating parts of 

modern-day Afghanistan and Pakistan. Hafiz Khan 

Saeed was appointed as its local leader, or Wāli 

(Governor). Abdul Rauf was named as Khan's deputy, 

however he was killed by a US drone strike in 

Afghanistan several weeks later. 

ISIL began actively recruiting defectors from the Taliban, in 

particular among those who were disgruntled with their leaders 

or lack of battlefield success. This prompted senior Taliban 

leader Akhtar Mansour to write a letter addressed to Abu Bakr 

al-Baghdadi, asking for the recruitment in Afghanistan to stop 

and arguing that the war in Afghanistan should be under the 

Taliban leadership. Nevertheless, fighting between the two 

groups broke out in Nangarhar Province, and by June 2015 

ISIL had been able to seize territory in Afghanistan for the first 

time. After successfully driving the Taliban out of several 

districts of Nangarhar after months of clashes, the group 

started carrying out their first attacks against Afghan forces in 

the province. Khorasan Province also developed a presence in 

other provinces, including Helmand and Farah. In late 2015, 
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ISIL began broadcasting Pashto language radio in Nangarhar 

Province, later on adding content in Dari.  

The group was boosted in August 2015 when the Afghanistan-

based militant group, the Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan 

(IMU), pledged allegiance to ISIL and declared that they were 

members of Wilayah Khorasan. Clashes broke out between the 

IMU and the Taliban in Zabul province following this pledge. 

The Taliban launched an offensive against the Uzbeks, causing 

heavy casualties and eliminating its presence in the province 

by the end of the year. The Taliban also succeeded in 

dislodging ISIL from Farah province over the same period.  

The group suffered further reversals in 2016, losing control of 

much of its territory in Nangarhar province. It was driven out 

of Achin and Shinwar Districts following a military operation 

by Afghan Security Forces, while clashes with the Taliban led 

to them being driven out of Batikot and Chaparhar districts. 

Following the loosening of targeting restrictions by US Forces 

in Afghanistan earlier in the year, the US Air Force began 

conducting scores of air strikes against ISIL targets. In April 

2016, the Taliban reported that a number of senior and mid-

level leaders of Wilayah Khorasan in Nangarhar Province had 

defected from ISIL and pledged allegiance to Taliban leader 

Akhtar Mansour. The defectors included members of the 

group's central council, judicial council, and prisoners council, 

as well as several field commanders and their fighters.  

On 25 December 2017, in a video of a Kashmiri militant 

declaring allegiance to the Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant 

and declaring a new ISIL Province in Kashmir, the fighter 

called on Ansar Ghazwat-ul-Hind to ally with or give allegiance 
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to ISIL and wage Jihad in Kashmir against the Indian 

government but the group declined.  

On May 15, 2019, ISIS declared new 'Pakistan Province' and 

'India Province' branches after claiming attacks in Balochistan 

and Kashmir respectively. This suggests that while the 

Khorasan Province still exists, its self-proclaimed geographical 

area is likely reduced.  

On April 4, 2020, the National Directorate of Security 

announced the arrest of the head of ISIL, Aslam Farooqi, by 

the Afghan military forces, who took him into custody along 

with 20 other commanders.  

On July 26, 2020 a United Nations report stated that even 

though the ISIL branch in Afghanistan has suffered further 

severe reverses in its former Afghan strongholds of Nangarhar 

and Kunar provinces, it was too soon to discount it as a threat 

and although in territorial retreat, ISIL in Afghanistan remains 

capable of carrying out high-profile attacks in various parts of 

the country, including Kabul, it added.  

Operations against ISIS – Khorasan 

Province 

The following are major operations conducted against ISK by 

the forces of United States, Pakistan and Afghanistan.  

MOAB Airstrike in Achin 

On 13 April 2017, a GBU43/B MOAB was dropped in an 

airstrike on a cave complex in Achin District, Nangarhar 
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Province, Afghanistan. It was the first use of the bomb on the 

battlefield. The Afghan defence ministry reported it to have 

killed over 36 militants and destroyed the tunnel complex 

including a cache of weapons. No civilian casualties were 

reported.  

Operation by Pakistan's forces 

On 14 April 2017, Pakistan's security agencies, along with the 

local police raided a house in Lahore's Factory Area as part of 

their combing operation, which was approved by Pakistan's 

Chief of Army Staff Qamar Javed Bajwa in the aftermath of 

Mall Road bombing. 

After an exchange of fire which killed one terrorist, three other 

suspects were arrested, one of them being Noreen Leghari, a 

student from Hyderabad, 

Pakistan who was claimed to be missing by her family 4 days 

prior to the raid. On a confessional statement released by 

ISPR, Noreen confessed to joining ISIL through a terrorist she 

met on social media, She also told authorities that she was 

recruited by ISIL to attack a church in Lahore on the Easter 

Sunday, two suicide jackets, four hand grenades and bullets 

were provided to them.  

On 4 September 2019, In a joint operation of Counter 

Terrorism Department, FIA and Balochistan Constabulary at 

least 6 ISIS militants were killed in an intelligence-based 

operation in Quetta's Eastern Bypass area. During the 

operation, one official of the Balochistan Constabulary was 

killed and eight others from the Counter Terrorism Department 

were injured.  
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Operations by the US and Afghan security forces in 

Nangarhar 

On 26 April 2017, a joint raid operation committed by U.S. 

Army Rangers and Afghan Special Forces in the Nangarhar 

Province resulted in the death of Sheikh Abdul Hasib, the 

leader of ISIL in Afghanistan. Along with Hasib, a number of 

other top commanders of ISIL were killed, according to a 

statement by the U.S. Military. Two U.S. soldiers died during 

the operation, possibly due to friendly fire.  

On 1 January 2019, Afghan Special Forces attacked ISIS-K in 

Nangarhar Province's Achin District, killing 27 militants 

according to officials. Two local ISIS leaders, Sediq Yar and 

Syed Omar, were reported to be among those killed. On 10 

January, senior ISIS-K commander Khetab Emir was also killed 

in a raid in Nangarhar according to a U.S. forces spokesman. 

Emir was reported to have facilitated major attacks and 

provided ISIS-K bombmakers with explosive materials.  

On April 30, 2019, Afghan government forces undertook 

clearing operations directed against both ISIS-K and the 

Taliban in eastern Nangarhar Province, after the two groups 

fought for over a week over a group of villages in an area of 

illegal talc mining. The National Directorate of Security 

claimed 22 ISIS-K fighters were killed and two weapons caches 

destroyed, while the Taliban claimed US-backed Afghan forces 

killed seven civilians; a provincial official said over 9,000 

families had been displaced by the fighting.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

1107 

 

On August 21, 2019, an airstrike killed 6 militants of the 

Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant in Nangarhar province 

including two Pakistani nationals.  

Analysis 

According to a UN report, up to 70 ISIL fighters arrived from 

Iraq and Syria to form the core of the group in Afghanistan. 

Alongside foreign fighters from Pakistan and Uzbekistan, most 

of the group's membership growth has come from recruiting 

Afghan defectors from the Taliban. US General Sean Swindell 

told the BBC that members of Khorasan Province are in contact 

with ISIL's central leadership in Syria, although the exact 

relationship between the two is unclear.  

While the group has managed to establish a foothold in 

Afghanistan, it has had less success in Pakistan, largely 

carrying out isolated, small scale attacks.  

  



Chapter 40 

Terrorism in India 

Terrorism in India, according to the Home Ministry, poses a 

significant threat to the people of India. Compared to other 

countries, India faces a wide range of terror groups. Terrorism 

found in India includes Islamic terrorism, separatist terrorism, 

and left wing terrorism India is one of the countries most 

impacted by terrorism.  

A common definition of terrorism is the systematic use or 

threatened use of violence to intimidate a population or 

government for political, religious, or ideological goals.  

India continues to face a number of terror attacks from Islamic 

groups in Kashmir, Sikh separatists in Punjab, and 

secessionist groups in Assam. The regions with long term 

terrorist activities have been Jammu and Kashmir, east-central 

and south-central India (Naxalism) and the Seven Sister 

States. In August 2008, National Security Advisor M K 

Narayanan has said that there are as many as 800 terrorist 

cells operating in the country. As of 2013, 205 of the country's 

608 districts were affected by terrorist activity. Terror attacks 

caused 231 civilian deaths in 2012 in India, compared to 

11,098 terror-caused deaths worldwide, according to the State 

Department of the United States; or about 2% of global terror 

fatalities while it accounts for 17.5% of global population.  

Reports have alleged and implicated terrorism in India to be 

sponsored by Pakistan, and some of the leading Pakistan's 

politicians including Former Pakistani presidents Pervez 
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Musharraf, Asif Ali Zardari and former Prime Minister Navaz 

Sharif have in interviews accepted these allegations. In July 

2016, the Government of India released data on a string of 

terror strikes in India since 2005 that claimed 707 lives and 

left over 3,200 injured.  

Definition 

The 8th report on terrorism in India published in 2008 defined 

terrorism as the peacetime equivalent of war crime. An act of 

terror in India includes any intentional act of violence that 

causes death, injury or property damage, induces fear, and is 

targeted against any group of people identified by their 

political, philosophical, ideological, racial, ethnic, religious or 

any other nature. This description is similar to one provided by 

the United Nations' in 2000.  

The Indian government uses the following working definition of 

terrorism, same as one widely used by Western nations as well 

as the United Nations, proposed by Schmid and Jongman in 

1988.  

Terrorism is an anxiety-inspiring method of repeated violent 

action, employed by (semi-) clandestine individual, group or 

state actors, for idiosyncratic, criminal or political reasons, 

whereby the direct targets of violence are not the main targets. 

The immediate human victims of violence are generally 

chosen randomly (targets of opportunity) or selectively 

(representative or symbolic targets) from a target population, 

and serve as message generators. Threat and violence-based 

communication processes between terrorist organisation, 

victims, and main targets are used to manipulate the main 
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target (audience(s)), turning it into a target of terror, a target 

of demands, or a target of attention, depending on whether 

intimidation, coercion, or propaganda is primarily sought. 

• —  Alex Schmid and Albert Jongman 

India subdivides terrorism in four major groups:  

• Ethno-nationalist terrorism – This form of terror 

focuses either (a) on creating a separate State within 

India or independent of India or in a neighboring 

country, or (b) on emphasising the views/response of 

one ethnic group against another. Violent Tamil 

Nationalist groups from India to address the 

condition of Tamils in Sri Lanka, as well as 

insurgent tribal groups in North East India are 

examples of ethno-nationalist terrorist activities. 

• Religious terrorism – This form of terror focuses on 

religious imperatives, a presumed duty or in 

solidarity for a specific religious group, against one 

or more religious groups. Mumbai 26/11 terror 

attack in 2008 from an Islamic group in Pakistan is 

an example of religious terrorism in India. 

• Left-wing terrorism – This form of terror focuses on 

economic ideology, where all the existing socio-

political structures are seen to be economically 

exploitative in character and a revolutionary change 

through violent means is essential. The ideology of 

Marx, Engel, Mao, Lenin and others are considered 

as the only valid economic path. Maoist violence in 

Jharkhand and Chhattisgarh are examples of left 

wing terrorism in India. 
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• Narcoterrorism – This form of terror focuses on 

creating illegal narcotics traffic zones. Drug violence 

in northwest India is an example of narco-terrorism 

in India. 

Terror groups in India 

• SATP (South Asia Terrorism Portal) has listed 180 

terrorist groups that have operated within India over 

the last 20 years, many of them co-listed as 

transnational terror networks operating in or from 

neighboring South Asian countries such as 

Bangladesh, Nepal and Pakistan. Of these, 38 are on 

the current list of terrorist organisations banned by 

India under its First Schedule of the UA(P) Act, 

1967. As of 2012, many of these were also listed and 

banned by the United States and European Union. 

Western India 

Maharashtra 

Mumbai 

Mumbai has been the most preferred target for most terrorist 

organisations, many operating with a base from Pakistan. Over 

the past few years there have been a series of attacks, 

including explosions in Mumbai Suburban trains in July 2006, 

and the most recent and unprecedented attacks of 26 

November 2008, when two of the prime hotels, a landmark 

train station, and a Jewish Chabad house, in South Mumbai, 

were attacked and sieged.  
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Terrorist attacks in Mumbai include:  

• 12 March 1993 – 13 bombs killed 257 

• 6 December 2002 – Bus bomb in Ghatkopar, killed 2 

• 27 January 2003 – Bicycle bomb in Vile Parle, killed 

1 

• 13 March 2003 – Train bomb in Mulund, killed 10 

• 28 July 2003 – Bus bomb in Ghatkopar, killed 4 

• 25 August 2003 – Two Bombs near the Gateway of 

India and Zaveri Bazaar, killed 50 

• 11 July 2006 – Seven train bombs killed 209 

• 26 November 2008 to 29 November 2008 – 

Coordinated series of attacks, killed 172. 

• 13 July 2011 – Bomb explosions at three locations, 

killed 26 

Pune 

• 13 February 2010 – a bomb explosion at the German 

Bakery in Pune killed fourteen people, and injured at 

least 60 more 

• 1 August 2012 – four bomb explosion at various 

locations on JM Road, Pune injured 1 person 

Northern and Northwestern India 

Bihar 

• Main article: 2013 Patna bombings 

On 27 October 2013, seven crude bombs exploded in Bihar 

during an election rally. One was in the Patna Junction railway 
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station, and another near a cinema hall. One person died and 

six were injured in these two blasts.  

In July 2013, nine bombs exploded in a terror attack at the 

Bodh Gaya temple complex, a Buddhist shrine, where the 

Buddha himself is said to have gained enlightenment. In 2014, 

members of banned Indian Mujahideen and Students Islamic 

Movement of India were accused and arrested for the blasts.  

Punjab 

In the 1980s, an insurgent movement turned to violence, 

seeking a separate state called Khalistan, independent of 

India. They were led by Jarnail Singh Bhindranwale who was 

neutral on the establishment of a new state.  

In 1984, Operation Blue Star was conducted by the Indian 

government to confront the movement. It involved an assault 

on the Golden Temple complex, which Sant Bhindranwale had 

fortified in preparation of an army assault. Indira Gandhi, 

India's then prime minister, ordered the military to storm the 

temple, who eventually had to use tanks. After a 74-hour 

firefight, the army successfully took control of the temple. In 

doing so, it damaged some portions of the Akal Takht, the Sikh 

Reference Library, and the Golden Temple itself. According to 

Indian government sources, 83 army personnel were killed and 

249 were injured. Militant casualties were 493 killed and 86 

injured.  

During the same year, the assassination of Indira Gandhi by 

two Sikh bodyguards, believed to be driven by the Golden 

Temple affair, resulted in widespread anti-Sikh riots, especially 

in New Delhi. Following Operation Black Thunder in 1988, 
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Punjab Police, first under Julio Ribeiro and then under KPS 

Gill, together with the Indian Army, eventually succeeded in 

pushing the movement underground.  

In 1985, Sikh terrorists bombed an Air India flight from 

Canada to India, killing all 329 people on board Air India 

Flight 182. It was one of the worst terrorist act in Canada's 

history.  

The ending of Sikh militancy and the desire for a Khalistan 

catalysed when the then-Prime Minister of Pakistan, Benazir 

Bhutto, handed all intelligence material concerning Punjab 

militancy to the Indian government, as a goodwill gesture. 

The Indian government used that intelligence to arrest those 

who were behind attacks in India and militancy.  

The ending of overt Sikh militancy in 1993 led to a period of 

relative calm, punctuated by militant acts (for example, the 

assassination of Punjab CM, Beant Singh, in 1995) attributed 

to half a dozen or so operating Sikh militant organisations. 

These organisations include Babbar Khalsa International, 

Khalistan Commando Force, Khalistan Liberation Force, and 

Khalistan Zindabad Force.  

New Delhi 

2011 High court bombing 

The 2011 Delhi bombing took place in the Indian capital Delhi 

on Wednesday, 7 September 2011 at 10:14 local time outside 
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Gate No. 5 of the Delhi High Court, where a suspected 

briefcase bomb was planted. The blast killed 12 people and 

injured 76.  

2007 Delhi security summit 

The Delhi summit on security took place on 14 February 2007 

with the foreign ministers of China, India, and Russia meeting 

in Hyderabad House, Delhi, India, to discuss terrorism, drug 

trafficking, reform of the United Nations, and the security 

situations in Afghanistan, Iran, Iraq, and North Korea.  

2005 Delhi bombings 

Three explosions went off in the Indian capital of New Delhi on 

29 October 2005, which killed more than 60 people and injured 

at least 200 others. The high number of casualties made the 

bombings the deadliest attack in India in 2005. It was followed 

by 5 bomb blasts on 13 September 2008.  

2001 Attack on Indian parliament 

Terrorists on 13 December 2001 attacked the Parliament of 

India, resulting in a 45-minute gun battle in which 9 

policemen and parliament staff were killed. All five terrorists 

were also killed by the security forces and were identified as 

Pakistani nationals. The attack took place around 11:40 am 

(IST), minutes after both Houses of Parliament had adjourned 

for the day. The suspected terrorists dressed in commando 

fatigues entered Parliament in a car through the VIP gate of 

the building. Displaying Parliament and Home Ministry 

security stickers, the vehicle entered the Parliament premises. 
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The terrorists set off massive blasts and used AK-47 rifles, 

explosives, and grenades for the attack. Senior Ministers and 

over 200 members of parliament were inside the Central Hall of 

Parliament when the attack took place. Security personnel 

sealed the entire premises, which saved many lives.  

Uttar Pradesh 

2010 Varanasi blasts 

On 7 December 2010, another blast occurred in Varanasi, that 

killed immediately a toddler, and set off a stampede in which 

20 people, including four foreigners, were injured. The 

responsibility for the attack was claimed by the Islamist 

militant group Indian Mujahideen.  

2006 Varanasi blasts 

A series of blasts occurred across the Hindu holy city of 

Varanasi on 7 March 2006. Fifteen people are reported to have 

been killed and as many as 101 others were injured. On 5 April 

2006 the Indian police arrested six Islamic militants, including 

a cleric who helped plan bomb blasts. The cleric is believed to 

be a commander of a banned Bangladeshi Islamic militant 

group, Harkatul Jihad-al Islami, and is linked to the Inter-

Services Intelligence, the Pakistani spy agency.  

2005 Ayodhya attacks 

The long simmering Ayodhya crisis finally culminated in a 

terrorist attack on the site of the 16th century Babri Masjid. 

The ancient Masjid in Ayodhya was demolished on 5 July 2005. 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 21th Century, Volume 5 
 

1117 

 

Following the two-hour gunfight between Lashkar-e-Toiba 

terrorists based in Pakistan and Indian police, in which six 

terrorists were killed, opposition parties called for a 

nationwide strike with the country's leaders condemning the 

attack, believed to have been masterminded by Dawood 

Ibrahim.  

Northeastern India 

Northeastern India consists of seven states (also known as the 

seven sisters): Assam, Meghalaya, Tripura, Arunachal Pradesh, 

Mizoram, Manipur, and Nagaland. Tension exists between 

these states and the central government, as well as amongst 

the tribal people, who are natives of these states, and migrant 

peoples from other parts of India.  

The states have accused New Delhi of ignoring the issues 

concerning them. It is this feeling which has led the natives of 

these states to seek greater participation in self-governance. 

There are existing territorial disputes between Manipur and 

Nagaland.  

Northeastern regional tension has eased of late with Indian 

and state governments' concerted effort to raise the living 

standards of the people in these regions. However, militancy 

still exists in this region of India supported by external 

sources.  

Nagaland 

After the independence of India in 1947, the area remained a 

part of the province of Assam. Nationalist activities arose 
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amongst a section of the Nagas. Phizo-led Naga National 

Council and demanded a political union of their ancestral and 

native groups. The movement led to a series of violent 

incidents, that damaged government and civil infrastructure, 

attacked government officials and civilians. The union 

government sent the Indian Army in 1955, to restore order. In 

1957, an agreement was reached between Naga leaders and the 

Indian government, creating a single separate region of the 

Naga Hills. The Tuensang frontier were united with this single 

political region, Naga Hills Tuensang Area (NHTA), and it 

became a Union territory directly administered by the Central 

government with a large degree of autonomy. 

This was not satisfactory to the tribes, however, and agitation 

with violence increased across the state – including attacks on 

army and government institutions, banks, as well as non-

payment of taxes. In July 1960, following discussion between 

the then Prime Minister Nehru and the leaders of the Naga 

People Convention (NPC), a 16-point agreement was arrived at 

whereby the Government of India recognised the formation of 

Nagaland as a full-fledged state within the Union of India.  

Nagaland became the 16th state of the Indian Union on 1 

December 1963. After elections in January 1964, the first 

democratically elected Nagaland Legislative Assembly was 

constituted on 11 February 1964. The rebel activity continued, 

in the form of banditry and attacks, motivated more by inter-

factional tribal rivalry and personal vendetta than by political 

aspiration. In November 1975, the leaders of largest rebellion 

groups agreed to lay down their arms and accept the Indian 

constitution, a small group did not agree and continued their 

insurgent activity.  
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Over the 5-year period of 2009 to 2013, between 0 and 11 

civilians died per year in Nagaland from rebellion related 

activity (or less than 1 death per year per 100,000 people), and 

between 3 and 55 militants deaths per year in inter-factional 

killings (or between 0 and 3 deaths per 100,000 people). The 

most recent Nagaland Legislative Assembly election took place 

on 23 February 2013 to elect the Members of the Legislative 

Assembly (MLA) from each of the 60 Assembly Constituencies 

in the state. The voter turnout was 83% and Nagaland People's 

Front was elected to power with 37 seats.  

Assam 

After Nagaland, Assam is the most volatile state in the region. 

Beginning in 1979, the indigenous people of Assam demanded 

that the illegal immigrants who had emigrated from 

Bangladesh to Assam be detected and deported. The movement 

led by All Assam Students Union began non-violently with 

satyagraha, boycotts, picketing, and courting arrests.  

Those protesting frequently came under police action. In 1983 

an election was conducted, which was opposed by the 

movement leaders. The election led to widespread violence. The 

movement finally ended after the movement leaders signed an 

agreement (called the Assam Accord) with the central 

government on 15 August 1985.  

Under the provisions of this accord, anyone who entered the 

state illegally between January 1966 and March 1971 was 

allowed to remain but was disenfranchised for ten years, while 

those who entered after 1971 faced expulsion. A November 

1985 amendment to the Indian citizenship law allows non-
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citizens who entered Assam between 1961 and 1971 to have all 

the rights of citizenship except the right to vote for a period of 

ten years.  

New Delhi also gave special administration autonomy to the 

Bodos in the state. However, the Bodos demanded a separate 

Bodoland, which led to a clash between the Bengalis, the 

Bodos, and the Indian military resulting in hundreds of deaths.  

There are several organisations that advocate the independence 

of Assam. The most prominent of these is the United Liberation 

Front of Asom (ULFA). Formed in 1979, the ULFA has two main 

goals: the independence of Assam and the establishment of a 

socialist government.  

The ULFA has carried out several terrorist attacks in the 

region targeting the Indian Military and non-combatants. The 

group assassinates political opponents, attacks police and 

other security forces, blasts railroad tracks, and attacks other 

infrastructure facilities. The ULFA is believed to have strong 

links with the Nationalist Socialist Council of Nagaland (NSCN), 

Maoists, and the Naxalites.  

It is also believed that they carry out most of their operations 

from the Kingdom of Bhutan. Because of ULFA's increased 

visibility, the Indian government outlawed the group in 1986 

and declared Assam a troubled area. Under pressure from New 

Delhi, Bhutan carried a massive operation to drive out the 

ULFA militants from its territory.  

Backed by the Indian Army, Thimphu was successful in killing 

more than a thousand terrorists and extraditing many more to 

India while sustaining only 120 casualties. The Indian military 
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undertook several successful operations aimed at countering 

future ULFA terrorist attacks, but the ULFA continues to be 

active in the region. In 2004, the ULFA targeted a public school 

in Assam, killing 19 children and 5 adults.  

Assam remains the only state in the northeast where terrorism 

is still a major issue. On 18 September 2005, a soldier was 

killed in Jiribam, Manipur, near the Manipur-Assam border, by 

members of the ULFA. On 14 March 2011, Bodo militants of 

the Ranjan Daimary-led faction ambushed patrolling troop of 

BSF when on way from Bangladoba in Chirang district of 

Assam to Ultapani in Kokrajhar killing 8 jawans.  

On 5 August 2016, a terrorist attack was reported in the 

market area Balajan Tinali of the city of Kokrajhar that 

resulted in deaths of 14 civilians and injuries to 15 others. 

Three terrorists, suspected to be Bodo militants, were reported 

to have attacked using AK-47 and used a grenade. OP Singh. 

Director General of Police said in a press conference the 

terrorist from the Hizbul Mujahideen group arrested in the city 

of Kanpur was Qamar-uz-Zama.he is 37 years old and is a 

resident of Assam.  

Manipur 

Like its sister states in Northeast, Manipur has experienced 

years of insurgency and inter-ethnic violence while it was part 

of Assam and sought more rights. The state joined India on 21 

September 1949, when Maharaja Budhachandra signed a 

Treaty of Accession merging the kingdom into India; this 

merger was disputed by various groups in Manipur as having 

been completed without consensus and under duress. Manipur 
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was part of Assam after 1949, became a Union Territory in 

1956. The first armed opposition group in Manipur, the United 

National Liberation Front (UNLF), was founded in 1964, which 

declared that it wanted to gain more rights or outright 

independence from India. After several rounds of negotiations, 

Manipur became a full state in 1972 along with several other 

sister states of the Northeast. Post statehood, more groups 

continued to form in Manipur, each with different goals, and 

deriving support from diverse ethnic groups in Manipur. For 

example, in 1977 the People's Revolutionary Party of 

Kangleipak (PREPAK) was formed, the People's Liberation Army 

(PLA) was formed in 1978. In 1980, the Kangleipak Communist 

Party (KCP) was formed. 

These groups began a spree of bank robberies and attacks on 

police officers and government buildings. The state government 

appealed to the central government in New Delhi for support in 

combating this violence. In 1980, the central government 

brought the entire state of Manipur under the Armed Forces 

(Special Powers) Act (AFSPA) because its state government 

claimed that the use of the Armed Forces in aid of the state 

and local police is necessary to prevent violent deaths and to 

maintain law and order.  

The violence in Manipur includes significant inter-ethnic tribal 

rivalry. There is violence between the Meiteis, Nagas, Kukis 

and other tribal groups. They have formed splinter groups who 

disagree with each other. Other than UNLF, PLA and PREPAK 

mentioned above, other Manipuri insurgent groups include 

Revolutionary Peoples Front (RPF), Manipur Liberation Front 

Army (MLFA), Kanglei Yawol Khnna Lup (KYKL), Revolutionary 

Joint Committee (RJC), Peoples United Liberation Front (PULF), 
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Kuki National Front (KNF), Kuki National Army (KNA), Kuki 

Defence Force (KDF), Kuki Democratic Movement (KDM), Kuki 

National Organisation (KNO), Kuki Security Force (KSF), Chin 

Kuki Revolutionary Front (CKRF), Kom Rem Peoples Convention 

(KRPC), Zomi Revolutionary Volunteers (ZRV), Zomi 

Revolutionary Army (ZRA), Zomi Reunification Organisation 

(ZRO), and Hmar Peoples Convention (HPC).  

According to SATP (the South Asia Terrorism Portal), there has 

been a large decline in fatalities in Manipur in recent decades. 

Since 2010, about 25 civilians have died in militants-related 

violence (about 1 per 100,000 people), dropping further to 21 

civilian deaths in 2013 (or 0.8 per 100,000 people). Most of 

these deaths have been from inter-factional violence. Elections 

have been held regularly over recent decades. The last state 

assembly elections were held in 2012, with 79.2% voter 

turnout and the incumbent re-elected to power.  

Mizoram 

In 1947, Mizoram was part of Assam, and its districts were 

controlled by hereditary tribal chiefs. The educated elites 

among the Mizos campaigned against the tribal chiefdom under 

the banner of Mizo Union. As a result of their campaign, the 

hereditary rights of the 259 chiefs were abolished under the 

Assam-Lushai District (Acquisition of Chief's Rights) Act, 1954. 

Village courts, which were disbanded by the colonial 

authorities during their re-structuring of Assam, were re-

implemented in Mizo region. All of these regions were 

frustrated by these arrangements and centralized Assam 

governance. The Mizos were particularly dissatisfied with the 

government's inadequate response to the 1959–60 mautam 
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famine. The Mizo National Famine Front, a body formed for 

famine relief in 1959, later developed into a new political 

organisation, the Mizo National Front (MNF) in 1961. A period 

of protests and armed insurgency followed in the 1960s, with 

MNF seeking independence from India.  

In 1971, the government agreed to convert the Mizo Hills into a 

Union Territory, which came into being as Mizoram in 1972. 

Following the Mizoram Peace Accord (1986) between the 

Government and the MNF, Mizoram was declared a full-fledged 

state of India in 1987. Mizoram got two seats in the 

Parliament, one each in the Lok Sabha and in the Rajya Sabha. 

Per the accord, insurgents surrendered their arms. The first 

election of Mizoram Legislative Assembly was held on 16 

February 1987. Elections have been held at 5 year intervals 

since then. The most recent Mizoram elections were held for 40 

seats of legislative assembly on 25 November 2013. The voter 

turnout was 81%. The Indian National Congress led by Lal 

Thanhawla was re-elected to power. The region has been 

peaceful in recent decades. Between 2006 and 2013, between 0 

and 2 civilians have died each year from any protest-related 

violence (or less than 0.2 people per 100,000).  

South India 

Karnataka 

2008 Bangalore serial blasts occurred on 25 July 2008 in 

Bangalore, India. A series of nine bombs exploded in which two 

people were killed and 20 injured. According to the Bangalore 

City Police, the blasts were caused by low-intensity crude 

bombs triggered by timers.  
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2010 Bangalore stadium bombing occurred on 17 April 2010 in 

M. Chinnaswamy Stadium, Bangalore, India. Two bombs 

exploded in a heavily packed Cricket stadium in which fifteen 

people were injured. A third bomb was found and defused 

outside the stadium.  

Andhra Pradesh 

Andhra Pradesh is one of the few southern states affected by 

terrorism, although of a far different kind and on a much 

smaller scale. The terrorism in Andhra Pradesh stems from the 

People's War Group (PWG), popularly known as Naxalites.  

The PWG has been operating in India for over two decades, 

with most of its operations in the Telangana region in Andhra 

Pradesh. The group is also active in Odisha and Bihar. Unlike 

the Kashmiri insurgents and ULFA, PWG is a Maoist terrorist 

organisation and communism is one of its primary goals.  

Having failed to capture popular support in the elections, they 

resorted to violence as a means to voice their opinions. The 

group targets Indian Police, multinational companies, and 

other influential institutions in the name of the communism. 

PWG has also targeted senior government officials, including 

the attempted assassination of former Andhra Pradesh Chief 

Minister Chandrababu Naidu.  

It reportedly has a strength of 800 to 1,000 well armed 

militants and is believed to have close links with the Maoists 

in Nepal and the LTTE of Sri Lanka. According to the Indian 

government, on an average, more than 60 civilians, 60 naxal 

rebels and a dozen policemen are killed every year because of 

PWG led insurgency.  
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Hyderabad 

25 August 2007 Hyderabad bombings, two bombs exploded 

almost simultaneously on 25 August 2007 in Hyderabad, 

capital of the Indian state of Andhra Pradesh. The first bomb 

exploded in Lumbini Amusement Park at 19:45 hrs IST. The 

second bomb exploded five minutes later at 19:50 in Gokul 

Chat Bhandar.  

The Mecca Masjid bombing occurred on 18 May 2007 inside the 

Mecca Masjid, (or "Makkah Masjid") a mosque the old city area 

in Hyderabad, capital of the Indian state of Telangana (then 

undivided Andhra Pradesh) located very close to Charminar. 

The blast was caused by a cellphone-triggered pipe bomb. 

Fourteen people were reported dead in the immediate 

aftermath, of whom five(official record:disputed) were killed by 

the police firing after the incident while trying to quell the 

mob.  

The most recent 2013 Hyderabad blasts occurred around 19:00 

IST. The two blasts occurred in the Indian city of Hyderabad's 

Dilsukhnagar. The simultaneous blasts occurred near a bus 

stop and a cinema.  

Tamil Nadu 

Tamil Nadu had LTTE (Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam) 

militants operating in the Tamil Nadu state up until the 

assassination of former Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi. LTTE had 

given many speeches in Tamil Nadu led by Velupillai 

Prabhakaran, Tamilselvan, and other Eelam members. The 

Tamil Tigers, now a banned organisation, had been receiving 
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many donations and support from India in the past. The Tamil 

Nadu Liberation Army is a militant Tamil movement in India 

that has ties to LTTE.  

Meenambakkam bomb blast 

Meenambakkam bomb blast was an explosion that occurred on 

2 August 1984 at Meenambakkam International Airport at 

Chennai, Tamil Nadu. 33 persons were killed and 27 others 

were injured. The Tamil Eelam Army was suspected. Several 

members were convicted in 1998.  

1998 Coimbatore bombings 

Tamil Nadu also faced terrorist attacks orchestrated by Muslim 

fundamentalists.  

In popular culture 

Terrorism has also been depicted in various Indian films, 

prominent among them being Mani Ratnam's Roja (1992) and 

Dil Se.. (1998), Govind Nihlani's Drohkaal (1994), Santosh 

Sivan's The Terrorist (1999), Anurag Kashyap's Black Friday 

(2004) on the 1993 Bombay bombings, Fanaa (2006), and 

Sikandar (2009) on Terrorism in Kashmir. Raj Kumar Gupta's 

Aamir (2008) and Amal Neerad's Anwar (2010), Hotel Mumbai 

(2018) and Blank (2019) are other examples.  

  



Chapter 41 

Terrorist Incidents in India 

2000 Church bombings of South India 

The 2000 Church bombings refers to the serial bombings of 

churches in the southern Indian states of Karnataka, Goa and 

Andhra Pradesh by the Islamist extremist group Deendar 

Anjuman in the year 2000.  

Bombings 

On 21 May 2000, a Christian congregation at Machilipatnam 

was bombed.  

On 28 May 2000, bombs exploded in churches at Medak and 

Vikarabad.  

On 8 June 2000, two bombs exploded at the St Annes Church 

in Wadi. The church was damaged and two persons were 

injured.  

On 9 June 2000, a bomb exploded in the St. Andrews church 

in Vasco, Goa.  

On 8 July 2000, two churches bombed in Andhra Pradesh, 

Gewett Memorial Baptist Church in Ongole and the Mother 

Vannini Catholic Church in Tadepalligudem town. The blast in 

the Ongole church injured three persons.  
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On 8 July 2000, a blast took place at the St Johns Lutheran 

Church in Hubbali.  

On 9 July 2000, an bomb exploded at the St Peter Paul Church 

in Bengaluru.  

On 9 July 2000, a bomb went off accidentally while the 

terrorists were transporting them in a Maruti van.  

Aftermath 

Deendar Anjuman was banned in May 2001 for engineering the 

serial bomb blasts, and carrying out a hate campaign against 

the Christian community. The group's founder Siddique is 

reported to have hated Christians after the British colonial 

government in 1934 jailed Siddiqui and 18 of his followers for 

indulging in inflammatory speeches and writings.  

In October 2007 the ban was extended and the group declared 

an unlawful association under the Unlawful Activities 

(Prevention) Act for "indulging in activities which are pre-

judicial to the security of the country having the potential to 

disturb peace and communal harmony and to disrupt the 

secular fabric of the country".  

In 2008, Capital punishment was awarded to 11 people and life 

sentence to 12 others by a local court. The prime accused in 

the case, Zia-ul-Hassan was the son of Syed Siddique Hussain, 

the founder of Deendar Anjuman. Zia-ul-Hassan had migrated 

to Pakistan and used to visit Hyderabad during his father's 

death anniversary. The accused believed that "blasts at 

churches in India would trigger a civil war between Hindus and 
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Christians, and a religious leader from Afghanistan would 

invade and conquer India, which would be converted into an 

Islamic country".  

The serial blasts were carried out by activists of Deendar 

Channabasaveshwara Anjuman, founded in the 1920s. The 

conspiracy was hatched in October 1999 in Hyderabad, during 

the death anniversary of its founder Hajrath Moulana Siddiqui.  

2000 terrorist attack on Red Fort 

On 22 December 2000, a terrorist attack took place on the Red 

Fort in Delhi, India. It was carried out by the Pakistani 

terrorist group Lashkar-e-Taiba. It killed two soldiers and one 

civilian, in what was described by the media as an attempt to 

derail the India-Pakistan peace talks. 

The Red Fort is an extremely important Indian facility as it 

hosts the Prime Minister of India annually on 15 August which 

is the Indian Independence Day. It is also significant 

historically as it was taken over from British control and is an 

iconic site in India. As a result of the attack, India as a whole 

was shaken.  

Lashkar-e-Taiba terrorist Bilal Ahmed Kawa who planned and 

executed the terror attack was arrested in a joint operation by 

the Special Cell of the Delhi Police and the Gujarat ATS from 

Delhi Airport on 10 January 2018. It took 17 years to arrest 

him. The 37-year-old has been remanded to a Police Special 

Cell in Delhi for further probing. He was arrested on the basis 

of a tip-off received by Gujarat ATS regarding his movement 

from Srinagar to Delhi.  
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Attack 

On 22 December 2000 starting at approximately 9:00 pm, two 

Lashkar-e-Taiba militants began firing indiscriminately and 

gunned down two army jawans belonging to the 7th Rajputana 

Rifles and a civilian security guard. The troops were placed at 

the fort due to its extreme importance within Indian history. 

The Red Fort used to house British army barracks; it was 

taken over by the Indian Army after Indian independence from 

the British rule. The intruders received returning fire from the 

Quick Reaction Team of the battalion. All the intruders 

escaped the Red Fort by scaling over the boundary wall on the 

rear side of the complex.  

Casualties 

A total of three persons- Abdullah Thakur, a civilian sentry, 

Rifleman Uma Shankar, and Naik Ashok Kumar- lost their lives 

as a result of the attack. Naik Ashok Kumar succumbed to his 

injuries in a Delhi hospital hours after the event occurred.  

Assailants 

The attack on Red Fort is believed to have been orchestrated by 

a Lashkar-e-Taiba militant. The Indian courts convicted six 

others in October 2005, with sentences of variety of lengths. In 

September 2007, due to the lack of evidence, the six other 

assailants were released. The Pakistan-based militant group, 

Lashkar-e-Taiba, took responsibility of the attacks. The 

attacks strained already tense relations between India and 

Pakistan.   
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2001 Jammu and Kashmir legislative 

assembly car bombing 

On Monday, 1 October 2001, three militants belonging to 

Jaish-e-Mohammed carried out an attack on the Jammu and 

Kashmir State Legislative Assembly complex in Srinagar using 

a Tata Sumo loaded with explosives, ramming it into the main 

gate with three fidayeen suicide bombers. 38 people and three 

fidayeen were killed in this attack. 

Attack 

The attack took place at about 2 pm, one hour after close of 

business. One terrorist attacker drove a Tata Sumo loaded with 

explosives to the main entrance and exploded it. The other 

militants entered the building and seized control. All militants 

were killed in the ensuing gunbattle which lasted several 

hours. No Lawmaker was killed since they were meeting in 

temporary facilities as the legislature building had recently 

been damaged in a fire. Many senior leaders had already left 

the building. The speaker Mr Abdul Ahad Vakil was escorted to 

safety by the security forces.  

Aftermath 

The terrorist group Jaish-e-Mohammed claimed responsibility 

and named a Pakistani national Wajahat Hussain as the 

suicide bomber. Subsequently, the Indian foreign Ministry 

issued a strongly worded statement aimed clearly at the 

government of Pakistan. "India cannot accept such 
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manifestations of hate and terror from across its borders" said 

the statement. "There is a limit to India's patience." Farooq 

Abdullah, chief minister of Jammu and Kashmir, eulogized the 

38 victims and called for reprisal attacks on Pakistan, where 

the group blamed for the attack is based. "The time has come 

to wage a war against Pakistan and to bomb the militant 

training camps there" he said. "We are running out of 

patience."  

2002 attack on American cultural centre 

in Kolkata 

Four police constables and a private security guard were killed 

and 20 other people injured when, on 22 January 2002, 

Islamic militants attacked an American cultural centre in 

Kolkata, India. The centre houses a library, the American 

embassy's public affairs office, a press section and a cultural 

wing.  

Two motorcycle-borne attackers, draped in shawls, sped up to 

the American Centre building at about 6:15 IST, refusing to 

stop at checkpoints and began shooting at police guards from 

an AK-47 assault rifle who returned fire. Four of the dead were 

Kolkata police constables while the one of the dead belonged to 

a private security agency Group Four. The constables killed in 

the attack were identified as Pijush Sarker, Ujjal Burman, 

Suresh Hembram and Anup Mondal and belonged to the 5th 

battalion of Kolkata Armed Police.  

Two groups claimed responsibility for the attack. A Harkat-ul-

Jihad al-Islami (HUJI) member, Farhan Malik owned 
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responsibility and said the attack was in protest against "the 

evil empire of America", while another person claiming to be a 

member of Asif Raza Commandos, a gang with ties to radical 

Islamic groups, claimed responsibility. Malik was also wanted 

in connection with a case of kidnapping a Kolkata shoe baron 

Partha Pratim Roy Barman, who was later released on a 

ransom of ₹37.5 million.  

Four days after the attack, two men — Salim and Zahid — were 

killed in an encounter with a Delhi police team in Hazaribagh 

in Jharkhand. The police had come to know about the 

involvement of Aftab Ansari in the American Centre attack from 

the dying declarations of Salim and Zahid.  

On 23 January 2002, Aftab Ansari alias Farhan Malik, prime 

suspect in the attack was arrested in Dubai. On 9 February 

2002, he was deported to India. Ansari was in possession of 

Pakistani travel documents with his passport number J872142, 

being issued in Lahore in February, 2000, in the name of 

Shafiq Mohammad Rana.  

On 28 April 2005, a Special CBI Court found Aftab Ansari and 

six others guilty for the attack. Aftab Ansari and Jamiluddin 

Nasir were sentenced to death under Section 121 of the Indian 

Penal Code for waging war against the state. The others 

sentenced along with Ansari are: Rehan Alam, Musharat 

Hussain, Adil Hasan, Hasrat Alam and Shakir Akhtar.  

On 5 February 2010, the Calcutta High Court upheld the death 

sentence of Aftab Ansari and Jamiluddin Nasir but commuted 

the capital punishment awarded to three others to seven years 

imprisonment.  
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2002 Jaunpur train crash 

The Jaunpur train crash was the result of an act of sabotage 

that caused the derailment of a passenger train at Jaunpur in 

Uttar Pradesh, a state in Northern India on 13 May 2002.  

The Shramjeevi Express was travelling from New Delhi to Patna 

at a time of high tension between Muslim and Hindu groups in 

the area . The train derailed suddenly after hitting a broken 

rail, throwing the carriages in the air and dragging thirteen of 

them off the rails, some into each other.  

There was no fire, and local people and emergency services 

were able to rescue everyone from the wreckage promptly and 

effectively, with the 80 injured receiving medical care at local 

hospitals. Twelve passengers were reported to have been killed 

as a result of the crash, all in one carriage that rolled over.  

Following the incident, reports from local police surfaced 

indicating that the train had derailed because somebody had 

removed restraining fishplates from the rails, thus causing 

them to shift out of alignment as successive trains passed over 

them. These plates had not been stolen, but had been 

deliberately removed and left in the vicinity, indicating a 

terrorist attack. This opinion was confirmed by subsequent 

investigations into the accident.  

Trains in the Jaunpur area are frequently targeted by 

terrorists, such as the 2005 Jaunpur train bombing, and one 

of the most effective ways to derail a train surreptitiously is 

through the removal of fishplates before the train passes by, as 

in the Rafiganj rail disaster. Railway officials suggested that 
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the sabotage was conducted by the Student's Islamic Movement 

of India, but several other Islamic extremist organisations have 

been known to operate in the state as well (see Terrorism in 

India).  

2002 Raghunath temple attacks 

2002 Raghunath Temple bombings refers to two fidayeen 

attacks in 2002 on the Raghunath Temple in Jammu in India. 

Built by Maharaja Ranbir Singh in 1860, the Raghunath temple 

is dedicated to Hindu God Rama. The first attack occurred on 

30 March 2002 when two suicide bombers attacked the temple. 

Eleven persons including three security personnel were killed 

and 20 were injured. 

The attack occurred around 10:20 AM when the muslim 

terrorists arrived and fired at the guards killing them on the 

spot. They then stormed the temple, threw a grenade and fired 

indiscriminately at the worshippers. After expending his 

ammunition one of the attackers who was wearing a suicide 

vest blew himself up. Then Minister of State for External 

Affairs of India, Omar Abdullah, blamed Pakistan for the 

terrorist attacks on the Raghunath temple in Jammu and ruled 

out withdrawing troops from the border, saying Islamabad had 

done nothing to warrant it. 

The fidayeen suicide squad attacked the temple second time on 

24 November 2002 when two suicide bombers stormed the 

temple and killed fourteen devotees and injured 45 others. 

Witnesses said terrorists hurled grenades and fired 

indiscriminately on the heavily guarded Raghunath temple. 

India blamed a Pakistan-based militant group, Lashkar-e-
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Taiba, for the attack. Deputy Prime Minister Lal Krishna 

Advani of India blamed the recent release by the government of 

Pakistan of the chief of the Lashkar-e-Taiba, Hafiz Muhammad 

Saeed for the attack.  

The personnel of Central Reserve Police Force Yatindra Nath 

Rai,  

Assistant Commandant, Dev Singh, Head Constable, E.G. Rao, 

Head Constable, T.A.Singh, Constable, and Late K.K. Pandey, 

Constable displayed conspicuous gallantry, courage and 

devotion to duty of a high order. Late K K Pandey was 

posthumously awarded President's Police Medal for Gallantry. 

Yatindra Nath Rai, Dev Singh, E.G.Rao and T.A. Singh were 

awarded Police Medal for Gallantry.  

Rafiganj train wreck 

The Rafiganj rail disaster was the derailment of a train on a 

bridge over the Dhave River in North-Central India, on 10 

September 2002. At least 130 people were killed in the 

accident, which was reportedly due to sabotage by a local 

Maoist terrorist group, the Naxalites.  

The accident occurred at 10:40 PM, when the Eastern 

Railway's high-speed, luxury Howrah Rajdhani Express train 

travelling at a speed of 130km/hr derailed on a 300-foot bridge 

over the Dhave River near the town of Rafiganj near Gaya.  

The train had left Howrah with over 1,000 people on board six 

hours before, and was heading towards New Delhi when the 

tragedy happened. Fifteen of the eighteen train cars derailed 
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and fell across the tracks, two of them tumbling into the river 

beneath. People from other carriages were also thrown into the 

water by the force of the crash.  

Rescuers, including local military forces, were hampered by the 

region's poor roads, which become muddy streams in 

rainstorms. This occurred the evening of the crash. Local 

people attempted to give what aid they could, and 125 people 

were pulled to safety by morning, but nothing could be done 

for those trapped in the carriages that had fallen into the 

swollen river.  

The death toll continued to rise over the next weeks. The river 

was searched for bodies. Several were found near villages 

downstream. The full death toll is unlikely to ever be known. In 

all, 130 bodies were recovered, but some sources claim that as 

many as 50 people are still missing, although the government 

has not responded to this issue. Some news reports give the 

figure of those killed as high as 200. At least 150 people were 

injured.  

The cause of the crash was not immediately obvious, but it was 

originally thought that rust and metal fatigue on the colonial 

era bridge contributed to a shift in the structure which cracked 

the rails, perhaps as a result of the heavy rains in the area. A 

railway employee commented that "The bridge was considered 

weak for a long time", but as in the Kadalundi River rail 

disaster of thirteen months previously, nothing was done to 

repair the structure.  

A later enquiry reported the cause as sabotage, pointing to 

missing "fish plates" which were intended to anchor the rails to 

the bridge. These had apparently been removed at some point 
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shortly before the crash. The investigators reported that the 

plates had probably been removed by Naxalites, who were 

conducting a low-intensity guerrilla war at the time. The 

leaders of their organisation, the People's War Group had 

recently been arrested, and this was described as a being a 

revenge attack.  

Other commentators have questioned this view, some claiming 

that fish plates were not missing at all, or that they were 

dislodged during the crash and fell into the river. Others assert 

that the fish plates may have been missing either through 

common theft for scrap metal or through the shifting of the 

weakened bridge shortly before the accident. The Naxalites 

themselves have not claimed credit for the "attack", and have 

never been known to target trains before.  

2002 Mumbai bus bombing 

At 18:45 IST on Monday, 2 December 2002, a bomb placed 

under a seat of a B.E.S.T. bus exploded near the busy 

Ghatkopar station. The bomb was placed in the rear of a bus 

near the station and killed two people and injured over 50. 

Ghatkopar being the final stop, all the passengers in the bus 

had just alighted and passengers for the return trip had not 

yet entered the bus. The people who were killed were those 

present in the busy station area.  

Later, the police defused an unexploded bomb from another 

BEST bus in SEEPZ industrial area at Andheri.  

The police arrested several young men for the blast. All were 

acquitted in the subsequent trial. One of the arrested Khwaja 
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Yunus, allegedly escaped from the police custody. Now it is 

held that Khwaja Yunus died in police custody of torture. The 

accused policemen are being tried in a fast track court.   

This was the first in a series of five bombings against the city 

within a period of less than nine months. Other bombings 

included:  

• 27 January 2003 Mumbai bombing 

• 2003 Mumbai train bombing 

• 2003 Mumbai bus bombing 

• 25 August 2003 Mumbai bombings 

Kurnool train crash 

The Kurnool train crash was the derailment and crash of a 

passenger train in Kurnool district in Andhra Pradesh, India, 

on 21 December 2002.  

The Kacheguda - Bengaluru City Superfast Express was an 

express passenger service traveling between Hyderabad and 

Bangalore, entered Kurnool district at 1.00am, when it 

suddenly derailed, throwing the engine and seven carriages off 

the track and into one another. Twenty people were killed in 

the wreckage or died later in hospital, as local people flocked 

to the train to help those injured. Emergency services were 

able to quickly respond, and so there was no fire, which could 

have claimed many more lives.  

In addition to the dead, approximately 80 people were listed as 

injured, with around 30 requiring hospitalization in Gooty, the 

nearest town. The line was hastily cleared to allow service to 
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resume as soon as possible. During the hasty repairs to the 

rails, it was discovered that one of the railway tracks had been 

recently and deliberately severed, which caused the 

derailment.  

Sabotage is often claimed following rail crashes in India, which 

has approximately 100 domestic terrorist groups, some of 

which have been known to target trains, such as the Rafiganj 

rail disaster of two months previously. Sometimes, sabotage is 

suggested by politicians or railway staff to cover up their own 

mistakes or corruption which can lead to poor maintenance. 

Such was initially possible here, with many criticizing the 

premature announcement of sabotage as the cause by local 

police.  

Further investigations discovered used hacksaw blades and 

cloth used to disguise the broken line at the scene. 

Investigators believe the saboteurs took several nights to cut 

through the rail, which was remote enough that no one would 

see them at work. 

Later reports agreed that the crash was caused by sabotage. No 

terrorist organisation took credit, and no motive for causing 

the crash could be established.  

Thirteen months after the attack, police in Hyderabad arrested 

a man named Syed Abdul Nayeem, a Lashkar-e-Taiba activist, 

who failed a 'brainwave fingerprinting test' after being 

questioned by Indian police. He was charged with being 

involved in both this rail sabotage and a bombing which killed 

two people in the Sai Baba Temple.  
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Akshardham Temple attack 

On 24 September 2002, two Terrorists attacked the 

Swaminarayan Akshardham complex at Gandhinagar, Gujarat, 

India. They killed 30 people and injured more than 80. 

National Security Guards intervened and ended the siege the 

next day, killing both Terrorists. Six accused were later 

arrested by Gujarat Police. 

Initial approach 

At approximately 4:45 pm on 24 September 2002, a white car 

dropped off two terrorists between the ages of 20 and 25 

carrying haversacks and jackets filled with automatic weapons 

and grenades at Gate 3 of the Akshardham Temple Complex. 

When the two attempted to enter the Akshardham Temple 

Complex, the volunteers stopped the armed terrorists for a 

security screening.  

Bypassing the screening, the terrorists jumped over the 7-foot 

high fence and started firing their guns as they began their 

rampage through the complex. 

A priest recalled "a mother begging for the lives of her 

children-later identified as Priya and Bhailu Chauhan, aged 

three and four. The woman, Sumitra, had been running with 

her little boy and girl when she was felled by a bullet in the 

leg. 

The killer nodded to her pleas, then turned his gun towards 

the children and, to the horror of the mother, mowed them 

down."  
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Main Akshardham Temple infiltration attempt 

The perpetrators rushed towards the central walkway of the 

complex while firing shots at visitors and pilgrims who were 

browsing a nearby bookstall and proceeded to the main temple 

while throwing hand grenades. As the Akshardham staff, 

including the temple supervisor, Khodsinh Jadhav witnessed 

the killings, they rushed across the 200-foot walkway and shut 

the 15-foot doors of the main temple. As a result, the terrorists 

were unable to infiltrate the main temple where 35 people were 

offering prayers.  

At 4:48 pm, three minutes after the attack began, Vishwavihari 

Swami, at the Akshardham Temple Complex, made an SOS call 

to Chief Minister Narendra Modi's office and informed them 

about the attack. Within minutes, Gandhinagar's district police 

chief R.B.Brahmbhatt was dispatched to the scene. 

Additionally, the State Commando force was instructed to also 

arrive at the Akshardham Temple Complex. Meanwhile, outside 

of the Akshardham Temple Complex, local individuals 

mobilised into volunteers.   

Shifting targets 

Thereafter, the terrorists, unable to infiltrate the main 

monument, moved towards the exhibition halls. The volunteers 

had locked all the doors of the exhibition halls; however, the 

terrorists entered Exhibition Hall 1, which contained the 

multimedia show, by prying open the exit door.Upon entering 

the hall, they fired shots at the audience, killing and wounding 

men, women and children.  
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By 5:15 pm, Chief Minister of Gujarat Narendra Modi called the 

Deputy Prime Minister L.K. Advani in Delhi and asked for the 

National Security Guards (NSG), commonly referred to as Black 

Cat Commandos. The terrorists left Exhibition Hall 1, as they 

entered, through the exit door, and climbed onto and hid in the 

parikrama, the outer perimeter of the temple.  

Authorities pursue terrorists 

Within 10–15 minutes of the attack, police security guards and 

commandos had reached the premises. The police and 

commandos escorted the visitors from around the complex to 

safety, while volunteers helped transport the injured victims to 

nearby hospitals.  

The police and commandos searched for the two terrorists, who 

were focused on retreating to an alternative hiding spot. 

During this temporary halt, the police and commandos also 

guided the remaining 100 visitors in Exhibition Hall 1 to a safe 

location outside of the complex.  

At 7:30 pm, as the security guards guided 30 visitors from 

inside the main monument to safety, the terrorists, who had 

climbed atop the parikrama, the outer perimeter of the temple, 

opened fire at the commandos. During this attack, no one was 

hurt. Since the commandos had surrounded the area and 

continued the crossfire, the terrorist found it difficult to 

escape.  

National Security Guards (NSG) pursue and kill terrorists 

At 10:10 pm, two buses of NSG commandos and one bus filled 

with NSG equipment arrived at Akshardham. By approximately 
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11:30 pm, after reviewing multiple strategies, 35 Black Cat 

commandos positioned themselves throughout the Akshardham 

Temple Complex in an effort to find the terrorists.  

The search for the terrorists continued throughout the night. 

At around midnight, the terrorists jumped down from the 

parikrama and entered a nearby bathroom. The National 

Security Guards planned to pass the night until daybreak 

before attempting to locate the terrorists.  

During this time period, the guards fired in order to draw fire 

from the terrorists and consequently use up their ammunition. 

The officers situated themselves around the Akshardham 

Temple Complex. The National Security Guards were first in 

line, followed by men from the Rapid Action Force, Border 

Security Force, State Reserve Police and the Anti-Terrorist 

Squad.  

As the night progressed, the terrorists moved into another 

area, a grove of trees near exhibition hall 3. By daybreak, the 

terrorists became desperate and the firing continued.  

At approximately 6:45 am, the 14-hour-long ordeal ended with 

the Black Cat Commandos shooting the two terrorists hiding in 

the bushes. During this overnight search for the attackers, one 

state police officer and one commando lost their lives. Another 

commando, Surjan Singh Bhandari, was seriously injured and 

died in May 2004, after being in coma for two years.  

Government reaction 

On 25 September 2002, Prime Minister of India Atal Bihari 

Vajpayee said that the attack on the Akshardham Temple 
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Complex in Gandhinagar, Gujarat was a well thought out 

conspiracy and that the federal government will launch a 

thorough investigation and get to the bottom of it.  

Aftermath 

The head of BAPS Swaminarayan Sanstha which manages the 

temple, Pramukh Swami Maharaj, appealed to maintain peace. 

The Gujarat government took the stance to maintain peace 

within the region and a resolve to promote solidarity. Peace 

was appealed by the Prime Minister of India Vajpayee, the 

Deputy PM L. K. Advani, Governor of Gujarat Sunder Singh 

Bhandari and Chief Minister of Gujarat Narendra Modi.   

By the end of the attack, at least 30 persons were killed 

excluding attackers and more than 80 persons were wounded 

including at least 23 police officers. Apart from the 27 people 

killed in the first assault, two state police officers and one 

commando were also killed in the action. One more seriously 

injured commando Surjan Singh Bhandari was hit in the head 

with a bullet, he died after nearly 2 years of being in a coma.  

BAPS also organized a condolence meeting after the attack. The 

prayer assembly commenced with devotional prayers sung by 

swamis for the peace of the departed souls, grieving relatives 

and all sympathisers. Then the entire gathering observed a 2-

minute silent prayer for the deceased and injured, and for 

harmony. BAPS Swaminarayan Sanstha donated:  

• Rs. 300,000 for the family of the deceased NSG 

Commando Subedar Suresh Chandra Yadav 
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• Rs. 200,000 each for the families of deceased State 

Commandos Shri Arjun Singh Gameti and Shri Allah 

Rakha Unadjam 

• Rs. 200,000 for the injured NSG Commando Surjan 

Singh 

• Rs. 100,000 for the 29 families of the pilgrims who 

died 

• Rs. 25,000 each, to the injured soldiers 

• Compensation for the injured pilgrims 

The Akshardham attack and the response to it became a case 

study for the NSG. Brigadier Raj Seetapathy, the NSG 

commando in-charge of the rescue mission called 'Operation 

Thunderbolt' or 'Operation Vajra Shakti', asserted that the 

response to Akshardham terror attack had become a 

benchmark of clock-work achievement. The brigadier presented 

this case study, Akshardham Response: How to challenge an 

attack with calm and peace, at various centres, including the 

Sardar Patel Police Academy in Hyderabad and various Army 

training sessions. 

The Brigadier said "What Pramukh Swami Maharaj did was 

unbelievable. He pieced society back together. The Akshardham 

tragedy instilled a sense of confidence that Gujarat need not 

burn at every spark that is ignited. What I observed after the 

operation was the calm and serenity that was quickly restored. 

I have faced many violent encounters in my professional life 

but Akshardham response was a great learning both from 

operational and philosophical point of views.” The brigadier 

said that once the spiritual head decided to purify the souls of 

the two terrorists, the volunteers and devotees immediately fell 

silent. “There was no slogan shouting, no anger being 
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expressed for any community. It was one of the most 

magnanimous and exemplary acts of restraint and 

responsibility that foiled the design of terrorists to spark more 

violence,” the brigadier said.  

Reopening 

Fourteen days after the terrorist attack, the Akshardham 

complex in Gandhinagar was reopened to the public on 7 

October 2002. As advised by government officials, increased 

security measures were taken to ensure the safety of the 

volunteers and visitors, including stationing the Central 

Reserve Police Force (CRPF) of Gujarat at the complex, 

requiring visitors have to pass through a metal detector, 

increasing the height of the boundary wall, and installing 

CCTV's around the campus.  

Summary 

The intense investigation began soon after terrorists attacked 

Akshardham on 24 September 2002. A short summary of the 

Akshardham Attack Case Verdict is provided below:  

In July 2006, the POTA court awarded death sentence to Adam 

Ajmeri, Shan Miya alias Chand Khan, who hails from Bareilly 

in Uttar Pradesh, and Mufti Abdul Qyyum Mansuri. While 

Mohammed Salim Shaikh from Ahmedabad, was sentenced to 

life imprisonment, Abdulmiyan Qadri got a 10-year term and 

Altaf Hussain five years. In 2008, some of the convicts went on 

appeal in the High Court. On 30 May 2010, the Gujarat High 

Court confirmed the death sentence awarded to three persons 

and prison terms to three.  
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Later in May 2014, a Supreme Court bench composed of 

Justices A K Patnaik and Venkate Gopala Gowda acquitted all 

six persons, including those awarded the death penalty. The 

Supreme Court slammed the Gujarat Police for the 

incompetence with which it investigated the case. "...we are 

convinced that accused persons are innocent with respect to 

the charges leveled against them," the court said.  

First phase 

Shortly after the 14-hour ordeal ended, the police began their 

investigation. According to Brigadier Raj Seetapathy, the 

gunmen carried letters in Urdu which affirmed their connection 

with an organisation called Tehrik-E-Kasas or Movement for 

Revenge, a previously unknown group to law enforcement 

officials. The letters suggested that the gunmen carried out the 

attack "because they could not tolerate what happened to 

children, women and Muslims during the Gujarat riots." The 

letters were translated for the National Security Guard (NSG) 

by Maulana Dawood Kausar Ashrafi of the Jama Masjid of 

Gandhinagar. Upon reading these letters, the officials believed 

that Tehrik-e-Kasas was formed specifically to avenge the 

Gujarat riots.  

On 27 September 2002, Gujarat Police Chief K.Chakravarty 

interrogated the driver, Raju Thakur and car owner, Mansukh 

Acharya, who had provided the white Ambassador with plate 

number GJ-1-U-2234 for the attack. Raju Thakur explained 

that he transported the terrorists from Kalupur to Askhardham 

for Rs 120. Initial reports suggested that the terrorists arrived 

at the Kalupur railway station between 2:00 pm and 3:00 pm 

IST. During this interrogation, Raju Thakur and Mansukh 
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Acharya informed the Gujarat police that they would be able to 

identify the militants from photos. The identity of the two 

terrorists was also established on 27 September 2002. The 

investigators claimed that the two terrorists, Mohammad 

Amjad (Lahore) and Hafiz Yaseen (Peshawar), were connected 

with terrorist groups Lashkar-i-Taiba and Jaish-i-Mohammad. 

A periodical published in Pakistan which included pictures of 

these two men in the columns dedicated to the dead was a 

major lead in establishing the identity of the terrorists.  

Initially, the local crime branch was investigating the case, but 

after much deliberation the case was transferred to the Anti-

Terrorist Squad. Consequently, approximately two weeks after 

the attack, the Forensic Science Laboratory received a set of 

articles collected from the temple premises and bodies. The 

FSL planned to analyse these materials to trace the origins of 

the conspiracy. In addition to the belongings of the terrorists, 

the FSL also received samples of grenade splinters and 

cartridges to ascertain their origin as well. While investigation 

agencies had suggested that the terrorists were foreigners, the 

evidence collected thus far suggested otherwise. 

The terrorists' undergarments, clothes and dry fruits were all 

purchased locally from the Kalupur area. During the initial 

months of the investigation, insufficient evidence resulted in 

conflicting reports and dead ends. Police officers and 

investigators claimed that they did not have sufficient 

information to establish basic information like "whether the 

killers came by train at all, and who their accomplices were." 

Over a month after the attack, the investigators claimed that 

they did not have any vital leads. Leena Mishra, a Times of 
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India journalist noted that there is "only conflict about their 

identity and confusion about their number."  

On 27 December 2002, the Anti-Terrorist Squad identified the 

two terrorists as Kashmiris, affiliated with Lashkar-e-Taiba 

and based in Jammu and ruled out the possibility of local 

contacts in the first breakthrough after claiming that this case 

reached a deadlock. In the subsequent months, the 

investigation continued.  

Second phase: Chand Khan’s revelation 

On Friday, 29 August 2003, City Police Commissioner, K.R. 

Kaushik, told media persons that five people connected with 

the Akshardham case were arrested from various parts of the 

city. Furthermore, Kaushik stated that the conspiracy to attack 

Akshardham was planned in Riyadh and hatched by militant 

outfits, Jaish-I-Mohammad, Lashkar-I-Taiba and ISI Inter-

Services Intelligence. In September 2003, reports suggesting 

that Hyderabadis were involved in the Akshardham attack 

conspiracy surfaced; however, the City Police Commissioner M 

V Krishna Rao dismissed these reports as mere speculation. 

Three days after the police claimed that there was no link 

between the Akshardham attack and Hyderabad, the 

Hyderabad police officials admitted that they were unaware of 

the investigations being carried out by the Gujarat 

counterparts. 

Even a year after the investigations began, conflicting reports 

continued. Even though the Gujarat police claimed they solved 

the case in August 2003 by arresting five individuals involved 

in the Akshardham Attack Conspiracy, a senior officer of the 
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Jammu Kashmir police force, claimed that Chand Khan of 

Bareilly was one of the main individuals involved in the case.  

The Jammu Kashmir police arrested Khan while he was on his 

way from Anantnag. This evidence contradicted the claims 

made by Ahmedabad police who had arrested five individuals, 

namely, Salim Hanif Shaikh, Altaf Akbar Hussain Malek, 

Aadaam Suleman Ajmeri, Mufti Abdulqayyum Mansuri and 

Maulana Abdullamiya Sayyed involved in the case. The 

Ahmedabad police claimed that the Akshardham attack was 

planned in Riyadh and discussed in Ahmedabad. However, the 

Jammu Kashmir police claimed that the attack was planned in 

Anantnag. Chand Khan spoke to the Times of India while in 

custody and explained that he and two Lashkar-e-Taiba 

militants from Pakistan, Shakeel and Abdullah left Anantnag 

on 19 September 2002 for Ahmedabad in an Ambassador car 

(license no KMT-413), on orders from Lakshar's Anantnag 

commander Abdullah Mansoor. First, Chand Khan and the two 

militants went to Bareilly, his home town, to drop off his wife 

and daughter. 

Thereafter, they took a train to Jaipur on 21 September 2002. 

During their travels, they carried their weapons in a bedding 

roll. From Jaipur, the three men boarded a bus for Ahmedabad 

on 22 September 2002. Upon arriving in Ahmedabad on 23 

September, they checked in at the Gulshan Guest House. At 

2pm on 24 September, they checked out of the guest house and 

hired a taxi from the railway station to take them to the 

Akshardham Temple Complex. Shakeel and Abdullah got into it 

carrying the haversack with arms and ammunition. The two 

fidayeen militants then carried out the attack while Chand 

Khan headed back to Kashmir. Upon returning to Kashmir, the 
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Anantnag LeT chief Yasin awarded Chand Khan Rs 30,000 in 

reward. Even though Chand Khan allegedly confessed and 

revealed the origins of the conspiracy, the Gujarat police 

believed the Khan, who was in the custody of Jammu Kashmir 

police was not telling the whole truth.  

D G Vanzara, DCP (crime), before leaving for J&K to interrogate 

Chand Khan, questioned the validity of his statements by 

stating, "Khan claims he reached Ahmedabad on 23 September 

2002 and helped the two LeT terrorists accompanying him to 

attack the temple the very next day. This is next to impossible 

[without local support]." Once conspirators were in police 

custody, the Prevention of Terrorism Act (POTA) Judge Sonia 

Gokani extended the remand for Adam Suleman Ajmeri and 

Abdul Qayum Mansoori until 29 September. Harshendra 

Dhruv, Special Prosecutor, told the court that "the revelations 

made by the accused during the interrogation made it essential 

to seek further remand of the accused who now needed to be 

interrogated in the presence of Chand Khan." Dhruv submitted 

certain incriminating documents containing the details of 

expenses incurred in various activities that was found in 

Suleman's brother's house. 

Further investigation of Mansoori was required on the grounds 

that the handwriting experts confirmed that the two notes 

recovered from the terrorists were written by him. After 

gathering the aforementioned information, the Joint 

Commissioner of Police, PP Pandey informed reporters that "the 

temple attack was a joint operation conducted by several 

modules of Jaish I Mohammad, Lashkar-i-Taiba having their 

network from Riyadh in Saudi Arabia to Bareilly in Uttar 

Pradesh, Hyderabad, Ahmedabad and other cities."  
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On 7 September 2003, Jammu Kashmir Agricultural Minister 

Abdul Aziz Zargar denied reports which claimed that his 

Manzgam residence was a hideout from where the Akshardham 

temple attack was masterminded. Media reports quoted Chand 

Khan saying that two LeT militants had made Zargar's 

residence their hideout before leaving for the attack in Gujarat. 

However, Zargar said, 

"We are not involved in militancy at all. Instead we are under 

threat and many attacks have been carried out by militants on 

me and my family members in the past, records of which are 

filed with the police." The Jammu Kashmir minister Abdul Aziz 

Zargar resigned on 12 September 2003 amid allegations that 

terrorists who carried out the Akshardham temple attack 

Ahmedabad planned the operation at his native house. While 

Zargar denied any connection with LeT, Chand Khan, an 

accomplice in the Akshardham attack claimed they started 

their journey for Gujarat from Mr Zargar's residence.  

On 30 September 2003, the POTA court extended the police 

custody of Chand Khan until 6 October 2003 so that the 

Detection of Crimes Bureau (DCB) could uncover additional 

facts about the conspiracy and gather information about the 

absconding conspirators. H M Dhruv stated that several 

questions remained unanswered because there were 

contradictions between Chand Khan's statements recorded by 

the Jammu Kashmir police and the DCB. According to Dhruv, 

"The investigating officers are yet to ascertain the identity of 

the person who brought the two terrorists from Bareilly to 

Ahmedabad while it is still unclear as to whose behest Chand 

Khan and two other persons came to Ahmedabad." On the 

other hand, Hashim Qureshi represented Chand Khan and 
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stated if Khan who has been in police custody for over two 

months, first with the Jammu Kashmir police and now with the 

DCB, faces further interrogation he may lose his mental 

balance. Upon hearing both sides, POTA Judge announced that 

Khan would have six additional days of remand.  

On 21 November 2003, POTA Judge Sonia Gokani upheld the 

application filed by the DCB seeking to keep the names of the 

11 witnesses of the Akshardham Attack case a secret to protect 

them from those who are still absconding.  

On 29 November 2003, Bharuch police began investigating the 

alleged involvement of four individuals from their district in 

the Akshardham attack. The charge sheet filed in the case with 

the POTA court included the names of Gulah Laheri, Majid 

Patel, Iqbal Patel and a 35-year-old unidentified individual. 

Even though the evidence suggested that these individuals 

resided in Bharuch and provided financial support for these 

terrorist activities; the Bharuch police explained that these 

individuals left Bharuch several years ago and do not live in 

the town any more. Amarsinh Vasava, Bharuch District Police 

Superintendent, explained that evidence suggests they resided 

in Bharuch but there is insufficient evidence to suggest that 

money was routed through Bharuch.  

On 4 December 2003, the POTA court hearing the Akshardham 

Attack case issued warrants against 26 accused including 

Dawood Ibrahim and Chhota Shakeel. POTA Judge Gokani 

issued non-bailable arrest warrants against Dawood Ibrahim, 

Chhota Shakeel, Mufti Sufiyan Rasool Parti and others who 

had allegedly conspired and aided in transpiring the 

Akshardham Temple Attack.  
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Third phase: Trial 

The Akshardham Attack Case trial began on Wednesday, 18 

December 2003. H M Dhruv, Special Public Prosecutor, opened 

the case before POTA Judge Sonia Gokani and stated that “six 

persons including Kashmir based terrorist Chand Khan had 

allegedly conspired to attack the Akshardham Temple along 

with the slain terrorists.” All of the six accused individuals 

were present at the trial. Even though the trial began on 18 

December 2003, the matter was adjourned until 26 December 

2003. While the six men accused of assisting in the 

Akshardham attack were put on trial, 26 other individuals 

were still absconding.  

In January 2004, Chand Khan's confessional statement 

mentioned that the motivating factors behind his involvement 

in the terrorist conspiracy were two-fold, a sum of Rs 30,000 

and "the wish to avenge humiliation meted out to him by a 

corrupt police official in Jammu Kashmir." This confessional 

statement clarified some of the discrepancies present in Khan's 

initial remarks to Jammu Kashmir and DCB officials. Khan's 

involvement in the Akshardham attack was primarily motivated 

by his desire to kill a police inspector, 

Basir Ahmad, who consistently failed to pay the appropriate 

charges whenever he sent his car to Chand Garage in Bareilly. 

Frustrated by the situation, Khan approached a friend, 

Mohammad Yasin and asked for a bomb so that he could blow 

up the police officer's car. In June 2002, Yasin approached 

Khan and requested him to accompany him to Pokarnag to 

purchase some explosives. Khan borrowed a car from his 

garage and met with Abdulla Mansur aka Manzoor Chaudhary 
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upon reaching Pokarnag. Manzoor agreed to provide the 

explosives to Khan as long as Khan helped Chaudhary with his 

plan. The Jammu Kashmir police claim that Chaudhary had 

planned the attack in Gujarat to avenge the deaths of Muslims 

during the communal riots. After this meeting, Chaudhary was 

killed in an encounter with Jammu Kashmir security forces. 

Thereafter, Khan did not make any reference to his plans for 

vengeance; police officers believe that his desire for money 

took precedence. Khan made trips to Majhgaon and became 

involved in the Akshardham Attack conspiracy allegedly 

involving LeT terrorists like Mohammad Zuber. Khan and Yasin 

bought an Ambassador car (KMT 423) worth Rs 35,000. Khan 

was compensated for his purchase and promised a sum of Rs 

30,000 for smuggling the arms that the two terrorists used 

during the Akshardham Attack. Khan drove the Ambassador to 

Bareilly with his daughter, wife, Yasin and two LeT terrorists, 

Abdulla and Safiq, who were shot down by NSG commandos at 

Akshardham. There, Khan parted ways with the terrorists who 

reached Ahmedabad on their own. Khan and Mohammad Safir 

brought the arms to Ahmedabad which were hidden in two bed 

rolls via the Ala Hazrat Express.  

On 21 February 2004, Yasin Butt was arrested by the Jammu 

Kashmir police upon receiving intelligence from Chand Khan. 

Gujarat Police claim that Butt travelled separately to 

Ahmedabad with the two militants who carried out the attack 

and received the assistance of five associates, who had also 

been arrested by the police.  

In 2004, the Ahmedabad city police, upon seeking Scotland 

Yard's help with regards to the Akshardham Attack Case, 

named Abu Hamza the mastermind behind the Akshardham 
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Attack. On Thursday, 27 May 2004, Hamza was arrested before 

dawn by the Scotland Yard in London. D G Vanzara said, 

"Formal and informal inquiries have been initiated in 

connection with Hamza's arrest and his links to the 

Akshardham case." We are closely following the developments 

relating to Hamza." According to the DCB's charge sheet, 

Hamza planned the Akshardham attack in Saudi Arabia to 

avenge the communal riots. His co-conspirators included Abu 

Sifiyan of Riyadh and Abut Talah of Jeddah. They took the help 

of Salim Shaikh, who worked in Riyadh but was from Dariapur, 

Ahmedabad. Salim was among the first to be arrested while the 

others were still hiding out.  

In April 2006, the Gujarat Police submitted a progress report 

to the POTA court which suggested that they police may have 

again reached a deadlock in the Akshardham Attack Case. 

Their submission stated that 26 individuals are still hiding. 

The DCB did not have any pictures of these individuals who 

were hiding abroad. Among the accused individuals that left 

India for Saudi Arabia were Mohammad Hanif Shaikh, Abdul 

Rashid Suleman Ajmeri and Mohammed Kadri. Sudhir 

Brahmbhatt explained that the accused could not be brought 

to India because there was no extradition treaty between 

Pakistan, Saudi Arabia and India. Furthermore, the DCB also 

claimed that Majid Patel, Iqbal Patel and Gulam Laheri have 

sought refuge in Saudi Arabia.  

On 2 July 2006, Adam Suleman Ajmeri, Abdul Qayyum alias 

Mufti Saheb Mohammed Mansuri and Chand Khan alias Shan 

Miya were awarded the death sentence. Mohammed Salim Hanif 

Shaikh was sentenced to life imprisonment. And Altaf Hussain 

Akbar Hussain Malek and Abdullahmiya Yasinmiya Kadri were 
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sentenced to five and ten years of imprisonment respectively. It 

was ruled that all the six accused had to pay a fine ranging 

between Rs 85,000 and Rs 100,000 under the sections of POTA 

and Indian Penal Code. When the POTA court announced the 

Akshardham Attack Case verdict, the investigators thanked JJ 

Patel, the handwriting expert who helped them solve the case. 

JJ Patel assisted in finding Abdul Qayyum Mohammed Mansuri 

alias Mufti Saheb by studying the letters found on the two 

slain terrorists. According to Patel, these letters were written 

in Urdu and had an Arabic touch, while the letters and style 

clearly pointed towards Mansuri. 

Patel's verdict was later upheld by the forensic science 

laboratory in Delhi. After the officials concluded that Mansuri 

had written those letters, the officials questioned Mansuri. The 

interrogation unveiled the entire terrorist plot and revealed the 

other individuals involved in planning and executing the 

attack.  

Fourth phase: Appeals 

On Wednesday, 26 March 2008, the Gujarat High Court began 

hearing the appeal by six persons convicted in the Akshardham 

Attack Case. Majid Memon, senior criminal lawyer, represented 

the convicts and raised questions regarding the letters 

recovered from the bodies of the terrorists. Memon contended, 

"The investigating agency's approach towards the two chits was 

very casual even though it claimed that these letters were the 

only evidence available in the initial stage." Furthermore, 

Memon claimed that the handwriting experts did not know 

Urdu at all and that the prosecution failed to mention when 

these letters were recovered before the POTA court.  
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On 19 October 2008, Majid Patel was arrested by the Bharuch 

Local Police, after which the Ahmedabad DCB took him into 

custody.  

On 19 July 2009, a suspected LeT operative allegedly involved 

in the Akshardham attack was arrested by counter-intelligence 

cell in Hyderabad. Shaukatullah Ghauri arrived to Hyderabad 

from Saudi Arabia and was arrested at the RGI Airport in 

Shamsabad on Saturday 18 July 2009. Ghauri and 

Farhatullah, his brother, were wanted by the Gujarat Police 

and an arrest warrant was pending against the two under 

POTA after the Akshardham Attack.  

On Monday, 20 July 2009, the POTA court sent Ghauri to 15 

days police remand against a demand of a 30-day remand. 

Ghauri was the eighth person caught out of a total 26 accused 

in the Akshardham Attack. He was accused of hatching the 

conspiracy, providing financial and logistical support and arms 

and ammunition to the two terrorists who stormed the temple. 

In the remand application, the DCB stated that it was 

necessary to know which terrorist outfits Ghauri was in touch 

with and the other individual involved in the attack.  

In November 2009, Adam Ajmeri, Shan Miya alias Chand Khan, 

Mufti Abdul Qayyum Mansuri, approached the court and urged 

judges to pronounce a verdict on their appeal against POTA 

court's order of 2006. A petition was filed by Ajmeri, Qadri, 

Shaikh and Mansuri contending that the court started hearing 

their appeal with the state government's appeal for 

confirmation of capital punishment on 14 March 2008. 

Petitioner's lawyer Ejaz Qureshi cited a Supreme Court 

judgment that insists on finalising the case wherein capital 
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punishment is awarded within six months. The Supreme Court 

order also says that in case the high court bench cannot 

pronounce its order in detail, it should at least pronounce the 

operative part of it.  

On 29 January 2010, the Gujarat High Court adjourned the 

hearing of an appeal filed by the accused of the Akshardham 

case to 1 March 2010. A bench of the High Court had already 

heard the appeal against the order of the designated POTA 

court sentencing the accused and reserved the judgment. 

However, the judgment was not delivered after a year and half. 

As a result, the convicts motioned a plea.  

On Friday 19 March 2010, Shaukat Hussain Ghauri contended 

the Ashfak Bhavnagari and Jalal Patel (who appeared as 

prosecution witnesses) were also supporting terrorist activities, 

were present during the meetings in Saudi Arabia and had 

collected monies for the Akshardham attack. However, the 

Gujarat High Court rejected Ghauri's plea because the 

advocate for the State highlighted that under Section 50 of the 

POTA, which was applicable in the Akshardham case, the 

designated judge had no jurisdiction to take cognizance of the 

alleged involvement of witnesses in the attack. Furthermore, 

no inference about their involvement in terrorist activity could 

be made.  

On Tuesday, 1 June 2010, the Gujarat High Court upheld the 

POTA court's verdict, awarding death sentences to three 

accused in the Akshardham Attack Case. Justice R M Doshit 

and K M Thakar confirmed the death sentence of three convicts 

and various prison terms of the three others, while expressing 

that they did not deserve leniency. The Akshardham Terror 
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Attack Case was the first judgment of the designated court 

under the now repealed POTA which was affirmed by the 

Gujarat High Court.  

On 7 September 2010 Ajmeri and Qayyum, who were convicted 

by a POTA court in Gujarat and awarded death sentence in 

connection with the Akshardham temple attack case, told the 

Supreme Court that the investigation was faulty. Nevertheless, 

the Gujarat High Court had affirmed the Special POTA Court 

verdict. On their plea that challenged the High Court verdict, 

"the Supreme Court stayed the death sentence and issued 

notice to Gujarat."  

In October 2010, David Coleman Headley, a Pakistani-

American Lashkar Operative informed US and Indian 

investigators that Muzzamil, aide of LeT's Chief Military 

commander Zaki-ur-Rehman Lahvi, was involved in planning 

and executing the Akshardham Attack.  

On 25 December 2012, the bench of Justice AK Patnaik and 

Justice HL Gokhale directed the trial court to speed up the 

proceedings while refusing to bail one of the two accused 

persons, Shakuatullah Ghauri from Hyderabad. Ghauri and 

Majid Patel were arrested after the POTA court completed the 

trial against six persons in the case. The accused have filed 

appeals against their conviction in the apex court after the 

Gujarat High Court upheld the POTA court's verdict. Ghauri 

and Majid were charged with hatching the conspiracy and 

providing financial assistance in carrying out the terrorist 

activities.  
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Supreme Court decision 

On 16 May 2014, a Supreme Court bench composed of Justices 

A K Patnaik and Venkate Gopala Gowda acquitted all six 

persons, including those awarded the death penalty. The 

Supreme Court slammed the Gujarat Police for the 

incompetence with which it investigated the case. The bench 

gave the decision holding that the prosecution failed to 

establish the guilt of the accused. 

The Bench said in their judgment : "We intend to express our 

anguish about the incompetence with which the investigating 

agencies conducted the investigation of the case of such a 

grievous nature, involving the integrity and security of the 

nation. Instead of booking the real culprits responsible for 

taking so many precious lives, police caught innocent people 

and got imposed the grievous charges against them which 

resulted in their conviction and subsequent sentencing... On 

the basis of the issues, we have already answered the facts and 

evidence on record and on the basis of the legal principles laid 

down by this court, we are convinced that accused persons are 

innocent with respect to the charges leveled against them," the 

court said.  

August 2003 Mumbai bombings 

The 25 August 2003 Mumbai bombings were twin car 

bombings in the Indian city of Mumbai that killed 54, and 

injured 244 people. One of the bomb explosions took place at 

the Gateway of India, which is a major tourist attraction. The 

other bomb went off in a jewellery market Zaveri Bazaar near 

the Mumba Devi temple in central Mumbai. Both the bombs 
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were planted in parked taxis and exploded during the lunch 

hour. No group initially claimed responsibility for the attack, 

but Pakistan-based Lashkar-e-Toiba was blamed for it.  

On 31 August 2003, three suspects – Ashrat Ansari, Haneef 

Sayyed and his wife Fahmeeda were arrested. All three were 

convicted and sentenced to death in August, 2009 by a special 

POTA court in Mumbai. Later, the death sentence was upheld 

by Bombay High Court in February 2012. Haneef was recruited 

in Dubai, UAE by Pakistani nationals to avenge anti-Muslim 

riots in India. His wife assisted and chose targets, while Ansari 

planted the bomb at Zaveri Bazar.  

Haneef Sayyed died in February 2019.  

Chronology of events 

As per rediff.com 

• 25 August 2003: Twin blasts occur at Zaveri Bazaar 

and Gateway of India in south Mumbai. Around 52 

people are killed and over 100 injured. 

• 31 August 2003: Mumbai Police arrests three 

accused Ashrat Ansari (age 32), Hanif Sayed (age 46) 

and his wife Fehmida Sayed (age 43). 

• 1 October 2003: Two more accused, Mohammed 

Ansari Ladoowala and Mohammed Hasan Batterywala 

are held. 

• 5 February 2004: Police files chargesheet against six 

accused in the case as per Prevention of Terrorist 

Activities Act in court. Accused also alleged to have 

been involved in placing an unexploded bomb in a 
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bus at SEEPZ in suburban Andheri on 2 December 

2002 and placing bomb in bus at Ghatkopar on 8 

July 2003 in which two persons were killed. 

• 20 June 2004: Charges are framed against five 

accused. One is left off. 

• 2 September 2004: Trial begins officially in court. 

• December 2008—Ladoowala and Batterywala are 

discharged from the case by POTA court. Later 

Supreme Court of India also upholds POTA review 

committee report stating no charges hold ground 

against them. 

• 27 July 2009: Three accused Ashrat Ansari, Hanif 

Sayed and his wife Fehmida Sayed are convicted by 

special POTA court under sections of IPC, POTA, 

Explosives Act, Explosive Substances Act. 

• 6 August 2009: Three convicts sentenced to death by 

special POTA court. Other two acquitted. In the 

proceedings of the case, accused said that they had 

acted emotionally in response to the Gujarat 

communal riots, had pleaded to be spared the death 

sentence. However, public prosecutor showed the 

court that they had, in fact, acted in cold blood and 

planned their attacks well. When a gelatin blast at 

Ghatkopar in 28 July 2003, claimed just two lives, 

they decided to use RDX to take a heavier toll in the 

twin blasts a month later, he said. They enjoyed the 

act of killing and deserve no mercy. The Pota court 

rejected all pleas of leniency and held that the 

brazen terror attack fell under the rarest of rare 

category of cases where the death sentence was well 

deserved. 
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• 12 February 2012: Bombay High Court upheld the 

death sentence awarded by special POTA court to 

Mohammed Haneef Sayed, his wife Fahmeeda and 

aide Ashrat Ansari. However, HC quashed the order 

of the POTA court of acquitting two other accused, 

Mohammed Ansari Ladoowala and Mohammed Hasan 

Batterywala. They will now have to face trial under 

IPC charges that had been levelled against them and 

not under POTA. 

2004 Dhemaji school bombing 

The 2004 Dhemaji school bombing occurred on 15 August 

2004, on the occasion of Independence Day in Dhemaji, Assam. 

The bombing by the Assamese militant group called the United 

Liberation Front of Assam (ULFA) killed 18 people and injured 

many others. Most of the victims were schoolchildren aged 

between 12 and 14 and their mothers. 

Details 

On the occasion of Independence Day, 15 August 2004, people, 

mostly were school children and their mothers, gathered at 

Dhemaji College ground for an Independence Day parade. At 

around 09:30 a bomb went off killing at least 18 and injuring 

many more. 

According to police, the bomb was planted near the college-

gate and triggered by a remote-controlled device. It was 

exploded when the students and teachers of various schools 

were passing through the gate.  
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Investigations 

Police blamed ULFA, a banned Assamese militant group, which 

had called for a boycott of the event. The group continued 

denying responsibility.  

Aftermath 

Soon after the incident the local people allegedly attacked the 

police vehicles at the site for failure to protect the parade. 

Police had to launch a lathi charge and fire tear gas to bring 

the situation under control. The Superintendent of Police T. 

Thangou and the Additional Superintendent of Police Abu 

Sufian of Dhemaji were suspended for negligence of duty. The 

Deputy Commissioner was transferred for security lapse.  

Reactions 

The injured were admitted to the Dhemaji Civil Hospital and 

other 10 being critically injured were shifted to Dibrugarh Civil 

Hospital. Chief Minister of Assam Tarun Gogoi condemned the 

blast stating it to be “most barbaric, inhuman and pathetic” 

incident. He also announced that the state would be observing 

the 16 August of every year as Mourning Day in memory of 

those killed. The chief minister announced Rs 300,000 for the 

victims and Rs 50,000 for the seriously injured. The Dhemaji 

and Lakhimpur unit of AASU called a 12-hour bandh on 16 

August 2004 in protest of the blast. The AASU had also 

demanded the resignation of the chief minister. The Assam 

State Committee of CPI(M) vehemently condemned the incident. 

It also organized a protest rally in the capital city of Guwahati 
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on 17 August against the extremists for the killings and 

against the administration for the failure of protection. The 

committee had also called a 12-hour Assam-bandh on 18 

August.  

Armed Forces Special Powers Act 

The chief minister Tarun Gogoi said that the Armed Forces 

Special Powers Act should stay in the disturbed areas to avoid 

the increasing activities by the rebel groups.  

ULFA takes responsibility after five years 

On 16 August 2004, one day after the blast, in a statement, 

Arabinda Rajkhowa, the chairman of the group, stated that the 

“Indian Occupation Force” and its agents used the 

schoolchildren as shield to defy the boycott call of the outfit. 

On 13 December 2009, Paresh Barua, the C-in-C of the group, 

sought public apology and forgiveness for the blast. He stated 

in an e-mail that the ULFA leadership was misled by some of 

their cadres and junior leaders about the blast, which is why 

the leadership had to deny its involvement.  

2005 Ram Janmabhoomi attack 

On 5 July 2005, five terrorists attacked the makeshift Ram 

temple at the site of destroyed Babri Mosque in Ayodhya, India. 

All five were shot dead in the ensuing gunfight with the Central 

Reserve Police Force (CRPF), while one civilian died in the 

grenade attack that the attackers launched in order to breach 
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the cordoned wall. The CRPF suffered three casualties, two of 

whom were seriously injured with multiple gunshot wounds.  

Attack 

Following the demolition of the Babri Masjid in 1992, a 

makeshift temple had been constructed at the Ram 

Janmabhoomi site, in the city of Ayodhya. According to 

Hinduism the site was the birthplace of Hindu deity King 

Rama. On 5 July 2005, the heavily guarded Ram Janmabhoomi 

- Babri Masjid complex was attacked by heavily armed 

terrorists. The attack was foiled by security officials and the 

attackers were killed.  

The terrorists were from the Islamic terrorist organisation 

Lashkar-e-Taiba, and were believed to have entered India 

through Nepal. They posed as pilgrims on their way to 

Ayodhya, and boarded a Tata Sumo at Akbarpur near the 

Kichaucha village in Faizabad. At Faizabad they abandoned the 

Sumo and hired a jeep driven by a driver, Rehan Alam Ansari. 

According to a statement by the driver, the terrorists visited 

the Ram (Temple) at Ayodhya where they prayed, possibly to 

reinforce the impression that they were indeed pilgrims. The 

terrorists then drove the jeep into the Ram Janmabhoomi site, 

and forced the driver out of the vehicle, banging the jeep 

against the security cordon. At 9:05 am, they hurled M67 

grenades from 50 metres away to breach the cordon fence. 

Ramesh Pandey, a pilgrim guide who happened to be near the 

site at this moment, died on the spot as a result of the grenade 

blast. Firing indiscriminately, the 5 terrorists entered the Mata 

Sita Rasoi. Returning the gunfire, a platoon of 35 CRPF 

soldiers killed all five of the terrorists in a gunfight that lasted 
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for over an hour. Three CRPF soldiers also received serious 

injuries and, as of July 2008, two remain comatose. All the 

terrorists died within 100 metres of the site.  

Investigation 

The assailants were suspected to belong to the Islamic terrorist 

group Lashkar-e-Taiba. The investigating team tracked the 

phone calls made from the cell phones carried by the terrorists 

using the IMEI numbers. The Police recovered a single RPG-7 

rocket-propelled grenade launcher, five Type 56 assault rifles, 

five M1911 pistols, several M67 grenades and some jihadi 

documents. Rehan Alam, the jeep driver, was detained by the 

police for further investigations.  

On 28 July 2005, four Muslim men from Jammu and Kashmir – 

Akbar Hussain, Lal Mohammad, Mohmmad Naseer and 

Mohmmad Rafeeq – were arrested in connection with the 

attack. On 3 August 2005, another four Muslim men– Asif 

Iqbal, Mohammed Aziz, Mohammed Nasim and Shaqeel Ahmed– 

were arrested on suspicion of involvement in the bombing. A 

fifth man, Irfan Khan, was arrested a few days earlier.  

Aftermath 

Most of India's political organisations condemned the attack as 

barbaric and requested people to maintain law and order. The 

Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh, its affiliates the Vishva Hindu 

Parishad and the Bharatiya Janata Party (BJP) declared an 

India-wide protest and bandh on 8 July 2005. BJP president 

L.K. Advani called for the reinstatement of the Prevention of 

Terrorist Activities Act in the wake of the attack.  
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2005 Jaunpur train bombing 

The 2005 Jaunpur train bombing occurred on 28 July 2005, 

when an explosion destroyed a carriage of Shramjeevi Express 

train near the town of Jaunpur in Uttar Pradesh.  

The Shramjeevi Express train was travelling in the afternoon 

between Jaunpur and Delhi when, at 5.15pm, a sudden 

explosion tore through one of the carriages. The train's crew 

was able to halt the engine quickly, thus preventing the train 

derailing following the blast. As other passengers and locals 

aided those wounded by the blast, emergency services fought 

to extinguish the burning carriage.  

Thirteen people were killed by the blast, or died later from 

their injuries. A further 50 people required medical treatment, 

including several who underwent amputations. The cause of 

the explosion was traced to the carriage's toilet, where a bomb 

using the explosive RDX had detonated. RDX is a military 

grade explosive which had been used in several terrorist 

attacks on Indian targets, including the Ayodhya train bombing 

in June 2000.  

Eyewitnesses reported two young men who boarded the train at 

Jaunpur with a white suitcase. Shortly afterwards, both of 

them leaped from the moving train into fields and ran away 

without their suitcase. A few minutes later, the explosion 

shook the carriage.  

According to officials, it is highly unlikely that this was an 

accidental explosion, and authorities are attributing it to 

Islamic extremists, who have conducted several attacks 
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following a year of severe religious tensions in India, including 

major rioting in Dashehera and Ayodhya nearby.  

2005 Delhi bombings 

The 29 October 2005 Delhi bombings occurred on 29 October 

2005 in Delhi, India, killing 62 people and injuring at least 

210 others in three explosions. 

The bombings came only two days before the important festival 

of Diwali, which is celebrated by Hindus, Sikhs, and Jains. The 

bombs were triggered in two markets in central and south 

Delhi and in a bus south of the city. Indian investigators 

believe the Kashmir separatist/ Islamic terrorist group 

Lashkar-e-Taiba was behind the attacks.  

President A P J Abdul Kalam condemned the blasts in Delhi 

and sent condolences to the bereaved and other victims. Kalam 

appealed to the people "to maintain calm and help the agencies 

in relief and rescue work." Parts of India were moved to higher 

alert following the blasts.  

Timeline 

The blasts happened as follows:  

• The first blast took place in the main bazaar of 

Paharganj near the New Delhi Railway Station at 

around 5:38 pm (IST). 

• The second blast took place near a bus in 

Govindpuri area at 6:00 pm (IST) in the southern 

part of the city. 
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• Within minutes of the second explosion, at 6:05 pm 

(IST), the third explosion took place in South Delhi's 

busy Sarojini Nagar market. 

(*Note:IST stands for Indian Standard Time, which is equal to 

UTC+5.5) 

Modus operandi and suspects 

• The first explosion (Paharganj explosion) occurred 

outside New Delhi Railway Station. The explosive 

device was planted in a two-wheeler (generic term 

used in India for any motorised vehicle with two 

wheels, such as a motorcycle or a motorscooter). 

When the bomb exploded, it ripped apart the M S 

Medicos, a medical shop outside which the two-

wheeler was parked. According to Rediff.com the 

shop was badly damaged with glass strewn all over 

the street and blood splattered all over the ground. 

When the explosion took place large number of 

people were eating golgappas in the adjoining 

snacks-cum-sweet shop resulting in the high number 

of deaths in the area. 

• The Govindpuri explosion, which took place inside a 

bus, injured nine people, four critically. 35–40 

people were travelling in the bus when the conductor 

of the bus spotted a suspicious plastic bag which 

none of the passengers claimed. The passengers were 

already suspicious as a man had climbed aboard the 

bus and refused to buy a ticket, according to the 

BBC, leaving his large, black bag aboard. The driver 

and conductor of the bus quickly alerted and 
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disembarked the passengers and, by doing so, 

minimised the damage when the bomb was thrown 

out of a window. At the time of the explosion, only 

five people remained inside the bus. However, the 

driver and conductor sustained injuries in their 

rescue effort, and the driver's condition was critical 

according to NDTV. According to the Indian police, 

the Govindpuri bomb operated on an electronic 

timer. 

• The third and most devastating explosion took place 

in a very crowded corner of the busy Sarojini Nagar 

market. According to The Hindu website, the 

eyewitnesses claim that the bomb was placed in a 

white colour Maruti van whose front and rear 

mirrors were shattered due to the explosion. The 

bomb went off near a vendor using a gas cylinder, 

which exploded, triggering multiple explosions and 

leading to an outbreak of fire in a row of shops. 

Apart from resulting in the death of 43 people and 

injuring about another 28 people, half-a-dozen 

clothing shops and a few vehicles parked behind 

these shops were destroyed due to this explosion. 

• It is believed that the explosive used to carry out the 

blasts is RDX. 

Suspects 

The Pakistan-based Islamist terrorist organisation, the Islamic 

Revolutionary Front or Islamic Inquilab Mahaz, claimed 

responsibility for the Delhi terrorist attacks. The Mahaz has 

previous history of terrorism – It was one of the organisations 
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involved in terrorist attacks in the south Pakistan city of 

Karachi against French, American and other citizens.  

The Delhi Police released three sketches of one of the 

suspected bombers involved in the bombings. According to 

NDTV, ten suspects have been detained following the blasts. 

Five of them were picked up from the Delhi Railway station and 

others from other railway stations and bus terminals.  

Tariq Ahmad Dar, was arrested in Kashmir, as the alleged 

suspect of the attacks on 10 November 2005. The police also 

arrested the suspected Govindpuri bomber, Mohammed Rafiq 

Shah. They were freed in Feb 2017 for lack of evidence.   

Casualties 

Thirty eight people were declared dead in Safdarjang hospital, 

ten in Lady Hardinge Hospital, five in Ram Manohar Lohia 

hospital and two in AIIMS. The number of fatalities later rose 

to 62, with about 210 injured.  

Rescue and relief operations 

Relatives of the dead and injured received money and medical 

help from the government:  

• "Rs 300,000 will be given as ex-gratia to next of the 

kin of every dead person, while those seriously 

injured will get Rs 50,000," Delhi Chief Minister 

Sheila Dikshit told reporters. 

• The injured received free treatment at any 

government hospital. 
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Reactions 

Delhi police ordered all temples and restaurants in Delhi 

closed shortly after the explosions, and the city of Delhi went 

on red alert.  

Bomb hoaxes 

At least two phone calls reporting fake bombs have been 

received by the Delhi police, including a false report of a bomb 

in a school (or a fair) for people with visual disabilities. In 

addition, there was a phone call reporting a (purportedly fake) 

bomb near a bank in Khari Baoli before the attacks occurred; 

the object referred to by the call was a suitcase, in which there 

were documents, batteries, and wires. In the midst of the 

attacks, there was another hoax call reporting a bomb going off 

in the Gole Market.  

The Delhi police, after the explosions, sent out messages to the 

public asking them to report unidentified objects. This led to a 

wave of reports of "bombs", all of which proved to be either 

nonexistent or more benign objects, including a "bomb" at the 

Som Bazaar in eastern Delhi and another "bomb" near the 

Sanjay Gandhi Hospital.  

World reaction 

The bombings have provoked strong international 

condemnation from the United States, Britain, Canada, 

Australia, China, Sri Lanka, Japan, Belgium, Brazil, Iran, UAE, 

European Union, Bangladesh, Maldives, and South Africa.  
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2005 Indian Institute of Science shooting 

The December 2005 IISc shooting occurred on Wednesday, 28 

December 2005 at the Indian Institute of Science (IISc) in the 

Indian city of Bangalore, killing Prof. Munish Chandra Puri of 

IIT Delhi and injuring four, after two or more unidentified 

gunmen fired at Puri and others. 

The state government of Karnataka declared the shooting to be 

a terrorist attack, making it the first such attack in Bangalore.  

Shooting 

At around 7:00 pm local time (1:30 pm GMT), two people 

entered the IISc campus in a white Ambassador car. At around 

7:20 pm, delegates attending the International Conference on 

Operations Research: Applications in Infrastructure 

Development, organised by the Operations Research Society of 

India at the JN Tata Auditorium on the IISc campus, were 

heading to dinner when the shooting began. 

A gunman, wearing black mask and army uniform, started 

firing indiscriminately from a rifle, thought to be a Chinese 

Type 56, outside the auditorium.  

Munish Chandra Puri, a Professor Emeritus at the 

mathematics department of the Indian Institute of Technology 

in New Delhi, was wounded by bullets. He died en route to 

hospital. 

Three other scientists and a lab assistant were among the 

injured. One of the injured was a pregnant woman, who 
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sustained injuries to her eye. The other three injured had 

serious bullet injuries and underwent emergency surgeries.  

Investigation and trial 

The police later recovered a Chinese made Type 56 military 

rifle, twelve empty cartridges, one empty magazine, five live 

magazines (one half-spent), two grenades, and one live hand-

grenade which they defused. 

The police surmise that the gunmen had escaped by scaling the 

boundary wall of the campus. No organisation claimed 

responsibility.  

The Karnataka police identified the attackers as belonging to a 

cell of the Pakistan-based terror outfit Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT). 

Six people were convicted in December 2011 and several others 

are at large including the shooter.  

In 2007, possible links arose between the shooting and Bilal 

Abdullah and Kafeel Ahmed, the perpetrators of two terrorist 

incidents that occurred in the United Kingdom that same year. 

Investigations were carried out to unearth these purported 

links.  

2006 Varanasi bombings 

In March 2006, the Indian city of Varanasi witnessed a series 

of bombings in which at least 28 people were reportedly killed 

and 101 injured. Varanasi is considered holy by Hindus and is 

one of the oldest living city in the world. 
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Blasts 

Blast at the Temple 

The blasts occurred nearly simultaneously shortly after 18:00 

IST. The first blast took place at 18:20 at the crowded Sankat 

Mochan Hanuman Temple near the Banaras Hindu University. 

Hundreds of pilgrims were in temple as it was a Tuesday, 

believed to be particularly holy by the devotees of Lord 

Hanuman, a deity at the temple. The bomb was placed in a 

container near a gate at the temple where women usually sit. It 

claimed 10 lives and injured 40.  

Blast at the station 

One other blast followed at the Varanasi Cantonment Railway 

Station. It occurred in the waiting area next to the travel 

office. Initially another blast was reported inside the stationary 

Shiv Ganga Express bound for Delhi; however, this was later 

discounted. The Shiv Ganga Express departure was delayed by 

2 hours, eventually arriving in Delhi 4 hours late but intact. 

Six bombs were reported defused from other areas in the city, 

including a restaurant frequented by foreigners, in the vicinity 

of the railway station. It claimed 11 lives and injured 20.  

Timing of the blasts 

It is estimated that the date and time of the explosions were 

selected for causing maximum damage. The CBSE and ISC 

Examinations (India's school leaving examinations) were in 

progress and therefore there were many students and 
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worshippers at the temple when the bombs exploded during the 

Aarti ceremony. Tuesday was also a holy day of the deity at the 

temple. It is further conjectured that the bomb at the railway 

station was orchestrated to coincide with the throng of 

passengers waiting for Shiv Ganga express.  

Rescue and relief operations 

• The railway ministry announced ex-gratia of IN Rs 

100,000 to the next of kin of those who died in the 

explosion at the Cantonment railway station in 

Varanasi. 

• Seriously injured would be sanctioned IN Rs 25,000 

each while those with minor injuries will get IN Rs 

1,000 each. 

• The railway ministry would bear all expenses of food, 

medicine and accommodation of the injured persons 

during the period of treatment. 

Investigation 

Pakistan-based Lashkar-e-Taiba militant outfit, whose member 

was shot dead in an encounter with police near Lucknow on 

Wednesday, were prima facie behind the blasts in Varanasi, a 

senior Uttar Pradesh government official said in Varanasi on 

Wednesday.  

Uttar Pradesh, Chief Secretary, Mr. Sinha said bombs were 

made in Bihar. The material to make bombs was procured in 

Nepal which was then smuggled across the porous Indo-Nepal 

border.  
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Official response 

Indian Prime Minister Manmohan Singh condemned the blasts 

and appealed for calm. A state of high alert was declared in 

India's major cities. Police were sent to all major places of 

worship in New Delhi. India's Cabinet Committee on Security 

met in emergency session. Varanasi shut down Wednesday to 

protest the blasts; shops and businesses closed, and 

authorities closed schools and colleges. It reopened on 9 

March.  

Uttar Pradesh Chief Minister, Mulayam Singh Yadav, claimed 

that UP Police killed one of the suspected Pakistani involved 

who turned out to be a resident of Madhya Pradesh, but he was 

part of Lashkar-e Taiba Islamic group and police were on the 

lookout for him in context of Delhi blasts of 2005.  

Reactions 

Domestic 

The Prime Minister of India Manmohan Singh condemned the 

blasts and appealed for calm. A state of high alert was declared 

in India's major cities. Police were sent to all major places of 

worship in New Delhi. India's Cabinet Committee on Security 

met in emergency session. Varanasi shut down Wednesday to 

protest the blasts; shops and businesses closed, and 

authorities closed schools and colleges.[5] It reopened on 9 

March.[6]  
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Uttar Pradesh Chief Minister, Mulayam Singh Yadav, claimed 

that UP Police killed one of the suspected Pakistani involved 

who turned out to be a resident of Madhya Pradesh, but he was 

part of Lashkar-e Toiba Islamic group and police were on the 

lookout for him in context of Delhi blasts of 2005.  

Suspects 

A little known group calling itself the Lashkar-e Kahar/Qahab 

has claimed responsibility for the attacks. A spokesperson for 

the group who identified himself as Abdullah Jabbar alias Abu 

Feroz called a local news agency in Srinagar on Thursday 

morning to claim responsibility for the blasts and threatened 

similar attacks in other cities unless the government stopped 

its "catch and kill" campaign in Jammu and Kashmir. A staff of 

the TV channel said that Feroz spoke in Urdu with a heavy 

Punjabi accent. It is speculated that the bombings were carried 

out in retaliation of the arrest of a Lashkar-e-Toiba agent in 

Varanasi earlier in February 2006. Some analysts see a 

connection between the bombings and Hindu-Muslim clashes 

in the city of Lucknow on 4 March 2006 that left four people 

dead. These clashes started because of protests against the 

President of the United States George W. Bush's India visit. It 

is also believed that these attacks were a part of a series which 

included an attack at the IISc, Bangalore and also at the 

Akshardham Temple, Gujarat.  

2006 Mumbai train bombings 

The 2006 Mumbai train bombings were a series of seven bomb 

blasts on 11 July. They took place over a period of 11 minutes 
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on the Suburban Railway in Mumbai, the capital of the Indian 

state of Maharashtra and the nation's financial capital. The 

bombs were set off in pressure cookers on trains plying on the 

Western Line Suburban Section of the Mumbai Division of 

Western Railway. The blasts killed 209 people and injured over 

700 more.  

Blasts 

Pressure cooker bombs were placed on trains on the Western 

Line of the suburban ("local") train network, which forms the 

backbone of the city's transport network. Pressure cookers 

were used in this bombing and other recent explosions to 

increase the afterburn in a thermobaric reaction, more 

powerful than conventional high explosives. The first blast 

reportedly took place at 18:24 IST (12:54 UTC), and the 

explosions continued for approximately eleven minutes, until 

18:35, during the after-work rush hour. All the bombs had 

been placed in the first-class "general" compartments of 

several trains running from Churchgate, the city-centre end of 

the western railway line, to the western suburbs of the city. 

They exploded at or in the near vicinity of the suburban 

railway stations of Matunga Road, Mahim Junction, Bandra, 

Khar Road, Jogeshwari, Bhayandar and Borivali. Home 

Minister Shivraj Patil told reporters that authorities had 

"some" information an attack was coming, "but place and time 

was not known".  

The bomb attacks in Mumbai came hours after a series of 

grenade attacks in Srinagar, the largest city in the Indian state 

of Jammu and Kashmir. Home Secretary V K Duggal said there 

was no link between the Srinagar and Mumbai bomb blasts.  
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Response 

A state of high alert was declared in India's major cities. Both 

the airports in Mumbai were placed on high alert. The western 

line of the Mumbai Suburban Railway network was at first shut 

down, although some trains resumed service later, and 

stringent security arrangements, including frisking and 

searching of commuters, were instituted on the other lines of 

the network. The city's bus service, the BEST, pressed extra 

buses into service to transport stranded commuters home.  

The Prime Minister also held a security meeting at his 

residence attended by Home Minister Shivraj Patil, National 

Security Advisor M K Narayanan, and Home Secretary V K 

Duggal.  

Resumption of services and return to normality 

Western Railway services were restored on 11 July by 

10.45 pm. As a show of investor confidence, the Bombay Stock 

Exchange rebounded, starting the day with the BSE Sensex 

Index up by nearly 1% in morning trade. Foreign investors also 

retained confidence, with the Sensex up almost 3% at 

10,930.09 at the end of the day's trade.  

Rescue and relief operations 

• Initial rescue efforts were hampered by the heavy 

rains and the prevalent monsoon flooding, but 

quickly took momentum after fellow passengers and 

bystanders helped victims to reach waiting 

ambulances and/or provided first aid. 
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• Maharashtra Chief Minister Vilasrao Deshmukh 

announced ex-gratia payments of Rs 100,000 

(approximately US $2,200) to the next of kin of those 

who died in the explosion. The injured would be 

given Rs 50,000 (approximately US $1,100) each. 

• Indian Railways announced Rs 500,000 

(approximately US $10,000) compensation and a job 

to the next of kin of those killed in the serial blasts 

in Mumbai. The announcements were made by 

Railways Minister Lalu Prasad Yadav after visiting 

those injured in the blasts at a hospital in Mumbai. 

However a study commissioned by former MP Kirit Somaiya 

noted that only 174 of the 1,077 victims had received 

compensation through the Railway Claims Tribunal. For the 

handicapped victims, only 15 out of 235 eligible cases had 

been taken care of. 

Regarding the Prime Minister's promise to India concerning the 

rehabilitation of the victims, L. K. Advani noted that "none of 

the above mentioned assurances has been fulfilled to any 

degree of satisfaction"  

Sources of information 

Due to the mobile phone networks being jammed, news 

channels ran tickertapes with information of injured 

individuals as well as SMS messages from those who wished to 

contact their families. Reports indicated that at around 18:00 

UTC on 11 July (midnight in Mumbai), the phone networks 

were restoring service; telephone service was completely 

restored during the night.  
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Mumbai Help, a blog run by around thirty bloggers, was a 

useful source of information, especially for those outside India.  

Investigation 

Some 350 people were detained 36 hours after the incident in 

Maharashtra — police claim that these are people rounded up 

for investigations. On 14 July, Lashkar-e-Qahhar, a terrorist 

organisation possibly linked to Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT), claimed 

responsibility for the bombings. In an e-mail to an Indian TV 

channel, the outfit says it organised the bombings using 16 

people who are all "safe". According to the e-mail, the main 

motive seems to have been a retaliation to the situation in the 

Gujarat and Kashmir regions, possibly referring to the alleged 

oppression of Muslim minorities in certain parts of the region. 

It also says that the blasts were part of a series of attacks 

aimed at other sites such as the Mumbai international airport, 

Gateway of India, the Taj Mahal in Agra and the Red Fort in 

New Delhi. The authorities are investigating this claim and are 

trying to track the location of the e-mail sender. 

However, on 17 July, the forensic science laboratory Mumbai 

has confirmed the use of a mixture of the highly explosive RDX 

and Ammonium Nitrate for the bombings. The presence of 

these explosives in the post explosive debris was confirmed by 

modern techniques such as Liquid Chromatography with mass 

detector (LCMS), Gas Chromatography with mass detector 

(GCMS) and Ion Scan Chromatography. They have indicated a 

strong possibility of all explosives being planted at the 

Churchgate railway station, which was the starting point for 

all affected trains.  
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Initially, religious extremists from the Lashkar-e-Taiba and the 

banned Students Islamic Movement of India terrorist groups, 

and Pakistan's intelligence agency ISI were the prime suspects. 

Both Lashkar and SIMI denied responsibility for the bombings. 

There was also evidence about the involvement of the 

international Islamic terrorist group Al-Qaeda following a 

phone call from a man claiming to be a spokesperson for the 

group on 13 July. The alleged al-Qaeda spokesman had said 

the blasts were a "consequence of Indian oppression and 

suppression of minorities, particularly Muslims."  

On 30 September 2006, CNN reported that "The Indian 

government accused Pakistan's military spy agency, the Inter-

Services Intelligence, of planning 11 July Mumbai train 

bombings that killed 209 people".  

The New York City Police Department was intensely concerned 

about the attacks, citing their simplicity and lethality. To 

address these worries, the department deployed Brandon del 

Pozo, a Jordanian-based intelligence officer, to Mumbai to 

collect information on the attacks and report on ways they 

reflected similar vulnerabilities in the New York City's 

extensive commuter rail system.  

Arrests 

On 21 July 2006, police arrested three people suspected to be 

involved in the bombings. Police have detained more than 300 

suspects since 18 July but these are the first arrests in the 

case. Two of the men were detained on Thursday in the 

northern state of Bihar and the third later in Mumbai. All three 

are said to belong to the banned SIMI organisation.  
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On the same day, Abdul Karim Tunda was thought to be 

arrested in Mombasa, Kenya on suspicions of involvement in 

the train bombings. but it was the wrong person. He was one of 

India's most wanted men and also a suspected organiser for 

the banned terrorist group Lashkar-e-Taiba. He was arrested in 

2013 near the Nepal border.  

In late 2006, all the seven key accused in the Mumbai train 

blasts in July retracted their alleged confession to the police, 

saying they were illegally forced to sign blank papers, an 

Indian TV channel reported.  

Continuing investigation 

M K Narayanan, the Indian National Security Advisor, has said 

that India doesn't have "clinching" evidence of the involvement 

of ISI in the Mumbai train blasts of 11 July.  

"I would hesitate to say we have clinching evidence but we 

have pretty good evidence," he was quoted as saying on CNN-

IBN.  

Following Narayanan's remarks, the Union Home Secretary 

V.K. Duggal on Monday characterised the evidence as "very 

good [...] it is fairly solid evidence,". 5 On 25 September 2008, 

Hindustan Times reported that "the Crime branch also learnt 

that the men [behind 2008 Delhi bombings] are those very 

operatives who had introduced themselves as Pakistanis to 

perpetrators of 11 July 2006 Mumbai train bombings.  

Jemaah Islamiyah is known to use pressure cooker bombs with 

RDX and like explosives with taggants. Note that Jemaah 

Islamiyah had operatives in the Pakistan areas active in 
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religious indoctrination and that were working with Egyptian 

Islamic Jihad through al-Zawahiri who taught on the use of 

pressure cooker bombs. As such it is quite possible that 

Jemaah Islamiyah was involved in the attack possibly through 

Indian Mujahideen which it also forms part of.  

Involvement of Indian Mujahideen 

On 27 February 2009, Sadiq Sheikh, an arrested leader of the 

Indian Mujahideen confessed to his alleged role in the 

bombings in a news channel broadcast. He claimed to have 

engineered the pressure cooker bombs with his associates in a 

flat in central Mumbai. 

If verified, these allegations could invalidate the previous 

claims by the ATS that the ISI or the SIMI were involved. Sadiq 

states in his confession, ‘'All five of us arranged local first 

class train passes beforehand. We also had the local train time 

table with us so that we could choose a train as per our 

convenience. We purchased bags and pressure cookers in 

Bombay.'’ He also claimed to have misled investigators by 

blaming the attacks on the Al-Qaeda. On 6 April 2013, IM co-

founder Sadiq Sheikh declared hostile witness by defence 

advocates.  

Convictions 

In September 2015, 12 people were convicted in this case. On 

30 September 2015, a special Maharashtra Control of 

Organised Crime Act (MCOCA) court sentenced to death Faisal 

Sheikh, Asif Khan, Kamal Ansari, Ehtesham Sidduqui and 

Naveed Khan who planted the bombs in various trains.  
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The other seven convicts—Mohammed Sajid Ansari, who 

prepared the electrical circuits for the bombs, Mohammed Ali, 

who provided his Govandi residence to make the bombs, Dr 

Tanveer Ansari, one of the conspirators, and Majid Shafi, 

Muzzammil Shaikh, Sohail Shaikh and Zamir Shaikh who 

provided logistical support – were sentenced to life.  

Impact 

Heightened security measures 

In wake of the blasts, the Indian government tightened security 

in railway stations. Under new restrictions passed by the 

Ministry of Railways, non-passengers would no longer be 

allowed on the railway platforms after July 2006. Other major 

security steps include installation of close circuit televisions 

inside the stations for round-the-clock vigil and installation of 

metal detectors.  

Statements in response 

Various senior political figures from India and around the 

world condemned the attacks. In India, Prime Minister Dr. 

Manmohan Singh was quick to call for calm in Mumbai, while 

President Dr. A. P. J. Abdul Kalam, 

Railways Minister Lalu Prasad Yadav, and president of the 

Indian National Congress Sonia Gandhi also issued statements 

regarding the bombings in Mumbai. Officials from other 

nations offered their condolences to those affected by the 

bombings. Officials, from Pakistan which has long feuded with 

India, and the United Kingdom, which was the target of similar 
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attacks the previous July, were among those who denounced 

the attacks in Mumbai as well as terrorism as a whole.  

Memorial service 

A memorial service was held in Mumbai on 18 July at 6:25 pm 

local time— exactly one week after the blasts. President Abdul 

Kalam, his hand raised to his forehead in salute, led the two-

minute silence as people lit candles and placed wreaths at 

Mahim station, one of the seven places on the suburban rail 

network hit by bombs. 

Sirens sounded across Mumbai marking the memorial service. 

People gathered at the site of the blasts, in railway stations on 

the city's Western Line, traffic came to a halt, It interrupted 

films and observed a moment of silence to pay homage to the 

victims.  

In popular culture 

• Savita Bano, a 2006 Indian Marathi-language film by 

Ramesh More followed a woman's search for her 

husband after the blasts. 

• The incidents that followed the bombings were used 

as details in the plot of the film, A Wednesday! 

(2008) starring Naseeruddin Shah, which was 

inspired by the train bombings. 

• The Hindi film Mumbai Meri Jaan (2008), which won 

multiple Filmfare Awards, deals with the aftermath 

of the Mumbai train bombings. 

• The movie The Train is a 2011 Malayalam thriller 

based on the bombings. 
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2006 Malegaon bombings 

The 2006 Malegaon bombings were a series of bomb blasts 

that took place on 8 September 2006 in Malegaon, a town in 

the Nashik district of the Indian state of Maharashtra, 290 km 

northeast of Mumbai. The Maharashtra Anti-Terrorism Squad 

(ATS) initially blamed the bombings on the Students Islamic 

Movement of India (SIMI), but in a chargesheet filed in 2013 

the NIA and ATS (Anti-Terrorism Squad) joint investigation and 

involved evidences pointed towards involvement of a hindu 

extremist group Abhinav Bharat in the said bombings. . 

Explosion 

The explosions - which resulted in at least 40 fatalities and 

125 injuries - took place in a Muslim cemetery, adjacent to a 

mosque, at around 13:15 local time after Friday prayers on the 

holy day of Shab e Bara'at. Most of the blast victims were 

Muslim pilgrims. Security forces spoke of "two bombs attached 

to bicycles," but other reports indicated that three devices had 

exploded. A stampede ensued after the devices exploded. A 

curfew was imposed in the town and state paramilitary forces 

were deployed in sensitive areas to prevent unrest.  

Reactions 

• Maharashtra Chief Minister Vilasrao Deshmukh 

promised compensation payments of Rs 1,00,000 

(approx. • 1200 or US$1500) to the next-of-kin of the 

deceased. 
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• Prime Minister Manmohan Singh condemned the 

blasts and appealed for calm. 

• Home Minister Shivraj Patil said the incident seemed 

designed to "divide the various sections of the 

public." 

• Congress party president Sonia Gandhi has called on 

Indians to maintain calm. 

• A home ministry official in Delhi said central 

security forces, including personnel from the anti-

riot Rapid Action Force, were sent to Malegaon. 

• There were episodes of violence when Muslims in 

Malegaon attacked police and their vehicles following 

the blasts. 

• Various Muslim leaders have denounced the 

bombings and prayed for peace. In particular, 

Muslims in the state of Gujarat demonstrated 

against Pakistan for its alleged involvement in the 

blasts. 

• US ambassador David Mulford said he was "shocked 

and saddened by the brutal terrorist bombings" and 

that the US stood "with India in its fight against 

terrorism". 

Investigations 

Arrests 

On 10 September, NDTV reported that investigators had 

identified the owner of one of the bicycles on which a bomb 

was planted. On the same day, police released sketches of two 

suspects wanted in connection with the bomb attacks. On 11 

September, Maharashtra Director General of Police P. S. 
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Pasricha said that the officers investigating the blasts had 

produced leads and expressed confidence that a breakthrough 

would be achieved soon.  

On 30 October, the first arrest is made of Noor-Ul-Huda, an 

activist of the Students Islamic Movement of India. The DGP of 

Mumbai, said that the two other suspects are Shabeer 

Batterywala and Raees Ahmad. On 6 November it was reported 

that the prime conspirator Shabbir Batterywala is an operative 

of Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) and the co-conspirator is Raees 

Ahmad of SIMI.  

Later in 2013, the National Investigation Agency (NIA) arrested 

four persons, namely Lokesh Sharma, Dhan Singh, Manohar 

Singh and Rajendra Choudhary, all belong to the Hindu right 

wing group Abhinav Bharat. Charges were filed against them 

on 22 May. Subsequently, the Maharashtra Control of 

Organised Crime Act (MCOCA) court dismissed all charges 

against the eight Muslim men initially arrested by the 

Maharashtra Anti-Terrorist Squad in 2006.  

Suspicions and press releases 

The Maharashtra police initially suspected Bajrang Dal, the 

Lashkar-e-Toiba or the Jaish-e-Mohammed of involvement in 

the attacks. No evidence was released against any of these 

groups, though the police claimed on 13 October to have 

identified the perpetrators. Lashkar-e-Toiba has had contacts 

with the controversial Students Islamic Movement of India in 

the region before. Police are also suspecting Harkat-ul-Jihad-

al-Islami in the attacks. On 10 September, police sources said 

that the methods used are similar to attacks on mosques 
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earlier in 2006 for which 16 Bajrang Dal activists, allegedly 

part of a "fringe group" of the organization, were arrested but 

not charged. Accused were Pragya Thakur and Abhinav Bharat.  

Malegaon has been the focus of communal tension for some 

time, which spilled out into the open in 1984, 1992, and 2001, 

when there were large scale protests over the United States 

invasion of Afghanistan. Police had killed 12 Muslim protesters 

after a brief altercation with them. The Taliban regime in 

Afghanistan had enjoyed immense support from Muslims in 

Malegaon.  

On May 2006, police recovered a cache of RDX explosives and 

automatic rifles from the region based on information they said 

was provided by arrested extremist Islamists. The arrested 

were former members of the Students Islamic Movement of 

India.  

In the September 2006 incident, police investigations have 

determined that the explosives contained in these bombings 

were "a cocktail of RDX, ammonium nitrate and fuel oil – the 

same mixture used in 7/11", referring to the 11 July 2006 

Mumbai train bombings, a terrorist incident for which several 

Islamist groups are suspects. Since the investigation was still 

under way, Nasik Superintendent of Police Rajvardhan declined 

to give details, saying: "We can't say anything till we get 

reports from all the agencies".  

However, the Anti Terroris Squad has prima facie ruled out the 

involvement of Hindu Nationalist groups like the Bajrang Dal 

in the Malegaon blasts citing two reasons:  

• RDX is only available to Islamist outfits. 
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• Bajrang Dal activists so far have only used crude 

bombs, nothing as sophisticated as the ones in 

Malegaon. 

Ajai Sahni, an intelligence analyst who tracks terrorist groups 

in South Asia, also said it was unlikely to be a Hindu group 

because they "lacked the organisation for such an attack".  

On 12 September 2006, Indian Prime Minister said it was 

inappropriate to "rule out or rule in" the involvement of Hindu 

groups. "I think there should be a fair investigation which 

inspires confidence and brings out the truth and nothing but 

the truth without any pre-conceived notion. That has to be the 

objective".  

B. Raman, in an op-ed published on 11 September, noted that 

"while it is too early to rule out the possibility of either Islamic 

or Hindu extremists as the perpetrators, there have been 

"attempts by some leaders of the Muslim community to create a 

divide between the community and the police by questioning 

the impartiality of the police and levelling other allegations 

against the investigating officers".  

As of 30 October 2006, the most recent arrests involved 

members of the Students Islamic Movement of India and 

suspicions are presently directed at them as, after the arrests, 

the police have claimed to be closer to solving the case.  

On 28 November 2006, Mumbai police stated that two 

Pakistani nationals were involved in the explosions. "We have 

successfully detected the Malegaon blasts case. We are, 

however, on the lookout for eight more suspects in the case," 

said DGP PS Pasricha. The Anti-Terrorism Squad probing into 
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the case has already arrested eight suspects, including two 

booked in the 11 July Mumbai serial blasts, in connection with 

four explosions that rocked the town killing 31 people and 

injuring more than 200.  

Three accused gave a confession about their involvement in the 

conspiracy, but soon after, two of them retracted before a 

magistrate, saying they had not made a voluntary disclosure. 

This was revealed to a special court by the accused themselves 

when they were produced before it for remand. The 

development assumes significance as under MCOCA, a 

confession does not have evidential value if it is not a 

voluntary and true disclosure.  

Seeking their remand, public prosecutor Raja Thakre said the 

accused had played a vital role in the conspiracy and 

investigations conducted by Anti-Terrorist Squad so far had 

revealed involvement of more persons who are yet to be 

arrested. On 16 November 2011 Seven accused in the Malegaon 

blasts were released on bail.  

After taking over the case NIA contradicted the ATS and CBI 

findings.ATS arrested four persons namely Lokesh Sharma, 

Dhan Singh, Manohar Singh and Rajendra Choudhary.On 22 

May 2013 they were all chargesheeted. And Suspicion shifted 

from SIMI to Abhinav Bharat, a Hindu right wing group.  

On 25 April 2016 all charges were dropped against the Muslim 

men by Maharashtra Control of Organised Crime Act (MCOCA) 

court who were arrested by the Maharashtra Anti Terrorism 

Squad in 2006. 
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